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Introduction

On 1 January 1973, the European integration project took a major leap
forward when Britain, Denmark, and Ireland joined the European Economic
Community (EEC), the forerunner to today’s European Union (EU). The
first enlargement, arguably its most divisive, represented a significant mile-
stone in the Community’s short existence. Over the following decades, the
EU would face many more requests for membership. Shortly after the first
enlargement, the Mediterranean countries came knocking on the door, eager
to benefit from the growing prosperity within the Common Market, and to
seek shelter from the global economic storm that raged during the 1970s
and 1980s. By 1986, Greece, Spain, and Portugal had brought the number of
members to 12. The rapid accession of three underdeveloped countries into
the Community proved it was not a club for rich industrial nations. With
the fall of the Berlin Wall in 1989, East Germany entered the Community as
part of a reunified Germany. The Nordic countries of Austria, Finland, and
Sweden secured membership in 1995. The collapse of the Soviet Union in the
early 1990s meant that letters of application to join the EU arrived in Brussels
in quick succession from many former Soviet-controlled states in Central
and Eastern Europe (CEE). In 2004, membership rose from 15 to 25 with the
historic enlargement to include eight CEE countries, as well as Cyprus and
Malta, while three years later Romania and Bulgaria joined. Croatia entered
the EU in 2013. Many more countries are eager to join, including Iceland
and Turkey. The enlargement process that began in the 1960s is far from
complete.

This book analyses the policies of the European Commission towards the
first enlargement of the present-day EU between 1961, when Britain’s first
attempt at membership was made, and 1973, when Britain, Denmark, and
Ireland joined the European Communities. It explores how the Commission
responded to the inherent risks to the Common Market project by allowing
Britain, Denmark, Ireland, and Norway to become members. A community
of six had already made the integration process complicated, as the Com-
mission pushed ahead with an ambitious agenda. Seeking agreement a six
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2 Enlarging the European Union

was no easy feat; seeking agreement a neuf was a major cause of concern for
the Brussels executive and some of the member states. This book explores
the first enlargement as a way to understand interinstitutional relations dur-
ing the EU’s first decade and the overt attempts by the Commission to
secure more influence in the new field of enlargement policy. The Com-
mission, as other scholars have pointed out, was very successful in setting
the agenda-setting and shaping policy phases of other policy fields, includ-
ing agriculture, competition, and trade.! Yet, a central preoccupation in this
book is uncovering the Commission’s influence over enlargement policy,
especially during the first enlargement. It presents an examination of how
enlargement became a vehicle to achieve influence at the expense of the
Council of Ministers. By doing this, the book seeks to unravel the EU’s
institutional relations during the 1960s and early 1970s. The enlargement
question created the right environment for the Commission to gain a firmer
foothold in the decision-making process. This policy field had created a cer-
tain amount of disunity between the six founding member states and, of
course, between the applicants, and in the Community. There was ample
scope for the Commission to capitalise on this discord, to promote itself
as something more than a bridge-builder between the views of the six and
the applicants. There was potential to gain significant influence. The relative
silence of the Treaty of Rome on the subject of enlargement also presented
the Commission with an opportunity to shape outcomes and decisions. It is
not the aim of this study to argue that the Commission had a leading role in
the first enlargement process, or that it was a kingmaker in the final decision
on whether to allow the applicants to join. It did not and was not. However,
neither did the member states have a complete monopoly over the decision-
making process or the outcome of the negotiations with the applicants. This
study complements the existing historical and political science literature
by examining a previously neglected aspect of the EU’s first enlargement
in order to understand more clearly the type of power politics that existed
between the member states, the institutions, and the applicants, with a par-
ticular focus on the British and Irish applications for membership.? The part
played by the Commission in the enlargement process of the 1960s is one
that has received little critical attention by scholars dealing with the EU’s
early years. Each chapter of this book examines the enlargement question
largely from the Commission’s perspective, intertwined with the political
decisions and policy-making positions of the member states, and the British
and Irish governments. The book therefore builds a bridge between the cor-
pus of scholarly research based around national accounts of how the EU
went from six to nine members in January 1973 with the more recent,
though limited, supranational histories of the EU and its institutions.
Several themes are explored in the book. The primary examination
revolves around the Commission as an institutional and political actor,
and its influence over the first enlargement. The changing nature of the
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Commission’s position towards the British and Irish membership applica-
tions forms the central part of this analysis. There are a number of reasons
why these two applicant countries are privileged to the partial exclusion
of critically assessing attempts by Denmark and Norway to gain Commu-
nity membership during the same period. First, the 1973 enlargement was
primarily about Britain’s membership. London’s European policy, especially
from the late 1950s, generated heated debates at home, and was viewed with
suspicion by many in Europe.® No study on the Commission and enlarge-
ment can separate Britain from this analysis. The reason for focusing on the
Irish applications and the Commission’s reaction to them rests largely on
the issues that the applications raised. The only applicant for membership
that was not a member of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO),
and having operated a policy of military neutrality since the outbreak of
World War Two, Ireland’s position in Europe posed a number of challenges
for the Commission, and the six. Economically weaker than the other three
applicants, but insisting on joining as an equal partner, Ireland made two
applications, in 1961 and again in 1967 (reactivated in 1970), which revealed
new aspects of the Commission’s evolving views on membership, associa-
tion, and, in particular, on its defence of the Community’s acquis. It also
exposed the Commission’s limited influence, but equally the ways in which
it tried to circumvent attempts to curb its development.

The book presents a political rather than an administrative or techni-
cal account of the Commission’s role in the first enlargement process.
Yet, it investigates the relationship between the Commissioners and their
Directorates, beginning with the Hallstein Commission in 1958, and con-
tinuing through to the Malfatti and Mansholt Commissions in 1970-1973.
It explores the institution’s internal dynamics, and analyses the key con-
cerns that this institution had over allowing Britain, Ireland, and others
into the Common Market. It poses the following research questions: why
was enlargement an important issue for the Commission, and how did its
position towards accession evolve over the course of the 1960s, and with
what consequences for the Community, and the applicants? What was the
Commission’s influence on the six, or the four, and on the outcome of the
process?

The inescapable interplay between the Commission and the six member
states is also examined throughout the book. Analysing in detail the posi-
tions of the member states towards Community enlargement is beyond the
scope of the book, and has been touched upon elsewhere by other schol-
ars. However, it assesses the nature of the Commission’s influence in the
decision-making process among the six in the Council during discussions
related to the applicants, negotiating procedures, shaping policy positions,
and so on. Particularly, it focuses on the Commission’s ability to steer
the Community’s position through its technical and expert advice, and its
unique knowledge of the acquis, knowledge that became an important source
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of influence. Fach of the seven chapters, structured chronologically, explores
the interplay between the Commission, the six, and the two applicants that
presented the Commission with different sets of challenges, opportunities,
and threats.

The book exploits a wide range of primary and secondary sources. There
is no definitive scholarly account of the historical role of the Commission
during the first round of enlargement. Indeed, the Commission as a sub-
ject of historical research seems to have fallen victim to Charles de Gaulle
and his legacy. President of France during the 1960s, General de Gaulle was
a dominant personality in the debate over Community enlargement. Many
accounts of how the EU went from six to nine members in 1973 focus on the
divergent views in Anglo-French relations after 1945 as one way of explain-
ing French antagonism towards London; alternatively, scholars place the
problems within either a transatlantic or a Cold War setting. Others have
examined this question through a national lens, exploring how the appli-
cants repeatedly sought membership with references to the positions of the
six and, occasionally, the role of the Commission.

Yet, some inroads have been made in assessing the historical role of the
Commission in the enlargement process. One of the earliest overviews of the
role and function of the Commission is David Coombes’ Politics and Bureau-
cracy in the European Community: A Portrait of the European Commission.* The
‘heart of the book’, in part three, deals with the Commission in the political
process of the Community. In his conclusions, some of which will be chal-
lenged by this book, Coombes argues that by 1970 the Commission came
increasingly to ‘exercise purely delegated, administrative functions’.’ He
asserts that, as the 1960s progressed, the Commission became the implemen-
tative part of the Community’s system of institutions and less autonomous
and federal in its outlook. While this might be true of the Commission’s
earlier ‘world-view’ under the early years of the Hallstein Commission,
examining this assessment through its role in the first round of enlarge-
ment paints a different picture. Indeed, he might also have noticed the
Commission’s own sense of disappointment in the late 1960s at its fail-
ure to evolve in the clearly federal direction anticipated by Hallstein and
many others. While Coombes interviewed a number of unnamed officials
in Brussels for his study, he had no access to the wealth of national and
EU archival material now available that sheds new light on the role of
the Commission. Michel Dumoulin’s edited first volume on the Commis-
sion during the same period covered by this book provides a useful starting
point for a general survey of the Commission’s early years.® Jan van der
Harst’s chapter in this edition offers a good introduction to the enlarge-
ment debate by briefly charting the Commission’s role.” History and Memories
focuses on oral accounts of the Commission by individuals closely con-
nected with the institution, and, though it was a big-budget project, falls
short on delivery, with limited use of the Community’s archival sources
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and an overreliance on the recollections of former Community officials in
piecing together the Commission’s position on the Community’s policies,
including enlargement.

Piers Ludlow’s Dealing with Britain: The Six and the First UK Application to the
EEC is one of the first major examinations of the first enlargement, in which
he presents an account of the 1961-1963 negotiations between Britain and
the six.® One significant area where this book differs from other research on
this subject is in its approach to the sources.” Dealing with Britain exploits
previously unseen Community archival material together with sources from
the national archives of the member states, and Britain. The book’s cen-
tral theme is how the Community, and in particular the six, responded to
the challenges posed by the 1961 British application and the subsequent
enlargement negotiations. The European Community and the Crises of the
1960s: Negotiating the Gaullist Challenge sees Ludlow explore the Common
Market’s internal crises, largely from the perspective of the six and with ref-
erences to the Commission, from the aftermath of the de Gaulle veto of
the British application in January 1963 to The Hague summit in December
1969.1° Numerous journal articles by Ludlow follow a similar pattern of
research and analysis, examining relations between the British and the mem-
ber states by focusing on the Community institutions or their policies. Some
of this research has explored issues relevant to the book, such as the Com-
munity’s agriculture policy and relations between the Commission and the
six.!! Ludlow’s work, therefore, offers an important starting point in the sec-
ondary literature with which to begin an assessment of the Commission’s
role in the enlargement debate.

The general histories of the EU’s early years make fleeting references to the
role played by the Commission in the enlargement process; some of these
are contemporary accounts written without access to the minutes of Com-
mission or Council of Ministers’ meetings.'? From the early 1970s, memoirs
and autobiographies have been published by some of the main protagonists
involved in the enlargement deliberations. Europe in the Making is Hallstein’s
own account of the process of European integration, but it does not offer
any particular insights into the Commission’s position on the enlargement
question." Hans von der Groeben, Robert Lemaignen, and Robert Marjolin,
members of the Commission during the 1960s, have published records that
provide useful insights into the internal dynamics of the Commission, the
relationships between Commissioners, and the position of the institution
regarding the membership applications.'* Others, such as Edward Heath,
Jean Monnet, Paul-Henri Spaak, and George Ball, have written in general
terms about the Commission’s role in the enlargement process.'®

Of necessity, this book exploits a large number of archival holdings. At the
Commission archives in Brussels, and the historical archives of the EU in
Florence, research has focused on an analysis of the minutes of the Commis-
sion’s meetings, and the Commission’s reports of Council and committee of
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permanent representatives (Comité des représentants permanents or COREPER)
meetings from 1958 to 1972. Research has also examined the cabinet papers
of many of the central characters in the Commission involved in the enlarge-
ment process. These include the papers of Walter Hallstein, Robert Marjolin,
Raymond Barre, Edoardo Martino, and Emile Noél. It has also exploited
the European Parliamentary Assembly debates and general reports prepared
by the Commission for the European Parliament, as well as the speeches
collection at the Commission archives in Brussels. At the Council of Min-
isters’ archives in Brussels, research centred on the minutes of the Council
and COREPER meetings throughout the period.'® The archival material of
non-Community actors also sheds light on the Commission’s attitude to
the enlargement question. The book has, for example, examined the Max
Kohnstamm papers, which are an important source especially in relation to
the 1961-1963 enlargement negotiations. Kohnstamm was Vice-President
of Jean Monnet’s ‘Action Committee for a United States of Europe’, and was
in close contact with Commissioners, the member states, and key officials
from the applicant countries, as well as with senior officials in the United
States Administrations of Presidents Eisenhower and Kennedy. Extensive
research was carried out at the National Archives in Britain and in Ireland.
This aspect of the research aimed to fill the many gaps in the Community’s
own archival material. In the British archives, documentary material was col-
lected from various branches of government, including the Prime Minister’s
office, the Foreign Office, the Treasury, and the Board of Trade. Similarly,
at the National Archives of Ireland, detailed research investigated Ireland’s
relations with the Commission and the six during this period. Material from
the Departments of the Taoiseach, External Affairs (renamed Foreign Affairs
in 1971), Finance, Agriculture, and Industry and Commerce was vital to sup-
port the Community archival sources. British and Irish civil servants have
a better tradition of taking minutes of meetings than their Commission or
Council counterparts. Dublin and London maintained copious amounts of
notes from both formal and informal meetings with the Commission that
offer important insights into the attitudes and opinions of the Commission-
ers and their officials to the enlargement question. Both governments also
spent a good deal of time preparing personality reports on the Commission-
ers, senior members of their cabinets, detailing their views on membership
and a host of other facts. For its part, the Commission’s records of meet-
ings with the applicants are sparse, and offer few insights into what was
discussed.

At the National Archives and Record Administration (NARA) in
Washington DC, an examination was carried out of the Commission’s
relations with the US government, particularly during the early 1960s.
US archival material provides an important source in charting the Commis-
sion’s attitude, primarily towards the British attempts at membership. Many
branches of the US government had closely followed the enlargement
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issue from political and economic perspectives, hence the large body of
archival material available in Washington. Moreover, European visitors
to Washington, such as Commissioners and ministers from the member
states, offered frank assessments to their US hosts on many of the issues
surrounding the enlargement debate, especially during the early 1960s.

The book is divided into seven chapters, structured chronologically.
Britain’s first attempt at Community membership in July 1961, and the
Commission’s role before and during the accession negotiations, is examined
in Chapter 1. The first part of this chapter explores how the Commission
approached the question of closer relations between Britain and the EEC.
It also assesses the potential implications that enlargement would pose for
the Community. The second part of this chapter looks at the membership
negotiations themselves, and assesses one of the key issues that dominated
the membership negotiations, namely, accommodating the Commonwealth
countries after Britain joined. Central to the chapter is an analysis of the
Commission’s influence over the negotiations and its attempts at shaping
Community policy and its negotiating positions.

While the Commonwealth issue might have dominated the Commission’s
relations with Britain during the negotiating conference, NATO, neutrality,
and the economics of Community membership dominated Ireland’s appli-
cation and subsequent relations with the Commission. Chapter 2 focuses
on issues that did not reach the negotiating table in Brussels but caused
a great deal of concern in the ranks of the Commission, and among
Irish policy-makers. Ireland’s non-aligned status and its military neutrality
forced the Commission to deal with these issues in the context of member-
ship. The chapter, therefore, examines these concerns from the perspective
of the Commission’s continually developing doctrine, or philosophy, on
enlargement and explores how the Irish application contributed towards
that evolution.

Chapter 3 assesses the Commission’s relations with Britain after de
Gaulle’s January 1963 veto. At the heart of this analysis is the evolu-
tion of the Commission’s position on enlargement and, in particular,
towards Britain’s membership. It examines how relations between Com-
mission and British personalities affected their working relationship, and
affected Britain’s views on Europe, and the Commission’s views on London’s
European credentials. It asks whether these mutual suspicions influenced the
institution’s approach to bridge-building between London and the six after
the veto and prior to Britain’s second bid for membership in 1967. Chapter 3
concludes with an assessment of the Commission’s 1967 controversial avis
or opinion on enlargement, and its influence on the outcome of the second
British application.

The period between the first and second applications was an important
one for the Irish government, as it attempted to modernise the country in
preparation for eventual membership. Chapter 4 examines Dublin’s attempts
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at securing trade concessions from the Commission and individual member
states between 1963 and 1967. In particular, it focuses on the importance
of the Commission to Ireland’s foreign economic policy planning. This in
turn sheds new light on the relationship between the member states and the
Commission, the Community’s decision-making processes, and the inability
of the Brussels executive to influence the six on issues outside its compe-
tence. Yet, it is also revealing about the way in which the Commission was
becoming an important actor in internal policy positions of an applicant
state. Both Chapters 3 and 4 also examine whether the replacement of the
Hallstein Commission ushered in new thinking by the Commission on the
question of enlargement.

Chapter 5 explores the fall-out from the French rejection of Britain’s sec-
ond application in 1967. It analyses the Commission’s response, as well as
the post-veto positions adopted by Dublin and London. In particular, the
chapter focuses on the Commission’s own rather weak attempts at bridge-
building, its difficulty in reconciling the competing interests of the member
states and the applicants, and the many solutions put forward after the
veto and throughout 1968. In the lead-up to The Hague Council Summit
in December 1969, the chapter examines in detail the interinstitutional
dynamics between the Commission and the Council as the Brussels execu-
tive attempted to forge a role for itself and secure more of a strategic position
in the post-de Gaulle Community. Finally, the chapter examines the impli-
cations of The Hague Council’s conclusions for the Commission, and their
impact on the enlargement question.

How important was the Commission in influencing the outcome of the
enlargement negotiations between 1970 and 1972? This question is the cen-
tral focus in the final two chapters. The British accession negotiations and
the Commission’s role in that process are examined in Chapter 6. In particu-
lar, it examines the Commission’s influence in the internal decision-making
processes of the talks. The chapter’s central analyses focus on perhaps the
thorniest issue that affected London’s membership bid, namely, its contri-
bution to the Community’s budget, and the Commission’s influence over
the final settlement.

The negotiations between the Community and Ireland are analysed in
Chapter 7. What looked like a straightforward accession process became
complex and intricate, and pushed the Commission’s role as defender of
the acquis to its limit. The main obstacle between Dublin and Brussels cen-
tred on the new Common Fisheries Policy (CFP). The chapter presents an
overview of the policy and the Commission’s role in its development dur-
ing the 1960s. It examines in detail the Commission’s attempts to save the
policy in the face of strong opposition from Dublin and the other applicants.

This book, therefore, represents an important starting point for under-
standing and examining the first enlargement of the present-day EU, and the
role of a Community institution within the enlargement process. It creates
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a base from which to explore the influence of the Commission during the
second and subsequent rounds of enlargement through an in-depth analysis
of the history of the first accession.

On the eve of the first enlargement, the Commission, under the presi-
dency of Walter Hallstein, a former State Secretary at the German Foreign
Ministry, was a hive of activity. Established by the Treaty of Rome, it first
met in January 1958 and quickly set about implementing key parts of
that treaty that focused on the customs union and the Common Agri-
cultural Policy (CAP), which was under the direction of Sicco Mansholt,
Commissioner for Agriculture and a former, long-serving Dutch govern-
ment minister. Of all the Community institutions, the Commission was
the most ‘markedly supranational in character’.!” Members of the Commis-
sion were appointed for a renewable four-year term, while the President and
Vice-Presidents were subject to renewal every two years. There were nine
members in the first Commission; two appointed from the larger member
states (France, Germany, and Italy) and one each from the smaller coun-
tries (Belgium, Luxembourg, and the Netherlands). Commissioners had to
be appointed based on their ‘general competence’, and, once selected, had to
swear an oath of independence from their national governments.'® Nonethe-
less, as Robert Marjolin, one of two French Commissioners appointed in
1958, makes clear, no matter how dedicated the Commissioners were to the
European idea, they ‘had to take the positions of the national governments
into account or else risk losing all effectiveness’.’ Even though the first
Commission was not composed of men of great political importance, Com-
missioners were all considered to be ‘good Europeans’, at least by commen-
tators at the time.? Many of the Commissioners had been actively involved
in creating or working in international organisations established after World
War Two. Marjolin, for example, was one of the earliest Europeans, along
with Hallstein, Jean Monnet, and others, to understand the importance of
rebuilding Germany in the post-war period.?! Hallstein and Hans von der
Groeben, a German Commissioner, had been actively engaged in the Spaak
Committee negotiations that led to the creation of the EEC in 1957.

The Treaty of Rome gave the Commission the sole right to initiate leg-
islation, and to act as guardian of the founding treaties and the corpus of
Community legislation, otherwise known as the acquis communautaire. With
the exception of a number of cases, the Council had to take decisions based
on a proposal from the Commission, while the six could only amend a
proposal by a unanimous vote.?> The Commission had a permanent seat
at meetings of the Council, and at meetings of COREPER, an influential
body composed of representatives of the member states. While the decision-
making powers in the Community rested firmly in the hands of the Council,
the presence of the Commission, with its increasing policy expertise, at these
meetings meant that it had the potential to influence how decisions were
reached between the six.
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The outside world could not ignore what was happening inside the new
Community. The progressive lowering of trade barriers between the six
would soon impact on non-member states in Europe, and further afield.
This created a certain friction, especially between Britain and the six, dur-
ing the mid- to late 1950s, prior to the first attempt at enlargement in 1961.
Peter Thorneycroft, President of the British Board of Trade, wrote to British
Prime Minister Anthony Eden in 1956, making clear that ‘No fine words
would disguise the reality of a discriminatory trading bloc, in the heart of
industrial Europe, promoting its own internal trade at the expense of trade
with other countries in the free world’.?* Addressing the House of Commons
on 26 November 1956, Harold Macmillan, Chancellor of the Exchequer,
announced Britain’s decision to establish a ‘mutual free trade area with the
Messina Powers and all other OEEC [Organisation for European Economic
Cooperation] countries’.?* The Free Trade Area (FTA) plan was designed in
such a way as to allow Britain to have the best of both worlds — access to
wider markets without commitment to integration. If created, it would have
given Britain entry into the internal markets of the six without trade dis-
crimination while also ensuring that its economic (and historic) ties with
the Commonwealth countries and with the United States were not affected.
What set the FTA apart from the EEC model were the obvious exclusion of
agriculture from the plans and the lack of specifics as to how the Commu-
nity’s Associated Overseas Territories (AOTs) would to be treated.?® Reginald
Maudling, British Paymaster General, who chaired the FTA negotiations in
Paris, told German officials in March 1957 that the British government could
‘not accept a position whereby our agriculture policy would be controlled
by a majority vote’.?® The greater size and looseness of the British trade
plan and its likely effects on the smaller and tighter EEC were arguably a
bigger cause of concern, especially for France. For ‘Europeans’, the lack of
finalités politiques was also a source of concern. However, when the British
presented the FTA idea to the six and the OEEC, agreement had already been
reached by the Messina powers on a Common Market with treaties and pro-
posed institutions.” Elements within French policy-making were certainly
suspicious of the British, seeing it as an attempt to ‘attract those mem-
bers of the six who doubted the Common Market’.?® Some senior German
politicians, on the other hand, saw the announcement as an opportunity
to convince Konrad Adenauer, Chancellor of West Germany, that the costs
of the Common Market were too high and the benefits of the FTA more
appealing.®

The Commission’s official position on the FTA was made public in March
1958. Hallstein used his first address before the European Parliamentary
Assembly to counter criticisms levelled against the EEC by the British, the
Swiss, and the Scandinavians that the new Community would discriminate
against non-member countries.*® Underlining his comments was a belief
that the Community was the only body that could succeed in uniting Europe
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because of the nature of its institutional framework established by the Rome
Treaties, a framework that was absent from the British plans. Throughout
the period of the FTA talks, the Commission attempted to exert consider-
able soft power as it tried to coordinate the positions of the six and ensure
that the implementation of the Treaties continued. In June, for example,
the Commission directed the European Parliament’s attention to the major
concessions that the Commonwealth countries and Britain would receive,
at the expense of the Community’s interests, if the FTA were established.*!
Alan Milward argues that, when Charles de Gaulle returned to power in
France in mid-1958, ‘he changed French policy from playing for time to
planning an escape’ from the FTA negotiations.3? France believed that Britain
was being ‘specially favoured’ by having access to both European trade and
the Commonwealth.*® Politically, Maudling believed that the French feared
losing influence and status if they had to share the Community with the
British.** The second source of obstruction to the FTA plan came from those
who supported Monnet’s European outlook for a United States of Europe,
which included many in the new Commission. They feared that ‘the young
Community could be drowned in a wider and looser association and so
fail to develop its essential identity’.>® The Hallstein Commission did not
embrace the FTA proposals for a number of reasons. As Beloff accurately
states, the Commission ‘had always opposed the free trade project as a
deliberate menace to their own single customs union, of which the com-
mon external tariff was to serve as cement to hold the new community
together’.*® Hallstein later made clear:

such a wide settlement, particularly in its original form, has something
in common with the magnificent boat that Robinson Crusoe built for
himself on the desert island: a fine vessel, if it could once be launched,
but very difficult to get down to the water.?’

The decision to end the Maudling talks was taken by de Gaulle when
the Commission rejected the British plan outright in mid-November 1958.
In the aftermath of the failed FTA talks, building the Community’s insti-
tutional framework and drawing up policies for the implementation of the
ideas inherent in the Treaty of Rome were seen as the Commission’s main
priorities. It was no surprise, therefore, that the Commission’s energies were
directed towards these goals. It was within the framework of the General
Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) talks, the Commission believed,
that the economic problems of the OEEC countries outside the Community
could best be resolved, and not by an FTA-type settlement. The Commis-
sion, therefore, recommended that those countries, including Britain and
Ireland, should increase their quotas to each other by 20 per cent annually,
and that any differences in tariffs would be reduced during the GATT nego-
tiations that the US suggested should be held in the winter of 1960-1961.
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Hallstein was a strong supporter of GATT, once describing it as the ‘Magna
Charta du commerce mondial et de la non-discrimination’.*® The GATT nego-
tiations were presented as one solution to the trading problems between
the six and the other OEEC states. A second solution was inherent in
the treaty, namely, Community membership. The Commission very pub-
licly drew attention to what Camps calls ‘the availability’ of Articles 237
and 238 of the Treaty of Rome, articles that made provision for coun-
tries to become either a member or an associate member of the EEC.*
The Commission, of course, could not be criticised if they assumed that
the British would not be able to accept full membership, since this was
something which London had repeatedly ruled out; it hoped, instead, for
a reopening of the FTA negotiations, a scenario which many ‘Europeans’
viewed as a distraction to the success of their own plans for a Common
Market.*

Throughout 1959, the Commission made a successful push to implement
the Treaty of Rome. Acceleration of the Common Market received back-
ing from a number of important sources, not least from the Eisenhower
Administration. American views on trade were remarkably similar to those
of the Commission, namely, the pursuit by the six of a liberal trade policy
rather than a European-wide free trade area, the former providing greater
European integration. Hallstein told the European Parliament in March
1960 that the EEC’s relations with the outside world made it desirable
‘for us to present our Community more quickly than stipulated in the
Treaty’s timetable as a unit with a fully-fledged personality of its own’.*!
Casting a shadow over the Commission’s efforts at institution and policy-
building was the issue of Britain’s relations with the new Community. The
British were not in favour of Hallstein’s acceleration plans, which they
viewed as discriminating against trade, but London had no way of influ-
encing the policies of the Community.*> There were many countries in the
Community that held Anglophile views and attached importance to both
economic and political ties to Britain; but there were few who believed
that these ties were so important that the six should renounce an oppor-
tunity to push ahead with an integration process which the British had
decided not to join. While the Dutch, for example, might have expressed
public support for closer Community relations with Britain, they were
one of the prime movers behind the establishment of the CAP. From the
Commission’s acceleration plans, one could conclude that the agricultural
policy resulted in a steady increase in the Commission’s power within the
Community.

Speaking with British officials in June 1960, Hallstein addressed the issue
of Community membership. He stressed that the Treaty of Rome was ‘quite
unequivocal in opening the door to all who are prepared to accept its rules’.*?
Indeed, Hallstein went so far as to state:



Introduction 13

We would consider it an act of historic importance if other European
states, and in particular Great Britain, were to accept this standing invi-
tation, and were to espouse the political idea expressed in the Treaties
of Paris and Rome, and were to make up their minds in favour of
membership.*

He believed that all third countries wishing to negotiate a link with the Com-
munity, through either membership or association, would have to adhere to
the Treaties and accept the acquis. The problem, as he saw it, was Britain’s
reluctance to accept the ‘political idea’ expressed in the Treaties of Rome
and Paris.*> Marjolin shared Hallstein’s views, claiming that Britain would
certainly be accepted if London was prepared to accept the Rome Treaty
without reservations.*® The Maudling talks reconfirmed that Britain did not
share the Community’s enthusiasm for certain policies, such as the CAP.
Mansholt’s agriculture policy was a major part of the Commission’s accelera-
tion and integration plans, and it was clear from an early stage that complete
acceptance of the acquis, including the CAP, would be a significant precon-
dition if the Commission were to support Community enlargement. What
the Commission was trying to say to the British at this point was that they
would be welcomed as full members, but not as privileged semi-outsiders
who were endeavouring to enjoy the benefits of membership without fully
joining. Speaking in Salzburg in August, Rey stressed that the sole purpose of
the Common Market was the ‘political construction of Europe’, but that its
creation had only been welcomed by the United States.*” He argued that
the newly created Furopean Free Trade Association (EFTA), whose seven
members included Britain and the Scandinavian countries, had to stop
their attempts at persuading the six to drop their system of external tar-
iffs. Michael Tandy, British Representative to the European Communities,
met Hallstein in November 1960, and was told that things ‘should be given
time to develop’ regarding the six and seven divide.*® When Edward Heath,
British Minister for European Affairs, held discussions with the Commission
two weeks later, he was disappointed with Rey’s ‘discursive and rigid’ views
towards the conditions for enlargement.** Heath saw as one of his main pri-
orities to convince Hallstein that Britain’s participation in the work of the
Community would be ‘an addition to his importance’ and not the reverse;
‘then he might take a more positive view of enlargement’.® Weeks later, a
British embassy report on a meeting with Hallstein concluded:

He is unlikely to change his views and will be on the look-out for signs
either that the United Kingdom realises that she is bound to come to
terms with the European Economic Community by applying for member-
ship or that we are fundamentally out of sympathy with the Community’s
objectives (and therefore to be left for a period ‘in the cold’).*!
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This was a good indication that what was being overtly discussed between
Britain and the Community was not a membership application but some
sort of halfway house solution. Behind the scenes, membership was already
being considered in London. Indeed, one of the points of this meeting with
Hallstein (and the manner in which it was written up) was to convince the
sceptics in the British cabinet that the Britain would have to abandon its
search for an FTA-type solution and instead choose between isolation and
full membership. The image, therefore, that emerged at the end of 1960 was
that the most senior and influential members of the Commission gave at the
very most a guarded welcome to the diplomatic rumours that Britain was
contemplating a move towards the EEC. By the beginning of 1961, some
Comumissioners were arguing that there was insufficient distance between
the negativity generated by the FTA plan and the proposed application for
membership of the Community. It was apparent that, even if officials in
Whitehall were conscious of the antagonisms directed towards a poten-
tial bid for entry, it would be the six and not the Commission that would
ultimately decide whether to open its doors. While Heath and others under-
stood the importance of securing the support of the Commission, the British
had a good deal of work to do in convincing Hallstein and his colleagues that
their intentions were genuine.



1

The Commission and Britain’s
First Application

The British application for Community membership in 1961 led to the EEC’s
first major crisis. Chapter 1 explores the role played by the European Com-
mission after Britain submitted its application in mid-1961 through to the
collapse of enlargement negotiations 18 months later. Unlike most accounts
of Britain’s first and unsuccessful attempt at membership, the main focus
of the chapter is on how the Commission responded to the British request
and its influence over the subsequent negotiations. It addresses issues central
to the Commission and fundamental to the enlargement question that arose
because of the British application. These include: (i) the working relationship
between the EEC’s institutions and in particular between the Commission
and the Council; (ii) the type of Community envisaged by the Hallstein
Commission; (iii) the conflicts within the Community over Britain’s mem-
bership; (iv) the views of the Council on the Commission’s role within the
enlargement negotiations; and (v) the influence of the Commission on the
negotiations and their outcomes. A central question that the chapter seeks
to answer is how the Commission used the enlargement question to extend
its influence in the policy and decision-making process.! While a number
of issues dominated negotiations between the British and the Community,
such as agriculture, the chapter, of necessity, analyses just one, namely, the
problem of accommodating Britain’s Commonwealth interests. The Com-
mission played a prominent role in each issue negotiated, but an analysis
of the Commonwealth problem reveals how that institution tried to, at the
same time, create a role for itself and grab a certain amount of influence
inside and outside the negotiations.

Calm before the storm

By early 1960, there was on-off speculation within diplomatic channels
that Britain would make a move towards the six.> This coincided with an
increased number of exploratory meetings between London and the Com-
mission. At one level, these were required; the fall-out from the Free Trade
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Area (FTA) talks had left soured relations between both sides. Moreover,
British officials had to change the negative perceptions of Britain’s European
policy that had found their way into the minds of influential Europeans.
From an examination of the minutes of meetings between the Commission
and British officials in the 12 months before the membership application
was made, there was an inescapable sense of scepticism exhibited by the
Commission.

One of the central actors in Whitehall who understood the importance
of addressing these negative perceptions was Edward Heath, Lord Privy Seal
(later responsible for the British negotiations). In the aftermath of a con-
versation with Hallstein in November 1960, Heath reported to the Foreign
Office that: ‘I think that if we could convince him that British participation
in the work of the Community would be an addition to his importance, and
not the reverse, he might take a more positive view of it’.* It was no secret
that Hallstein craved a higher profile for the office of Commission Presi-
dent and for the institution. But it reflected the importance Heath attached
to winning over the Commission as an ally in London’s relations with the
Community. Hallstein was only one of nine Commission members whose
views London attempted to sway in the months before Britain applied to
join the Community. Heath also concluded that Rey held a negative opinion
on the value of Britain’s role in an enlarged Community. Indeed, he wrote:
‘I was disappointed by M. Rey, who seemed discursive and rigid in his views,
and whom Professor Hallstein had little hesitation in interrupting’.* Doubts
about British membership of the Community were repeated at official level.
Jean-Francois Deniau, a senior French official in the Commission, expressed
significant concerns about Britain’s membership and ‘saw no chance of the
U.K. becoming a member of the EEC through accession to the Commu-
nity under Article 237 of the Treaty of Rome’.> This was largely because of
Britain’s interests in the fields of agriculture, the Commonwealth, and for
domestic reasons. Referring to the CAP, Deniau concluded that something
could be worked out between the six and Britain ‘in four years or so’.° He
also highlighted the lack of enthusiasm at the idea of Britain joining the
Community. For the Commission, it was a matter of timing, and the first
stage of the tariff reductions had just ended. Moreover, Mansholt was still
working on the CAP, a policy many in the Commission (and in London)
believed was incompatible with the British agricultural system.” The Com-
mission’s resources were stretched, and a possible request by Britain and
other countries for membership or association would stretch these resources
further.

In the months immediately before Britain submitted its application, the
Commission remained sceptical. In April 1961, Hallstein told British officials
that he believed that the Commonwealth difficulties would prove nego-
tiable and that arrangements for the other EFTA countries could be reached
once the major differences with Britain were resolved.® But he warned the
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British that they could not be members of two systems. Nothing less than
an expressed willingness on the part of the British government to accede to
the Treaty of Rome would get negotiations started. This implied acceptance
of the Community’s agricultural policy even though Mansholt’s proposals
were still under discussion in the Council. Nevertheless, Hallstein expected
an unequivocal acceptance by the British of all parts of the fledgling but
expanding corpus of Community legislation. During his discussions with
the British, Hallstein held back from declaring his outright opposition.
He was not against enlargement per se and saw no ‘insurmountable prob-
lem’ with Britain’s entry.’ Instead, the question was whether the British
were ready to negotiate seriously on joining. By April, Hallstein saw ‘no
indication that they were’.' A month later, he expressed anxieties over
the changes in voting power in the Council if Britain became a member.
Hallstein foresaw the emergence of voting blocs in the Council, because
London would be entering the Community with other countries, such as
Ireland and Denmark, whose votes it could rely on, as well as the possi-
ble support of the Dutch. Another concern was that the traditions of the
British civil servants working in the Commission would lead to its ‘evolution
into a compromise-making machine by making it more an administrative
or consultative mechanism’.!" Third, he was critical of Britain’s role in the
Council of Europe, where its parliamentarians always sided with their gov-
ernment. In this context, Hallstein was in favour of allowing the British into
the Community only after majority rule was introduced in the Council, in
order to prevent new members from vetoing any of the ‘major trends now in
process’.!? Marjolin had expressed similar views in private, and it was one of
the many issues under examination by the Commission’s secretariat.'® In a
final analysis of Britain’s attitude to the European project, Hallstein argued
that the British had not accepted European unity as an ideal: ‘they have
accepted it as a fact’.! Britain had missed 11 years of European integration.
He was, therefore, inclined, during the negotiations, to add conditions rather
than take them away, so as to ‘take account of the British state of mind which
had not kept up with the European evolution of this problem. To do other-
wise, would amount to regression’.’> Hallstein’s pointed attacks on Britain’s
attitude to the EEC could be traced back to the early 1950s, and these views
changed little over the following decade. On the eve of Britain’s historic leap
across the English Channel, the Commission President and many of his col-
leagues remained unconvinced that the time was right or that London fully
appreciated the implications of membership.!®

By early 1961, six months before Britain submitted its application for
membership, the Commission was busy assessing its possible implications.
In February, internal reports focused on such issues as the Commonwealth
and Community trade. Documents suggested that, in dealing with the Com-
monwealth countries and their economic relationship with Britain, tariff
negotiations would have to be based on a product-by-product basis.!” This
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analysis was remarkably similar to what would happen during the nego-
tiations when, due to the complexity of the British position vis-a-vis the
Commonwealth, the Community dealt individually with each commodity.
It was an indication of how the Commission was able to use its technical
expertise to make itself relevant to the enlargement process. It concluded
that, whether Britain opted for membership or association, the Community
faced three important issues in any form of negotiation: (i) relations with
the Commonwealth; (ii) problems concerning agriculture; and (iii) Britain’s
relations with the EFTA. These three issues would loom large in the subse-
quent enlargement negotiations. However, the Commission’s analysis dealt
in far greater detail with the problems that would arise if Britain pursued
associate rather than full membership.

Commissioners used public speeches to clarify aspects of the acquis that
were central to the enlargement negotiations. Speaking in London four
months prior to the application, Mansholt stressed that the EEC’s external
tariff system should be seen as a negotiating tariff, a point of departure for
tariff reductions and a lever for achieving greater liberalism in world trade
policies. It was not designed to prevent other countries, such as Britain, from
concluding ‘treaties of accession or association’.'® He was absolute in his
opinion that no attempt at bridge-building between the six and the seven
would succeed; the prevailing views on both sides were ‘too divergent to
be brought easily under one common denominator’.’ It was ‘rather like
trying to square a circle, or rather, trying to draw a square which would
be a circle at the same time’.?° His comments reinforced the Commission’s
belief that there would be significant difficulty in merging the economic
policies of the seven with those of the six. Mansholt, perhaps more than
the other Commissioners, was acutely aware of the sharp difference between
his agriculture policy and the British agricultural tradition. Despite this, of
course, he made no attempt to shape a policy that met the needs of the
British farmer. The Dutch Commissioner certainly attached greater prior-
ity to the advance of the CAP than to making Britain’s task of joining the
Community any easier. Yet, this was not the same as opposing British mem-
bership. It reflected a belief that the six had devised a winning method and
that it was up to would-be applicants to adapt to this system rather than for
the Community to adapt to the applicants. He was, in other words, antici-
pating the stance which the Commission has adopted regarding every single
membership application since 1970 (if not earlier).

Mansholt outlined five basic conditions that would have to be met before
the Commission would agree to support Britain’s application: (i) enlarge-
ment could not lead to a weakening of the Common Market; (ii) it should
not impair relations between Britain and the Commonwealth; (iii) it had
to be compatible with GATT; (iv) it had to take into account the inter-
ests of non-member countries, and especially the United States; and (v) it
had to have regard for the interests of the other members of the EFTA.
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These conditions later became the central preoccupation of the Commis-
sion during the enlargement negotiations, and, as Mansholt admitted, ‘they
are clearly not easily reconcilable’.?! Comments by the Dutch Commissioner
and other colleagues revealed a very potent communautaire spirit and a signif-
icant merger of opinion within the Brussels executive. They believed that the
Community model that they were engaged in building was worth preserving
and therefore ruled out any major, Treaty-altering concessions to prospective
members. Indeed, as Mansholt stated: “The Community can hardly deny its
own character [...] It can hardly be expected to make major concessions.
And a solution which begins by making conditions which would require the
Community to repudiate its own nature is not a solution at all’.?

When Harold Macmillan made the official announcement on 31 July 1961
that Britain would seek EEC membership, there was little surprise within the
Commission.? London had toyed with the idea of informing the Commis-
sion prior to the announcement, but the British officials had ‘no confidence
in the Commission’s ability to maintain secrecy’.?* The Commission issued a
short communiqué welcoming the application and expressed its ‘grand intérét
et une satisfaction de la declaration’.*®

The application raised serious logistical and political challenges for the
Commission. During its early assessment of the problems likely to arise if
Britain applied to join the Community, no formal discussion took place
of the role the Commission would play at the enlargement talks, though
informally the issue was likely to have preoccupied Hallstein and oth-
ers. Suddenly, after Macmillan’s announcement, technical and procedural
problems rose to the top of the Community’s agenda. Chief among these
was the type of negotiating procedure to adopt as well as where the talks
would be held, and, perhaps crucially, who would lead the Community at
these negotiations. On these issues, the Commission guarded its position
to avoid antagonising the six, who had yet to formally discuss the negoti-
ating procedure. Responding to a question from the European Parliament,
the Commission stressed that it would not make a public statement on its
interpretation of Articles 237 and 238 of the Treaty of Rome and the con-
ditions for membership.?® This was a clear indication that the Commission
would not issue a formal avis on the application or get involved in a public
debate with the six on the interpretation of these articles. There were two
issues at play here: on the one hand, the Commission’s (understandable)
caginess about declaring its hand on the procedural matters being fiercely
debated among the six, and on the other the Commission’s political deci-
sion not to issue a full avis as demanded by the Treaty. The former was
primarily linked to the delicate and controversial nature of the procedural
discussions among the six; the latter had more to do with the conditional
nature of Britain’s approach to the EEC. However, in a veiled reference to the
negotiating procedure, the Commission highlighted the role it had played
in the Dillon Round of GATT negotiations in Geneva and the association
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agreement signed between the Community and Greece as evidence of the
importance of the Commission in negotiating for the EEC. The Hallstein
Commission expected more than just a supporting role at the enlargement
talks, even if the Treaty was largely silent on the procedures to follow. As van
der Harst makes clear, a practical approach was required.?”

The lack of clarity on how to proceed led to a heated debate in the Com-
munity between the six and the Commission. The Community was not
new to negotiations with external actors or Community enlargement. Piers
Ludlow points to the talks that created the EEC and draws parallels to the
1961-1963 negotiations, in which ‘similarly complex technical difficulties
were anticipated’.?® Deciding on the appropriate model for the negotiations
was of vital importance to the Commission, not least because it wanted to
protect its interests, attempt to influence the outcome of the talks, and avoid
any unnecessary concessions to the applicants that might create unwelcome
precedents for future enlargement negotiations. At the same time, the mem-
ber states had competing interests, not only in the negotiating procedure
but also regarding the location for the talks.?

Each of the Community’s actors had its own set of ideas about how best to
proceed with the negotiations. Paris argued for a rotating chair to the nego-
tiations, with each of the six holding the position over the course of the
negotiations, and for the almost total exclusion of the Commission. Indeed,
its original proposals had made the case that the Commission should be
excluded from the negotiations.*® The Dutch argued that a system similar to
the intergovernmental committee that had negotiated the Treaty of Rome
was the most appropriate model to deal with the enlargement talks. They
were also sceptical about giving the Commission a role, arguing that it had
‘no prescriptive right to be present’ at the talks.?! Belgium became a sup-
porter of the Dutch idea of a permanent chair primarily because Paul-Henri
Spaak, its Foreign Minister, hoped to reprise his role as chairman but did
not agree with excluding the Commission.? France, as Camps notes, was
strongly against the choice of Spaak for a number of reasons, mostly per-
haps because ‘they knew M. Spaak would be eager to bring the negotiations
to a successful conclusion’ and, moreover, would ‘push for more conces-
sions than they, at least, would feel it desirable to make’.** Both France and
the Netherlands agreed that the Commission would only be called upon
if the six needed opinions on specific points.** The French, in particular,
opposed any suggestion that the Commission should act as a conciliator of
the conflicting views of the member states.

The discord in the Community continued into September. Excluding all
the other questions under examination by COREPER, such as the charac-
ter of the negotiations, location, the presidency, and so on, agreement was
difficult to reach on what to do to get the negotiations started. The major-
ity of member states believed that the Commission was required by Article
237 of the Treaty of Rome to produce its opinion, which would not only
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deal with the opening of negotiations but also analyse the conditions for
membership. However, France interpreted this section of the Treaty in a dif-
ferent way. Paris argued that responsibility for the negotiations rested with
the member states ‘et non des institutions communautaires’ >® Moreover, it did
not go unnoticed that a month had passed before the Council officially asked
the Commission to prepare its avis on the negotiations.®” This presented
the Commission with an opportunity to set the negotiating agenda. Yet, on
7 September, the Commission concluded ‘qu‘il lui est impossible d’émettre, du
moins pour l'instant, I'avis officiel dont il est question a 'art. 237 du Traité’ >
Instead, it referred to its 1 August communiqué as its stated position on the
British application. It was therefore left to the Council to set the Commu-
nity’s negotiating position. The Commission argued that it was better to wait
until it had more information about the issues Britain wished to negotiate
before it submitted a detailed avis to the Council. It was adopting a cau-
tious position. Its avis could be received negatively, especially by the six, and
the Commission was aware of the divisions that already existed among the
member states. There was ample scope for the Commission to exploit these
internal difficulties to its advantage.

At their meeting on 20 September 1961, COREPER proposed to the Coun-
cil that the applicants had to accept unreservedly the rules and aims of the
Treaty of Rome and that the negotiations should only deal with the condi-
tions of admission and the relevant Treaty adaptations.** The accepted view
was that membership negotiations with the applicants should be conducted
separately and that Britain’s application should be accorded priority. The
French delegation continued to oppose giving the Commission a role in the
talks. It was reported that ‘La France est toujours hostile a l'idée d’une partici-
pation de la Commission Hallstein en tant que telle, c’est a dire comme huitieme
membre de la Conférence’.*® Opposition to the Commission continued until
the end of September. It was finally decided that the negotiations would
be carried out by the ministers of the six acting as representatives of their
governments and not as the Council. The Commission was given observer
status and its advice would be called upon when it was required. The ques-
tion over procedure revealed a Community at odds over the exact role of the
institutions in dealing with certain EEC affairs.

While the Commission had become a key player in the Community’s
acceleration plans and in the agriculture negotiations, not to mention
the association talks with Greece, enlargement posed a new problem for
Hallstein and his colleagues in their relations with the six. There are a num-
ber of reasons why countries such as France adopted such a hard-line attitude
towards the Commission. Arguably, Hallstein’s style of leadership greatly
offended de Gaulle. High-profile visits to Washington, where he and his
Commission colleagues enjoyed all the benefits usually accorded to a head of
State or government, enhanced not only his international standing but also
the profile of the Commission. These trips across the Atlantic forged closer
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ties between the Commission and senior decision-makers in the Kennedy
administration. This had the desired effect of securing important approval
by Washington for the Community’s economic policy goals and acceleration
agenda.*! Giving the Commission a prominent role in the enlargement talks
would have further added to this institution’s influence, not only over the
policy-making process but also in shaping the outcome. General de Gaulle’s
well-known antipathy to all things supranational led him to push the French
plan for a rotating chair rather than allow someone like Hallstein or Spaak
to lead the negotiations. It was not so much the federalist ideas that these
men espoused with which the General found fault. The French President
was well aware that this was likely to be neutralised by the British. What he
objected to was, instead, the fact that Spaak was highly pro-enlargement and
had previously demonstrated a remarkable capacity at steering negotiations
in a fashion that minimised the possibilities of dissent. Given the tactics
France had decided to employ in order to delay and, if possible, block British
membership, Spaak’s appointment as chair of a new negotiating committee
would have been disastrous for Paris.

Hallstein offered a strong defence of the need for the Commission to play
an important role both outside and inside the enlargement conference. The
Commission declared itself satisfied at the outcome of the Council talks over
the negotiating procedure.*? It had some reason to be optimistic. The nego-
tiations would be held in Brussels, not in France, and, in theory, this would
allow the Commission greater access to the negotiating teams. Since the talks
would be centred on Britain’s acceptance of the acquis, there was no other
Community actor as well versed in the acquis as the Commission. Therefore,
its advice not only to the six but also to the applicants could prove invalu-
able in shaping a desired outcome, so long as it did not alter the provisions
of the Treaty. On the other hand, the Council was not obliged to accept the
Commission’s advice, and, moreover, if the six engaged in bilateral diplo-
macy with the British, the Commission’s ability to influence decisions would
be greatly reduced. So long as the negotiations remained within the frame-
work laid down by the six, the Commission had a better chance to play a
more influential behind-the-scenes role.

Round one begins

Edward Heath’s opening speech at the enlargement conference held at the
Quai d’Orsay in Paris on 10 October 1961, the first and last part of the
negotiations held in the French capital, set out the British government’s
negotiating position and the difficulties likely to arise.* He outlined three
main problems Britain faced with membership, and committed his gov-
ernment to accepting a Common External Tariff (CET), the elimination of
internal tariffs, a common commercial policy, and a common agricultural
policy, although the length of the transitional period to achieve all this
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would prove a sticking point. Heath stressed that Britain would play a full
role in the institutions established under Article 4 and other articles of the
Treaty of Rome. He also made reference to derogations (concessions) and
adaptations that Britain would require in relation to its Commonwealth
trade and, in particular, what became known as temperate foodstuffs. The
Commonwealth issue featured early and prominently, as Heath declared:

Some people in the United Kingdom have been inclined to wonder
whether membership of the Community could in fact be reconciled with
membership of the Commonwealth. The task of reconciliation is com-
plex, but we are confident that solutions can be found to Commonwealth
problems fully compatible with the substance and spirit of the Treaty
of Rome.**

These comments provided further evidence to those sceptical of the British
application that Britain still refused to choose between Europe and the
Commonwealth, while his speech reinforced London’s hope that the Com-
monwealth could be accommodated by the EEC.*°

The Commission was favourably impressed by Heath’s opening remarks.
Alfred Mozer, Mansholt’s chef de cabinet, was convinced that, although the
Commission would only have a consultative role during the negotiations, in
practice it would exert a considerable influence on the negotiations, if only
because it was better prepared than the six.* Indeed, in conversation with
British officials, he said that the negotiations would succeed and offered to
do what he could behind the scenes. In return, the British concluded that
Mozer would be a very useful source of information once the negotiations
commenced. Mozer realised that the Commission was better placed than
the member states to advise both the six and the British on the Commu-
nity’s existing policies. It is unclear from the Community’s archival evidence
whether any other Commission officials offered private briefing sessions to
the British with a view to creating a smoother path to membership.

The Commission and COREPER quickly went to work on an in-depth anal-
ysis of Heath'’s speech, the aim of which was to discover what problems lay
ahead for the Community. The Commission announced its working group
to the negotiations at the end of October. Hallstein, Giuseppe Caron, Robert
Marjolin, and Jean Rey would lead the Commission at the official level, while
Deniau was made responsible for coordinating work between the different
sections of the Commission.*” It was unclear why Mansholt was excluded
from this group, although, due to the amount of work that was being pre-
pared on the CAP, the Dutch Commission would have little time to give to
the enlargement talks.

The Commission provided the Council with an analysis of Heath’s speech
in early November 1961. The Commission’s report, a copy of which found its
way to the British delegation, made a number of recommendations that were
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meant to influence the Community’s negotiating position.** Chief among
these was the requirement that the British government accept in principle
the EEC’s Common External Tariff (CET) to all third countries, including
non-member Europeans. The report also acknowledged that the association
of Commonwealth countries would reduce the value of existing Community
preferences. It recommended that association with the EEC should be lim-
ited to African countries and to dependent and non-industrialised countries
outside Africa. This excluded Hong Kong, which the Commission deemed to
be an industrial producer, and Commonwealth temperate foodstuffs produc-
ers, since these were considered as part of the general agricultural problem
and were not treated separately from the rest of the agricultural dossier.
In addition, the Commission believed that the British were too vague in
their attitude to the services, freedom of capital movements, and social
questions, and felt that further clarification was needed, in particular on
whether the British accepted all the decisions already taken.* The Com-
mission’s views on the British statement were closest to the French, in that
each emphasised the difficulties that lay ahead.’® Moreover, the German
and Italian representatives in COREPER echoed the Commission’s findings;
more clarity was required from the British delegation.’! This was indicative
of what Ludlow calls ‘the defensive spirit’ with which certain elements of
the Community approached a speech that was itself weighed down with the
problems Britain was likely to encounter during the enlargement talks.>? The
Commission’s assessment highlighted the central issues that would appear
on the Commission’s and the Council’s agenda for the following 14 months:
the Commonwealth, agriculture, and Britain’s relations with the EFTA coun-
tries. Even though it was not a central actor at the talks, the Commission
quickly used its expertise to forge a role early in the enlargement process.

The first bilateral meeting between the Community and Britain took
place on 8-9 November 1961 and was described by Commission officials
as extremely business-like.>* The six reiterated that every article of the Rome
Treaty played its part and that it was important that exceptions should not
become the rule. The six were firm on the subject of the CET, stressing that
the external tariff of the enlarged Community would ultimately apply to all
outside countries, including those of the Commonwealth, except where spe-
cific arrangements were made. The Commission President also addressed the
meeting as ‘the keeper of the conscience of the Treaty’.** Economic union
would not be held up because of the negotiations, he stressed.> The Council
made clear at this meeting that substantive negotiations between the Com-
munity and Britain would not take place until the beginning of 1962, after
the EEC had signed off on the main features of the CAP and agreed to begin
the second stage of the Community’s economic development. Indeed, this
was a position that the Commission repeatedly pushed.>

This was a vital stage in the Community’s internal development. The CAP
was almost finalised, but the Community’s agreement with its Associated
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Overseas Territories (AOTs) was due to expire at the end of 1962. Any
new agreement would have implications for the British Commonwealth;
enlargement would have complicated its renewal. In meetings between the
Commission and the six, discussions had already started on a new conven-
tion for their former colonies. This presented the Community with another
reason not to begin immediate negotiations with Britain until the EEC had
formulated its own position on these vital Community issues. Understand-
ably, the British and the Danes had hoped that the Community would work
out its policies on association and agriculture in tandem with negotiations
for an enlarged Community.>” Indeed, Denmark had expected a consultative
role in the CAP talks.®® This way the applicants would be able to exert pres-
sure on the Community to adopt policies closely related to their economic
and geopolitical interests. However, the Commission believed ‘un précédent
dangereux’ would be created if this was allowed to happen, and argued against
it in one of its reports to the six.>® The Commission was no doubt conscious
of the difficulties it faced in trying to negotiate the CAP with the six, each
of which had its own vested interests in securing a positive outcome to the
internal negotiation on agriculture. This process would have been far more
complex if the Commission had agreed to allow other agriculture producers
a voice at the Council table.

Informal meetings between Commission and British officials in the weeks
after the negotiations opened provided no new insights into the kind of
agreement likely to be reached between both sides on the Commonwealth
issue.® It was evident that the Commission and the six believed that it was
up to the applicants to make specific proposals to the Community rather
than vice versa. This would have been somewhat easier for the Commission,
since it could then analyse the British request and offer its opinion to the
Council, whereby a common position would be found that the Commission
was able to influence. However, assessing this from the British perspective
revealed a different set of objectives. All proposals from policy-makers in
London would first have to gain the approval of a less than united cabinet
and Conservative parliamentary party as well as meeting the needs of the
Commonwealth and EFTA countries. As the end of 1961 fast approached,
no positions had been abandoned on either side, but at the same time no
substantial negotiations had taken place. Yet, the Commission had cleverly
created an important role for itself.

The Commission maintained close contacts with members of the British
delegation during this period of general inactivity. London was keen to avail
itself of the Commission’s advice in an informal way, although this met
with a frosty reception. Soon after the negotiations opened, approaches were
made to Commissioners by British officials about the possibility that mem-
bers of the British delegation might hold informal discussions with officials
in Brussels for clarification of points arising out of the negotiations. Rey
believed that the Commission in general would be in favour of this request,
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yet acknowledged that Hallstein had insisted that the member states should
be consulted before an answer on any issue was given. The Commission Pres-
ident also emphasised the danger of parallel negotiations.®! Was this part of
an obstructionist policy by the Commission President? Arguably, it reflected
the awareness of Hallstein and his colleagues that the Commission’s best
chance of playing a role in these talks lay in becoming the trusted honest
broker among the six, and that its chances of assuming this role could be
called into question if it were perceived (in Paris and elsewhere) as having
become too intimate with the British. The British Mission to the EEC viewed
Hallstein’s intervention as a ‘danger signal’, noting privately that they had
received similar warnings from the Dutch about Hallstein’s attitude towards
the negotiations.®* This was also an important, if not a crucial, period for
the Commission and the six, as both sides sought an agreement on the
CAP. It could not risk taking sides so early in the negotiations, because if
the enlargement discussions broke down it still had to maintain a working
relationship with the six. After all, the Commission had got off to a relatively
good start in the negotiations, and this was acknowledged by the British after
Heath'’s opening speech.®® Between December 1961 and the end of January
1962, the enlargement negotiations were put on hold until the Commu-
nity had completed work on the next stages of its internal tariff reductions.
When the talks resumed in early 1962, the acquis would be extended, and
the Community would have a new programme of activity in its second stage
of development, further complicating relations between the applicants and
the six.

The Commonwealth: Negotiating an empire

Once the enlargement negotiations resumed, one of the main items on the
agenda was the monumental task of finding a solution to the Common-
wealth problem. Accommodating Britain’s Commonwealth interests was
examined at an early stage by the Commission. There was a fear that the
big issues associated with enlargement would be held up until after Britain
joined the Community, which was an idea frequently floated by prominent
Europeans. Jean Monnet, for example, had advised the British throughout
the negotiations that they could not solve all the difficult problems before
accession, and suggested: ‘Once in and on the same side of the table solu-
tions would much more readily be found’.** Indeed, Monnet and others,
such as Max Kohnstamm, Vice-President of Monnet’s ‘Action Committee
for the United States of Europe’, concluded prior to the opening of the
enlargement talks that the Commonwealth and other major issues could
only be dealt with after Britain had joined.® Instead, Kohnstamm believed
‘the UK should enter the Community after agreement on the minor institu-
tional matters’ had been reached.®® The advice reflected a painful reality -
negotiating each single issue had the potential to seriously hamper the
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progress of the talks and possibly jeopardise the achievement of a posi-
tive outcome. The Commission resisted Monnet'’s advice.®” A veto-wielding
Britain could not be trusted to act in a communautaire way after accession if
certain issues were left until after it had joined. In an enlarged Community,
agreement would be more difficult to achieve.

The heart of the Commonwealth problem was the farm products of
Canada, Australia, and New Zealand. New Zealand’s dairy industry had been
built up to serve the British market. By 1960, Australia was sending a quarter
of its exports to Britain. Three staple products — grain, meat, and butter —
would be sharply affected if Britain joined the Community, surrounded by
import levies and guided by common policies.® The British position was
relatively straightforward. It argued that the Commonwealth should con-
tinue to have comparable outlets to those which it currently enjoyed within
Britain after membership.®® This was, of course, a deviation from the rules of
the CET.

The Commission analysed the Commonwealth problem in detail.”
It acknowledged: ‘Les produits du Commonwealth occupant ainsi une place
importante dans les importations du Royaume-Uni’.’" In 1958, Commonwealth
trade amounted to 48 per cent of Britain’s total imports, while in 1960 over
42 per cent of British exports went to the Commonwealth countries.”? The
Commission had developed its own ideas about how it would approach
the Commonwealth problem in advance of the negotiations opening. The
Commission believed that the economic problems affecting these countries
were ‘totalement différents de ceux des Etats et territories d’outre-mer associés
a la Communauté’’® This implied that, despite protestations from these
Commonwealth countries and Britain, it appeared unlikely that the Com-
mission would act favourably towards these three countries. Instead, the
Commission placed greater emphasis on the developing countries of the
Commonwealth and believed that the Community should focus special
attention on certain areas, ‘notamment de I’Afrique’.’”* Enlargement presented
the Commission with an opportunity to reconsider the Community’s ‘rela-
tionship with large portions of the developing world including the Indian
sub-continent and an ever-growing number of newly independent African
nations’.”> Of course, it remained to be seen whether these countries would
accept associate membership of the Community.”® Agence Europe reported
that ‘une question plus importante, du point de vue britannique, est de savoir dans
quelle mesure le Commonwealth va étre directement représenté aux négociations’.””
Britain was under immense pressure from its Commonwealth partners, but
this was London’s dilemma, not one the Commission felt obliged to solve.

Heath’s opening statement stressed that the Commonwealth problems
could be solved by the Treaty of Rome or by protocols to that treaty. He
alluded to the existing provisions between the six and the Community’s
agreements with its associates, and argued that something similar was pos-
sible to accommodate the Commonwealth countries. He said: ‘1 am sure
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that you will understand that Britain could not join the EEC under con-
ditions in which this trade connection [between the Commonwealth and
Britain] was cut with grave loss and even ruin for some of the Common-
wealth countries’.”® This was a vital attempt by the British to appeal to the
six, who had already worked out association agreements for their former
colonial interests. There was almost an underlying belief in London that
the Community would in some way be sympathetic to the Commonwealth.
There was some ambiguity as to whether Heath was seeking association for
all the Commonwealth countries or whether the countries he mentioned,
such as the underdeveloped ones and the territories that were not inde-
pendent, really wanted associate membership. He argued that the option of
association should remain open, with the same terms offered in the future
to the present associates. As Camps notes, the ‘list was a massive one’, and
she argues that the British knew that the six would be unlikely to offer asso-
ciation to all.”? The British, strategically, had set their negotiating position
high; if their position was rejected at this point, it would still be easier to
reintroduce the topic at a later stage rather than make it seem like a totally
new issue.

In October 1961, the Commission’s working group on the British appli-
cation rejected Heath’s demands for equal associate status. Its main concern
was the extension of Part IV of the Treaty of Rome to include association
with all Commonwealth countries. Moreover, Commission officials believed
that Heath’s implicit suggestion that the trading relationship between the
six and their AOTs was in some way similar to the Commonwealth’s exports
to Britain did not hold true.® The Commission argued that a similar arrange-
ment on a larger scale for the Commonwealth countries was impossible to
replicate. Of course, many of the officials in the Commission were French,
Dutch, or Belgian, whose countries had an interest in protecting the existing
arrangements between the six and the former colonies. French officials, for
example, in the Commission had an interest in preserving hard-won agree-
ments on the status of the AOTs. The ideas inherent in the Commission’s
various reports on this subject proved important influences on the posi-
tion adopted by the six at the Community’s first meeting with Britain on
8 November 1961. The Commission had to ensure that any arrangements
reached with Britain over the Commonwealth would not create precedents
for the future association of other countries with the EEC, affect the terms of
the GATT, or impact on the existing associate agreements. At that meeting,
the Community ruled out special preferential treatment between the Com-
munity and the Commonwealth, the only exceptions would be for a group
of African and Caribbean countries which, it felt, qualified for associate
membership. 8 The position adopted by the Community was heavily influ-
enced by the Commission, which had promoted this negotiating position
repeatedly after the talks opened. Indeed, Commissioners and their offi-
cials became increasingly convinced that no easy solution would be found
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by merging Community and Commonwealth interests. Robert Lemaignen,
Commissioner with responsibility for the Community’s AOTs, stressed that
examining Part IV of the Treaty of Rome, which dealt with these terri-
tories, was a suitable approach to adopt for developing countries of the
Commonwealth.®? He highlighted the potential threat to the African states
(and Madagascar) already associated with the Community, from the Com-
monwealth’s exports of tropical goods. While the French Commissioner
raised no outright objections to finding solutions to the Commonwealth
question, he nevertheless sounded a note of caution by arguing points
that appealed directly to the national interests of the six.®* His job was to
act as guardian of the Community’s interests, not to find a solution to a
uniquely British problem, even if this meant prolonging the enlargement
negotiations.

In many of the Commission’s reports on the Commonwealth, one pattern
that emerged continuously was the way in which the Commission drew the
Council’s attention to the likely problems that the Community would face
in the negotiations. One such report, with respect to manufactured prod-
ucts from the Commonwealth, concluded that ‘une divergence de principe a pu
apparaitre entre les positions respectives de la Communauté et du Royaume-Uni’ 34
Indeed, there was very little positive comment emanating from the Commis-
sion with respect to Britain’s demands for the Commonwealth. By raising
awareness of these problems, the Commission was making the six accept
the potential implications of agreeing to British demands for association
for the Commonwealth countries. Emphasising the risks to the Commu-
nity’s existing trading relationship with its AOTs would add caution to the
Community’s negotiating position.

Camps argues that the Community failed to appreciate the significance
that London attached, for domestic political reasons, to achieving an overall
deal for the Commonwealth.®® However, this is not an accurate assessment.
Rather, the British had used every opportunity since July 1961 to stress the
special position of the Commonwealth in regard to British domestic affairs.
The Commission was aware of the pressure that London was under to get the
best deal possible for the Commonwealth countries. Commissioners such as
Marjolin might have understood better than most the importance of the
Commonwealth as a sensitive issue for Macmillan’s government. But the
better informed may also have known that the really politically sensitive
Commonwealth countries, so far as British opinion was concerned, were not
those states likely to be deemed suitable for AOT status, but, rather, the
white former dominions. Commission officials frequently acknowledged:
‘L'importance politique et économique de la Communauté pour la Grande-Bretagne
et aussi pour le monde occidental n’est pas contestable’ 8 What the British (and
Camps) failed to understand was the perspective of the Community, and in
particular that of the Commission. The latter was clearly concerned about
how the Community was perceived in the underdeveloped countries, and,
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by focusing on the African countries, could argue that the EEC was not a rich
man’s club.?” Indeed, Commissioners such as Hallstein had spoken publicly
about the need for the Community to do more towards helping those newly
independent and developing countries, particularly in Africa. Hallstein was
on record as emphasising ‘our responsibilities’ in Africa and the urgent need
to bridge the gap between those countries and industrial ones.®® He pointed
out that by 1959, of the 90 developing countries in the free world, 57 were
dependent on the EEC for 20 to 90 per cent of their exports.? He added:
‘we must take special steps to increase the share of these countries in our
markets. This requires striking a careful balance between their needs and the
interests of the corresponding branches of our own industries’.”® Rey even
called his colleagues’ attention to ‘la responsabilité morale des pays européens
de les assister dans ce développement’.®* Adopting a regional approach to trade
with underdeveloped countries in Africa, and especially in Latin America,
was supported by the Kennedy administration, whose views on this subject
President Kennedy and the State Department shared with Hallstein before
the enlargement talks opened.”> The Community, of course, did not adopt
a global approach to trade with the Third World, but instead differentiated
strongly between its AOTs and those other countries with which it had spe-
cial arrangements on the one hand, and the rest of the developing world on
the other.

Despite the pressures that surrounded the internal agreements on the CAP
during December 1961 and January 1962, the Community continued to
examine the intricately technical aspects of the British application. The com-
mittee of deputies, where the Commission was represented by Deniau, who
played a key role, had held three working sessions that explored a number
of problems assigned to them by the negotiating conference.’®* Among these
issues were: (i) the classification of Commonwealth countries according to
the main characteristics of their export trade; (ii) the list of products for
which the British delegation had proposed a zero duty in the future CET of
the enlarged Community; and (iii) the problems raised by exports of manu-
factured goods from the industrialised countries of the Commonwealth.*
The problem of the less developed countries of the Commonwealth was
approached on the basis of a classification drawn up by the Commission
and the British delegation. This was at Hallstein’s suggestion, when, in the
meeting between the Community and Britain on 8 November 1961, he
proposed that the best approach to association ‘would perhaps be to draw
up a list of the Commonwealth countries which obviously present factual
similarities with those countries which are already associated with us’.”s
This classification consisted of regrouping all the less developed countries
of the Commonwealth into five categories according to the type of prob-
lems raised. The significance of the classification was two-fold. On the one
hand, it summarised in a very concise and practical way the main data on
the external trade of these countries. On the other hand, by defining the
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problems, it enabled the Commission to gain a better grasp of the facts
before them, their dimensions, and possible outlines of their solutions.
The Commission proposed that the problems concerning the countries in
the first category, such as Hong Kong, India, and Ceylon, should be tack-
led without delay. The Commission had made it clear that these countries
were ‘much less deserving’ than some of the African or West Indian coun-
tries of the Commonwealth.?® These countries had powerful manufacturing
industries whose prices reflected the low wages they paid, and therefore
granting association under Part IV of the Treaty of Rome would prove more
difficult.”

The Commonwealth question dominated the first substantive meetings
of the negotiations in January 1962. The deputies’ meeting on 18 January
achieved little. Reporting back to the Commission, Hallstein concluded that
the meeting had not ‘enregistré de progres sensible dans la négociation’.*® He
cited the conflicts between the Community and British delegations over how
to categorise the Commonwealth countries. At the ministerial meeting two
weeks later, Pierson Dixon, head of the British delegation at official level,
gave a lively and impassioned speech on the subject. He pointed to Article 3
of the Treaty of Rome, which dealt with ‘the association of overseas countries
and territories with a view to increasing trade and to pursuing jointly the task
of economic and social development’.?® Despite the Commission’s concerns
over the assimilation of Commonwealth territories into the Community,
Dixon argued that the potential ‘nightmare’ outcomes stressed by some in
the Community would prove ‘to be mere chimeras’.!® Instead of these for-
mer colonies and dominions becoming a burden for the Community, they
would, or so the British delegation argued, prove to be a positive influence.
Moreover, the Community would be seen within the wider international
community to be offering political and economic stability to many underde-
veloped countries. Neither COREPER nor the Commission was convinced by
Dixon’s arguments. Giinther Harkort, Germany’s permanent representative
to the EEC, bluntly asserted that ‘these arguments have been used before.
They are familiar and good, but not easy to sell’.!” While certain members of
COREPER voiced mild criticisms of the British position, the archival records
of these meetings reveal little or no input from the Commission delegation.
This was because, in many ways, it was not required. The Commission’s posi-
tion converged with the political and economic wishes of the member states,
and especially the French. The six were, therefore, defending a position that
was closely related to the views of the Commission. In addition to this, the
agreement covering the relationship between the Community and its AOTs
was due to expire at the end of 1962. As Ludlow notes, the French, conscious
of their own colonial interests, tried hard to have all discussions on the asso-
ciation question put on hold until after a new agreement was reached at the
end of the year.!> The six may have been able to stop the clocks to deal
with agriculture questions at the end of 1961, but postponing discussions
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on the Commonwealth question would have cast serious doubt on France’s
willingness to bring the negotiations to a speedy conclusion.

From the beginning of 1962, the Commission’s analysis of the Com-
monwealth problems continued, and what it showed was the increasing
influence of the Commission in the Council’s deliberations. At the min-
isterial meeting on 22 February, the British were met with two significant
setbacks. The six would not agree to a permanent preferential agreement
for Commonwealth exporters, nor would the Community allow any quan-
titative deals with the British.!°®> A month later, the committee of deputies
was asked to prepare a detailed report on all the issues under discussion
at the enlargement talks. Two of the main topics examined by the com-
mittee and the Commission’s working group were agricultural guarantees
for the British and the remaining aspects of the Commonwealth prob-
lems. What was interesting from accounts of these meetings was the lack
of a Community position on either of these items.!”* French views differed
from those of the other delegations, although Deniau did not record the
Commission’s views. Moreover, no attempt was made to offer any solu-
tions or compromises. Arguably, sending the Commonwealth issues to the
committee stage for discussions was a French tactic of stonewalling in the
enlargement talks. As a result, some of the member states began to ques-
tion whether the Community’s position on the Commonwealth was too
rigid.'” Though the Community had, to a large extent, presented a united
front on the question of granting a preference to the developed Common-
wealth countries, it was clear to some that this position was causing a serious
delay in the talks. Some have argued that the French, who held the rotat-
ing presidency of the enlargement negotiations during this period, saw no
real urgency in concluding the negotiations, and believed that de Gaulle
was engaged in a policy of ‘systematic procrastination that was deliberately
designed to prevent a settlement being reached before the summer recess’.'%
At a meeting of the committee of deputies on 29 March 1962, the British
voiced ‘a note of disappointment’ at the Community’s timetable for discus-
sions on association of the underdeveloped Commonwealth countries and
territories.'”” The German and Italian governments informed the British that
they ‘would find it difficult to make any experts available for detailed dis-
cussion of the commercial aspects of association for two or three weeks’.1%
Even the Commission sounded a note of dejection about the complexity
of the negotiations. In comparison to the other aspects of the enlargement
talks, Rey concluded that the examination of the Commonwealth was ‘plus
vaste, et si je puis dire, plus global’.'® Clearly, this type of examination was
more suited to GATT than to enlargement of the EEC. Some British offi-
cials, for example, told Franc¢ois Duchéne, Monnet’s personal assistant in his
‘Action Committee’, that they were ‘90% sure de Gaulle wants to stop British
entry into the Common Market’.!'? There is much evidence to suggest that
members of the Community were equally slow in finding agreement over
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the Commonwealth and other issues, which would suggest that the French
position was not particularly out of line.

By May 1962, there were signs that agreement would be reached on
certain aspects of the Commonwealth question after the British delega-
tion ‘began the process of making concessions’, something the Commission
had pushed for since the negotiations had started.!'! The Community and
Britain found common ground on the timetable for the application of the
CET to the import of industrial goods from the developed countries of the
Commonwealth."? The committee of experts, which included officials from
the Commission, had been dealing with the timetable question since the
March ministerial meeting. The Commission’s influence on these discus-
sions was notable for the solutions it offered to both the Community and
British experts. For example, when an agreement on aluminium was not
forthcoming from the Community delegations, it was the Commission’s sug-
gestion of a partial suspension of the CET that led to an agreement being
reached.!” It was in these types of issues that the Commission’s technical
expertise was most evident.

The first tangible agreement on the Commonwealth question was secured
on 26 May 1962, when Britain and the Community agreed to the gen-
eral elimination of British preferences for manufactured products from the
old dominions. This was despite protests from the Australian government,
which argued that such an agreement should not be a precedent for other
tariff reductions.!* Australia wanted guaranteed markets inside the Commu-
nity as compensation for the loss of the British preference, a derogation that
the Commission and France staunchly opposed. The Commission, with the
backing of Paris, emphasised that such generous treatment for Australia and
New Zealand would be incompatible with both the Treaty of Rome and the
Community’s January 1962 agriculture deal. The Commission was largely in
favour of granting aid to countries such as India, Pakistan, and Ceylon but
not to the old white dominions, a position supported by the six.

Speaking before the European Parliament in June 1962, Rey ruled out the
possibility of a package deal being agreed between the Community and
Britain. There were, he argued, too many issues on the negotiating table,
and no agreement would bring these problems together.!’> Britain did not
appreciate the complexity of the negotiations from a political and technical
viewpoint. Rey seemed to be warning London (and the press) away from mis-
guided speculation about the chances of a magical package deal resolving the
impasse, and, second, reiterating the standard line that the British needed to
make most of the running, and that delays were largely caused by the fact
that London had not yet grasped this.''® Other well-informed sources close
to the negotiations voiced similar concerns about the negotiations by mid-
1962 after informal discussions with Hallstein and Deniau. Kohnstamm, for
example, wrote to Monnet with a rather downbeat assessment, stating: ‘Sans
miracle il n’est plus possible d’arriver a une vraie vue d’ensemble a la fin de
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ce mois’.""7 Indeed, people like Kohnstamm and Duchéne had encouraged
British officials to use ‘the presence of a man like Deniau to prepare possible
solutions informally’ even though official progress was proving difficult.!!®
Yet, there was no evidence to suggest that the Commission was going to
solve the British Commonwealth dilemma.

For the Commonwealth, July 1962 was the month of the greatest activity,
but the time when the position of the Commission moved heavily against
British demands. The outcome of the Macmillan-de Gaulle meeting at the
Chateau de Champs on 1-2 June was seen, at the time, as having been
a considerable success, although the archival material provides a different
set of conclusions.!” No political decisions resulted from the Chateau de
Champs meeting that would have an impact on the Commission’s position
on the Commonwealth problem or any of the other issues on the confer-
ence table. Instead, the enlargement actors had to focus on ‘the hard grind
of negotiations’.'” The French position had not changed since the begin-
ning of the negotiations. Paris wanted Britain to accept the Treaty of Rome
without modification; so did the Commission.'?! Had the French suddenly
stolen the Commission’s role as defender of all things communautaire? Some
have argued that the French position on Britain’s total acceptance of the
Treaty of Rome was ‘a completely cynical one’.'?? This may have been the
case, especially as the evidence suggests that France wanted Britain to pay a
high price for membership. However, given the fact that France had done
very well out of the Treaty of Rome, it had every reason to protect the
acquis. From the Commission perspective, France was a welcome partner in
the defence of the Treaty of Rome. Even though the French delegation was
defending its own interests, and those of the Community’s AOTs, many of
which were former French colonies, this defence had the effect of protecting
wider Community interests important to the Commission. Indeed, as one
British official noted: ‘People talk about perfidious Albion but the way the
French promote their national interests under a humanitarian garb makes
us look like babies’.'?® After the Chateau de Champs meeting, forcing the
issues back onto the negotiating table allowed Hallstein and his colleagues
greater opportunities to influence the outcome of decisions rather than have
decisions imposed on them as a result of bilateral diplomacy.

By the summer of 1962, there was a marked change in Britain’s approach
to its stance on the Commonwealth issues. It also brought to an end a
period of the negotiations that Hallstein later called the ‘stage of explo-
ration, of continuous reconnaissance of the other party’s positions’ and
its replacement by a phase of ‘getting down to deal with problems of
substance’.”* He acknowledged that ‘outwardly, the negotiations made no
spectacular progress during this phase,” placing the blame at Britain’s door
for failing to conclude any major agreements on the substantial issues under
discussion.!?® Britain and its Commonwealth relations had not ‘yet reached
the point where it was possible for the British to go firm on particular
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solutions’.’?® The single most significant development in the negotiations
between October 1961 and May 1962 was the Commission'’s suggestion that
the Commonwealth countries should be broken down into groups accord-
ing to their economic problems.!?” This middle ground solution to dealing
with the Commonwealth problems allowed the enlargement negotiations
to progress towards a more in-depth analysis of the subject during the sum-
mer of 1962, a period in which significant progress was made, though the
successes during the summer period had more to do with domestic political
concerns in London than influence from the Commission.'?® Nevertheless,
the Commission, acting as honest broker between the six and Britain, was
able to move beyond the principle of the Commonwealth and towards fruit-
ful discussions. The limited breakthrough was based on a proposal from the
Commission on how industrial products from Canada, Australia, and New
Zealand should be treated. There would be both consultation and special
time limits by which the CET would have to be applied to trade with these
countries. In practice, this meant that the Commonwealth countries con-
cerned would be able to adapt gradually to the new circumstances and to
enjoy, during the transitional period, a limited but shrinking preference
on the British market. The Commission proposed a five-stage approach
whereby Britain would implement the CET.!?* Moreover, in the course of
the transitional period there would be some reductions in the rates of duty,
particularly in connection with the Kennedy Round of GATT negotiations.

At first glance, it looked as if the Commission had sidestepped the acquis
and created exceptions to the normal rules governing the application of the
CET. Rather, these exceptions were only acceptable to the six and the Com-
mission because by the end of the transitional period the CET would be
applied in total by Britain and the six. Furthermore, all sides clearly saw what
the final situation looked like, and this was set out in the agreement reached
between Britain and the Community. This basic concept of the Commission,
which came to be known as ‘un systéme de décalage’, also provided a solution
for a number of other problems.'*

A second notable Commission success came with the agreement on
arrangements for India, Pakistan, and Ceylon. Again, this was the result of
a solution proposed by the Commission that was taken up by the six and
accepted — with some amendments — by the British delegation. The Com-
mission had, from the start of the discussions on the Commonwealth, been
convinced that satisfactory arrangements for these countries could only be
found by speeding up the application of a Community common commer-
cial policy. Because the exports of these countries were mostly low-priced
products, arrangements had to be made at the same time to avoid any major
disruptions in the European market. Moreover, the arrangements could not
be allowed to contain anything which, like the inclusion of safeguard clauses
against market disruption, could in the end lead to freedom of trade being
interrupted inside the Common Market. The main features of the solution
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reached between the Community and Britain were: (a) Britain should give
up all claims to a preference on goods from these countries imported to the
British market after the end of the transitional period; (b) the early nego-
tiation of a generous commercial agreement between the Community as a
whole and the Commonwealth countries concerned; and (c) during the tran-
sitional period there would be a reduction of the duty on tea from 20 per cent
to zero per cent, as well as a number of safeguard clauses. The agreement
reached between the Community and India, Pakistan, and Ceylon was a
‘creative achievement’ of the Community that had important economic and
political implications.

Heures décisives

The marathon negotiations between Britain and the Community in July
1962 presented London with two choices: (i) it could sign the Treaty of Rome
immediately, thereby making a possible French veto of the negotiations
more difficult, if not politically impossible; or (ii) London could continue
to hold out for further concessions for the Commonwealth. Meetings in July
were weighed down by discussions on tariffs for individual items and no
substantive negotiations were concluded. It was, after all, the Commission
that had proposed the previous summer that a product-by-product exam-
ination was required in order to find agreement on the Commonwealth
question. A year later, this negotiating model proved cumbersome, if not
debilitating.

On 30 July, Macmillan and his cabinet decided that ‘Britain would stand
by the Commonwealth’.3! This decision was made after a week of intense
negotiations with the Community, with significant input from the Commis-
sion. At issue was the future of imports into the Community of temperate
foodstuffs from Canada, Australia, and New Zealand. Canada traditionally
exported hard wheat to the British market while Australia exported soft
wheat. New Zealand exported a vast amount of lamb and dairy products.
It was, therefore, up to the British delegation to protect these interests by
securing favourable terms from the Community. London had hoped to
satisfy the Commonwealth interests by the simple solution of ‘compara-
ble outlets’. This proposal implied that Commonwealth countries would be
guaranteed agricultural markets within the enlarged Community as large as
their existing markets in Britain. However, Heath and Dixon slowly came to
realise that this was not possible, and accordingly advised London to drop
most of their remaining demands related to temperate foodstuffs.’? Instead,
they pinned their hopes on getting Community safeguards for the Common-
wealth under two other headings: worldwide agreements and price policy.
The first implied that the Community would undertake to negotiate world-
wide agreements with the Commonwealth and other exporters of temperate
foodstuffs, setting the minimum quantities of each agricultural commod-
ity that would in the future be brought into the Community from outside.
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The British delegation also hoped that the price policy of the enlarged
Community would be such that internal food prices would be maintained
at reasonably low levels. This would allow overseas exporters to supply part
of the European market.

On 25 July, Eugéne Schaus, Luxembourg chair of the enlargement confer-
ence for July and August, stressed that Britain had to accept that no special
provisions could be made for the Commonwealth beyond the agreed tran-
sition period. Between 25 and 27 July, there was solid support among the
six and the Commission in defending the Community’s negotiating posi-
tion, with Schaus arguing, for example, ‘We cannot submit the Common
Market Agricultural Policy to annual discussion’.’® While the meeting was
dominated by discussions of products rather than the bigger issues, the
Commission rejected a number of proposals from Heath. Mansholt was
particularly vocal in defending the CAP against British demands for the
Commonwealth. On 26 July, the Dutch Commissioner stressed: ‘It is impos-
sible to make specific exceptions for the Commonwealth’."** A day later, after
much pleading from Heath, Hallstein intervened, pointing out the many
concessions that the Community had already made for the Commonwealth
during the negotiations. The British, he said, ‘have not appreciated what
the Six have done to meet their point of view’.!*> Rolf Lahr, German State
Secretary, Schaus, and Spaak agreed with Hallstein that the British had to
go further. Moreover, the Commission President believed that the negotia-
tions were becoming repetitive, evidenced by Heath'’s repeating the words
‘access, access, access’ like a litany.'*¢ By 27 July, a breakdown was loom-
ing large in the Brussels negotiations. There was open disagreement between
the French and the British, and cracks began to emerge in the Community’s
united stance. The Commission had presented the negotiating conference
with a paper on temperate agricultural products from the Commonwealth
countries.'® The five, France’s EEC partners, had put forward amendments
to the Commission’s paper, 12 in total, which were subsequently rejected
by Hallstein and Olivier Wormser at the French Foreign Ministry, in another
show of Commission-French unity, on 1 August. It was at this point that
Hallstein suggested to Heath that the British put forward their own amend-
ments. The cohesion between the Community’s negotiating teams had been
severely strained after the 1 August meeting.!*

The Commission’s position paper on temperate agricultural products from
the Commonwealth was never intended to act as a final solution to the
Commonwealth issue. In many ways, the document was written to please
the member states, and France in particular, since its terms would almost
certainly never be accepted by the British or Commonwealth countries. This
was another example of the Commission siding with the French when it
was politically expedient. It was also another attempt by the Commission
to protect its flagship agriculture policy. The Commission was clearly con-
scious of the French position on granting access to the white, developed
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Commonwealth dominions. The French argued that New Zealand farmers
were economically better off than the peasant farmers in Italy and France.
Sensing that no agreement was possible between the six, and fearful of
internal cracks in relations among the member states, Hallstein encouraged
London to adopt a more pragmatic position to the issue of access. Hallstein
was in broad agreement with the French position on granting access to
the three Commonwealth countries. The French and Commission positions
were very similar, but for different reasons. Paris wanted to protect its export
market from outside competition while the Commission officials feared cre-
ating precedents on the question of access to the Community’s markets.
Granting access to the Canadians, New Zealanders, and Australians would
have placed pressure on the Community to grant similar concessions to the
United States and Japan.

The British took Hallstein’s advice, and on 3 August produced their own
set of 24 amendments. Although they were ‘technically sound’, the Dutch
delegation, who had been shown a copy of the British changes in advance,
believed that in the current environment the amendments were ‘politically
extravagant’.'3? At the internal meeting of the six, prior to the ministerial
meeting with Britain, Couve de Murville, French Foreign Minister, rejected
all of the British amendments. However, when the British delegation joined
the six and the Commission at the negotiating table, some progress was
made on temperate agricultural products, and the atmosphere was generally
harmonious between France and its EEC partners. Nevertheless, this progress
was short-lived. In the early hours of 5 August, Heath refused to accept the
package of measures agreed hours before until he received more information
on the EEC’s price policy. It was at this point that that Couve ‘sprang the
trap’."° After Schaus, who had been chairing the meeting, was taken out of
the negotiating conference having collapsed with exhaustion, and replaced
by Emilio Colombo, Italian Foreign Minister, the negotiations had firmly
shifted to the positions of France and Britain. Couve demanded that the
British negotiators accept the text of Regulation No. 25, drawn up not by the
French but by Marjolin and presented to Heath at 4 a.m., before the French
agreed to support what had been achieved the previous day.'*! A text of the
deals agreed on 4 August was presented to the delegations on the morning
of 5 August, but French approval was withheld because Britain did not agree
to Regulation No. 25. Colombo suspended the negotiations until October.
Heath argued on his return to London that it was not a complete break-
down; this attitude was adopted largely to remain positive in advance of the
crucial meeting of the Commonwealth prime ministers in September.'*? Sim-
ilarly, Camps paints a brighter picture of the results of the tenth ministerial
meeting, preferring instead to stress the positives.'** In his memoirs, Dixon
states: ‘Then everyone went on holiday. It was Sth August 1962. That was
really the end of the Brussels negotiations’."**
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In retrospect, as Milward notes, the summer recess of the enlargement con-
ference signalled the collapse of the whole negotiation, but that France could
bring this about was still, in August 1962, uncertain.'* Ludlow disagrees,
arguing that the results of the tenth ministerial meeting did not necessarily
mean that the negotiations were doomed to fail.'*¢ Instead, this protracted
meeting should be examined in the light of developments that occurred
between October and the end of January, when the French formally rejected
enlargement of the Community. Perhaps for the first time since the nego-
tiations commenced in October 1961, the Commission achieved far greater
prominence during the tenth ministerial meeting than at any other time in
the previous eight months of talks. At times playing the role of honest broker
between the member states, and occasionally between the six and Britain,
the Commission more often than not sided with the French position on
the Commonwealth problems. This was partly because the Commission and
France had what Lucia Coppolaro calls ‘an almost identical vision’.'*” The
British believed that ‘Hallstein is delaying the negotiations’ and had ‘corrob-
orative evidence that Hallstein is to some extent following instructions from
Adenauer’.'#

When the enlargement talks resumed in October, the Commonwealth
issue had been overshadowed by discussions on British agriculture, which
merely served to highlight in starker fashion the problems that existed
between the Community and London. British proposals on transition peri-
ods were met with counter-proposals from the Community. By the end of
November, it was clear that ‘the atmosphere in Brussels, as well as in London,
had deteriorated dangerously and that the negotiations might run into the
sand’.’*® Mansholt’s appointment to head a special committee aimed at
resolving the impasse over agriculture was a strong indication of how impor-
tant the Commission had become within the enlargement talks.!** Indeed,
all eyes remained fixed, yet again, on a Commission-led committee charged
with finding an acceptable solution to a major European set of negotia-
tions. For a short while, at least, the Commission was able to determine the
timetable of the enlargement negotiations. However, before the Mansholt
Committee had concluded its work, General de Gaulle vetoed the British
application on 14 January 1963.

End of round one

By the summer of 1962, some of the key actors in the Brussels negotia-
tions were from the Commission. It was a position far removed from the
uncertain role assigned to them at the outset of the negotiations. Mansholt
played an indispensable role in explaining to the six and Britain the intri-
cacies of the CAP proposals and how they affected the member states, and
the enlargement negotiations. He did not simply confine his contribution
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to matters exclusively related to bread and butter issues. Hallstein served
as the Commission’s moral voice and guardian of the acquis at meetings
between the six and at the conference talks with the British delegation. At
official level, during meetings of the Committee of Deputies and COREPER,
Hallstein’s voice was heard through Deniau. The French Commission official
provided the Commission with reports on the negotiating positions of the
various delegations, and at times intervened with the six when the acquis
was threatened.'s!

Success or failure of the negotiations, von der Groeben argues, depended
upon the political currents in the various member states.’>> To a large extent,
this was true. Enlargement was a political decision that could only be taken
unanimously by the six. However, in order for Britain to join the Commu-
nity, it needed allies. Towards the end of July 1962, five of the six member
states showed signs of breaking with the French position on the Common-
wealth question, with Germany in particular supporting the principle of
Britain’s membership more than it had previously done. The Commission,
throughout the negotiations, never adopted a similar attitude. Hallstein and
his colleagues supported Community enlargement in principle, but, after
the breakdown of the FTA talks in 1958, they had naturally argued that
enlargement had to comply with the Treaty of Rome and the acquis, the ever-
growing body of Community decisions. The detailed reports it presented to
COREPER and the Council were heavy on technical detail and short on spec-
ifying how the Community could overcome the obstacles presented by the
British application. The nature of the Commonwealth discussions, and in
particular the sensitive nature surrounding the product-by-product analy-
sis, coupled with the refusal of the British and French negotiators to make
adequate concessions, made the Commission’s position difficult. Its ‘sys-
teme de décalage’ advanced the negotiations before the August recess, but
far too much time had been spent either explaining or examining the CET.
This was, of course, where the Commission excelled. It had greater insight
into the acquis than the member states or the applicants. However, there is
very little evidence to suggest that the Commission tried to accommodate
British interests over those of the member states. Negotiations on the Com-
monwealth revealed that the Commission would not bend the rules even
if it risked prolonging the negotiations and contributing to their eventual
collapse.

How did the other actors at the negotiating conference perceive the Com-
mission’s role? Ludlow argues that, had the negotiations succeeded, it was
likely that a great deal of the credit would have been due to the Commis-
sion in general and Mansholt in particular.'* However, General de Gaulle’s
veto changed the way the Commission was perceived by the British nego-
tiators and the six. During the last two weeks of January 1963, attention
focused on the political heavyweights in London and the capitals of the
member states. Indeed, Hallstein and his colleagues became ‘no more than
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bit players in the political drama’ in the dying days of the enlargement
talks.!* Prior to the crisis that erupted after 14 January, London had a
mixed opinion of the Commission. The British negotiators remained criti-
cal throughout the enlargement talks of the way in which the Commission
placed the interests of the Community and the member states before those
of the British. London had concluded at the start of the negotiations that
it was better to deal directly with the six rather than have the meddlesome
Commission involved in the talks. It feared, rightly, that Hallstein, his col-
leagues, and their officials would insist on the complete adoption of the
acquis and the Treaty of Rome. The Commission’s input during the Council
and COREPER meetings did not make things any easier for the British nego-
tiators. The Commission showed, not surprisingly, little flexibility on the
issue of granting concessions to the developed Commonwealth countries,
even though the Macmillan government was under great pressure to accom-
modate them. When the talks hit troubled waters after de Gaulle’s veto, the
British government focused its diplomatic attention chiefly on the German
government, and Adenauer in particular. Of all the actors involved in the
enlargement debate, Germany was seen as the one participant that could
change the General’s mind.

Throughout 1962, the Commission played a valuable role advising the
six on the acquis and insisting that the applicants had to accept the provi-
sions of the Treaty. This was a position that the six agreed to follow. Where
disagreement was recorded, it was due to the pace of the negotiations, over
which the Commission had no control. It was not in the Commission’s inter-
est to try and force the pace of such a complex and protracted negotiation,
because such a move risked sidestepping sensitive issues. Based on the nego-
tiating position adopted by the Commission, it was no surprise that France
would have welcomed the role played by the Commission as a dogmatic
defender of the acquis and the Treaty. While not staunch supporters of either,
French negotiators, as well as the other Community negotiating teams, sup-
ported the product-by-product analysis for Commonwealth goods that was
suggested by the Commission. This had, perhaps, the unintended result of
slowing down the negotiations. By adopting a communautaire outlook, as
was its function, the Commission ensured that the existing Community
rules, from which the French and others largely benefitted, were not com-
promised. Arguably, given the cold reception that some in the Commission
gave to the British application and their annoyance at the timing of the
attempt at enlargement, it was never likely that the Commission would
deviate from its role as guardian of the Treaty. At a minimum, it was able
to advise the applicants on the technical aspects of the acquis, which would
not have incurred the wrath of the French or other member states. The Com-
mission could be seen as a bridge-builder, not between the Community and
London, but between the member states themselves. Hallstein, Mansholt,
Deniau, and others offered solutions during difficult COREPER meetings
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on how to present a unified position to the applicants. It clearly saw itself
as an impartial actor defending the acquis, but was also conscious of the
need to maintain stability in the Community, which was equally important.
Although the negotiations ended in failure, the Commission could at least
be content knowing that the Community’s book of rules had not been com-
promised, and therefore, as far as Hallstein and some of his colleagues were
concerned, it was a job well done.



2

The Commission and the Irish
Application

Chapter 2 examines further aspects of the European Commission’s influence
on the first failed attempt at Community enlargement through an analysis
of Ireland’s application for membership. Ireland’s application did not gen-
erate the same level of excitement or political complexity in Brussels or
elsewhere as the British application, and this is also reflected in the state
of primary and secondary literature on Dublin’s application.' Indeed, as a
measure of the importance of Ireland’s application and the impact it had on
the Community, it is worth noting that Robert Marjolin makes no reference
to the application in his memoirs. Yet, Chapter 2 explores two significant
problems that the Irish applications posed for the Community, problems
that the Commission had not encountered during negotiations with the
British. The first was the question of economic suitability and whether the
Irish economy could compete in open markets without privileged trading
agreements with Britain. The chapter focuses on the attempts made by Irish
policy-makers to convince the Commission of Ireland’s economic readiness
for membership. The second problem was equally important. The Irish appli-
cation opened up a debate within the Community on whether it was wise
to allow neutrals and non-members of NATO into the EEC. The central
question in this chapter is how the Irish application helped increase the
Commission’s influence over the enlargement process.

Ireland and the European project

Though politically independent from Britain since the 1920s, the Irish
Republic was wedded to the British economy. For decades after indepen-
dence, Irish agricultural exports relied heavily on the British market; its
economy was an appendage of Britain’s. From the late 1930s, there existed
a free trade agreement between both countries that guaranteed low or no
tariffs on the movement of goods between the two islands. Economically,
Ireland cultivated a close relationship with Britain, much to the exclusion of
trade with other western European countries after World War Two. Indeed,
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Ireland had closer economic, cultural, and political relations with Britain
and the United States during the first half of the twentieth century than
it did with continental Europe. Ireland’s history and geographical position
meant that Britain was the obvious location for its exports, while many Irish
citizens emigrated either to the United States or to English cities from the
late nineteenth century onwards. At least until the late 1950s, this economic
position suited Irish political elites, who were content at having secured
political independence and sovereignty. However, the 1950s brought this
myth of independence to the fore for policy-makers in Dublin when the
economic climate started to change.? For the first time in the history of
the state, politicians at all points of the political spectrum believed some-
thing had to be done to stem the tide of emigration and rebalance the Irish
economy between Britain and the wider world.

Initially, at least, Ireland shared many of Britain’s views on the European
trading environment after the EEC was established. As Miriam Hederman
makes clear, Britain’s refusal to join the EEC on day one ‘upset no Irish
apple-carts’.*> While Ireland acknowledged the existence of the EEC, it nev-
ertheless hoped for an OEEC-led economic bloc and was extremely fearful
of a two-tier Europe divided by tariffs. At a meeting between senior govern-
ment ministers and officials in December 1958, the dominant view was that
Ireland’s interests were best served within the framework of the OEEC.* This
was a predictable policy option to adopt. At the top of Ireland’s list of pri-
orities was its economic relationship with Britain. In the absence of other
concrete economic opportunities, Irish policy-makers sided with London
because the FTA model posed the fewest risks to the Anglo-Irish trade agree-
ment. However, when the FTA negotiations failed, officials in Dublin began
to assess the possibility of applying for EEC membership. Two factors led
to this review. First, in 1959, when the Scandinavian countries, together
with Britain and Portugal, formed the EFTA, Ireland received no invitation.
Even at this late stage, Taoiseach (Prime Minister) Sedn Lemass hoped that
an agreement to end Europe’s economic split could still be found within
the framework of the OEEC.> However, when the Stockholm Agreement was
signed in November 1959, Lemass admitted to the Dail (the Irish Parliament)
that participation in the EFTA offered little advantage to Ireland. He insisted
that it was no cause for concern that Ireland found itself excluded from both
of Europe’s economic trading blocs at the end of the 1950s, and argued,
rather unconvincingly, that it was a more a question of whether ‘we would
wish to join’.

In the period between the creation of the EFTA in late 1959 and spring
1961, Irish officials wasted little time in examining the implications of
Community membership under Article 237 of the Treaty of Rome. This
assessment was in itself a bold move, insofar as the government was explor-
ing membership rather than associate membership. This burst of activity
was grounded on the assumption that Britain would make a similar move in
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the direction of the Community. Economic dislocation from the EEC, with
Britain as a member, was enough of a worry for the Irish government that it
only ever seriously considered full membership. Indeed, policy-makers ruled
out associate membership because that would have put Ireland in the same
‘underdeveloped’ category as Greece and Turkey.

The 1961 Irish general election was remarkable for the absence of any
debate on the EEC. One reason for this was, according to Hederman, ‘because
“Free Trade” was never popular, never attractive in Ireland’, after decades
of economic protectionism.” As late as 21 June 1961, Lemass denied that
any move towards the EEC was imminent, but by the first week of July,
and after the publication of a White Paper on the subject, the Taoiseach
acknowledged: ‘The government have taken steps to inform each of the six
governments of the European Economic Community and the Commission
of the Community in Brussels that, in the event of the United Kingdom
applying for membership of the EEC, we also will so apply’.® The evidence
suggests that the Commission did not expect the Irish government to make
a bid for membership when it did. In mid-July 1961, Emile Noél, Secretary
General of the Commission, outlined the implications for the Community
‘dans le cadre de I’hypotheése d’une adhésion du Royaume-Uni a la Communauté’ .’
He concluded: ‘Le probleme principal qui peut se poser en ce qui concerne la
Commission est celui du nombre des participants a cet organe. L'adhésion du
Royaume-Uni, de la Norvége, et du Danemark porterait vraisemblablement ce nom-
bre a 13 membres’.’® This was despite the fact that the Irish government
presented to the six and the Commission an aide mémoire in early July out-
lining its intention to seek membership ‘in the context of a decision by the
United Kingdom to apply to become a member’.!!

On 31 July 1961, the same day that Harold Macmillan made his state-
ment on the British application to the House of Commons, Ireland became
the first country to formally apply for Community membership.'> COREPER
was asked to formulate a response to the aide mémoire and the applica-
tion, because the prepared one was inadequate ‘depuis la déclaration de
M. Macmillan du 31 juillet 1961’."* Replying to the British application, Erhard
said: ‘I...have arranged for the procedure envisaged in the Treaty to be set
in motion as soon as possible’.!* As one Irish official noted, the Commu-
nity’s letter to Dublin gave ‘no such indication’ that negotiations would
commence soon.'?

The myth of economic independence

Prior to the application, informal meetings took place between the Com-
mission and Irish officials at social gatherings in Brussels; the topic of
conversation usually centred on Britain’s reluctance to join the EEC. In July
1960, Jean-Francois Deniau told Denis McDonald, Ireland’s ambassador to
Belgium, and head of mission to the Community, that Ireland’s case was
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perhaps ‘the most special of all’ because he did not seem hopeful that Britain
would enter the Community in the ‘foreseeable future’, and that, therefore,
relations between the Commission and Ireland would ‘probably have to
await discussion’.’® Clearly aware of the close economic ties between the two
countries, Hallstein expected an Irish application in the event of a similar
move coming from London."

There were some attempts by policy-makers in Dublin to present the myth
of economic independence to the Community despite the economic ties
that linked Ireland to Britain. For example, Ireland’s aide mémoire to the six,
in July 1961, sought to ‘convey a picture of a dynamic and rapidly grow-
ing economy’.’® This was an attempt to neutralise the impressions, negative
or otherwise, that may have been created by the Commission and the six
during the FTA discussions. What Ireland feared most was being placed in
the same economically underdeveloped category as Greece and Turkey. Sub-
sequently, policy-makers in Dublin highlighted the country’s Programme for
Economic Expansion and its willingness to work with the Community in order
to speed up its economic development in domestic industry and agriculture.
However, despite these efforts, many in the Community were unconvinced
of Ireland’s ability to succeed in the Common Market. On 1 September
1961, a Council note revealed that most of the member states had economic
concerns about the Irish application. The German, French, and Italian del-
egations concluded: ‘En effet, I’homogénéité économique et politique de I'Irlande
avec les Etats membres de la Communauté semble ne pas étre suffisante pour
permettre d’envisager une adhésion’.** Germany even raised the alternative pos-
sibility of ‘une association avec perspective d’adhésion’.*® Even though there is
no record of the Commission’s comments at this meeting, it was clear that
Ireland faced an uphill struggle in its attempts to gain membership and that
the Commission likely shared the Council’s views. It would certainly not be
a case of entering the Community on the coat tails of the British application.
Similarly, there was no suggestion from the six that negotiations would open
with Ireland.

That same month, Mansholt informed Dublin that the Commission was
pleased with Ireland’s application and that he welcomed it personally.?!
Yet, he accepted that the membership of Denmark and Ireland, both large
agricultural exporting countries, would add to the general agricultural diffi-
culties within the Community. There was an unbalanced situation between
agriculture and industry in the EEC due to the lack of progress in the imple-
mentation of the CAP. Mansholt was firm that the six could not delay
work on the agricultural policy until after the negotiations with the appli-
cant countries were completed; no distortion would be allowed to take
place in the Common Market. Economic considerations played a signifi-
cant part in the decisions of the Community, not least because admitting
a relatively weak economy would place a heavy burden on the financial
resources of the six, and Germany as paymaster. At a Council meeting in late
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September, the Commission clashed with France over how best to respond
to the application. Jean-Marc Boegner, French permanent representative to
the Community, presented the Council with a draft of a French plan that
would simply provide a limited statement on intent that outlined how the
six viewed the Irish application with ‘sympathie et compréhension’ > Boegner
claimed that the problems associated with the Irish application ‘méritaient un
examen approfondi’, though he failed to specifically mention what these prob-
lems were and whether it was Ireland’s neutrality and non-membership of
NATO or its relative economic weakness that was of concern to Paris.?® Lahr
argued that the Community had to find a solution to the Irish question,
either through membership pursuant to Article 237 or by an ‘autre forme de
lien avec la Communauté — qui sera retenue en définitive dans le cas irlandais’.**
However, Hallstein believed that it was best to wait until the Commission
had examined the Irish application in greater detail before sending Dublin a
reply, given that nothing had been agreed by the Community on how best
to handle the application. Neither the Commission nor the Council raised
any doubt as to the suitability of the Danish application. The Community’s
archival material reveals that a greater proportion of the Commission’s time
was spent discussing the position of Austria, Sweden, and, to a lesser extent,
Switzerland than on the Irish application.® Although Irish diplomats in
Brussels were only vaguely aware of problems with the application, informal
discussions continued to take place between Commission and Irish officials
on economic issues. By October 1961, the Commission began requesting
information from Dublin, such as the latest trade and shipping statistics,
but it was another six months before more detailed information was sought
by the Community.

Discussions in the Council in early October revealed that the Irish applica-
tion was not in the same league as the British and Danish applications; the
Commission stressed ‘la situation particuliere’ of the Irish bid.?® It highlighted
the political and economic aspects of the application, namely, Ireland’s non-
membership of NATO and its level of economic development, and suggested
that a ‘réunion préparatoire’ was required to provide an adequate response
to the questions raised by the application.?’” Meanwhile, the Community
pressed ahead with the British and Danish negotiations. The Community
finally came to a decision about the Irish application at the end of October.
In a brief statement, the Council announced that a meeting would be
held in January 1962 between Ireland and the Community to discuss ‘les
probléemes particuliers que pose le demande du Gouvernement irlandais’.*® The
meeting would give the Irish government an opportunity to argue its case for
membership. Moreover, it would allow the Commission to clear up any par-
ticular issues it had concerning the application, especially from an economic
perspective.

There was a growing unease within some sections of the Community
about whether Ireland was a suitable candidate for membership, with doubts
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surfacing in Paris and elsewhere. Doubts, of course, were also expressed by
the Commission and certain member states about the desirability of hav-
ing Britain in the Community, but these were not serious enough to block
the opening of enlargement talks. Rather, officials in the Commission were
becoming concerned that Ireland’s economy would not maintain the pace.
Frank Biggar, Ireland’s ambassador to the EEC, advised Dublin that if Ireland
was to avoid having to accept association, instead of membership, it would
have to convince the Council and the Commission that accession would ‘not
distort the economic equilibrium’ of the Rome Treaty, retard the develop-
ment of the Community, or weaken its efforts towards political integration.?
Towards the end of 1961 and the beginning of 1962, Hallstein began to seri-
ously question Irish officials about the application. Arguably, the hesitation
displayed by the Commission and the six on the issue of opening negoti-
ations with Dublin was aimed at stonewalling the application rather than
opening a third negotiating front and stretching the Community’s resources
even further.

Lemass’s speech before the Community on 18 January 1962 was striking
for the way he attempted to deal with the indirect criticisms of the Irish
application. The Taoiseach spoke in detail about the CAP, the economic links
with the British market, and the challenges faced by the agricultural and
industrial sectors in Ireland. He acknowledged that ‘Our principal concern
in the agricultural sphere relates to the manner in which British agricultural
and food import policy will be harmonised with that of the Community’.*°
On the industrial question, he was less upbeat, but attempted to assuage fears
by presenting a picture of an industrial sector on the rise. He claimed that his
government’s approach to modernising Irish industries was consistent with
the Community’s policy in this area. He promised to ‘promote energetically’
the adaptation of Irish industry to Common Market conditions, noting that
a comprehensive series of industrial surveys had been initiated.’! Lemass was
the only head of government to present his country’s case before the Com-
munity. It was a speech that went further than the other two governments
in accepting the Treaty of Rome and the acquis, without setting the same
preconditions that Heath had outlined months earlier.

The Commission’s response to the speech was wholly positive; it could not
have been otherwise, since the application raised so few issues in compari-
son to London’s.*? Deniau believed that the speech raised very few problems,
much fewer than in the case of Denmark and, of course, far fewer than
the British application. Biggar argued that the statement was intended to
get negotiations started as soon as possible, since negotiations had already
begun with Denmark and Britain. The French Commission official remarked
that meetings between the Community and Denmark so far had been simply
‘to amuse the people’, to which Biggar bluntly responded: ‘I appreciate this
but our people had to be amused too’.>* However, all this was not enough to
inspire the Community to open negotiations. After Lemass spoke, Council
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chairman Couve de Murville simply noted that the Community would make
no immediate promise on negotiations. The Community, formally at least,
refused to take a position on the application, and it remained on the back
burner of Council meetings over the following two months. Arguably, the
refusal by the Community to go further during the January meeting was an
indication that the French government did not wish to begin negotiations
with a third country. While there is no evidence to suggest that France was
blocking Ireland, it did hold the presidency of the negotiations and hence
tended to make most of the public statements about the views of the six.
Lemass’s statement had been clear on the main issues. It remained to be
seen what further information the Community required. Moreover, neither
the Commission nor the five felt compelled to question Couve’s judgement
or insist on the immediate opening of enlargement talks.

In March, a date was set for a meeting between COREPER and high-level
Irish policy-makers.?* The meeting, scheduled for 11 May, would discuss
further the issues raised in Lemass’s speech. The French, rather than the
Commission or the five, seemed to direct the Council’s decisions on the
Irish application. A note prepared by Axel Herbst of the Commission’s sec-
retariat revealed that COREPER was in agreement with Boegner’s suggestion
that further questions should be sent to Dublin.?> The Community officials
made it clear that the meeting in May was not an indication that formal
negotiations would open.?® On the contrary, the Council maintained that
it was still in discussions with the British and the Danes, and, instead, sug-
gested that a list of economics related questions should be sent to Dublin in
advance of the meeting.?” A questionnaire was drawn up by the Commission
and COREPER. The questions related to economic aspects of the Irish appli-
cation. This type of approach by the Community was not completely new,
since the British and the Danes had received similar questionnaires.*® Of the
15 questions, two related to agriculture and the remainder focused on how
Irish industry would adapt to the rules of the Community’s Customs Union.
The key concern for the Commission was the timetable that policy-makers
in Dublin had in mind for the elimination of tariffs and quotas to Commu-
nity trade and full acceptance of the CET. In response, the Irish government
proposed a timetable of annual tariff reductions that would begin on the
date of Ireland’s accession to the Community and would be completed on
1 January 1970. Irish officials were optimistic that the country could secure
an early entry to the EEC, and its policy outlook was geared towards this goal.
Moreover, policy-makers were aware that January 1970 was the expiry date
of the transitional period stipulated by the Treaty of Rome. The Commission
took particular interest in Lemass’s suggestion, during his January speech,
that Ireland would need relief under Article 226 of the Treaty of Rome for
some industries that would find it too difficult to comply with the proposed
general thythm of tariff reductions.** It wanted to know the industries that
would be affected, whether the provisions laid down in the Treaty of Rome
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were enough to deal with these industries, and, if not, the industrial prod-
ucts that would need special provisions in any final deal between Ireland
and the Community.

These questions were almost impossible to answer. The Irish government
was awaiting the results of the industrial surveys initiated the previous year
to examine the impact of free trade and tariff reductions on indigenous
industries. The Community’s questionnaire was aimed to elicit information
on the state of the country’s economy. The replies to the questionnaire pre-
sented ammunition to those within the Community, especially Germany
and Belgium, who believed that association rather than membership was
the preferred option for economically weaker European countries. But, even
if this was the case, neither the Commission nor the six seized the oppor-
tunity at their meeting with the Irish delegation on 11 May to make such a
point. Senior Irish officials in Brussels impressed upon COREPER the need for
an early ministerial meeting between Dublin and the six to mark the open-
ing of negotiations, while the Community promised the Irish delegation
that it would respond to the questionnaire in due course.** The Community
was unable to set a date for the opening of negotiations. As Denis Maher
notes, “The summer of 1962 went by without any indication from Brussels
of when negotiations proper on the Irish application for membership were
likely to commence’.*! Between May and October, Dublin received ‘soothing
assurances’ that, even though the Danish and the newly received Norwegian
applications had been processed first, little to no progress had been made
during these negotiations and that the Irish application ‘presented so few
problems that it could be dealt with very quickly’.*> At a COREPER meet-
ing on 12 July, the Dutch argued in favour of opening negotiations with
Ireland and ‘une date a I’automne de cette année pour le début des négociations’.**
Even though the French delegation disagreed with this position, successfully
pushing for a ‘wait and see’ policy until the outcome of the British nego-
tiations was clearer, what was noticeable was the lack of any input from
the Commission. It was not until September 1962 that the Commission'’s
analysis of the Irish questionnaire was presented to COREPER.** Its short,
four-page examination of the questions made no recommendations to the
Council on whether it believed the answers were convincing enough to war-
rant the opening of negotiations. A frequent response from the Commission
stressed: ‘Il est a observer a cet égard qu’une solution en cette matiére dépendra
des résultats des négociations avec le Royaume-Uni’.*> Yet, both the German and
Dutch governments, under diplomatic pressure from Dublin, were in favour
of immediately opening negotiations with Ireland.*¢ Despite this, the French
delegation, supported by the Italians, was reluctant to commit to such a
move and argued that the Community’s future relations with Ireland should
be based on the EEC’s negotiations with Britain, agreeing with the Commis-
sion’s public position: ‘Il ne faut donc statuer sur 'ouverture des négociations
avec le gouvernement irlandais que lorsqu’on apercevra la fin des négociations avec
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le gouvernement britannique’.*” There was a clear division within the Com-
munity over the Irish application. As the previous chapter has argued, by
September 1962 the French had decided that on-going negotiations between
some of the applicants had already stretched the Community’s resources,
and they may well have decided that the British negotiations were doomed
to failure; opening talks with Ireland would only add to the complications
surrounding the existing arduous talks in Brussels.

Yet, in October, and despite the lingering problems affecting the British
negotiations since the previous August, policy-makers in Dublin adopted
a two-front attack towards the Community aimed at opening negotia-
tions. First, the government encouraged the Irish Council of the European
Movement to invite journalists to Ireland from the leading European daily
newspapers to dispel the myth that Ireland was an economically stagnant
country. Second, Lemass decided to visit the Commission and the capitals
of the six to secure public displays of support for the Irish application and,
more importantly, attempt to force the Community to set a date for the
opening of negotiations. The core message of Lemass’s pilgrimage was that
Ireland was seeking membership on an equal basis to that of the six and
not something similar to the Greek model of association. However, by the
beginning of October, the Council was still considering both options for
Ireland and the Community was still engaged in negotiations with Britain,
Denmark, and Norway, the fourth country to submit a membership appli-
cation. On 5 October, the French delegation, for example, continued to
express reservations at opening negotiations with a fourth country under
Article 237 and, therefore, no agreement was reached on what course of
action the Community would take.*® For its part, the Commission reiter-
ated its recommendation made to the Council on 9 October 1961, namely,
that negotiations should be opened with Ireland based on Article 237 but
without insisting on a specific timetable. Instead, as with previous Council
meetings, the decision on Ireland’s application was postponed until the end
of the month.

The month of October proved decisive for the application. In the space of
two weeks, the Community had cast aside all doubts over Ireland’s applica-
tion. From 7 to 14 October, Lemass met the leaders of Belgium, Luxembourg,
the Netherlands, France, and Italy, as well as Hallstein in Brussels. He argued
passionately at each meeting that the delay in opening negotiations was
having an adverse effect not only on public opinion but also on Ireland’s
industrial growth. The six governments ‘showed sympathy with, and under-
standing of, the Irish government’s position’.* At a meeting of COREPER,
four days into Lemass’s tour, the decision was taken to agree to the opening
of membership negotiations with Dublin.>® In a brief note to the Commis-
sion explaining this decision, Herbst stated that the formal announcement
would be made by the Council on 22 October.’! There was no indica-
tion, from the minutes of the COREPER meeting, why the Community had
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changed course. Yet, Lemass’s lobbying had paid off. His personal diplomatic
efforts were certainly crucial. The decision to open negotiations with Ireland
was clearly a political one.

NATO and neutrality - ‘a stick to beat the dog with’

While the Irish government was able to present the Community with statis-
tics and trade figures that showed how Ireland’s economic fortunes were
rising, reservations about the politics of membership were less easy to deal
with. Ireland’s neutrality and its non-membership of NATO became unex-
pectedly caught up in its application. The question being asked in Brussels
was whether military neutrality was compatible with the vague political
ideas hidden in the Treaty of Rome. Two issues are central to this discussion.
The first was timing, and the second related to Ireland’s foreign policy after
the outbreak of World War Two. While there are no political aims enshrined
in the Community’s founding treaties, the reference in its preamble to ‘an
ever closer union’ implied that the EEC was more than an economic union.
As Hans von der Groeben states, the preamble confirmed that the establish-
ment of the Common Market ‘was not seen as an end in itself, but as a
means of creating and further developing the Community’s political power
to act’, but he acknowledges that ‘no specific objectives or procedures were
laid down because there was no agreement on these points’.’> The Com-
mon Market highlighted what one Commission official called ‘the growth
of political awareness and the pressures of economic necessity’.>® Hallstein’s
vision for the Community was clear: ‘Yes, the European Economic Com-
munity is political, and in a way which differs from that in which even a
structure such as the Little Free Trade Area is of course political’.’* Certain
political events had occurred which made greater political solidarity among
the member states more necessary than ever.>® The French President hoped
to build a European confederation with the strength to deal with the United
States and the Soviet Union from a position of equality. As Jeffrey Giauque
points out, de Gaulle’s political union would become a ‘third force’ and bring
‘the bipolar international system of the Cold War to an end’.’® The Bonn
Declaration of 1961 grew out of a meeting between the six in Paris the pre-
vious year, when it had been agreed to hold another meeting in Bonn in
May. In the interim period, a committee was established made up of senior
diplomats from the member states. The Fouchet Committee, as it became
known, was charged with examining other problems concerning European
cooperation.”” The committee met throughout 1961 and into 1962 and was
noted for the amount of disagreements that arose between France and its
EEC partners, which were sceptical about French intentions, especially in
relation to NATO. The Dutch eventually withdrew from the committee in
protest at Britain’s exclusion from political union talks, and the discussion
broke down in April 1962.5 Talks on a possible political union among the
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six increased pressure on Dublin to take seriously the issue of political inte-
gration. The member states were actively seeking to develop a foreign policy
coordinating mechanism. Therefore, neutrality mattered, because a foreign
policy such as this was seemingly incompatible with the type of policy being
discussed by the six and pursued by de Gaulle.

The Commission had its own ideas on political integration, and these
became more defined after the failure of the Fouchet Committee talks. The
Commission saw integration as a continuous process which, as the Com-
mon Market progressed, would extend into other areas, such as economic
policy, monetary policy, and foreign policy. This deepening and widening of
the integration process would provide the Commission with more influence
in the policy arena. In the political field, the Commission believed that by
furthering economic integration the institutions would gain greater powers.

As Réisin Doherty points out, Ireland’s neutrality emerged prior to the out-
break of World War Two and ‘has been maintained since in the absence of
any strategic necessity’.>’ Ireland’s stated position on neutrality was in many
ways different from that of the more established European neutrals, Austria,
Sweden, and Switzerland. Switzerland’s neutrality, for example, dated back
to the fourteenth century, and during the Cold War it refused to join either
the EEC or the United Nations (UN) in order to maintain its economic
and political independence. By 1961, Ireland’s neutrality had become entan-
gled with its non-membership of NATO. In 1949, the American government
had invited Ireland to join the newly formed military alliance. The Irish
government rejected the request and Washington did not insist, ‘partly on
account of American ambivalence in Anglo-Irish conflicts’.*® Membership
of NATO meant acceptance of the existing border divisions of its members.
In Ireland’s case, this implied acknowledging a 26-county republic with six
countries under British sovereignty; no Dublin government was prepared to
accept this reality. The founding members of the EEC were all members of
NATO, although there was nothing in the Treaty of Rome that stated new
members had to join that alliance.

In April 1961, the German government had discussed the possibility of
neutrals joining the Community. In conversation with American officials,
Heinrich von Brentano, German Foreign Minister, pointed out that the
EEC ‘has political character and motivation’ and, more importantly, the
‘EFTA has neutral member-countries who may have difficulty in associat-
ing themselves with the Common Market’.®' George Ball, Under-secretary of
State in the Kennedy administration, for example, believed special arrange-
ments ‘would be needed’ for Portugal and the neutral countries.®> Edward
Heath agreed that arrangements for neutrals ‘would have to be looked
at individually on merits and approval could not be given in advance’.®
No specific mention was made of Ireland. What is revealing about these
EEC - United States meetings is the way in which, indirectly at least, a
political philosophy on enlargement was emerging. Ministers and officials
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from the Community were expressing their own ideas to a largely pro-British
audience, something that was not possible to do in Europe. This frankness
showed that, on the question of neutrality, the emphasis was placed on the
EFTA neutrals and not Ireland. The evidence suggests that American offi-
cials did not recognise the independence of the Irish application. In October
1961, a circular telegram issued by the State Department to some of its mis-
sions in Europe noted that the ‘Department is studying intricate problem
of possible association of countries with EEC posed by entry of UK and
Denmark’.** This was three months after Ireland had submitted its appli-
cation. In many ways, this was a positive development in that, despite the
diplomatic faux pas of failing to acknowledge the independent Irish appli-
cation, US officials were not singling out Ireland’s neutrality as an issue that
posed a problem for further European integration. The Americans were not
alone in forgetting that Ireland was also an applicant for membership under
Article 237 of the Treaty of Rome. In their July 1961 examination of the
changes in the voting structure of the Council in the event of enlargement,
the Commission allocated eight votes to Britain and three each to Denmark
and Norway, while no mention was made of Ireland. Similarly, the Commis-
sion’s assessment of the implications for the Commission as an institution
in an enlarged Community believed its membership would rise to 13 with
‘L'adhésion du Royaume-Uni, de la Norvege, et du Danemark’.®> Speaking at
a closed session of the Foreign Affairs Committee of the French National
Assembly, Couve de Murville made references to the enlargement question,
saying: ‘La véritable question qui se pose est de savoir de quelle Europe I'on
parle, quel sera son contenu. Se fera-t-elle a six ou a neuf, avec la Grande-Bretagne,
le Danemark, la Norvege? Cela est le véritable probleme’.%® Denis McDonald,
Ireland’s Ambassador to France, wrote to Dublin in response to Couve’s com-
ments, saying: ‘It is not new to us, in any event, that Mr Couve de Murville
seems to regard the entry of Ireland simply as an accessory to the entry of
Great Britain into the Common Market’.?”

During a visit to Switzerland in November 1961, Hallstein made his views
very clear on the issue of neutrality and its compatibility with Community
membership. Speaking in a country where neutrality was the cornerstone of
its foreign policy, he stressed that the economic and political aspects of the
Community, as they had developed and would develop, were inseparable.®®
If Switzerland wished to make a move towards the six, it would therefore
have to take a political decision. In a fully integrated Europe of the future,
he could see no role for a policy of neutrality. There was a perception that
membership under Article 237 was not open to European countries that
pursued a policy of military neutrality or were outside NATO. The six had
mixed views on the neutrality question. At a meeting of the Council on
1 September 1961, the Belgian delegation made an indirect reference to
Ireland’s semi-flexible neutrality policy:
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se demandait si le cas de I'Irlande n’était pas un cas particulier se distinguant
par exemple, de celui de la Suede, de I’Autriche ou de la Suisse. En effet, il
semble qu’au contraire de ces pays, le Gouvernement irlandais ait la possi-
bilité et la volonté de modifier sa politique pour l’aligner sur celle des Etats
membres.*

Senior members of Adenauer’s administration argued against Hallstein'’s
Swiss position. Von Brentano had reassured Irish officials that neutral coun-
tries would not have to join NATO to secure membership of the EEC. At a
press conference in Dublin, he stressed:

Economic and political co-operation within the European Economic
Community has nothing whatever to do with the North Atlantic Treaty
Organisation, and I am convinced that a number of countries which pur-
sue a neutralist policy to-day can participate in the Common Market, and
that this would have no effect on membership of NATO either directly or
indirectly.”®

Yet, the Belgian Foreign Minister disagreed, siding more with Hallstein’s
view. Speaking with Douglas MacArthur, US Ambassador to Belgium, in
November 1961, Paul-Henri Spaak expressed ‘very serious reservations about
developing trend to downgrade importance of political integration’, par-
ticularly in connection with the French plans for a political union and
the association of neutral and other countries with the EEC.”! This situ-
ation, Spaak believed, coupled with the fact that some countries sought
membership of the EEC only for economic and commercial advantages,
‘presents considerable danger to continued progress in field of political
integration’.”? Referring specifically to the neutrals, Spaak agreed that they
should be allowed to obtain all the commercial benefits of the Common
Market through ‘association’ without accepting the political philosophy of
the Treaty of Rome. Indeed, he used Greece as an example of a country that
shared both the political and economic objectives of the Treaty but was ‘eco-
nomically not yet able to assume full membership’.”> Two months later, in
January 1962, Spaak told an audience in New York that he had ‘misgiv-
ings and an unfavourable reaction’ to admitting neutrals as associate EEC
members.”* What was important, from Ireland’s perspective, was that some
in the Community understood the subtleties surrounding Ireland’s neu-
trality and that these made it distinct from the more established neutrals.
Ireland was not opposed to political integration, but may have underes-
timated the political significance of this for the Commission and the six.
Instead, Ireland had to face the integrationist agenda that Spaak was pursu-
ing, not just within the EEC but also across the Atlantic with his friends
in the Kennedy administration. By early 1962, stronger links were being
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made between Community membership and participation in NATO, though
neither the Commission nor the Council adopted an official position.
During his meeting with the Community in January 1962, Lemass
attempted to rid the Community of lingering doubt about Irish foreign pol-
icy. He made it clear that ‘the political aims of the Community are aims
to which the Irish government and people are ready to subscribe and in the
realisation of which they wish to play an active part’.”s In a definite answer to
the ‘perplexity expressed more or less openly in certain circles’ about the fact
that Ireland had accepted the political aspects of membership when it was
not a member of NATO, the Taoiseach made his strongest remarks, stressing:

While Ireland did not accede to the North Atlantic Treaty, we have always
agreed with the general aims of that Treaty. The fact that we did not
accede to it was due to particular circumstances and does not qualify in
any way our acceptance of the ideal of European unity and of the concep-
tion, embodied in the Treaty of Rome and the Bonn declaration of 18 July
last, of the duties, obligations and responsibilities which European unity
would impose.”®

Lemass went much further than an established neutral would have ventured
in speaking about NATO and neutral states in the EEC. Indeed, both the
Swiss and Swedish governments emphasised at the Council of Europe six
months later that neither country would abandon their neutrality, with the
Swiss stating:

La Suisse doit aussi se demander si, en acceptant ces obligations (celles du Traité
de Rome), elle ne créerait pas I'impression d’étre préte a abandonner sa neutralité
ou au moins a s’engager dans une voie qui la conduirait tot ou tard a I’'abandon
de sa neutralité.””

Lemass was not going to allow his country’s pre-war policy of military neu-
trality derail its chances of gaining membership of the Common Market,
and, of necessity, seemed willing to sacrifice it.

Yet, members of the Commission remained divided over the issue after
Lemass’s speech. Some argued that the neutrality was a deal-breaker, but
others stressed the economic weaknesses inherent in the Irish application.
Hallstein was convalescing in the Canaries when Lemass made his state-
ment before Community; he believed that it showed a sincere approach on
Dublin’s part to membership.”® Hallstein, whose cabinet papers are inter-
spersed with speeches on NATO and the Atlantic cooperation made by
influential US officials, felt that a change in Ireland’s attitude towards
NATO would be helpful in relation to its application.”” For Hallstein,
European economic integration was ‘not merely a step on the way to polit-
ical integration: it is already political itself’.*® His views on the politics of
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membership were widely known. In his introduction to the Commission’s
memorandum of 24 October 1962 on ‘The action programme for the second
stage in the development of the Community,” he stressed:

The so-called economic integration of Europe is essentially a political
phenomenon. The European Economic Community, together with the
European Coal and Steel community and the European Atomic Energy
Community, is a ‘European political union in the economic and social
field’.®!

Mansholt adopted a similar attitude to Hallstein’s. When he met with Irish
officials after Lemass’s statement, agriculture was not the subject that dom-
inated discussions. The Commissioner was exceptionally well briefed on
issues other than those that involved his Directorate. As David Coombes
notes, Mansholt’s cabinet concentrated ‘overwhelmingly not on running
the Directorate General of Agriculture, but on keeping their Commissioner
informed of activities elsewhere in the Commission and of advising him
on matters outside agriculture’.®? This was most evident in his assessment of
Lemass’s speech. While Mansholt accepted that Lemass’s statement had been
excellent and that it had raised very few problems of an economic character,
he said that the question of NATO was extremely important for the Com-
mission; in fact, it was ‘decisive’.?? At least two countries — and he named
France specifically — were opposed to Ireland’s application on the grounds
of its being outside NATO. He acknowledged that COREPER had discussed
the application with specific reference to the NATO question. Mansholt won-
dered whether the Irish government had considered making, at an early date,
a declaration of willingness to accede to NATO in the event that the EEC
negotiations had disposed of all other problems. He added: ‘you could make
the declaration now and join in twelve months time’.3* The Dutch Commis-
sioner believed that such a declaration would virtually assure Ireland’s entry
to the Community and would put the government in a very strong position
to negotiate favourable terms.

Other members of the Commission believed that the problems following
the Irish application rested elsewhere, and not with its non-membership of
NATO. Jean Rey believed that the principal difficulty for Ireland would lie in
the field of agriculture. Indeed, he placed greater emphasis on removing the
barriers to intra-Community trade than on the political aspects of Lemass’s
speech.®> Giuseppe Caron, Italian Commissioner, stressed all the positives
from the speech.® Like Rey, Caron, too, pointed to the CET, in which Ireland
had a particular interest. The Italian Commissioner’s comments suggested
that there would be no difficulty about minor adjustments to meet partic-
ular cases provided these were not too numerous. At official level in the
Commission, Deniau expressed his relief that Ireland had paid such atten-
tion to the political aspects of membership. He stated that the question of
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Ireland’s association with the Community raised many grave problems, since
association at an economic and commercial level only entailed a severe risk
of preventing the growth of a strong Europe, which was the Community’s
aim.?” The Irish case risked becoming entangled with those of the three
much more problematic neutrals, namely, Austria, Sweden, and Switzerland.
While none of the three had applied for membership, there was some specu-
lation in the Commission that they would, especially if the EFTA were to be
emptied of most of its contents by Community enlargement. And, were this
to happen, a precedent for accepting a neutral state in the form of Ireland
might well have made the EEC’s position that much more difficult. Though
Biggar argued that it would be difficult to see how, under the terms of the
Treaty of Rome, membership could be denied to any European country that
was prepared to sign the Treaty and accept the political obligations, Deniau
replied that it depended on what one meant by European. He asked the
question: ‘Could one really regard Norway as European and what about, say,
Albania?’® For him, the real Europe was the Europe of Charlemagne or of
the thirteenth century; no country that had been Christianised after the
Reformation was genuinely European. He seemed to feel somewhat dubi-
ous about Britain’s title deeds (in view of its Protestantism); as for Ireland,
the Europe of the seventh century was, he declared, an Irish creation.®® It is
questionable how widespread these views were in the Commission. How-
ever, there was a good deal of relief among Commissioners and officials
that Ireland had dealt adequately with the neutrality question in its January
statement.

In October 1962, Lemass went on a tour of EEC capitals outlining Ireland’s
case for membership prior to the Council meeting on 22-24 October. Brief-
ing notes for Lemass’s trip re-evaluated the positions of the Commission
and the six vis-a-vis the application 15 months after it had been submit-
ted. Germany, the Netherlands, and Italy all gave their assurances that they
would do ‘their utmost to secure a decision of principle satisfactory to us, i.e.
negotiations directed to membership’.”® Gerhard Schroeder, German Foreign
Minister, was slightly hesitant. Accepting that his predecessor, von Brentano,
had assured Dublin of German support, he stated that the question being
debated within the Community was whether membership of the EEC auto-
matically implied membership of the proposed political union. This was
a question on which, by September, the Community had failed to reach
agreement, and was one of the reasons why negotiations with Ireland had
not moved more quickly.”! The Foreign Minister’s remarks did not seem to
exclude the possibility of Ireland being relegated, even if in the company
of Norway and Denmark, to a second-class category of European countries
characterised by exclusion from the political union, and either full member-
ship or associate membership of the economic union. The Irish ambassador
to Bonn was less than impressed:
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I fear there is always a tendency for great states to try to deny a voice
in political matters to small nations which don’t contribute enough in
power to compensate for their nuisance value; adults may have to be dealt
with on equal terms, but children should be seen and not heard.”

On Belgium'’s support for the application, Dublin concluded:

there is probably no good reason to doubt that Belgium will, in fact,
vote for the opening of negotiations with a view to membership, despite
the existence at present of a school of thought (to which, for safety, we
must assume that Mr Spaak at least belongs) that only Britain should be
admitted as a full member.”

Policy-makers had hoped that Lemass’s trip to Paris would be sufficient to
convince General de Gaulle and Couve de Murville that Ireland was ready
to sign up to the economic and political implications inherent in member-
ship. Then there was the lingering question over the Commission’s position.
Dublin accepted that the Commission entertained some doubts about ‘our
acceptability as a member of the Community’, although policy-makers did
not specify anyone in particular. The Department of External Affairs believed
‘there would seem to be no really good reason to fear that the attitude of
the Commission at the forthcoming Council will be such as to prevent a
decision to open negotiations with us’.** Policy-makers argued that it was
both optimistic and unrealistic to expect a decision that committed the
Community to accept Ireland as a member. Some members of the Commu-
nity had not decided whether to allow neutrals to enter the EEC. Therefore,
Dublin’s sources in Brussels indicated that the Council’s decision would be
rather vague, an outcome that would be ‘better than no decision at all’.*®
Ireland’s membership, Lemass would argue during his tour, posed no threat
to the Community’s attempts at political union. However, the necessity for
Lemass to embark on a tour itself highlighted the seriousness with which
Irish policy-makers viewed the precarious position that the application was
in towards the end of 1962.

In Bonn, Adenauer offered Lemass his government’s full support, while,
more importantly, in Paris de Gaulle said he had no objections to having
Ireland in the Community.”® In Brussels, Hallstein reiterated that the delay in
reaching an agreement on how best to deal with the Irish application was not
due to any ill will on the part of the Community, from either an economic
or a political perspective. On the contrary, he stressed that Ireland enjoyed
a great deal of sympathy among all member governments.’” The delay, he
argued, was caused by the strain on the Community’s resources and not as a
result of any issues raised by the application. Why did the Commission and
certain of the member states place such an emphasis on this issue during the
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period of the 1961-1963 negotiations? Was this simply a case of federalists,
like Hallstein and Spaak, attempting to shift the EEC in a particular direc-
tion, realising that they had United States support in the political field and
in the absence of any enlargement doctrine? It was perhaps easier during
this period than in 1967 or 1970 for federalists to influence policy-making.
Much of this had to do with attempts by the Community at political union.
Despite the failure of the six to forge closer links in this field, as they had in
the economic sphere, there was no reason not to believe that at some point
in the future there would be another, more successful, attempt at political
integration. There was a good deal of uncertainty, which was reflected in the
public and private comments made by Commission and other Community
officials, about where neutral countries would fit into a political integra-
tion framework that might involve the member states adopting a military
position.

A sense of failure

The Irish application forced the Commission to tackle some difficult issues.
Foremost among these were whether there was a place within the Commu-
nity for neutral countries and whether associate membership was a suitable
alternative for those countries with weaker economies. The Commission
failed to adequately address those questions during the period of the enlarge-
ment negotiations. Timing was a major issue. But, in light of the archival
evidence, this argument does not seem plausible. Rey, for example, devoted a
significant amount of time to analysing the associate membership of Austria,
Sweden, and Switzerland, even though those countries had made no formal
approach to the Community. Indeed, there is far more archival documen-
tation on these states than on Ireland’s application. Moreover, Hallstein
claimed that the Community was simply too preoccupied by dealing with
Britain. Opening negotiations with Ireland would have stretched the Com-
mission’s resources further, despite the fact that the Commission was also
engaged in trade negotiations with many other non-European countries,
such as Israel. Israel’s desire to have closer ties to the Community was, of
course, not tied to the success or otherwise of the British membership bid.
There was, thus, no logical reason for the latter to be given priority. Ireland,
by contrast, was seen, rightly or wrongly, as approaching the Community in
the baggage of the British. If the British bid failed, the Irish problem would
therefore go away. In such circumstances, it made sense for an overstretched
administration to concentrate its resources on Britain and Israel, not Britain
and Ireland.

The largely informal debate surrounding Ireland’s economic and politi-
cal position might have been averted had the Commission produced its
avis in the autumn of 1961. What resulted, instead, was a multitude of
views from the Commission and the six about how best to deal with the
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problems raised by the Irish application. Leading figures and their officials
each had their own views, but there was no doctrine of membership set-
ting out a unified position. The economic and neutrality problems reached a
peakin January 1962 and gradually subsided towards the end of the year. The
October decision to open enlargement negotiations with Ireland was a token
gesture, because the Community failed to specify a date for the first meeting.
Ireland’s first application for Community membership exposed many con-
flicts in the Commission’s attitude towards enlargement and the direction of
the integration process.



3

From Veto to Veto: Britain
and the Commission

Charles de Gaulle’s determination to keep the Community’s door firmly shut
to Britain and the other applicants led to the EEC's first crisis in January
1963. This chapter examines the period between the end of the first enlarge-
ment negotiations in January and Britain’s second attempt at membership in
mid-1967. It focuses on the fall-out from the veto and assesses the Commis-
sion’s response to the breakdown of the negotiations. The chapter traces the
ways in which the Hallstein Commission, and later with Rey as President,
dealt with the enlargement question between 1963 and 1967. In particu-
lar, Chapter 3 examines the events that led to the Commission’s avis on
enlargement in 1967 and explores how its views influenced the outcome of
the second attempt at membership. A continuing theme running through
the chapter is the importance of the membership question to the Brussels
executive and the evolution in its thinking on the policy.

After the veto

British Prime Minister Harold Macmillan accepted that de Gaulle’s veto
‘does not come as a surprise’.! He advised his cabinet to avoid the sub-
ject in public and thought that the anger of France’s EEC partners would
be enough to change the General’s mind. Macmillan dismissed the idea
of associate membership, hinted at during de Gaulle’s press conference, as
being ‘irrelevant to the present situation’.> He believed that the veto was
not permanent and the possibility existed that de Gaulle could be con-
vinced that British membership was vital to the Community’s interests. Two
weeks after the press conference on 14 January 1963 when the veto was
announced, the Brussels negotiations formally ended. Edward Heath would
later describe the talks as ‘perhaps the most complex negotiation in history’.?
Anglo-French relations had been severely damaged. A fundamental aspect of
French policy appeared to exclude Britain from the European project.*

The fall-out from the negotiations dominated relations between the Com-
mission and British officials for much of 1963; it was the most frequent
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topic of conversation between the two sides. The British, as well as the Irish
and the Danes, were quick to renew contacts with the Commission after
the negotiations had finished at the end of January.’ There were a num-
ber of reasons for doing so. Principal among these was the level of support
received from some Commissioners and officials after the veto. The British
recognised that it was important to capitalise on this goodwill. Arthur Tandy
at the British mission in Brussels argued for the need to strengthen the dele-
gation in order to ‘follow developments in the Community’ more fully and
‘to attempt to show which developments will stand to harm our interest
and those of the Community whether we finally accede or not’.® He also
recognised that ‘it seems advisable to take further steps in cooperation with
the Community institutions and with the Five or the Six Governments as
appropriate’.” Almost immediately, the British mission suggested that an
invitation be issued to Hallstein to visit Britain; Hallstein had accepted one
from the National Association of British Manufacturers, a convenient pre-
text to hold political talks in London without offending Paris. Heath would
then ‘invite him to a meal’ in London.

Informal discussions between the Commission and London continued
nicely. Hallstein met Heath in late March in Brussels.® He acknowledged
that the Commission had considered whether it should or could make some
positive and dramatic move after the breakdown of the negotiations, but
concluded that there was really nothing that it could have done which did
not carry with it the risk of another failure. Hallstein also recognised that
the General was not for turning; it was not in his interest to damage the
Commission’s relations with Paris over a British application that the Com-
mission was equally not keen on advancing. He did not think de Gaulle’s
suggestion of associate membership for Britain was a starter, but he did not
exclude it altogether. He felt that some form of consultative procedure could
be conceivable in this respect. His comments were in keeping with the broad
outlines of de Gaulle’s own thinking on the British application. The British
government was anxious to be ‘in really close and fruitful contact on all
issues of mutual concern so that we could project UK views and understand
Community thinking’.” This was what the Commission wanted. The diplo-
matic route was Hallstein’s preferred option for this type of téte-a-téte rather
than any form of institutional consultations. At a deeper level, Hallstein
was likely to have been worried about the suggestions, already doing the
rounds in Brussels, that the British should be given an institutionalised link
to COREPER. This was something Hallstein was very keen to resist because
he believed, with some justification, that it would give London an undue
ability to involve itself in internal Community deliberations. Moreover, he
feared that it would increase the centrality and power of a committee that
he already believed played too central a role in the EEC’s operations. Not
surprisingly, his preferred alternative was to increase the size and role of
the Commission’s representative office in London.!° Hallstein was aware of
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the need to keep all channels of communication open between Brussels and
London, and the role of some kind of honest broker clearly appealed to him.

London had concluded in the aftermath of the veto that the Commis-
sion would be a vital component in gaining greater information on the
activities of the six. It had ruled out the Council secretariat as a vehicle
for cooperation. The Foreign Office believed that the secretariat would not
be of much help because its officials ‘tended to be under the spell of the
French and defeatist as far as our own negotiations were concerned while
their Community spirit contains a fairly strong anti-American element’."
London also ruled out seeking the support of the European Atomic Energy
Community (EURATOM) on the grounds that its President was a Frenchman,
and its Commissioners ‘are a second-rate lot’.'> Therefore, it was the Com-
mission and COREPER that Whitehall believed would be the most useful
collaborators.

In the aftermath of the veto, Hallstein quietly attempted to steer the Com-
munity away from discussions on the breakdown and towards the future
development of the Community. It was believed in some well-informed cir-
cles in Brussels that the Commission President was ‘willing to follow blindly
the Chancellor [Adenauer] who follows blindly de Gaulle’.!* In order to
limit the amount of damage that de Gaulle’s veto had inflicted on the EEC,
Hallstein embarked on a tour of the capitals of the six. Adopting the role of
honest broker, he impressed upon the member states the need to move on
from the failed negotiations and work towards the continued implementa-
tion of the Treaty of Rome. His principal objective was to avoid a split in
the Community over the enlargement question. There was far more at stake
than just the British application; the unity of the EEC was the Commission’s
main concern. If the best route to maintaining this unity was by following
Adenauer’s lead in not condemning French unilateralism, then this is what
Hallstein appeared to do. During his tour of the member states, Hallstein
advised each of France’s Common Market partners against retaliatory mea-
sures that would damage the Community. This position was in response
to reports reaching the Commission, and published widely in newspapers,
especially in Britain, that France’s EEC colleagues would disrupt the workings
of the Community on issues vital to French interests, such as CAP and the
negotiations with the Community’s AOTs."* At a meeting with the Italian
Prime Minister in February, Hallstein reaffirmed his wish to see Britain as a
member of the Community and viewed the breakdown of negotiations as
temporary.'®> He respected Britain’s refusal to accept de Gaulle’s offer of asso-
ciate membership. Instead, he envisaged a form of partnership between the
Common Market, the United States, Britain, and the Commonwealth, most
likely within the realm of GATT. The Community’s agenda was also mov-
ing in this direction with the imminent start of the new Kennedy Round of
GATT negotiations, in which vital EEC economic interests were at stake.'
Hallstein’s tour reinforced the need to present a united front.
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Unity was a key theme in Hallstein’s speeches during the months that
followed the veto. Speaking before the European Parliament in March, he
placed heavy emphasis on the forward movement of the Community. The
EEC, he argued, had to maintain its impetus and carry out its aims ‘until
a day when, as we suppose, the United Kingdom will have to become a
member of the Community’.!” As an intermediate measure, he stressed the
availability of associate membership under Article 238, admitting, however,
that the British position on this was one of reserve.'® It was a key concern
of Hallstein that the Community business was not hampered by lingering
thoughts about what might have been had the enlargement talks been suc-
cessful. The Commission’s Sixth Report on the activities of the EEC, presented
to the European Assembly in March, highlighted the many strides taken by
the Community during the enlargement negotiations. Covering the period
from May 1962 to March 1963, the Commission placed a heavy emphasis
on the Community’s successes, such as the introduction of anti-trust legisla-
tion, and the reduction, by 50 per cent, of customs duties in the Community
on industrial products traded between the member states. The Commission
noted that the EEC and Greece had signed the association agreement that
entered into force on 1 November 1962. A new agreement between the
Community and its AOTs had also been negotiated, and would enter into
force by January 1964. The Sixth Report acknowledged the breakdown of the
enlargement negotiations and admitted that the veto had created for the first
time ‘a major crisis in the Community’.'” The Commission accepted that
each member state held a veto over new members to the EEC, and regret-
ted the way in which ‘the decision to suspend the negotiations had been
taken and announced’.?® While the Commission promised closer relations
with Britain, it stressed: ‘These contacts must not, however, slow down the
preparation of Community decisions, and must be maintained in the spirit
of strict reciprocity’.?! The report attempted to pacify those in the European
Parliament calling for the reopening of negotiations by stressing its support
for Britain’s closer relations with the EEC but not going so far as to sup-
port those calls. The Commission’s presentation to the European Assembly
focused almost entirely on the Kennedy Round of GATT talks and relations
with third countries such as the United States. The Sixth Report reflected
Hallstein’s short-term outlook for the Community. The trade talks would act
as a glue to keep the six committed to the further integration of the Commu-
nity. Enlargement, as an issue, was no longer on the Commission’s agenda,
but Hallstein understood that the issue was merely on ice. Through a coor-
dinated campaign immediately after the veto that accentuated the benefits
to the member states of staying on course, he gradually shifted the spotlight
away from the British application. By stressing associate membership, he was
appealing to the five that all was not lost: the Community’s door was open
to London, even though the acceptance of such an offer was highly improb-
able. The GATT negotiations were important for ‘la vie de la Communauté’.*
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Trade on a global scale would soften the negative commercial consequences
of the ongoing divide between the six and the seven. Hallstein’s approach
was strikingly similar to the one adopted by the Commission after the break-
down of the FTA negotiations in 1958. It was clear that the Commission
President was essentially preaching reliance on global improvements as the
best solution to the EEC-EFTA split in the hope that this would be enough
to pacify, in the short term at least, those member states supporting the
British bid.

After months of mending fences within the Community between the six,
Hallstein turned his attention to London and the lingering resentment over
the veto. Speaking before the National Association of British Manufactur-
ers in May, he stressed that the end of enlargement negotiations was also
‘a severe blow to the Community itself’.?* Yet, he made it clear that no rea-
sonable person could expect the Community to grind to a halt because the
British did not achieve membership. Despite the public disagreement over
the direction of Community enlargement among the six, the EEC was, he
argued, making economic progress. Hallstein declared boldly: “We have had
setbacks before, and we shall have them again. But the movement is too
big a thing to be permanently arrested’.>* Having spent the previous three
months bringing the six closer together, in his London speech he was not
only making a further attempt to build closer links with the British, but,
more importantly, taking another occasion to draw a line under the acri-
mony that had resulted from the veto. His message was simple but necessary:
the Community had to go on in a communautaire fashion and implement the
Treaty of Rome. The enlargement negotiations were over and would not be
reopened in the foreseeable future. There was an offer of association from de
Gaulle, but the British question had to be put aside.

Despite Hallstein’s attempts to unify the Community in the aftermath of
the veto, divisions within the Commission were visible. He appeared far
more concerned with the way in which the negotiations ended, the method,
rather than with the consequences for Community enlargement. These con-
cerns were also reflected by Hallstein’s colleagues. Marjolin, for example,
appeared relaxed about the veto. In his memoirs, he states:

En ce qui me concerne, j'accueillis la rupture de janvier 1963 avec soulagement,
non que je fusse opposé de I’Angleterre dans la Communauté, mais parce qu’il
m’apparaissait que I’évolution des esprits outre-Manche n’était pas arrivée a son
terme et aussi parce que je souhaitais que les Six disposassent encore de quelques
années pour terminer ce qu’ils avaient entrepris.*

Mansholt, however, was most vocal in criticising de Gaulle. His early public
comments on the breakdown of the negotiations reflected those expressed
by the Dutch government. Within days of the negotiations ending, he
argued that no further advances could be made in the Community until
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the fundamental issues created by de Gaulle’s veto had been resolved.?® The
Europe of the six had to decide whether it wanted to become merely an
old-style coalition under the hegemony of a single state practising a policy
of balancing between East and West, or an integrated whole firmly linked
in Atlantic partnership. He went so far as to question whether any further
progress would be made in the implementation of the CAP for the remain-
der of 1963. His criticisms continued through to May, although they were
directed in private and towards the French President rather than at ques-
tioning the future of the integration process. In a frank conversation with
President Kennedy in Washington on 9 April, Mansholt believed that the
Community was in a state of grave crisis provoked by the refusal to allow
Britain to enter the Community.”” The Franco-German Treaty, signed days
after the veto, contributed to the general sense of crisis. It was clear that
Mansholt ‘is not putting any water into his wine in opposition to Gaullist
policies in Europe’.?® The British seized on Mansholt’s criticisms of the
French President, eager to exploit differences within the Community and
further isolate the General. Galsworthy approached officials in Mansholt’s
office and ‘injected our views into the Commission [...] and urged that
they should lend their support to the idea of consultative arrangements
in Brussels’.* Galsworthy’s lobbying paid off. Later in April, the Commu-
nity agreed to hold talks between the British Mission in Brussels and the
Commission or COREPER.*

By the summer, Mansholt had watered down his criticisms of the veto. He
no longer predicted difficulties in finding agreement in the Council on the
outstanding issues surrounding the CAP. By May, the agriculture ministers
of the six had settled many of the unresolved problems. By the end of that
month, there was a greater sense of unity among the Commissioners in their
approach to the enlargement question. Indeed, Mansholt joined the chorus
of Commission voices arguing in the months that followed that there could
be no resumption of the enlargement negotiations until after agreement was
reached on the Kennedy Round of GATT talks.*! Mansholt’s about turn was
pragmatic rather than ideological. Adopting an anti-French position would
not have advanced his plans for the CAP in the Council or COREPER. He may
also have decided that Hallstein’s approach was the better one to follow. Far
too much had been achieved between the various actors in the GATT talks to
allow everything to fail because of Britain’s exclusion from the Community,
exclusion that many believed would not be permanent.

Informal contacts continued between the Commission and the British
into the summer of 1963. These took place at a senior level, usually between
Commissioners and high-ranking officials from the British Foreign Office or
the Treasury. Unsurprisingly, the French veto continued to preoccupy the
British. Officials in the Cabinet Office believed that the time had come to
draw a line under the veto and move on, but others continued to debate the
issue with the Commission, looking for answers and solutions.*? Heath still
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harboured resentment over the French veto, refusing to accept de Gaulle’s
decision to keep Britain out. During a meeting in July 1963, Rey argued that
the integration of Europe would continue despite the apparent setback that
the veto had caused. He told Heath that the enlargement of the Community
was making progress in other areas, such as the negotiations with Turkey and
the commencement of talks for association with Austria, one of Britain’s
EFTA partners.®* To Heath, this represented the integration of only part of
Europe; the real body of integration was at a standstill.

Clash of visions?

The Commission’s ideas differed significantly from those of the British
on how best to approach the question of consultative arrangements in
the post-veto period. Between December 1963 and November 1966, the
archival evidence suggests that neither side fully engaged with the agenda
of the other. For its part, the Commission continued its attempts at unify-
ing the six during the autumn of 1963. France’s interest in the completion
of the CAP, coupled with Germany’s interest in advancing the Kennedy
Round, was ‘skilfully exploited by the Commission’ to restore momentum
in the Community.?* Internal negotiations, which at times resulted in public
bickering between the six and the Commission, were beginning to resem-
ble those that had taken place prior to the French veto in the previous
January. On 18 December 1963, the Commission proposed a fresh approach
to the disparities regarding the GATT problems, and five days later, after a
marathon Council session on agriculture, agreement was reached on agricul-
tural issues and the future policy for the Kennedy Round. However, despite
these results, British policy-makers adopted a wholly negative approach to
this newly re-created communautaire spirit in the EEC. The Foreign Office
was instead preparing for the collapse of the Community. R. A. Butler, For-
eign Secretary, believed that de Gaulle could potentially bring an end to
the Common Market or, alternatively, keep the Community in place but
get his way ‘enough to leave a smouldering crisis and make the position of
the Kennedy Round much harder’.*® Butler thought that, if the Community
collapsed, the British government would have to intervene. In a memoran-
dum to Alec Douglas-Home, who had replaced Macmillan as Prime Minister
in October 1963, Butler argued: ‘This would be an opportunity to take an
initiative to reshape Europe nearer to our own ideas’.*® Any British plan to
salvage a European trading settlement would necessitate proposals for an
industrial free trade area open to all European countries with a framework for
political cooperation between those countries wishing to take part. Butler’s
memorandum advocated an FTA-type settlement. His analysis of the politi-
cal environment in the EEC at the end of 1963 was influenced by reports
from Pierson Dixon, Britain’s ambassador to France, who highlighted an
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imminent crisis among the six over CAP and the Kennedy Round.?” Dixon
believed that the Community’s impasse over agriculture would result in a
direct, possibly fatal, attack by de Gaulle on the Community’s institutions.
From a closer analysis of Butler's comments, it seemed clear that certain
elements within Whitehall, and particularly in the Foreign Office, wished
to see an end to the EEC and to have it replaced with a looser economic
alliance. It also highlighted the continuing attachment to the FTA plan
within Whitehall. Butler had always been doubtful about British member-
ship and dismissive of the EEC.*® He had famously spoken dismissively
of the ‘archaeological excavations’ going on at Messina in 1956 as the six
negotiated the Treaty of Rome.*

Nevertheless, the results of the marathon Community negotiations had
the effect of ending the EEC’s worst year on a hugely successful note. While
Ludlow argues that success was achieved in late December only because
‘many of the most problematic decisions had been postponed to a later
date,’ its impact on the Community cannot be underestimated.* Mansholt
believed that the successful conclusion to 1963 had formed a basis that
allowed the Community to move rapidly ahead in 1964.*! The British ques-
tion no longer dominated discussions among the Community actors to the
extent that it had months earlier. If there was talk of crisis, it rested more on
the concerns of the six and their national interests, to questions about cereal
prices and GATT, rather than enlargement. Butler’s memorandum reflected a
misguided belief in the Foreign Office that the British question continued to
play an important role in the decision-making process of the five. However,
this was not the case. British membership was a delicate subject in relations
among the six, but, despite the harsh words levelled against de Gaulle after
his veto, it was never the intention of the five to consider a break-up of the
Community. Arguably, Butler’s and Dixon’s mistake was to underestimate
the interest that France had in maintaining the EEC, not to underestimate
the patience of France’s partners.

For the Commission, agreement in the Council on the Community’s
approach to the Kennedy Round presented an opportunity to move beyond
the open hostility that the enlargement question had caused. As Coppolaro
makes clear, the Commission saw the EEC’s participation in the trade negoti-
ations as a way of reaffirming the role of the Community in world economics
and trade.*? Equally, the member states were as eager as the Commission in
wishing to press ahead with the trade negotiations. Germany wanted to use
the GATT talks as a means of smoothing divisions among the six. France,
on the other hand, wished to ‘avoid the appearance of new and serious
difficulties’.** Trade negotiations continued throughout 1964, with the Com-
mission acting as the chief negotiator for the Community in Geneva under
the watchful eye of the six. The Commission attached great importance to
these talks, while Hallstein acknowledged privately that nothing should be
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done by the other governments to increase France’s reluctance to see the
Kennedy Round go forward.

The question of continuing a dialogue with Britain persisted in shadowing
the Community. One solution to this problem was to move the discussions
to the Western European Union (WEU). This was an institution far enough
removed from the day-to-day business of the six that the Community actors
could talk with the British without the need to create a formal consulta-
tive procedure. This arrangement contained enough to please all of the six,
and the Commission would also be present at the debates.** Therefore, with
the enlargement question firmly off the Commission’s radar, Commission-
ers pressed ahead with implementing the second phase of the Community’s
development. In January 1964, Marjolin won widespread praise for a speech
to the European Assembly that warned of the dangers of inflation in the
Community.*® There was further cooperation between the Commission and
the Council on a wide range of proposals throughout 1964. During a meeting
with United States officials in March, Rey, Marjolin, and Mansholt painted
a picture of a dynamic Community moving forward on all cylinders, and
highlighted the GATT talks and the proposed fusion of the executives of the
three Communities as further examples of this momentum.*® In September,
the Commission launched ‘Initiative 1964’, a 20-page action programme
that contained proposals for the future development of the Community,
with a central role accorded to the Commission.*” The ‘Initiative’ was a
continuation of Hallstein’s policy of accelerating the implementation of the
Treaty of Rome, initiated with such speed and determination by the Com-
mission after the failed FTA talks in 1959. The action programme focused
on the role that the Economic Communities could play in the movement
towards political union and the measures that the Commission believed
were necessary if the Community was to recover from its recent setbacks
and regain its sense of purpose. It represented, according to Wilfried Loth, an
attempt by the Commission to expand its sphere of influence and at ‘federal-
ising Europe’.*® It was the Commission’s demand for ‘a core position’ in the
European integration process.* The report also served to remind the mem-
ber states that the Commission already represented a nucleus, possessing
staff and executive power, around which political union should be built, and
to which members of the Commission attached significant importance.*
The report, drawn up under the direction of the Commission President
and approved by all Commissioners, stressed that there were two main ele-
ments to political union. The first was the process of European unification
through the common economic and social policies of the EEC. The second
involved ‘améliorer la structure institutionnelle européenne’ >' ‘Initiative 1964’
was another example of the high level of activity that characterised the Com-
mission in the months after the French veto. It reflected the Commission’s
determination to influence the economic and political development of the
EEC. Prior to the publication of this report, the Commission had played a
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minor role in the debate on political union, in which discussions were held
between the six. Hallstein, believing that the time was right to launch the
initiative, attempted to move the Community’s institutions to the centre of
this debate.

The Commission maintained high-level contacts with the British govern-
ment throughout 1964 and 1965; discussions ranged from the Kennedy
Round to closer contacts between the EFTA and the EEC.5? In the spring
of 1965, bridge-building proposals were eventually put forward by Harold
Wilson, whose Labour Party ousted the Conservatives from power in 1964.
The aim of these proposals was to bring the two European trading blocs
closer and establish a Joint Council.>® The complete package of measures,
referred to as the ‘Vienna initiative’, received little support in the Com-
mission, which was highly suspicious of creating a further level of inter-
governmental discussions prior to important decisions, since these would
lessen the chances of its own legislative proposals getting through and
would increase the prospect of the dividing the six even further. Meet-
ing on 31 May 1965, the deputy heads of the EFTA delegations noted
that Hallstein was worried that the seven’s efforts to build bridges would
play into the hands of the French.** The Commission President was also
concerned that, if meetings at ministerial level were held between the six
EEC member states and the seven ETFA countries, the Commission’s role
would be reduced. Moreover, the Commission was fearful of initiating new
negotiations with third countries, with no clear agenda, while the GATT
negotiations were still in progress. Speaking with Per Heaekkerup, Danish
Foreign Minister, on 2 June, three senior Commissioners (Mansholt, Rey,
and Colonna) stressed that important trade and tariff negotiations were
already under way in Geneva and that it was therefore desirable to avoid
taking any steps which would prejudice the success of the Kennedy Round.*
They expressed some sympathy with the idea of harmonising arrangements
between the EFTA and the EEC in special fields, but were highly suspicious
of bridge-building initiatives of the type under consideration in Vienna by
the EFTA secretariat.

The ‘Vienna Initiative’ was an unwelcome distraction for the Commu-
nity. Spaak agreed that building bridges between both trade groups was
important, but he did not want the Community distracted with new initia-
tives during the Kennedy Round, an opinion also shared by the French and
Luxembourgois members of COREPER.>® Wilson’s initiative implied that the
EFTA and the EEC were in some way equal, which was not the case, at least
from the Commission’s viewpoint.” But a more important consideration
when evaluating the British move was that the political will was absent in
the Community for a number of reasons, the primary one being the Kennedy
Round. Furthermore, the move was badly timed by Whitehall, and greater
consultation could have taken place with officials from the Commission as a
means of gauging political reaction within the six. The Community’s ‘empty
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chair’ crisis, which erupted during the second half of 1965, ensured that no
further consideration of the ‘Vienna Initiative’ was possible.

The outbreak of the crisis had a negative impact on London’s bridge-
building initiatives.’® With the Community in a state of near paralysis, there
was little activity on the enlargement question until after France resumed its
seat at the Council in January 1966 once a deal had been reached among
the six on voting rights.> Despite the crisis, it was highly improbable that
Wilson would make an early bid for membership so soon after the veto.
As Parr argues, a policy platform centred on entry into the EEC would have
appeared incredible.®® The Labour Party had won the October 1964 general
election with a majority of just four seats. Such a result made it unlikely that
the Wilson government would embark on a policy as contentious as Com-
munity membership. Therefore, the election, and the crisis that engulfed the
Community in 1965, served to put on hold any discussions in Britain about
membership.

Though it had nothing to do with the enlargement question, the crisis
had an important indirect impact on this policy area. Hallstein was the main
casualty of the crisis.®! The crisis was as much about policy as it was about
personality, especially between Hallstein and de Gaulle. It was not without a
touch of irony that the main victim of the General’s attack was someone who
had shared some of his hesitations about enlargement and his replacement
by someone who was firmly in favour of Community enlargement. Despite
their very public differences over the direction of the EEC and some of its
policies and institutional procedures, such as the qualified majority voting
so central to the 1965 crisis, Hallstein and de Gaulle shared similar outlooks
over the enlargement question. Both were fearful of British membership and
the impact it would have on the institutions and policies of the Community.
Even though both supported calls for an enlarged Community, enlargement,
they believed, could only occur at the right time and under the right set
of circumstances. Hallstein and de Gaulle were far more conservative on
the enlargement question than majority opinion among the five. Hallstein’s
departure as Commission President in 1967 left de Gaulle as the lone voice
in the Community arguing against Britain’s membership.

Two years on from the veto, there was little progress in bringing together
the EFTA and EEC countries in a formal consultative arrangement. There
was scope for the Commission to play a greater role in bridging the gap
between the six and the seven prior to the ‘empty chair’ crisis, but instead its
focus remained fixed on accelerating aspects of the Treaty of Rome. Wilson'’s
slim parliamentary majority was not congenial to grand policy gestures.
However, the political environment between the six and the applicants for
membership changed once a compromise was reached in Luxembourg in
January 1966 that ended the internal Community crisis. Seventeen months
after defeating the Conservatives, Wilson called a snap election to boost
his majority in the House of Commons. His decision paid off handsomely,
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with Labour returned to power with a majority just short of 100 seats. Both
events led to increased speculation that Britain might revive its application
for EEC membership. Some referred to Wilson’s victory as ‘une phase nou-
velle’ in relations with the EEC, but cautioned that timing was everything.®
Speaking with senior US officials in July 1966, Wilson said that Britain was
at a crossroads and had to come to some conclusions about its future role.
Under-secretary of State Ball encouraged Wilson to make a move towards
the six and claimed that he visualised ‘the UK'’s leadership as taking Europe
out of its inwardness’.>* While Ball did not know the strategy or the timing
to achieve this, he believed that the ‘UK and the US should begin to work
out jointly the UK’s role in Europe’.** Wilson’s chief concern was that Britain
would enter the EEC on good terms but not on French terms. Crucially, he
accepted that the time would come when ‘the UK could enter Common
Market under satisfactory terms but that time was not now’.%> Burke Trend,
Cabinet Secretary, believed that, even if Britain agreed to sign an accession
treaty, France would find other reasons to prevent its entry.

Relations between the Commission and London continued to experi-
ence a fraught relationship in the post-crisis period. Meeting with James
Marjoribanks, head of the British mission in Brussels, in July 1966, Hallstein
suggested that arrangements should be put in place to significantly increase
the stream of high-level British visitors to Community institutions.®® The
Foreign Office agreed. Indeed, this had been the Commission’s initial sugges-
tion in the months after de Gaulle’s veto, but it had fallen by the wayside.
Yet, the Foreign Office viewed Hallstein’s offer rather sceptically. The con-
clusions reached in London were wholly negative. Whitehall viewed the
offer as an attempt by Hallstein at rebuilding his own and the Commis-
sion’s status in the aftermath of the ‘empty chair’ crisis. The presence of
this ulterior motive need not necessarily have meant that the idea had
no advantages. Its rejection, therefore, suggests that some of the Foreign
Office’s underlying suspicion of the Commission was still in place. However,
there was some real benefit in Hallstein’s suggestion. Throughout 1964 and
1965, neither the Conservative nor the Labour government saw advantages
in having some form of permanent machinery in Brussels, and there were
still many arguments against doing so.” This represented a total volte-face
from 1963. The problem, as the British viewed it, was that to establish it at
such a late stage ran the risk of opposition from the French, while, on the
other hand, it could be seen by the five as provoking the French. Aware
that the Commission would be of immense help, London nevertheless
concluded:

it will be the attitude of the Six Governments which is decisive in any
attempt to enter the Community. We certainly do not want to over-
look, still less offend, the Commission, but special machinery does not
commend itself.*
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Moreover, the Foreign Office stressed that it was not wise to cultivate con-
tacts with the Commission at the expense of losing favour with the member
states.®” What was being considered was machinery which would facilitate
contact between Britain and the Commission, rather than the sort of British
participation in COREPER which had been considered in 1963. The caution
displayed by the Foreign Office reflected a growing awareness on its part
of the politically sensitive position that the Commission found itself in less
than nine months after the ‘empty chair’ crisis had been resolved. Moreover,
despite the rather quick renewal of contacts between the Commission and
London in the aftermath of the 1963 veto, attention seemed to have shifted
in London towards nurturing links with the six, where political influence
rested, rather than increasing the size of its representation in Brussels to
court the Commission.

Arguably, the rationale behind Hallstein’s insistence on increased British
activity in Brussels resulted from a desire to increase the prestige of a demor-
alised Commission in the aftermath of the Luxembourg Compromise. Such
an initiative presented him with an opportunity to begin a new project,
even though the British were less than receptive to the idea. It is notable
that, between 1963 and early 1966, he showed little enthusiasm in bridg-
ing the gap between the six and the EFTA countries. The Commission was
making significant progress in many fields, such as the implementation of
the CAP, and trade negotiations in Geneva. Equally, Wilson's precarious par-
liamentary position did not lend itself to mutual cooperation. However, by
mid-1966, there was a gradual shift in the way the Commission approached
the question of British membership. Enlargement, to include Britain, was no
longer being seen, at least in some quarters of the Commission, in a wholly
negative light.

The second application

Despite Wilson’s uncertainty over the Europe question, he nevertheless
decided to press ahead with a second bid for Community membership.”®
On 10 November 1966, he told the House of Commons that the government
would launch a ‘probe’ to discover whether it was possible to join.”! Wilson,
along with his Foreign Secretary, would tour the capitals of the six and visit
the Commission during the early months of 1967 to ascertain whether the
conditions were ripe for a second application. Britain, he said, had no objec-
tion to entry into the Common Market so long as essential Britain and
Commonwealth interests were safeguarded.”” The government had carried
out extensive reviews of all aspects of Britain’s European policy, the Treaty of
Rome, decisions taken subsequent to its signature, and all the implications
and consequences which might be expected to flow from Britain’s entry.
While Wilson did not set down the same conditions for membership that the
Conservatives had done in 1961, he stressed a number of redline economic
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issues, in particular the view that the international role of sterling as a trade
and reserve currency was not in itself an obstacle to membership. British
membership was not being sought as a means of overcoming its economic
difficulties, especially in its balance of payments. Wilson reaffirmed that
membership would only follow when Britain had secured a healthy econ-
omy and a strong balance of payments with the pound sterling standing
on its own. The Commons speech was short of an outright application for
membership. Indeed, parallels could be drawn with Macmillan’s 1961 letter
of application seeking to discover whether the terms existed for member-
ship, although Macmillan did apply in 1961 and Wilson had yet to do so
in 1966. When he did, his approach would be far less weighed down with
conditionality than Macmillan’s.

The aim of Wilson's tour was simple: to discover whether the conditions
were favourable for a formal application. The timing of the move was highly
questionable. Even if Wilson had a strategy for dealing with the six by
unequivocally accepting the acquis, the noises emanating from Paris were
highly negative. On 23 November 1966, for example, Georges Pompidou,
French Prime Minister, asserted, that even though Britain was certainly geo-
graphically close to Europe, whether it was close in every respect was more
doubtful.”® A day later, Charles Bohlen, United States ambassador to France,
reported to Washington on a conversation he had had with de Gaulle. The
French President believed that Britain was not ready for membership and
felt that London would seek concessions from the five.”* The problem of the
pound sterling was a significant issue that had to be settled: ‘it was not pos-
sible for a member of the Common Market to have the burden of sterling
balances or the pound with its position as a reserve currency’.’”> This was
certainly not a propitious start to a second British application.

Even inside Wilson’s Cabinet, one of his most senior ministers cast doubt
on the success of a second attempt. James Callaghan, Chancellor of the
Exchequer, told Henry Fowler, his American counterpart, at Chequers in
mid-January 1967 that the odds were against a successful effort to gain entry
into the Common Market.”® Callaghan admitted that work was being carried
out in various government departments, on a purely hypothetical basis, on
the possibility of an Atlantic free trade area as an alternative to membership
of the EEC, and the Chancellor wondered whether at some stage it would be
useful for the two Treasuries to carry out a joint factual study on this sub-
ject, which would be kept top secret. London was keen to keep one foot in
the Atlantic, given the strong anti-French stance towards Wilson’s latest EEC
overtures.

Due to the nature of the British move, the Commission was not required to
issue a formal avis. Similarly, no action was required by the Council until the
British decided to make a formal application. The main focus at the begin-
ning of 1967, therefore, shifted to Wilson’s tour of the capitals of the six,
with commentators referring to the next Battle of Waterloo.”” The European
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newspapers began an analysis of what Wilson meant by ‘safeguarding British
interests’, with some newspapers arguing that the British Prime Minister
had a significant number of questions to answer, including how the British
position on membership of the EEC had evolved since the breakdown of
negotiations in January 1963.7® Jean Monnet broadly welcomed Wilson’s
statement of intent.”” Speaking with British diplomats in Bonn in January
1967, he argued that London should not worry about persuading the French
President; the success of the British initiative would depend essentially on
the British. If they could make their approach very simple — a request for
entry based on acceptance of the Treaty of Rome and of the decisions taken
under it, with a transitional period — the only way in which de Gaulle could
block enlargement would be by raising as an obstacle the problem of ster-
ling. Rather, Monnet felt that the British would benefit from investing more
time in bringing the German government on to their side, a view that was
echoed elsewhere in the Community.?° The Italians, he maintained, did not
have as much clout among the six, but German support was crucial. Both
Monnet and certain German officials were pushing the British for a simpli-
fied application if, and when, one was made.?! British Foreign Office officials
were also aware that a policy of delaying an application and undertaking
a further period of prenegotiation had grave disadvantages.®> Marjoribanks
advised George Brown, the pro-European Foreign Secretary, to make an early
application and thus avoid the problems caused by delays during the pre-
vious round of enlargement negotiations from 1961 to 1963.%% By delaying
the formal application, the British risked the accusation of wasting the Com-
munity’s time with exploratory talks. If the British were really prepared for
membership and therefore accepted the EEC, then there was no reason why
the decision had to wait.

It was no surprise that Mansholt enthusiastically welcomed the prospect
of a second application for membership.®* By 1967, Mansholt had little
to fear from enlargement. The CAP was firmly in place, and it was highly
improbable that the entry of three, or possibly four, new countries would
change the fundamentals of the Commission’s flagship policy. The Agri-
culture Commissioner’s motives for supporting enlargement were largely
political, believing, as did the United States and others, that enlargement
to include Britain would significantly weaken French power in the Com-
munity. London had to accept the existing arrangements for funding the
agricultural levy system, which were due for renegotiation in 1969. He went
so far as to argue that, even if Britain was not a member of the EEC by
then, its participation in these CAP talks was essential.®® He was certainly
hopeful that Britain would be a member before the CAP finance question
had to be examined before the end of 1969. By early January 1967, the
Agriculture Commissioner hoped that a second round of enlargement nego-
tiations would not be as rigid as the 1961-1963 talks. However, Rey disagreed
with his colleague’s assessment; he did not believe enlargement negotiations
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would be opened immediately between Britain and the six, and thought it
was unlikely that Britain, as a non-EEC member, would be invited to the
CAP talks.?® The Belgian Commissioner’s views were similar to those later
expressed by de Gaulle, who told Wilson that Britain would be unable to
accept the Community’s regulations.” Many senior officials in the Com-
mission also disagreed with Mansholt’s views on the British question. For
example, Karl-Heinz Narjes, Hallstein’s long-serving chef de cabinet, did not
believe Wilson would accept the supranational elements of the Community
and was ‘trés négatif’ about the outcome of Wilson'’s proposed tour of the
EEC.®8 Moreover, Mansholt had told Kohnstamm that Hallstein was not in
favour of allowing the British voting rights in the Commission or in the
Council until after the transition period had expired and was firmly against
giving non-Community actors a voice in discussions on financing of the
CAP.? While it would be unwise to conclude that the weight of opinion
in the Commission was firmly against a second British application, it was
clear that the Brussels institution was far from united on many aspects of
the enlargement question.

For enlargement to proceed, French backing was vital. Each member
state held the power of veto, although the only country likely to use this
power was France. Since the 1963 veto, Anglo-French relations had slightly
improved, as demonstrated by the agreement to build Concorde together.
As Anthony Adamthwaite points out, on the French side, there were severe
limitations on the development of a foreign policy that would promote
entente with Britain.”® The biggest obstacle to this was General de Gaulle
himself; it was widely acknowledged that he decided France’s foreign pol-
icy, not the government or his prime minister. Even if Pompidou, and his
predecessor Michel Debré, were open to British membership as a counter-
weight to what they perceived as an increase in German power, they were
too loyal to go against the will of the General. The continuity of French pol-
icy towards the British was further evidenced by the longevity of the key
officials in the French foreign ministry. Couve de Murville, for example, was
one of Western Europe’s longest-serving post-war foreign ministers during a
period (1958-1968) in which he saw five British foreign secretaries come and
go.”" In many ways, nothing had changed during the previous three years,
with old prejudices holding strong. The challenge for Wilson would be to
succeed where Macmillan had failed and convince de Gaulle that British
membership was not a threat to France’s influence in the EEC.

Paris was the second capital on Wilson’s tour. The meeting with de Gaulle
did not give the British application the boost it needed. Indeed, most of this
meeting focused on the General, who argued against enlargement and, in
particular, British membership.”?> On returning to London, the Prime Min-
ister told his cabinet colleagues that in terms of ‘personal relationships’ the
meeting had gone ‘well’.”* There was little else to report. The stark reality
was that de Gaulle’s attitude to British membership of the Community had
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not changed and that he continued to prefer a Common Market without
London. Despite the uninspiring signs from Paris, London decided to press
ahead with a new application. Brown was conscious that the Community
institutions closed down for some of the summer, and therefore a move in
May was vital if something was to be achieved before the holiday period.”
On 12 May 1967, the British government wrote to the Council request-
ing membership of the Common Market.”®> Whatever the private divisions
within the British cabinet, the prevailing mood in Downing Street was in
favour of a second attempt.’® The application was well received in the Com-
munity. The editorial of Agence Europe commented: ‘La demande britannique
d’adhésion aux Communautés est un événement historique qui doit étre accueilli
comme il se doit, c’est-a-dire avec satisfaction, avec sérénité, et avec gravité’.””
The application was followed closely by similar membership requests from
Denmark and Ireland.”® Norway’s delayed application was, according to
Hans Otto Freland, the result of a deliberate choice, ‘and what appeared to
be paralysis was a policy of no-decision’.”” However, before the Council had
an opportunity to discuss the application or ask the Commission to prepare
its ‘Opinion’, the French President intervened. Unlike the first attempt at
enlargement, which resulted in 15 months of negotiations before he vetoed
the process, de Gaulle decided at the outset to make his objections clear.
In one of his meticulously planned press conferences on 16 May, he cast
serious doubt on the strength of the British economy and its membership
of the Community.'® He attacked Britain’s last relic of empire, the pound
sterling, arguing that its position as an international currency prevented the
Common Market from incorporating Britain as a member. He argued that it
was the monetary parity and solidarity of the mark, the lire, the florin, the
Belgian franc, and the French franc, the currencies of the Community, that
allowed the EEC to work so well. The only way in which Britain would be
allowed to enter the Community would be if the pound were to appear one
day in a new situation, with its future value assured. Britain also had to free
the pound from its role of a reserve currency and reduce the country’s deficit
within the sterling area.'’! In the light of these criticisms, the General ruled
out the use of the veto, no doubt in the hope that his objections to British
membership would be enough to strangle the application at birth.'%?
Reaction to de Gaulle’s press conference did not occasion the same level
of hostility that had arisen after his January 1963 veto. He had raised similar
issues with Wilson at their meeting the previous January, and it was widely
believed that his views on the enlargement question had not changed con-
siderably since 1963. Rey gave a resounding ‘Yes’ when privately asked by
American officials whether Britain would enter the Common Market.!®® He
argued that de Gaulle’s press conference was designed to delay the admission
of new members, especially Britain. He believed that the procedure under
Article 237 of the Treaty of Rome would be followed. If the Council requested
the opinion of the Commission on the enlargement question, Rey stressed
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that ‘the Commission will undoubtedly take the position that it must talk
to the British’.!** He doubted that France would use a veto. Rey’s optimism
was typical of the discourse that existed during Commission meetings with
Americans. At various meetings between Brussels and Washington since the
early 1960s, the Commission, with the possible exception of Hallstein, had
expressed support for British membership, encouraged discussions between
London and the six, and downplayed the significance of France’s opposi-
tion to enlargement. However, Rey’s tone was different from the one used
by Hallstein. The Belgian Commissioner did not pepper his comments to
the United States with ‘ifs’ and ‘buts’, set conditions, or express fear over the
impact that British membership would have on the way the Community
worked. Hallstein was a master of at once supporting enlargement and rais-
ing doubts about the timing of membership negotiations. Rey’s comment
on the likely conclusions in the avis was another example of the shift in
position being adopted by the incoming Commission President.

Despite de Gaulle’s position on the enlargement question, the Council
pressed ahead with an examination of the British application, along with
the applications from Ireland and Denmark. For the Commission, the sec-
ond attempt at enlargement greatly added to its burden of work. Not only
was the Community faced with the merger of the three executives — the EEC,
European Coal and Steel Community (ECSC), and EURATOM - but a new
Commission was taking up office in Brussels, headed by Rey. The executives
of the three Communities were being merged together by virtue of the Treaty
providing for the fusion signed on 5 April 1965 and scheduled to come into
effect on 1 July 1967. In January 1966, the member states had been unable
to decide on the individuals to be appointed to the newly merged Commis-
sion for the four-year period. The Hallstein Commission was, therefore, not
holding office by virtue of the appointment by governments for a period
of four years, but was working under Article 159 of the Rome Treaty, and
thereby remained in office until provision was made for its replacement.
The Commission, therefore, existed to some extent under the shadow of
the impending fusion of the three executives. Hallstein resigned before the
merger took place, and with this ended a messy debate among the member
states over the exact timing of his departure, insisted upon by de Gaulle.!%
Marjolin announced on 18 May that he too would not be part of the
new Commission, citing personal reasons. Of the new 14-member Commis-
sion, six were from the Hallstein executive (Rey, Mansholt, Guido Colonna,
Lionello Levi Sandri, Henri Rochereau, and von der Groeben) while the
remainder were recruited from the executives of the ECSC and EURATOM
or new appointees such as Jean-Francois Deniau.'% It was against this back-
drop of activity in the Commission, and in light of de Gaulle’s comments,
that the Council, at its meeting on 5 June, requested the Commission to pro-
duce an avis on the implications for the EEC of enlargement. Rey promised
a thorough examination as well as to reflect the view of the member states
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and the attitude of the applicants.!” Finding a balance among the various
opinions was never going to be an easy task for the new Commission.

The state of the British economy had been the source of much debate
towards the end of 1966 and throughout the first half of 1967. It was a
problem that could not easily be ignored. Members of the Commission
responsible for economic and monetary issues, such as Raymond Barre, a
brilliant French economist who succeeded Marjolin as the Commissioner
responsible for economic and financial affairs, were well aware of the eco-
nomic crisis in Britain. In March, before he left office, Hallstein had warned
British diplomats in Brussels that London’s balance of payments problem
caused him a great deal of concern and might affect the membership
negotiations.'”® Marjolin, too, voiced similar concerns to his colleagues on
his return from a trip to London that same month. During this visit, the
French Commissioner told Marjoribanks that he could not disarm the Com-
munity’s fears by merely pointing to a surplus at the end of 1967, while
stressing that no one would believe Britain could continue indefinitely with
an unemployment figure of 700,000.'” For Marjolin, Britain had to present
evidence of a credible programme that permitted a reasonable expansion in
productivity over a three to four-year period.

The Commission spent the summer of 1967 working on its avis. Each
of the Commissioners examined ways in which enlargement would affect
the Community. The process of gathering the information and liaising
with the services of the Commission was coordinated by Axel Herbst,
Director-General of the Directorate for External Relations.!? A great deal
of preparatory work had been done during the first enlargement round in
1961-1963. The main issues had not changed greatly during the interim
period, so Commission officials were able to draw on material from the failed
Brussels negotiations. By mid-July, the general layout of the avis had been
developed.!! The first part would deal with an examination of the problems
posed to the EEC’s overall development, while the second section covered
the more specific problems associated with Britain’s application. This sec-
ond section focused on the CAP and monetary problems (politicised after
the General’s press conference), Commonwealth relations, the EFTA, and
the effects of British membership on the ECSC and EURATOM.

Unsurprisingly, the three applicants actively lobbied the Commission and
individual Commissioners over the content of the avis. British, Danish, and
Irish government ministers made ‘courtesy’ calls to Brussels in July.''? The
Danish government, for example, sent the Commission a report outlining its
support for the Treaty of Rome and the positions it would adopt during the
enlargement negotiations.!’* George Brown had made a high-level appeal
to the Community, via a speech to the WEU, soon after the new Com-
mission took up office in early July. In it, he stressed that his government
was prepared to accept the Treaty of Rome, the CAP, and the CET.'* Lobby-
ing by British officials became even more necessary in light of the second
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failed summit meeting between Wilson and de Gaulle on 19 June, when
the British leader had ‘failed to elicit a change in de Gaulle’s attitude’.!'s
The Commission was clearly conscious of the coolness that existed between
Paris and London, and was thoroughly aware of de Gaulle’s arguments
against British membership. During the preparation of the avis, it is remark-
able how little debate was recorded in the Commission'’s archival material
over the enlargement question and Anglo-French relations in particular. The
archival material paints a picture of a rather harmonious institution, with
no evidence of disagreements between the Commissioners. Indeed, during a
discussion on the avis in mid-July, the Commission adopted, ‘sans modifica-
tion’, the section on economic and monetary issues and the analysis of the
Commonwealth problems.!®

The Avis de la Commission was presented to the Council on 29 September
and its contents were leaked soon after to the media and national
delegations.'” At the outset, perhaps conscious of the drama that would
follow, the Commission overemphasised that this was a preliminary report.
The preamble to the avis added that only when concrete solutions to prob-
lems ‘come in sight towards the end of negotiations, can the Commission
deliver a definite statement’.'’® In general, the avis stressed that the Com-
munity was faced with a choice of major importance on which the future
of the economic and - in the long term - the political relations between
European states depended.'’” While acknowledging that enlargement car-
ried with it a number of risks, particularly the risk of weakening the cohesion
of the Community, the Commission believed that unquestionably the EEC
had to accept certain risks when an undertaking of this importance - the
achievement of European unification — was to be attempted. It stated: ‘Today,
belonging to the Communities necessarily means accepting not only their
original charters — the Treaties — but also the objectives of political unifica-
tion affirmed by the preambles to the treaties of Paris and Rome’.!*° Added to
this, the Commission noted that new members had to accept the acquis, and
decisions taken since the Treaties were adopted: ‘It would be impossible and
illusory to call them into question’.'*! Moreover, echoing the 1961 position
of its predecessor, the Rey Commission emphasised that the Communities’
internal integration and development would not be put on hold or slowed
down during the period of negotiations. As an example, the Commission
recalled that important decisions were taken during the previous accession
negotiations, especially those relating to the CAP. Commissioner Martino
was chiefly responsible for these comments, which were a direct response to
Brown’s call, during his WEU speech, for ‘un “standstill” d’un an’.'*? The avis
qualified these comments by pushing for negotiations to be held as quickly
as possible. Britain’s accession, the Commission believed, although it would
bring great change to the Community, would not modify its fundamental
objectives. This was another marked change in the Commission’s attitude
to the enlargement question since the beginning of the decade. In 1961,
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Hallstein had given implicit warnings about the impact that British member-
ship would have on the Community’s institutions.!?> The Rey Commission
had changed its mind on this issue.'?* As a result, the avis made no mention
of the institutional implications. Nor were there any concerns expressed in
the Commission regarding Britain’s opposition to supranationalism, another
point frequently made by Hallstein years earlier.

However, the avis was not an equivocal endorsement of EEC enlargement.
Under the heading of economic and financial problems, largely prepared
by Barre, the Commission stated that the disequilibria affecting the British
economy were such as to put serious difficulties in the way of fulfilment of
the normal obligations that would be entailed by joining the Community
and complying with the Treaties and the acquis.'"® In any case, adapta-
tion was necessary. Moreover, the Commission stressed: ‘It is for the British
authorities to decide on the steps they have to take’.!?¢ It noted that improve-
ments in the British economy had not been maintained heading into 1967,
when the British balance of payments situation deteriorated in the first and
second financial quarters, with a basic deficit of the order of £39 million in
the first quarter and of £120 million in the second.'” During the summer
months, the information reaching the Commission suggested that the pay-
ments situation was deteriorating further and that the forecast for the full
year 1967 showed that the payments balance would again show a deficit.
Fluctuations within the sterling balances were another source of concern.!?®
Monetary officials within the Commission believed that the sterling balances
constituted a factor of disequilibrium and a source of difficulty for the Com-
munity if Britain were to join. In a final analysis, the Commission stated:
‘in view of these considerations, it is clear that the accession of the United
Kingdom to the Community would raise economic and financial problems
which will have to be examined in depth’.!* These comments immediately
produced a negative reaction from Whitehall and in large sections of the
British media."*® The British government, according to Catherine Schenk,
did not consider sterling to be a European issue, but, at the other end of
the debate, the EEC did not agree that the future of sterling could be side-
lined in the accession negotiations.’®! For the Community, and especially
the French and some Commissioners, a solution to the future of sterling was
a prerequisite for British membership.** Schenk, therefore, viewed the avis
as being ‘highly critical’ of the British application and showed the Commis-
sion siding publicly with France’s view that the weakness of sterling, and the
potential volatility of the sterling balances, was indeed an obstacle to British
accession.!

The Commission attempted to juggle two competing Community view-
points. The avis offered something to both the supporters of the enlargement
and those who wished to keep Britain out. For the five, the Commission
urged the immediate opening of negotiations with the four applicants.!*
France’s EEC partners had been arguing for this, and it was a position that
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had changed little from the early 1960s. Nevertheless, the French govern-
ment had been raising the issue of Britain’s balance of payments crisis for
over a year and had serious reservations about the role of sterling. To exclude
these concerns from its analysis would no doubt have incurred the wrath of
de Gaulle, and would have been a dereliction of its duty, since sterling was a
genuine problem, and it would have been dishonest of the Commission to
sweep the issue under the carpet.

The Commission, and especially Barre, came under strong attack in early
October. Headlines in many of the widely read newspapers, especially in
Britain, ranged from mild to extreme criticism of the Commission with alle-
gations of French collusion in writing the avis. So heated had the discussion
become that Bino Olivi, Commission spokesman, labelled as ‘complete non-
sense and irresponsible distortion’ a report in the Daily Telegraph claiming
that Barre and Deniau, the two French Commissioners, had injected highly
partisan material about Britain’s economy into the avis on the instructions
of General de Gaulle.'® Olivi stressed that he had been present throughout
all the Commission meetings leading to the adoption of the report. As Le
Soir noted, ‘L’'accusation est d’une gravité extréme’.'*¢ Walter Farr, writing in
the Telegraph, led with the story that the avis had been ‘vetted’ by de Gaulle
prior to its submission to the Council and that the General had asked the
French Commissioners to ‘inject critical references to the British economy
and the pound’.'® His story was based on information from German sources
in COREPER. The Sunday Telegraph focused on the ‘enigmatic M. Barre’, the
Commissioner ‘cast in the mildly sinister role of the assassin of Britain’s case
for membership of the Common Market’.!*® The paper claimed that Barre
was responsible for ‘that savage, against-the-grain chapter in the EEC’s report
on the British application’.® Some newspapers adopted a more positive line,
arguing that the report belonged neither to the European technocrats nor to
national bureaucrats but to the European public.'*® It was no secret that Barre
took a leading role in drawing up the chapter on Britain’s economic prob-
lems. The Times argued that it was no reflection on Barre, a distinguished
economist, to reflect something of his national training and background in
his ideas - ‘it could hardly be otherwise’.!*!

It was highly unusual for the Commission to go to such lengths to deny
a newspaper story. But this was no ordinary reporting on a Commission
document. Newspaper articles challenged the very basis of policy-making in
the Commission, and, more importantly, they questioned the institution’s
independence. On 11 October, in an unprecedented move, the Commission
issued a press communiqué that defended both the avis and the College of
Commissioners. Written by Rey’s cabinet and approved by the Commission,
it declared:

La Commission des Communautés Européennes vient de rendre public I'avis
qu’elle a adressé au Conseil de Ministres, au sujet de I'élargissement des
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Communautés. Elle tient, en présence de certains commentaires, a rappeler que
cet avis a fait l'objet de longues études préparatoires dans les divers services de
la Commission et de discussions trés approfondies entre tous les Membres de
celle-ci. 1l est le résultat d’un travail collégial, élaboré en pleine indépendance et
adopté a l'unanimité.**?

Both Rey and Martino insisted that the avis had been agreed and approved
by all 14 Commissioners. The document became a lightning rod for those
opposed to British membership. Speaking at a Council meeting in late
October, Couve de Murville again reiterated his country’s opposition to
British membership, and both the Germans and the Dutch seem to have
regarded Couve’s stance as a de facto veto."® De Gaulle’s long-serving for-
eign minister paid particular attention to the controversial aspects of the
avis to further the French case against opening negotiations. Words such as
‘la déception et la frustration’ were used by Commission officials in London
to describe Whitehall’s reaction to Couve’s speech.'** Two weeks later, a
British cabinet minister was reported to have made veiled threats at an
EFTA meeting in Geneva on the consequences for the six if France vetoed
the British application.!*S In many ways, the avis served to heighten existing
tensions between the British and French governments. Though support-
ive of enlargement, Rey spent most of October staunchly defending the
Commission against charges of national interference in its functions while,
almost with the same breath, stressing the collegiality of the Commission’s
policy-making process.

While nothing of substance occurred in the weeks immediately after
the end of the October Council meeting, events took a dramatic turn in
mid-November. The pressure on the pound sterling throughout 1967 even-
tually forced Wilson to devalue the currency on 18 November, in what
the Economist described as a ‘botched, panic-stricken flight from an over-
whelmed parity’.*¢ At a Council meeting three days later, Barre presented
an analysis of the Commission’s views on the British devaluation.'¥” He
focused exclusively on the implications for the Community and the inter-
national financial systems. It was only when Amintore Fanfani, Italian
Foreign Minister, spoke after the French Commissioner that the issue of
British membership arose and dominated the remainder of the meeting.
In the 68 pages of minutes from this meeting, Barre made no reference to
the implications of devaluation for Britain’s EEC membership. Instead, he
spoke of the unity among the six during a time of monetary crisis and of
the importance of working together as a group. The political debate con-
tinued among the six, but no solutions emerged about how to get the
enlargement negotiations started. Less than two weeks later, this deadlock
was broken.

On 27 November, de Gaulle took advantage of Britain’s economic woes.
At a press conference in Paris, he said:



From Veto to Veto: Britain and the Commission 85

The Common Market, finally, is incompatible with the state of sterling —
as revealed again by the devaluation and by the loans which proceeded
and accompanied it. Moreover, in view of the pound’s position as an
international currency and the enormous external balances which weigh
it down, the state of sterling would not allow it at present to become part
of the solid, interdependent, and assured society in which the franc, the
mark, the lira, the Belgian franc, and the guilder are joined.'*®

The focus of the attack was sterling. As Parr notes, ‘devaluation supplied
unequivocal evidence of Britain’s political and economic weakness,” which
encouraged de Gaulle ‘to advance his public rebuttal’.’* He had issued a
veto, yet Wilson remained defiant. The British government would not with-
draw its application, and so the issue dragged on into December. Parr argues
that keeping the application active was part of Wilson'’s long-term strategy.
Even if, as some had expected, the French President vetoed the British bid
for membership, Wilson would leave the application sitting on the Council’s
table indefinitely. While Parr presents convincing evidence to support this
claim, the success of this strategy, if indeed there was one, rested primarily
on the continued support of the five and the Commission. In the aftermath
of the 1963 veto, much to the dismay of the British, the Americans and some
of the member states, the unity of the five did not hold, and, within months,
the British question was off the Community’s agenda. It was a high-risk
assumption for Wilson to think the five would oppose the will of the Gen-
eral. The final weeks of 1967, and especially the Council meeting scheduled
for 18 December, would set the scene for the months ahead.

Heures décisives pour I’Europe?!*°

In scenes similar to those after the 1963 veto, there was renewed talk in
the Community and London on the question of associate membership
for Britain. By the first week of December, Lord Chalfont, British Minis-
ter of State for Foreign Affairs, firmly rejected the idea. Any negotiations
between Britain and the Community, he argued, ‘must be directed towards
full membership’.’* Rey echoed these comments at a Council meeting four
days later. Ruling out association, he stressed: ‘le Gouvernement de Londres n’a
pas de sympathie pour la recherche d’une solution dans la voie de I’association avec
la Communauté’ > The outcome of the 18-19 December Council meeting
was ambiguous. There was a clear difference of opinion among the member
states, and emotions were running high.'* Of the Community actors, the
Commission sided with the five in support of the opening of enlargement
negotiations with the four applicants. France stood alone in opposition. The
communiqué issued by the six stated that they could not reach agreement
on the enlargement issue, and, therefore, in the future another examina-
tion of the possibility of enlargement would take place.'** Both Monnet and
Fanfani declared that the Council’s decision was ‘une grave erreur politique’.'>°
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The year 1967 ended ‘on an emotional and potentially worrying note’ for
the Community.’** The Commission had come off the fence and taken the
side of the five in supporting enlargement. This was a significant policy
change since 1963. While the position of the five had remained relatively
stable since 1961 on the British question, the most notable change was the
position adopted by the Commission, an institution whose 180-degree turn
concluded that enlargement was a necessary development for the Common
Market. By 1967, the Commission had little to fear from expansion, and de
Gaulle was looking increasingly isolated. The aim for Rey was to ensure that,
when, not if, the enlargement talks eventually opened, the Commission had
to have a front-row seat to influence the outcome and with a watchful eye
on guarding the acquis.



4

Ireland and the Policy of Failure

Chapter 4 explores the European Commission’s relations with the Irish
government from the breakdown of the Brussels negotiations in January
1963 through to Ireland’s second application for EEC membership in May
1967. The period witnessed a flurry of activity between the Commission and
Dublin as Ireland attempted to secure interim trade deals with the six in the
absence of Community membership. The chapter examines the role played
by the Commission in Dublin’s foreign and economic policy formulation
during this period. It sheds new light on the early initiatives taken by the
Irish government in the period after the 1963 veto aimed directly at the
Commission. The chapter assesses how the Commission responded within
the overall enlargement debate, and contrasts these efforts with the way in
which other applicants pursued their own European policy. It also highlights
the limits of the Commission’s influence over policy areas not bound to the
founding treaties.

‘Time to allow tempers to cool’

Ireland’s first application for membership ended alongside those of Britain,
Denmark, and Norway in January 1963. De Gaulle did not refer specifi-
cally to Ireland in his press conference; instead, he focused his attack on
the British application. Ireland was not, as some have argued, excluded
from membership of the Community because of the French veto.! However,
the economic, and indeed political, reality meant that it was pointless to
pursue its application when Britain remained outside the EEC indefinitely.
Moreover, while economic links with Britain played a key role in determin-
ing the fate of the Irish application, in the immediate post-veto period no
serious attempt was undertaken by Dublin to pursue an independent appli-
cation, and such an alternative was never seen as a viable option by Irish
policy-makers. On 30 January 1963, Taoiseach Sedn Lemass said he deeply
regretted the situation that had arisen in Brussels with the suspension of
the enlargement negotiations.? He acknowledged in a speech to the Dail
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that reconsideration of ‘our application for membership of the Community
is inevitable’.> However, he remained upbeat, declaring that the govern-
ment would continue to ‘prepare and plan for our entry to an enlarged
Community, taking every step that will further this objective and avoiding
any that might make it more difficult to attain’.* This was to be his guid-
ing maxim for the remainder of his time in office. In contrast to Britain,
both Ireland’s domestic and foreign policy considerations remained fixed on
eventual membership of the EEC, despite the French veto.

The British and the Danes had renewed contacts with the Commission
earlier than the Irish following the veto.® This was partly due to advice from
Frank Biggar, head of the Irish mission to the Community. On 1 February,
he pushed for a policy of ‘wait and see’, and advised the government to
avoid statements or actions on the breakdown; it was widely believed that
the Community would continue, but with greatly reduced dynamism.® He
added that there were no grounds for believing that negotiations with Britain
would resume in the near future. Denmark and Norway, he believed, were
definitely not pursuing their applications. What was needed was ‘time to
allow tempers to cool and patient diplomacy to get under way again’.’
It was on the basis of this information that the Committee of Secretaries —
a powerful group of policy-makers made up of the heads of the four main
government departments (Finance, External Affairs, Agriculture, and Indus-
try and Commerce) — advised its European embassies. Dublin stressed:
‘We do not wish you to make direct official approaches but rather to glean
all possible information through social contacts etc’.® The instruction con-
tained a special message for Biggar in Brussels, stating: ‘This of course means
that you should not make official enquiry to the Commission about our
application. You will appreciate importance maximum information as basis
for new policy here’.? In the immediate aftermath of the veto, Dublin was
pursuing the diplomatic strategy of dignified calm. Due largely to the uncer-
tainty over the future of the Common Market, this seemed like a sensible
policy to adopt.

The Irish government’s ‘wait and see’ policy was followed into the sum-
mer of 1963. It was not until September that the Department of Finance
thought it wise for further thought to be given to the possibility of establish-
ing an interim link with the EEC, which would: ‘Assure us some degree of
preferential treatment in the matter of access for our exports to the Commu-
nity without damaging repercussions on our present trading relations with
Britain’.!® The idea of an interim trade link with the Community was based
on Turkey’s associate membership of the Common Market.!" The Depart-
ment of Finance viewed this agreement as being of particular relevance for
Dublin because, unlike the Greek association model, the Turkish agreement
granted preferential trading concessions during a preparatory phase with-
out imposing any corresponding obligations on Ankara. Dublin believed a
similar deal with the Community held out the possibility of some measure
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of preferential access to the Common Market for Irish agricultural exports
either by way of quotas or by the application of levies at the lower intra-
Community level. This policy approach did not find favour with other
policy-makers. J. C. Nagle, Secretary of the Department of Agriculture, voiced
his concern, highlighting two elements of the Turkish-EEC arrangement
that made it an ‘unsuitable headline for us to follow, i.e. association and
underdevelopment’.'” He made clear that Ireland was not as underdeveloped
as Turkey and, therefore, it was not in Ireland’s interest to approach the Com-
mission on similar grounds. It was recalled in Chapter 2 that Greece, Ireland,
and Turkey were closely associated during the FTA negotiations during the
late 1950s, but it was clear that Nagle wanted to put some distance between
that episode and Ireland’s continued interest in EEC membership. He feared,
perhaps rightly, that a negative impression would be created within Com-
munity circles that would imply that Ireland was an economic liability.
Nagle added that seeking such an arrangement would ‘be tantamount to
putting ourselves back in the underdeveloped class, whereas we have, in
the past few years, taken the line that we are more in the Denmark-Norway
category’.!® Instead, Agriculture wanted a continuation of the ‘wait and see’
policy. To have applied for association — especially at a time when Britain,
Denmark, and Norway had rejected this option — would have proved the
doubters in Brussels correct.

However, Finance was adamant that something had to be done about
Ireland’s relations with the Community. Six months had passed since
the breakdown of negotiations, and Dublin’s counterparts in London and
Copenhagen had already renewed contacts with the Commission. From July
onwards, the Irish mission in Brussels took tentative steps towards the Com-
mission and the Council.' In July, Biggar held meetings with Spaak, Antonio
Venturini, Italian permanent representative, and Hans Tabor, Denmark’s EEC
ambassador. At each meeting, he stressed that Ireland’s economic progress
was grounded on eventual EEC membership.'® The aim of these meetings
was to look for some signs from the Community side that would indicate
that, although membership was not possible as a short-term goal, it was a
real possibility for the future. Such a public pronouncement from the Com-
munity to the Irish public would give Lemass the ammunition he needed to
keep the industrial development drive alive. During his meeting with Tabor,
Biggar discovered that the Danes were seeking regular meetings with the
Community, and with the Commission in particular.’® At this stage, it was
not clear what Biggar or policy-makers in Dublin had in mind regarding a
new approach. They clearly realised that, if the Danes were speaking with
the Commission and certain member states, then Ireland would have to
do the same. Moreover, the archival evidence shows that the Commission
made no direct contact with the Irish government throughout this period.
Even though they maintained links with the British, the priority accorded
to Dublin by Hallstein and his colleagues was negligible. As the previous
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chapter argued, the Commission President had quickly turned his attention
away from the enlargement question and towards the internal work of the
Community immediately after the veto. It was, therefore, the responsibil-
ity of the applicants to keep open the channels of communication with the
Community institutions.

Sympathy but little else

By October 1963, the Irish government had reformulated its EEC policy
by proposing a schedule of meetings between the government and the
Commission."” The first formal meeting between the two took place on
29 November. The Commission’s Directorate-General for External Relations
did a good deal of preparatory work in advance of the meeting. Officials
examined the state of the Irish economy, its attitude to tariffs and trade,
and its position towards the Treaty of Rome.'® To show the seriousness with
which Dublin regarded this meeting, the Irish delegation consisted not only
of Frank Aiken, Minister for External Affairs, but the country’s most senior
policy-makers, including Ken Whitaker, head of the civil service. Rey and
Mansholt, along with their officials, represented the Commission. During
the meeting, Rey expressed his satisfaction at the initiative shown by Dublin
in renewing the contacts within the Community." In his turn, Aiken noted
that the breakdown of negotiations had been a great disappointment not
just to his government but also to the Irish people. This setback was, he
hoped, no more than ‘a temporary disruption’ of the movement towards
European unity.®® Aiken added that Community membership remained a
guiding principle in Ireland’s economic policy and added that ‘our economic
and social policies should be consistent with the objectives of membership
of the Community’.?! In addition, he stressed that, in order to achieve this,
occasional meetings ‘as and when convenient’ between the Commission and
Dublin would be important.??

The meeting itself was dominated by a discussion of agricultural exports
to the Community. Nagle stressed that cattle and beef were important not
only to Ireland’s agricultural sector but also to its economy generally. Until
EEC membership became a reality, Ireland hoped to see its exports to the
Community area continue and, where possible, see an increase. In a more
subtle move, Nagle stated that it had been suggested (in reports reaching
Dublin from its foreign embassies) that other countries (Denmark in par-
ticular) were anxious to discuss the possibility of special arrangements for
the export of cattle and beef to the EEC. If any such arrangements were
being contemplated, Nagle expected the Community to look favourably on
Ireland’s position not only as an exporter of these commodities but also
as an applicant for membership. The Danes had made a similar request
a month earlier when they asked the Commission to consider their agri-
cultural interests when making decisions on the CAP.** Conscious that the
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Irish delegation were aware of Denmark’s discussions with the Community,
Mansholt admitted that Denmark had asked for a tariff quota with reduced
levies for a certain quantity of cattle exports to the Common Market based
on an existing Danish export treaty with Germany, which was due to expire
at the end of 1965. The issue would be discussed in the Council when the
draft regulation for beef was ready. The Commission was, he stressed, not in
favour of quota arrangements, with an implicit suggestion that it was pow-
erless to prevent them.** He promised that, if any special arrangement was
made with Denmark, Ireland would be treated similarly. The Commission
may not have liked the German-Danish agreement, but it had little power
over it, nor could it prevent its extension. The Commission only had com-
petence over new trade agreements that involved the member states, and
Germany had a long-standing import treaty with Denmark. On the trade
issue, the Danes had quickly abandoned intensive lobbying of the Commis-
sion, realising that the Commission would not offer preferential treatment
to third countries, and as a result ended formal meetings on the subject. Yet,
Ireland persisted, believing that the Commission was an important actor in
its quest for an interim trade agreement prior to membership. Rey dampened
those hopes, making clear that any special arrangements for Ireland would
have to come under the terms of GATT; he emphasised that the Commu-
nity was ‘debarred by the GATT rules from granting preferential treatment’.?*
This response was somewhat disingenuous, given the frequency with which
the Community would flout such rules and grant preferential treatment to
its ‘near abroad’. Rey suggested that representatives from both sides should
meet at expert level for a tour d’horizon to examine what was possible. This
offer at least represented half of what Aiken had requested.

By the end of 1963, the Community’s agreement on the CAP was seen
as the final confirmation that the first veto crisis was over. At the same
time, the six were near agreement on the organisation of the internal market
for beef and veal. This included provision for the import from Denmark to
Germany of 16,000 head of cattle during the ‘off-the-grass’ season in 1964
and 1965. It also made provision for dairy products regulation.?® These deci-
sions sowed the seeds for future discord between Dublin and the Brussels
institutions throughout 1964 and 1965. As Denis Maher points out, such
arrangements would have been regarded as satisfactory if Ireland had been a
member of the Community.?” Instead, the Irish government took particular
exception to Denmark’s beef deal. Though much smaller than that enjoyed
by Denmark, German-Irish trade had an important impact on Irish market
prices, particularly for certain grades of cattle and beef, and was, therefore,
of economic significance. For a number of years after the Treaty of Rome
came into effect, this trade had been regulated by a quota system under
the German-Irish Trade Agreement, the last such quota having been estab-
lished for the three-year period that ended on 31 December 1963. The value
of the quota was 20 million deutschmarks.?® Ireland did not seek to renew
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these arrangements in the expectation that, in accordance with the basic
principles of the Treaty of Rome, bilateral quotas would be abolished in
1964, and a non-discriminatory import regime substituted for third coun-
tries like Ireland and Denmark. Dublin anticipated that, as a country which
had liberalised the bulk of its trade towards the Community, and had in no
way discriminated against it, Ireland would be given equivalent treatment
for its small export trade in cattle and beef. In March 1964, the Commis-
sion received the second aide mémoire from Dublin making this case clear.?’
The government argued that the common tariff on fresh mutton and lamb
should be reduced by 50 per cent, and that the Council should recommend
to the member states that, in drawing up import arrangements for mutton
and lamb and other commodities not subject to Community market organ-
isation, account should be taken of the special position of Ireland.*® This
was asking a lot. Policy-makers in Dublin were seeking a review by the Com-
munity of these decisions in light of the principles of non-discrimination
designed by the institutions themselves. There was a certain amount of
naivety in Ireland’s decision not to push for a renewal of its trade deal
with Germany in 1963. Its diplomatic sources in Copenhagen should have
informed Dublin of Denmark’s intentions to maintain its agreement with
Germany. Moreover, it showed that the Danes managed to circumvent such
rules with some success and without significant opposition from the Com-
mission or Germany’s Community colleagues in the Council. Of course, the
Danish agreement lasted two years longer than the Irish deal, and as such
had a stronger justification for compensatory mechanisms arranged at the
end of 1963 than an Irish deal which was due to expire at the same time.
Ireland’s readiness to allow its treaty to lapse may have reflected an Irish fail-
ure to properly understand how to negotiate in Brussels and to identify the
important actors.

On 13 March, Irish officials met with the Commission’s Agriculture
Directorate, chaired by Louis Rabot. The meeting was devoted almost wholly
to the question of agriculture.®® On the Irish side, Nagle reiterated the
points which he had put forward at the November meeting with Rey and
Mansholt, restating that the EEC should remain non-discriminatory vis-a-vis
third countries, and requested that Ireland be granted parallel treatment to
that given to Denmark. He also dealt with the imbalance in Irish trade with
the Community, the liberality of Ireland’s import regime, and the rapid rise
in imports from the Community. He put forward the suggestion for a conces-
sion on mutton and lamb as a contribution towards increasing Irish exports
to the Community that would help justify Ireland’s tariff reductions to the
Irish public. Rabot, whose views on trade relations with third countries were
very similar to Mansholt’s, again stressed that the Danish agreement with
Germany was a special situation involving a long-term contract until 1965,
and that the decisions in its favour would terminate that year. This con-
firms the point made above about the vital difference between a deal ending
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in 1963 and a deal ending in 1965. If the Danes had obtained very spe-
cial and temporary concessions, this was only on the express condition that
these would end in 1965. Rabot added that it was a moot question whether
the acquis had precedence over bilateral agreements. The Commission was
concerned to ensure that the exceptional Danish agreement ‘should not be
considered a precedent for new discriminatory practices — this would lead to
the downfall of the Community’s agricultural policy’.?? Frankly, Rabot did
not see much hope that the concessions could be repeated. Ireland did not
have the claim which the Danes had, nor was Ireland in a position to exert
pressure on Germany. In addition, this would suggest that Germany was
indeed pressing Denmark’s case within the EEC. The question of principle
aside, Ireland was assured that in practice it was unlikely to suffer any eco-
nomic loss. The member states were having difficulty with beef production;
there was a large deficit and even the French were looking for beef. Though
this may have been the case, for Ireland, it was as much about exports as
it was about the principle of the concession to the Danes and the pub-
lic perception that it created in Ireland. Notwithstanding the fact that the
Danish deal was a long-standing one, Dublin felt aggrieved. Biggar stressed
repeatedly that it was a matter ‘of great public importance in Ireland that
we should be seen to have the same treatment as Denmark’.?* While this
was a useful discussion that allowed the Irish to air its views, there was very
little that their Commission hosts were willing to do, other than consider
the points made at the meeting and send Dublin a reply. This meeting and
the aide mémoire are significant. They showed that Ireland was closely mon-
itoring Community developments, while the Danish agreement served as a
wakeup call to policy-makers in Dublin concerned with increasing Ireland’s
agricultural exports in the absence of Community membership. More impor-
tantly for the Commission, it showed how limited its influence was to grant
even the slightest hope of concessions, arguing that these were outside its
remit. The Commission regretted having had to allow the Danes special
treatment. Its priorities were, understandably, to maintain the integrity of
the new CAP, and to avoid having its flagship policy undercut by too many
parallel special deals.

The Commission and the six did not regard Ireland’s economic anxieties
as being of prime importance. This was reflected in the length of time they
took to reply to the Irish delegation’s questions from the March meeting.
It was not until the end of September that Biggar received the Commission’s
response addressing Ireland’s economic concerns. In a three-page letter, Axel
Herbst, the Commission’s top official at DG External Relations, noted that,
after a new and careful examination of the situation, the Commission’s posi-
tion on preferential trade arrangements had not changed from the meeting
in March. With reference to the Danish case, Herbst stressed, ‘the Council
decision regarding commercial exchanges between Denmark and the Federal
Republic is quite exceptional and its validity has been limited to the expiry
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of the commercial agreement in force’.* Again putting the issue of princi-
ple aside, the Commission noted that, in its opinion, exports from Ireland
to the Community would not be affected because of the measures approved
in the case of imports from Denmark. The suppression of all quantitative
restrictions decided by the Council in the beef sector, on the one hand, and
the foreseeable increase in consumption of this product within the Commu-
nity, on the other hand, would enable Irish exports at least to be maintained
regardless of the juridical position affecting trade between Denmark and the
Federal Republic. If there was a noticeable reduction in Irish exports to the
Community, the Commission promised to re-examine possible solutions
with Irish officials, but would provide no further guarantees. Herbst also
made reference to the Community’s involvement in the GATT negotiations
as a further reason behind its decision not to grant any preferential treatment
through bilateral arrangements. This was not the response Dublin had hoped
for and expected: ‘When it [the Commission’s reply] did come - it was, on
the subject of agricultural products, wholly negative, and, on the subject of
industrial products, wholly silent’.* Donal O’Sullivan at the Department of
External Affairs described the atmosphere with a note of dejection, saying:
‘to be quite realistic, all we have to complain about on the agricultural side
at present is that there has been discrimination in favour of the Danes’.?
At the end of 1964, there was a sense of acceptance in Dublin that very little
was possible in their drive to gain concessions from Brussels, and equally the
Commission had no real interest in pushing the Irish cause within the Com-
munity. Moreover, Ireland did not have the same historic trading links with
continental Europe that Denmark had. Danish-German relations were of
greater importance to Bonn, and this may have helped Copenhagen secure
the beef deal. This is not to say that Ireland lacked powerful allies in Europe.
De Gaulle was, after all, of Irish descent, although it was highly unlikely
that the General would march to Brussels to lobby on behalf of Irish beef
exporters. What was clear from the outcome of these meetings between
Dublin and the Commission was that the latter was trying hard to ensure
that one exception (of which it disapproved but which it was powerless to
prevent) did not become two exceptions, thereby increasing the breach in
the general rules and principles it was treaty-bound to defend.

Towards the beginning of 1965, Irish policy-makers continued their
preparatory work for a non-preferential trade agreement with the six.
This new review was based on the successful non-preferential trade agree-
ments signed between the Community and Iran and Israel. These were
non-preferential in the sense that the tariff reductions conceded by the
Community were in accordance with GATT rules, against discrimination,
and made available to the world at large.?” On 26 January, the Commission
hosted another meeting with Ireland, this time headed by Charles Haughey,
Irish Minister for Agriculture. Replying to a question from Haughey about
whether there was any new thinking in Brussels on Ireland’s suspended
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application for membership, Rey referred to the Community’s negotiations
on associate membership with Austria, but it was not easy to see how negoti-
ations could be resumed with Ireland and Denmark until a certain stage had
been reached between the Community and Britain.*® London had shown
no interest in renewing its application, and no move was expected by the
Commission for some time. The Commission believed that the key to the
enlargement process rested with Britain and depended on improved rela-
tions between London and the six; until this happened, there was very little
the Commission was prepared to do even on the subject of trade with the
applicants. Rey made clear that there was no doubt that the EEC would
expand, but it was impossible to say when this would happen. In keeping
with the line of discussion from previous meetings with the Commission,
Haughey asked Rey and Robert Toulemon, one of the Commissioner’s senior
officials, whether they had any thoughts on an interim status for an appli-
cant country, especially the possibility of making special arrangements for
individual items.* In this context, he reminded Rey that Ireland had not
done as well as the Danes, who seemed to have been given certain advan-
tages that Ireland had not received. This was well-explored territory. Perhaps
a better question would have been what Dublin should be doing to promote
its case for full membership, association, or an item-by-item agreement. Rey
said Ireland’s question was difficult to answer and that he did not have the
authority to reply. One option was to put a question directly to the Council,
but, personally, he thought it was very difficult to say whether Ireland could
do anything until the outcome of the Austrian negotiations became clear.
Individual commodity arrangements with the Community were possible,
but Rey emphasised that it would need the Council’s authority to conclude
a commercial agreement. The Commission could only speak within the
framework of existing regulations, and these had to be non-discriminatory;
it was not prepared to envisage bilateral negotiations during the course
of the Kennedy Round of GATT talks. Commission officials stressed that
the Danish cattle agreement would end in 1965, and confirmed with great
emphasis that nothing exceptional, from the point of view of the EEC, had
been done for the Danes. The Community had merely honoured an exist-
ing agreement between Denmark and a member state, as it was obliged to
do under the treaties. The conversation throughout was characterised by a
note of cordial frankness. There was nothing policy-makers in Dublin could
do to make membership a reality, and Rey made clear that this was also the
opinion of his Commission colleagues. In addition, the Commission stated
quite clearly that no exceptions could be made for preferential arrangements
until the Kennedy Round had concluded. Some, such as Mansholt, pre-
dicted that these negotiations in Geneva would drag on into 1966. It was,
therefore, reasonable to assume that Ireland’s chances of achieving trade
agreement with the Community looked bleak for the year ahead.** There
is no archival evidence to suggest that the Commission was intentionally
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obstructionist towards the Irish request. On the contrary, the Commission’s
minutes of these meetings indicate that its officials were fully aware of the
Irish economic interest in the EEC but were also conscious of the charged
political atmosphere within which they were operating, especially with the
GATT talks. It should, of course, be made clear that expressions of sympathy
did not necessarily imply a genuine readiness to do much about Ireland’s
problems.*!

The 1965 ‘empty chair’ crisis hampered further attempts by the Irish
government to realise any concessions from the Community during the
second half of 1965; Ireland could do nothing productive other than wait
and see how the crisis unfolded. The question of a closer link with the
six receded into the background until early 1966, when interest in mem-
bership of the Common Market was once again reignited.*> Six months
after the crisis had ended, speculation was raised to new heights about a
possible move by London to apply for membership. Irish policy-makers,
nevertheless, persisted in their courtship of the Commission with another
ministerial meeting scheduled for September 1966.* This meeting was partly
in response to domestic media criticism of the government’s handling of
Ireland’s EEC application and the lack of movement towards membership.**
Rey, accompanied by Commissioners Mansholt and Marjolin, was impressed
by Ireland’s continued interest in the Community despite the difficulties
that had existed since 1963. He believed that the political situation had
changed considerably since that period, and that the enlargement question
was once more becoming a live issue. Though the mood in political circles in
Britain was evolving, the attempts at bridge-building between the EFTA and
the EEC were not sufficient. Moreover, Rey pointed out that, if enlargement
negotiations reopened, there would be less emphasis on detail, something
that had weighed down the 1961-1963 talks. However, before any negotia-
tions could resume, the Kennedy Round had to be completed. The balance of
payments problems in Britain and monetary problems in general were also
key concerns for Rey, Mansholt, and Marjolin. After a lengthy and largely
fruitless discussion about Ireland’s less than favourable trading arrangements
with the six, both Rey and Mansholt sympathised with Ireland’s difficulty.
There was a sense of déja vu about this meeting, compounded by Mansholt’s
remarks that he did not like the Danish agreement with Germany. His sug-
gestion was not, therefore, to bring Ireland up to the level of Denmark, but
to bring Denmark down to the level of Ireland; or, in Mansholt’s terms, to
ensure that the Community’s rules on the export of beef were uniformly
applied without any discrimination between third countries. However, Frank
Aiken asked whether there was anything Dublin could do, consistent with
the GATT, to secure an interim arrangement with improved access for Irish
exports to the Common Market. Rey confirmed that there was no change in
this position, and that any preference accorded to Irish exports would have
to be extended to the goods of other third countries in accordance with the
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provision of the GATT. Dublin and Brussels agreed to further meetings at
ministerial level later in the year and at the beginning of 1967. Both sides
were going around in circles; in three years of meetings and positions papers,
nothing had been achieved.

Round two

Before further meetings between Irish and Commission were arranged,
Harold Wilson had reopened the debate over British membership with
his speech to the Commons in November. Prior to his announcement,
James Marjoribanks, head of the British Mission in Brussels, informed Sedn
Morrissey, Ireland’s ambassador to the Community, that Wilson had defi-
nitely made up his mind on the question of Europe.** He added that it was
not a case of whether Britain could afford to join the Common Market, but
of whether it could afford to stay out. Marjoribanks was sure of one thing:
France would undoubtedly expect Britain to pay a high price for its entry.
A second British application, he stressed, would be activated in the summer
or autumn of 1967. Therefore, much attention switched to the British move
on membership, but attempts at securing an interim arrangement with the
Brussels institution did not stop, even though the Commission was repo-
sitioning itself as one of the new supporters of enlargement. The political
climate in Dublin and Brussels had altered as 1966 ended, but the political
uncertainty over accession remained strong.

Lemass had resigned as Taoiseach on 10 November 1966 and had been
replaced by Jack Lynch, Minister for Finance. The new Fianna Fail leader
stressed the continuity of the government’s quest for EEC membership. Writ-
ing to Lynch, Rey emphasised that the Commission was confident that
under his leadership Ireland would continue to draw closer to the Continent
and ‘one day happier circumstances will make possible the realisation of the
hope [membership] we both cherish’.*¢ Indeed, no sooner had the ink dried
on Rey’s message than Lynch proceeded to sound out Wilson’s plans for
membership. Speaking to Lynch on 19 December 1966, Wilson believed that
the circumstances for joining were more opportune, adding that five of the
six member states favoured EEC membership for Britain, and that the prob-
lems of the past did not present the same difficulty.*” He emphasised that
Britain, Ireland, and Denmark would make a substantial contribution to a
wider Europe, although he was not so sure about Norway’s position towards
the EEC. Wilson promised to keep Dublin informed of any further devel-
opments between London and the Community, but stressed that nothing
would occur until he had visited each of the member states.

Irish ministers met with the Commission in January 1967, eager to dis-
cover whether it was advisable for Dublin to negotiate entry before the
British.* Rumours had reached Dublin the previous month indicating that
the Community would deal with the minor applicants first and Britain
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second. However, Mansholt was firm in his response, stating that the Com-
mission had taken no decision on the matter of negotiations with the British
or with the other applicants. The timetable, he said, for such negotiations
‘is primarily a political matter’.* He advised Dublin to push for parallel
or simultaneous negotiations. In private discussions with Max Kohnstamm
that same month, Mansholt appeared ‘tres détendu et tres positif’ when they
discussed the possibility of a second British application.*® Indeed, Mansholt
hoped to see Britain as a member before 1969.5' However, the Commission’s
own view, and Mansholt believed that he was at one with Rey on this issue,
was that British membership was unlikely before the end of 1969.

The political environment surrounding the enlargement question was
filled with pessimism. Diplomatic reports reaching Dublin contained mixed
signals about the attitude of the Community actors to enlargement. Eamonn
Kennedy, Ireland’s ambassador to West Germany, wrote that the prospects
for Wilson’s new move towards Europe ‘do not look at all bright here in
Bonn’.*? He noted that his British counterpart in Bonn, who had seemed
more optimistic the previous November, was expressing his concern about
membership prospects, as were the Norwegians and a number of their
EFTA colleagues. Kennedy acknowledged that no one in official circles in
Bonn was pushing for the widening of the Common Market. Willy Brandt,
German Foreign Minister, was extremely pessimistic when Kennedy met
him at a New Year’s function for the diplomatic corps. Similar reports to
Dublin stressed French anxiety at the prospect of having to open negoti-
ations with the applicants, especially the British. When a journalist asked
Couve de Murville, in an interview with France Inter, whether he would pose
any political preconditions for the entry of Britain, he replied: ‘I don’t know
what you mean by political conditions. When the issues are important, they
are always political — even when they are economic’.>® Of course, it was of
vital importance that Wilson'’s probe was successful. After all, it was not just
British membership that was at stake; three other applications rested on the
success or otherwise of Britain’s diplomatic efforts.

Based on these negative assessments in early 1967, Ireland’s attention
shifted from the Commission to the six. It was clear to policy-makers that its
avenues of enquiry with the Commission had been exhausted, and the spot-
light was therefore turned on the member states. In The Hague, for example,
J. W. Lennon, Ireland’s ambassador to the Netherlands, focused attention on
the type of negotiating procedure likely to be adopted by the Community,
especially whether Ireland should seek to open negotiations before Britain.
Dutch officials stressed that, while it was not impossible in theory, it was
only possible on the understanding that the conclusions reached would
not become effective unless Britain joined.>* Moreover, they could not see
what advantage Ireland would gain from such a solo move. They advised
Dublin to await the outcome of the British negotiations when they opened.
Crucially, the Dutch Foreign Ministry thought that London’s chances of
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admission were nil. This coincided with the de Gaulle-Wilson meeting in
January, examined in the previous chapter.*® T. V. Commins, Ireland’s ambas-
sador to France, reporting on the meeting, wrote dejectedly to Dublin: ‘I am
afraid to say, it is a far from optimistic outlook for the entry of Britain to
the EEC in the immediate future, or indeed, within any immediate mea-
surable period of time’.’® He stressed that, on the economic and financial
fronts, the problems had become more accentuated; the talks between the
two leaders served more to circumscribe the problems than to seek anything
like solutions for them. If these diplomatic reports were accurate, Britain and
Ireland, along with the other two applicants, faced strong headwinds against
their second application.

Irish officials continued their protest with the Commission over
Denmark’s increasingly favourable position within the German beef mar-
ket. Despite having received assurances from Rey and Mansholt on the
subject, policy-makers in Dublin became ‘seriously perturbed’ when the
Council agreed at a meeting on 28 July 1966 to allow Germany to buy a
further 16,000 head of cattle from Denmark.’” This was renewed for 1967.
The Commission had claimed that all agreements between the Community
and third countries had to go through the GATT. Nevertheless, from this
episode, it is clear that Ireland did not have the diplomatic influence in
Bonn that Denmark possessed. Moreover, it showed that the Commission
was not concerned enough with the plight of the Irish farmers to propose
a similar arrangement for Ireland with the Community or even to go so
far as to protest to the Germans about the renewal of the beef agreement.
The Director-General of Rey’s department accepted that the Commission
had given Dublin assurances that the German-Danish trade agreement on
cattle would not extend beyond 1965.%® In September 1967, the Irish govern-
ment again wrote to the Commission, protesting at the way Ireland had been
excluded from the renewal of this agreement.*® Dublin finally succeeded in
November in having the issue addressed in its favour. After three years of
fruitless discussions, the Council agreed to offer Ireland a similar concession
in the beef export market in the Community.®® Hard diplomacy eventually
paid off. However, the sceptic might stress that it took three years for the
Council to grant Ireland similar concessions and, added to this, the Danish
government had benefitted a great deal more in the interim by bypassing
the Commission and appealing directly to Bonn. Part of the background to
this was the gradual realisation on the part of the EEC (including, there-
fore, the Commission) that the basic principles of the CAP were unlikely to
be honoured in as stringent a way as Mansholt and some of his colleagues
had originally hoped. The backsliding on Denmark (and then eventually on
Ireland) thus mirrored the acceptance, as part of the Community’s Decem-
ber 1964 deal on the CAP, whereby some national subsidies to farmers could
continue in tandem with the European subsidies — a stance which Mansholt
would have regarded as anathema just a couple of years earlier.
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On the eve of Britain’s second application to the six, Wilson informed
Lynch that he intended to make a statement to the House of Commons on
Britain’s relations with Europe.®! The second application would not take the
same form as the first; Britain would decide on a completely fresh start. He
hoped negotiations would get underway with the minimum of delay, if pos-
sible before the Community summer vacation at the beginning of August.
Moreover, while Wilson promised Lynch his full support if Ireland decided
to make a similar application, Britain, he added, did not want to be tied
too closely to the other applicants. Referring to the likely outcome, he felt
that the French would resort to the tactic of ‘playing the British along for
some years’.®> Within a week of Lynch’s meeting with Wilson, Ireland and
Britain, followed closely by Denmark, had submitted their second applica-
tions for Community membership.®® The previous chapter has discussed de
Gaulle’s press conference on 16 May at which he outlined his opposition
to the British bid without issuing a direct veto.®* Despite his opposition to
enlargement, the Council and the Commission continued to examine the
enlargement question. Significantly, the Irish ‘application’ ceased to exist
after the Council session on 26 June. André Feipel, deputy chief in the cabi-
net of the Secretary General of the Council, informed Irish officials that the
Council had decided from the outset that, for ease of reference, the phrase
‘the British application’ would be understood to include the Danish and Irish
applications.®® There is no archival evidence, in either the Community or
Irish archives, to suggest that Dublin objected to this move by the Council.
One could argue that policy-makers in Dublin were able to put nationalistic
issues aside when the greater good was at stake. The overriding concern for
the Irish government was membership of the EEC, and they were willing to
achieve this at almost any cost.

The French objections to enlargement did not deter Ireland or the other
applicants.®® On the contrary, they nevertheless prepared a busy schedule of
meetings with the Commission and the member states during the months
that followed. The Commission was preparing its opinion on the applica-
tions. Dublin wasted little time in lobbying the Brussels institution to ensure
a favourable assessment of its application. On 27 July Rey, newly installed as
Commission President, and other colleagues met Lynch for a wide-ranging
discussion on the enlargement process and the implications of de Gaulle’s
press conference. Rey assured Lynch that neither he nor the other Commis-
sioners found any significant problems with the Irish application, and fully
approved of the government’s economic modernisation policy.®” The nature
and relative size of the Irish economy would not lead to a disruption of
the Common Market. It was, therefore, pointless for the Commission, now
in the pro-enlargement camp, to raise doubts about minor details. Rey was
also on record as stating that he wanted a rapid conclusion to the enlarge-
ment talks. The Commission raised a number of issues that they believed
had a negative bearing on the application and where further clarification was
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required. The first of these related to Ireland’s declared position on military
neutrality. This issue had arisen during the 1961 application, and Lynch'’s
predecessor had had no hesitation in stating then that he fully accepted the
political aspects of the Treaty of Rome, implications inherent in the phrase
‘an ever closer union’. Rey stressed that a firm declaration on neutrality was
required because, as he saw it, the basic cause of the 1963 breakdown of the
enlargement talks had been defence and nuclear issues. The government reit-
erated that Ireland accepted the political and defence implications entailed
in membership; this satisfied the Commission. This was further evidence
of the changing approach adopted by Rey. His predecessor had turned the
NATO issue into a serious obstacle to Irish membership in 1961. However,
by 1967 neither Rey nor his colleagues saw the issue as a deal-breaker.

It is difficult to pinpoint the reasons for another volte-face by the Commis-
sion on issues surrounding the enlargement question in the absence of more
detailed Community archival material. However, during the 1961-1963
negotiations, parallel talks on a political union were in progress between the
six, and as such it was an important issue for Hallstein. Inevitably, there was a
certain amount of spillover from the political union talks to the enlargement
negotiations, especially on the issue of neutral countries joining the EEC.
Four years after the breakdown of both the political union and enlargement
talks, Rey did not repeat Hallstein’s concerns. Instead, a simple declaration
of support for the political objectives inherent in the Treaty of Rome was
sufficient. On the subject of the future course of events, Rey added that the
Council would take about two months to examine the Commission’s avis,
and hinted that no member state would block this consultation process.
The impression given at this meeting was that the Commission’s avis would
be favourable to the Irish application for membership. Indeed, by the end
of July, Lynch had met with five of the six member states, and the Irish
application was greeted with general enthusiasm.®® Ireland would easily be
absorbed into the fabric of the Community without any great fuss. These
meetings with the EEC during the summer of 1967 gave policy-makers in
Dublin a real hope that entry negotiations would commence in 1968, and
Lemass’s original aim of membership by 1970 was a distinct possibility.*
However, France’s opposition to Britain’s membership still loomed large over
the whole process. No amount of discussions with the Commission or the
five could change this.

There was very little in the 180-page Avis de la Commission to cause worry
for the Irish government.”” As already noted in the previous chapter, the
Commission devoted the greater part of its attention to Britain, while the
other applicants posed few problems for the Community. The avis recom-
mended the immediate opening of negotiations and, more importantly for
the Irish government, simultaneous entry for all four applicants. However,
because of the emphasis placed on Britain and the key role of France, neither
the Irish government nor the Commission was expecting a rapid conclusion
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to the negotiations. A more vital consideration for the Commission in
drawing up its opinion for the Council was to pinpoint major economic
problems that enlargement would cause, and therefore the spotlight fell
on the British application. Some Commission officials held strong views
on the enlargement issue, on France’s opposition to it, and especially the
British application. Speaking to the Irish ambassador in September, Edmund
Wellenstein, one of the Directors-General in the Rey Commission, was opti-
mistic about the opening of negotiations but could not say that they would
take place in the immediate future.”’ He added that London was foolish in
claiming that no problems existed in the economic sphere, and remarked
that they (the British) would be advised to admit the existence of a major
problem (sterling) and bring it out for discussion.”

The major obstacle to each of the applications was de Gaulle. Having
received broad support from the five and the Commission, Ireland’s seat at
the Council table was within reach. Lynch had more grounds for optimism
after the Council meeting in Luxembourg at the end of October 1967. At this
meeting, the French Foreign Minister was careful to emphasise that France
was not, in principle, opposed to the enlargement or to the entry of Britain.
With a hint of ambiguity, Couve added: ‘British membership will be possible
when, effectively, it will be possible’.”® Dublin was hopeful ahead of Lynch’s
meeting with the General two weeks later in Paris. On 3 November, Lynch
travelled to the French capital. De Gaulle stressed that France had no objec-
tion to Ireland’s application, and he looked forward to the day when Ireland
would become part of the Community. While Ireland posed only minor
problems for the enlargement process, de Gaulle made it clear that Britain’s
economic woes were an obstacle to the extension of the six. He therefore
suggested that association was the best interim solution for Britain. He sym-
pathised with Lynch’s position, and understood Ireland’s close economic
links with the British economy and the difficulty of accepting member-
ship so long as Britain remained outside. Meeting Lynch a day later, Couve
repeatedly stressed that Britain’s economy and the position of sterling were
the problems in the second round of applications. If negotiations started in
1967, he said, they had the potential to drag on for anything up to three
years, and would result in bad feeling. He saw no political objections to
Ireland’s membership of the EEC. The meetings did not affect the status of
the application. General de Gaulle broadly welcomed the Irish application,
as he had done in 1961, and, apart from general concerns about the Irish
economy, raised no serious objections with Lynch. On the other hand, the
General and his foreign minister made it very clear that they would not sup-
port the British application, for reasons discussed in the previous chapter.
This left the Irish government in a precarious situation.

The meeting made the front pages of most of the major European newspa-
pers. The Guardian, whose headline read: “The Irish in de Gaulle comes out —
in a touch of Blarney,” acknowledged that, but for the little detail of Britain’s
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economic difficulty, de Gaulle’s reception of the Irish delegation would have
been one of ‘unmitigated joy’.”* The Irish Press declared triumphantly that
the ‘Door is open to market’ and that France was ready to support the Irish
bid for membership.”> There was certainly a hint of envy in the columns of
the British papers. Had Wilson received a similar welcome during his meet-
ings in Paris, the political climate surrounding enlargement would have been
very different. Yet, Italy’s La Stampa accurately noted that Lynch had failed in
his mission with de Gaulle, because if the latter said ‘No’ to London then this
also applied to the Irish application.”® This was a more realistic assessment
of Lynch’s visit.

Policy-makers in Dublin expected a long delay in the opening of negoti-
ations, while ‘the prospect of negotiations was receding into an uncertain
future’.”’ Lynch’s visit simply highlighted de Gaulle’s continued antagonism
towards enlargement of the EEC to include Britain. The British devaluation
of the pound two weeks later was a stark reminder of the scale of the prob-
lems facing the British economy. Moreover, it led to greater uncertainty over
the future of Community enlargement. Devaluation was the opportunity
needed by the French President to sink the British application before nego-
tiations opened. De Gaulle’s comments on the British application at the end
of November had a double significance. Not only was his press conference
intended to put a stop to the British attempts at membership of the EEC,
but, indirectly, it also ended Ireland, Denmark, and Norway’s prospects of
getting into the Community on the coat-tails of the British application.”®

The outcome of the 18-19 December Council meeting is examined in the
previous chapter. It is worth recalling that the Commission’s contribution to
the debate on the applications was wholly positive. In the communiqué issued
after the meeting, the Commission stressed that its opinion on enlarge-
ment had not changed since it had been published four months earlier.”
It hoped that negotiations would open so that a solution could be found
to the issues affecting the applicant countries, such as transitional arrange-
ments and so on. Instead, the Council meeting noted that there was no
agreement between the member states on the next steps to be taken.® Nei-
ther the Commission nor the four applicants were surprised by the Council’s
decision. France had a right to say no - fortunately for Ireland, few of the five
shared this view — and most political commentators understood that Ireland
was unfortunately stuck in the crossfire.

The Council’s decision meant another round of policy analysis in Dublin.
At the core of any new policy shift in Ireland was the awareness that the
Irish application had secured the goodwill of not just the Commission but
also of the six, and this was political capital worth preserving in the months
ahead. In conclusion, the second Irish application for Community mem-
bership was, in a way, more successful than the British application. Even
though neither country passed the finish line, Ireland was at the very least
content in the knowledge that, once France overcame its differences with
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the British, membership would be guaranteed. A small consolation, perhaps,
but the second application showed that the issues of NATO membership
and neutrality played no major part in the Commission’s thinking about
Ireland’s membership, and no reference was made to these topics in the avis.
However, the ultimate aim of the Irish government and its policy-makers
was membership, and, in any final assessment of their second attempt at
entry, the end result was failure. Moreover, those waiting with bated breath
in Dublin and London for a change of leadership in France in order to see
a positive shift in France’s EEC policy were expecting to wait until the pres-
idential elections in 1972. For Ireland, the other applicants, and, indeed,
the Rey Commission, the road to membership seemed endless during this
period. The Commission played an important role in Ireland’s foreign eco-
nomic policy considerations between 1963 and 1967, though its influence
was limited. It could not ignore Ireland’s pleas for equal treatment in the
export market for third countries, but neither had it the power to overrule
bilateral agreements between a member state and a third country. If nothing
else, the Irish application tested the Commission’s limited influence in this
particular field.



S

Navigating the Gaullist Veto

There was a definite sense of déja vu and exasperation at the end of 1967 both
within and outside the Community. The second French veto presented the
enlargement actors with challenges similar to those faced in January 1963.
The six and the Commission had to maintain the forward momentum in
light of de Gaulle’s non, while the applicants had yet again to reassess their
European policy. This chapter focuses on how the Commission, as well as
the British and Irish governments, responded to de Gaulle’s obstructionism
between December 1967 and December 1969. It assesses the impact that the
veto had on the two candidates’ European policy, and the very different
approaches that Dublin and London adopted with the Commission dur-
ing that period. Chapter 5 also analyses the Commission’s influence over
the many bridge-building initiatives drawn up in the aftermath of the veto
aimed at resolving the enlargement crisis, and assesses its effectiveness as
an honest broker between the six and the applicants. Finally, the chapter
explores the Commission’s attempts to steer the enlargement issue in the
aftermath of de Gaulle’s sudden resignation in 1969.

British impatience

The way in which Rey approached the second veto differed considerably
from how Hallstein had managed the 1963 enlargement crisis. Unlike his
predecessor, Rey did not embark upon a unity tour of the capitals of the six.
He accepted that there would be no immediate start to enlargement nego-
tiations between the Community and the four applicants.! The outcome
of the Council meeting on 19 December would confirm this. Instead, Rey
went to London in early December to assess the British position. Sensing
an opportunity, Rey believed that the Commission could play a useful role
in the months ahead, filling the political vacuum caused by the worsened
Anglo-French relations. He had asked British officials in Brussels whether
Downing Street was prepared to explore solutions other than full member-
ship if invited by the six. It is unclear what Rey had in mind, although
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he was certainly familiar with Britain’s attitude towards associate member-
ship. London had rejected the option in 1963 and, unlike Ireland, had made
no approach to the Community on the subject between applications. British
officials in Brussels warned Whitehall against giving ‘any encouragement
to such thoughts and advise him [Rey] of advancing them prematurely’.?
The implication of this final word, though, is that a time might arrive
when such arrangements could be usefully advanced. Yet, these same offi-
cials were astute enough to add that it was unwise to do anything to give
Rey the impression of: ‘Our being too stiff-necked since the Commission
are obviously anxious to maintain what has been by and large a most help-
ful role and their continued support is essential to us’.® Like Hallstein, Rey
was concerned to avoid either deadlock or controversy in the Community.
In London, he told Harold Wilson that the Commission would continue to
support Britain’s membership bid, but he warned against moves to divide
the six.* In scenes similar to January 1963, Rey argued that it was better to
‘wait and see’ rather than make any sudden moves. This was certainly a con-
servative approach for Rey to propose. The British, after all, had shown over
the previous six months that waiting around for something to happen was
not part of their strategy. Wilson and George Brown, Foreign Secretary, had
to keep the pressure on the five in order to keep the British application alive.

Rey’s advice went largely unheeded in London. Brown was convinced
that France’s EEC partners would rally around the British application and
force Paris to open negotiations. Britain’s EEC policy was formulated on
this assumption after the second veto. Brown believed that France was sus-
ceptible to pressure from the five, and, if pressed, ‘the French will agree to
negotiations’.> He also ruled out consultations with the Commission as an
interim measure prior to full negotiations — a view that later drew criticism
from Dean Rusk, United States Secretary of State, during discussions with his
British counterpart. Brown made it clear that dealing with the Commission
was ‘not an acceptable substitute because they are not with the principals
in the Community and could further erode the UK negotiating position by
leading to a premature sacrificing of some issues important to the UK. He
was focused on the ultimate goal of negotiations leading to membership,
and believed that the five and not the Commission were best placed to
achieve this; he was not interested in an arrangement or ‘pré-adhésion’.” Rusk
questioned Brown'’s approach. Echoing Rey’s own position, Rusk believed
that Brown'’s policy would force the five into a confrontation with France
‘with possible repercussions on the Communities’.® Instead, the Secretary of
State argued the merits of talks with the Commission that would maintain
some degree of momentum ‘and should be looked at carefully’.’ He recog-
nised that the Commission had an important role to play, possibly as an
honest broker but certainly as a link between the British and the member
states. Yet, Brown was not swayed by these views. On 20 December 1967,
he announced before the House of Commons that the government would
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propose consultations with the five.!® The purpose of these meetings would
be to explore the possibilities of cooperation between the five and the four
applicants. Rey’s first attempt at easing the tensions created by the veto had
failed, and its influence was considered in London to be of limited use.

The British government refrained from spelling out publicly the kind of
cooperation it had in mind, although it was likely to embrace cooperation
in technological and political matters. It was clear that Britain saw little pos-
sibility of action in the trade field because of GATT rules and Community
regulations. In fact, Foreign Office officials ruled out any economic coop-
eration ‘as long as the Five maintain their obligations as members of the
EEC’.!"! Whitehall officials followed the Foreign Secretary’s announcement
with energetic action through diplomatic channels, and discussions at min-
isterial level to secure support among the five and the applicant countries.
The Foreign Office wanted the Italians to propose a meeting of the five and
interested countries, or, failing this, the Belgians and/or the Dutch. Britain
could not be seen to be interfering in the Community by launching a plan
that had the potential to destabilise the Community. The meeting would
be attended by Britain, the five and as many of the applicants as possible.
The exclusion of France played a major part in Brown’s agenda, while no
mention was made of the Community’s institutions. According to a Foreign
Office memo:

It will be essential that the French should take no part. French behaviour
in obstructing all attempts to get working arrangements between Britain
and the Six after the 1963 veto shows that we cannot have working
arrangements in a forum where France has a veto on progress.'?

Of the applicant countries, Denmark and Norway gave positive replies;
Ireland suspended judgement until more was known about the reaction
of the five. Germany showed little enthusiasm for the proposed consulta-
tions, which appeared all too clearly as an attempt to keep France isolated.'?
The Germans, sensitive about their relations with France, thought that
the possibility of a commercial arrangement between the Community and
the applicant countries, hinted at in de Gaulle’s press conference of 27
November 1967, should first be explored. Notwithstanding this check to
their hopes, the British appeared to be prepared to go ahead with consul-
tations on a four/four basis. Their initiative, however, was further blunted
by a decision on the part of the Benelux countries to put forward proposals
of their own that superseded the British plans.

Ireland - sitting on the fence

The Irish government refrained from adopting as adventurous a policy as the
British after the Council’s December meeting. Policy was reformulated based
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on reports emanating from its embassies in the member states, and the deci-
sion was taken to ‘wait and see’ without making any rash decisions about
the Irish application. Reports to Dublin revealed that the British negotiating
team had been dismantled, and it was made quite clear that London would
make no further approach for membership during de Gaulle’s presidency.'*
Policy-makers in Dublin explored options that were closely linked to the eco-
nomics of membership. The first of these was whether to abandon the idea
of a trade link with the six. The second was to look for association following
the Greek model, while the third option was to explore the possibility of
an interim link with the Community. They ruled out the first option; sim-
ply abandoning the hope of attaining membership was out of the question.
When faced with the reality of being tied to the apron-strings of Britain or
the purse-strings of Europe, Dublin had become firmly of the opinion that
Brussels had the greatest appeal. However, in the short term, any decisions
that Irish policy-makers took had to reflect the reality of Ireland’s economic
relationship with Britain. It is in this context that the second option was
scrutinised. The economic ties between Ireland and Britain were, on the
one hand, extremely important for Irish exports, but, on the other hand,
a weakness in terms of a possible associate link with the EEC. Acceptance
of the Community’s CET was a precondition for countries contemplating
associate membership under Article 238 of the Treaty of Rome. Applying
the CET would have had significant implications for the Anglo-Irish trade
agreements, the last of which had been signed as recently as 1965. Dublin
could not have a free trade agreement with Britain while enjoying the high
prices guaranteed for its farmers under the CAP. In the short to medium
term, at least, policy-makers realised that Ireland had more to lose than to
gain from associate membership that excluded Britain. This, in effect, ruled
out the second policy option under review, unless, of course, the British
too were to go down the association route. The third idea, that of some
type of interim link with the EEC, was first mooted by de Gaulle during
a meeting with Lynch in November 1967, although the terms of such an
agreement were not discussed at that time. It should be recalled that, at
numerous meetings between Irish and Commission officials between 1963
and 1967, Hallstein, Rey, and others went to great lengths to emphasise that
the Community could not offer preferential treatment to any third country
outside the framework of the GATT negotiations. This was despite the fact
that Germany had a long-standing trade arrangement with the Danes.

The outcome of these policy deliberations was the decision to probe the
French further on de Gaulle’s quasi-offer of an economic link with the six.
Ireland was prepared to offer tariff concessions on products of interest to
the Community in return for levy reductions on agricultural products and
some industrial tariff concessions. Policy-makers stressed that any arrange-
ment had to be consistent with Ireland’s international trading objectives
(otherwise known as the Anglo-Irish Free Trade Area Agreements).’® Hugh
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McCann, Secretary of the Department of External Affairs, went to Paris on
26 January 1968 seeking clarification on de Gaulle’s offer. McCann impressed
upon Hervé Alphand, Secretary General of the French Foreign Ministry,
Ireland’s disappointment at the failure to reach agreement on the opening of
negotiations with the applicant countries.'® He stressed that Ireland’s plan-
ning and development were being made more difficult by the uncertainty
surrounding its relations with the Community. In addition, he emphasised
that Ireland faced the prospect of a serious deterioration in its trading bal-
ance with the EEC as a whole and with each of the individual member
countries, with the possible exception of France. Alphand acknowledged
that he was aware of de Gaulle’s November offer. France was sympathetic
to, and perfectly au fait with, the Irish position; Irish officials had been mak-
ing the same economic case since the early 1960s. Referring to the interim
link, Alphand added that the British had indicated on many occasions, and
again recently through Patrick Reilly, British ambassador to France, that they
were not prepared to consider any form of interim arrangement. It was pri-
marily because Britain had rejected that idea that France had not given any
further serious consideration to the form or content an interim arrangement
might have. They believed that it would have been a complete waste of time
to do so when London had completely ruled it out. This was further confir-
mation of a recurrent tendency among the six to view the Irish (and Danish)
bid as somehow subordinate to the main issue, which was British member-
ship. Even if there were to be an offer made to Ireland of the type of link
de Gaulle had in mind, Alphand could not see how this would be possible
without clashing with Ireland’s free trade relationship with Britain. Apart
from the basic facts of that relationship, there was also the legal problem of
the GATT. In order for an interim arrangement to be compatible with Article
24 of GATT, which covered territorial applications, frontier tariffs, customs
unions, and free trade areas, any such arrangements would have to have
resulted in a free trade area or customs union. It was clear that, in order
for an interim trade link to work between Ireland and the Community, the
former would have to readjust its economic policy position with respect to
Britain. This was unlikely to happen.

Alphand’s meeting with McCann revealed that an economic link to the
Community was based on the assumption that Britain would follow suit.
Whether this was in fact the case must be open to question. Alphand was not
the first French official left trying to explain away a comment by de Gaulle
which either had not been fully thought through or had been mischievously
intended. One can see the General’s original offer as being part of a high
political game, insofar as the French President made the offer to London
realising that Wilson would never accept anything less than full member-
ship. Unfortunately, the Irish government naively assumed that de Gaulle’s
offer was genuine. Even if one believes that there was substance to it and that
de Gaulle had a desire to see Ireland gain a link with the Community, he was
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clearly aware of the long-standing economic relationship between Ireland
and Britain, and, therefore, he knew of the difficulties such an arrangement
would pose for economic policy-makers in Dublin. Five months later, dur-
ing a conversation with Sean Morrissey, Ireland’s ambassador to the EEC,
Boegner made it clear that, in any talks between the Community and Britain
or the Community and Ireland, Ireland’s economic position in the British
market would certainly be taken into consideration.!” This was further evi-
dence that there was no agreed French position on the matter. The General’s
comments had been another one of his boutades, verbal hand grenades
thrown for political effect. French officials were hence left scurrying about
trying to clear up the mess afterwards.

Not content with the French reply, McCann headed to Brussels to meet
with Rey for a tour d’horizon. The Secretary of External Affairs reiterated
that Ireland was faced with a serious deterioration in its export trade with
the individual members of the Community and with the Community as a
whole. The current trade deficit by the end of 1967 stood at IR£24 million.'®
More worrying for the Irish government, he added, was its trade balance
with Germany, which in the previous three years had dropped from a sur-
plus of approximately IR£12 million in 1965 to just over IR£9 million in
1966, and to IR£5.7 million for the first ten months of 1967." He stressed
that Ireland would participate in any move ‘which would be constructive
towards achieving the joint ambition of Britain and ourselves of becoming
full members of the Community’.?° Rey was confident that the outcome of
the December Council meeting was not a final solution to the enlargement
question. Indeed, he pointed out that no final decision had been taken by
the Community, and it was impossible to let matters rest there. Displaying
his usual optimism, Rey believed a compromise would be sought within the
first six months of 1968, and emphasised that matters would develop simi-
larly to the way they had done after the breakdown in 1963, with a package
deal being worked out to allow progress both internally and externally in
Community affairs. While this might have been the case for the internal
development of the Community after 1963, few effective steps had been
devised after the first veto to maintain good relations between the Com-
munity and the applicants. It was, therefore, again unclear what Rey had
in mind. When questioned about the possibility of an interim trade deal
between Ireland and the Community, Rey, like Alphand, said that this issue
had been explored before and it had not been possible to arrive at positive
results. Any solution had to be multilateral rather than bilateral. He advised
against any hasty action, and felt it was much better for Ireland to wait at
least a month, or preferably two, to see how the situation evolved generally
and to allow tempers to cool. While Rey did not discourage Ireland from
pursuing a trade agreement with the Community, he hinted that it was best
not to seek one in the immediate future. This advice was significant, com-
ing as it did from the Commission President and following on the heels of
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Alphand’s negative comments on the interim link. Indeed, it would appear
from the Irish archival records that policy-makers in Dublin resisted probing
the six any further in the short term, based largely on Rey’s advice. Even
though the Irish, unlike the British, accepted Rey’s position, on both occa-
sions he failed to spell out either the type of bridge-building initiatives that
would resolve the current difficulties or where such initiatives would come
from. What was clear from Rey’s discussions with the British and Irish gov-
ernments after the veto was that the Commission had no immediate plans
to influence the enlargement crisis.

Building bridges, 1968

In January 1968, the post-mortem on the December Council meeting moved
to the European Parliament.?! Rey argued against the creation of new
alliances, stating: ‘Our Commission is only at the service of the Commu-
nity, and we therefore do not intend to get involved in movements between
five and one, five and two, five and four, or five and nine’.?? In an attempt to
pre-empt moves by the six and Britain to present their own plans, the Com-
mission pushed for a general agreement to be reached by the six and the
applicants, which would be divided into two sections. The first would deal
with Community problems and policies. The second section would focus on
the enlargement question. If this was meant to be the Commission’s plan,
it was very short on substance. It was a weak attempt to ensure that the
Commission would not be sidelined by agreements concluded between the
five and Britain within the framework of the WEU, or between the five and
the applicants under another institution, such as the Council of Europe, in
which all the applicants were members. However, the Commission’s con-
cerns went deeper than this. For, were the British plans to work, which was
unlikely, the Commission would find itself and the rest of the Community
framework excluded from all the existing new areas of cooperation within
Europe and confined instead to the old policy agenda of the CAP and the
customs union. This would be fatal to its longer-term ambitions.

The Commission’s fears were partially realised when the Benelux countries
issued a plan for closer cooperation between the Community and the four
applicants. The memorandum, launched on 19 January, covered three key
objectives: (i) to pursue the activities for the construction of Europe, includ-
ing further development and expansion of the Communities; (ii) to respect
the letter and spirit of the Rome Treaty; and (iii) to forge closer ties between
the member states and the applicant countries.?® The memorandum put
forward rather tentative proposals for consultation and cooperation in the
economic sphere. It stressed the intention of the Benelux countries to con-
tinue their active support of the Communities, but expressed the hope that
the existing differences between the six and the applicants would not widen.
In some cases, consultations could lead to agreements embracing applicant
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countries.?* In those areas not covered by the European treaties, there was a
possibility of progress from consultation to common action in the areas of
weapons production and procurement, technological and scientific projects,
and aid to developing countries. The Benelux countries were keen to see a
new, intensified form of cooperation in the sphere of foreign policy. Their
proposals differed from the British initiative insofar as they embraced action
both inside and outside the area of Community responsibilities. Progress
on matters affecting the Community as a whole clearly could not be made
without French goodwill. If, as appeared likely, that goodwill was not forth-
coming, the effective content of the Benelux proposals would be reduced to
consultations between the five and the four applicants on matters which lay
outside the competence of the Communities. This was a major problem for
the Commission, with an ever-greater risk of being excluded.

The Commission gave the Benelux plan a guarded welcome. It was deter-
mined to maintain close contacts with the applicants, and, therefore, the
Benelux memorandum ‘was a good basis for this’.*> However, during his
first visit to Washington as Commission President in February 1968, Rey
repeated several times his opposition to the development of a technolog-
ical policy outside the Community’s framework. The Benelux proposals
were acceptable provided the measures and activities proposed would be
coordinated by the Community’s institutions. The British promptly wel-
comed the Benelux proposals.?® In a meeting with Taoiseach Jack Lynch
on 14 February, Wilson reiterated his opposition to the idea of a free trade
area with the six; he said to pursue it would be to enter into a blind alley.?”
Ireland also gave a favourable response to the Benelux plan, although from
Dublin’s point of view a major defect in the proposals was the absence of
any move towards more advantageous trading relations between the EEC
and the applicant countries.? Politically, Lynch did not support the idea of
a ‘bloc anti-frangais’, and instead argued for a six-plus-four solution to the
enlargement question.?

The Benelux Plan was put in cold storage until after the Franco-German
summit between de Gaulle and Kurt Kiesinger, German Chancellor, in Febru-
ary. While no one was predicting that this meeting would result in a
positive change in the enlargement question, its outcome nevertheless was
monitored closely. The communiqué issued after the meeting stated:

Pending the realisation of this enlargement [of the Community] the two
Governments are prepared to envisage concluding with the applicants
arrangements of such a kind as to develop between them trade in indus-
trial and agricultural products. Such arrangements, which for industrial
products would mean gradual reductions in obstacles to trade, would be
of such a kind as to facilitate the evolution [of British policy] which has
already been stated, and, in any case, would contribute to developing
relations with European countries.*
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The Franco-German declaration promised to devote more effort to com-
pleting and developing the Common Market, developing trade between the
six and the applicants in industrial and agricultural products, progressively
lowering the barriers to trade, and maintaining an independent Europe
organised and active in maintaining world equilibrium. What was on offer
was ‘un peu de commerce, et c’est tout’.>! The declaration was widely inter-
preted as representing a capitulation by the German government, because it
contained no reference to an institutional link between the applicant coun-
tries and the Community and their cooperation in various fields. Indeed,
the Economist argued that de Gaulle had ‘undoubtedly succeeded in widen-
ing the rift that already existed between Bonn and London’.?> The British
reaction was predictably hostile. The Guardian accused Germany of ‘servility
before de Gaulle’ and of publicly committing itself to the General’s ‘nar-
row attitude to enlargement and specifically to the admission of Britain’.®?
The Germans, on the contrary, argued that the declaration was a major con-
cession by France because it forced the French to spell out what de Gaulle
had meant by the ‘arrangement’ offered to the British and the other appli-
cants at his November 1967 press conference.?* However, Kiesinger had little
room for manoeuvre. While France and Germany disagreed on some issues,
such as international monetary and financial policy, Germany especially did
not wish to risk its ‘special relationship’ with Paris for the sake of bring-
ing Britain into the Community. However, for Germany, it was not simply
about the Franco-German entente; it was also about preserving the Commu-
nity. Pressing the French too hard could have meant destroying the EEC, and
then Britain would have entered a community with a significantly altered
character.

Despite calls on the six and the British to work within the Community
framework, Rey and the Commission did very little to influence events.
Instead, the British and the six were taking the initiative and dictating the
course of events. Hans von der Groeben, Commissioner for the Internal Mar-
ket, wrote to Rey on the same day that Kiesinger was meeting de Gaulle,
arguing for more action by the Commission on the enlargement question.
The changing nature of the political situation called for urgent measures
‘nécessaires a la poursuite du développement de la Communauté’.>> Conscious of
the mood prevailing in the capitals of the six, he stressed:

Ce ne sont pas seulement le prestige politique et le role futur de la Commission,
mais aussi ’existence de la Communauté qui sont en jeu, si la politique future
d’intégration n’est pas définie a bref délai. Aujourd’hui déja, I’opinion publique
et notamment la jeunesse ne comprennent pas pourquoi la Commission garde le
silence.>

Von der Groeben was the first member of the Commission to question the
institution’s approach to the French veto. Yet, it would be a further two
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months before the Commission produced its own memorandum on the
bridge-building initiatives put forward by the six, and only then because
it was asked to do so by the member states. It was clear from the Commis-
sioner’s letter that the perception among some in the Commission was that
Rey had to do more to influence the direction of the six on the enlarge-
ment question before it was too late. The lack of a clear Commission plan
to steer the Community out of the crisis was further evident in a position
paper drawn up by officials in Martino’s office prior to the Council meet-
ing on 29 February. The two issues likely to dominate this meeting were
the Benelux and Franco-German plans. Commission officials argued that it
was not a question of the Commission accepting either one of the propos-
als. Instead, the Commission had to call the member states’ attention to:
‘les avantages et les inconvénients que pourraient présenter les différent aspects
des ces deux projets du point de vue du développement de la Communauté des
Six et de ses possibilités ultérieures d’élargissement’.’” The Commission’s Exter-
nal Relations Directorate also argued against the Franco-German idea of an
agricultural trade agreement between the Community and the applicants.*®
Despite Rey’s early optimism for a solution within the first six months of
1968, and his warnings to the six and Britain against finding solutions out-
side the Community framework, he and his colleagues did little to influence
the situation. The member states and Britain were in the driving seat, with
each actor wrestling for control of the steering wheel while the Commission
remained a frightened backseat passenger. The Commission contributed to
pouring cold water on the Franco-German ideas for an arrangement. They
did, in other words, have a negative role, even if they lacked a positive one.

The Council meeting on 29 February failed to find a compromise between
the various proposals. To complicate matters further, the Italians had pre-
sented their own plan days earlier. The memorandum, divided into five
sections, (a) reaffirmed the determination of the six to continue the pro-
cess of economic integration in accordance with the letter and spirit of the
Treaties of Rome and Paris; (b) stated that care would be taken not to add to
the obstacles to future membership by the applicant countries; (c) set proce-
dures for the coordination of economic and monetary policies between the
Community and the applicants; (d) proposed a meeting of foreign minis-
ters of the six and the applicant countries to reach common agreement on
the details of more extensive cooperation with a view to achieving the eco-
nomic and political unification of Europe.* The Italian memorandum also
called for consultations between the six and the Commission on the issue of
enlargement, but argued against Community decisions that further widened
the gap between the views of each side. This latter point was something the
British had frequently argued for but that the Commission had cautioned
against. Whitehall stressed in 1961, and made implicit in the Italian plan,
that development of the Community should slow or cease while enlarge-
ment negotiations were in progress. Hallstein, and to a lesser extent his
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successor, believed that the internal development of the Community had
to continue in order to meet Treaty deadlines and to prevent a rollback of
policies in progress.

The Council meeting on 9 March 1968 presented the Community with
another opportunity to deal with the enlargement question. Willy Brandt,
German Foreign Minister, presented yet another plan aimed at bringing the
applicants closer to the Community under an ‘arrangement’. Prior to this
meeting, the Commission was already examining the possibility that the
six would ask for a formal avis on the various proposals on the Council’s
table. Commission officials concluded that, if the six agreed on the solu-
tions proposed by the Franco-German communiqué, ‘le role de la Commission
sera alors de recommander des modalités compatibles avec les intéréts supérieurs
de la Communauté’.*° The Commission found major problems with both the
Franco-German and the proposed Brandt plan. Neither Article 111 nor Arti-
cle 237 of the Treaty of Rome could accommodate them. The only article that
the Commission believed suitable was Article 238, which covered associate
membership. ‘La doctrine de la Commission’ had always been that association
was ‘une étape préparatoire a l’adhésion’.*' The Commission believed that, in
order to realise the intended outcomes, they ought to involve or would have
to involve association. The Commission failed to reach any firm conclu-
sions before the Council meeting, but it did accept that there were areas of
common agreement among the six. Each of the member states, although
nominally in the case of France, as well as the Commission, was broadly
in favour of enlargement. The six also agreed that action was required to
facilitate the accession of the four applicants. However, as Martino stated
on the eve of the Council’s meeting, ‘Il n’y a pas accord en revanche au sujet
de la nature que pourrait revétir cette action’.*> Echoing comments made by
von der Groeben, the Italian Commissioner reiterated that the Commission
had a role to play in finding a solution that was acceptable not just to the
six but ‘pour la Communauté’.** He was also conscious of the opposition in
the Council to the suggestion that the six should seek an opinion from the
Commission. Nevertheless, he decided that it was better to push the six to
agree to a formal avis, as this would provide the Commission with a greater
influence over the enlargement debate.

The Council meeting on 9 March served to highlight the divergences of
opinion among the six on how best to deal with the applicants. The only
item on the Council’s agenda was Brandt’s paper, the central focus of which,
an ‘arrangement’ between the Community and the applicants, received a
curt rejection from Germany’s EEC partners.** This ‘arrangement’ would take
the form of commercial, consultative, or technological cooperation. Of all
the applicants, Britain was not in favour of an arrangement that was not
linked to membership; anything less would simply be a form of association.
The only positive outcome from the Council meeting was the request by the
six for the Commission’s opinion on the various plans. The member states
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had, in other words, turned to the Commission in the hope that it might
be able to break the impasse. Attention now focused on the Commission
and the next meeting of the Council in April, but there was little sense of
optimism. France was against any arrangement that sought to link the appli-
cants, especially Britain, to membership. As Couve pointed out, France had
vetoed the opening of enlargement negotiations, a fact the five chose to
ignore.* Given the Commission’s role in the enlargement debate since the
December veto, it remained to be seen what ideas they would put forward
that would win the backing of the six as well as being acceptable to the four
applicants.

The Commission finds its voice

The Commission devoted most of March to an examination of the Benelux,
Italian, Franco-German, and German plans as it prepared its avis for the
Council. A high-level committee was established to coordinate this work,
including Fritz Hellwig as chair, Raymond Barre, Edoardo Martino, Jean-
Francois Deniau, Albert Coppé, Hans von der Groeben, and Guido Colonna
di Palianno. A great deal of the preparatory work was done by Martino and
his officials in the External Relations Directorate. The Commission’s 1967
avis heavily influenced their thinking. In a memorandum to his colleagues
on 24 March, Martino argued that any discussions between the Commu-
nity and the four applicants had to be seen in the context of eventual
membership.* This became their guiding philosophy; it was a position in
keeping with the 1967 avis, which had been largely supportive of Commu-
nity enlargement. At a meeting with Sedn Morrissey, Ireland’s ambassador to
the EEC, two days before the Council considered the avis, Hellwig acknowl-
edged that the issues weighing on the enlargement question were very
different from those existing when the Community was first formed.*
The new avis had to be seen within the perspective of eventual member-
ship. However, he was not optimistic about the outcome of the Council
meeting on 5 April, highlighting France’s continued objections to enlarge-
ment. Moreover, he readily admitted the difficulty of expecting Britain to
take major steps of adaptation without any assurances of eventual entry.*
The Commissioner’s comments reflected the difficulty, not just in the Coun-
cil but also in the Commission, of attempting to frame an agreement that
offered something to everyone.

The Commission’s opinion, presented to the Council on 2 April 1968
and discussed three days later in Luxembourg, consisted of a memoran-
dum directed towards securing accord on the general lines of an agreement
and three annexes dealing with (i) the problems raised by the establish-
ment of a preferential trading system; (ii) procedures for consultation and
rapprochement; and (iii) cooperation in science and technology.* The avis,
after setting out the broad aims of the various proposals put forward by
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the member states and listing the various fundamental points on which
the six did not appear to be in disagreement, concluded: ‘there is a com-
mon tendency within the Council favouring an arrangement designed to
prepare and assist the eventual accession of the interested States’.>* The pro-
posals for consultation and rapprochement contained in the second annexe to
the Commission’s avis proposed contacts between the Commission and the
applicant countries aimed at defining the economic, administrative, and leg-
islative situation and exchanging views on the proposed direction of policy.
The third annexe contained proposals for collaboration in the scientific and
technological fields. It suggested that action could take the form of partici-
pation, particularly with Britain, in specific projects or programmes. Wider
cooperation could be organised within the framework of an agreement hold-
ing out the prospect of membership, which would have as its objective the
progressive alignment of policies on scientific and technological develop-
ment. The Commission was careful to emphasise that, because of the link
between research, technological development, industrial production, and
marketing, they could not accept a plan that would lead to the establish-
ment of a distinction between matters covered directly by the Treaties of
Rome and issues which were not directly covered, or which only touched
upon the treaties. Nor was the Commission in favour of the creation of a
Technological Community, since this would involve a troublesome institu-
tional separation between the general economic policy of the six and the
technological policy of a larger group. It was clear that the Commission was
trying to ensure that, if the member states, especially the five, were deter-
mined to bring Britain closer to the Community, any new form of contact
had to reflect the on-going work of the Community. The avis aimed to adopt
the best elements of the various proposals from the six to provide a basis for
the dual aims of enlargement and the internal development of the Commu-
nity. The Brussels institution had considerable reservations about attempts
to achieve an interim arrangement that was neither a real preparation for
membership nor an effective contribution to the strengthening of the Com-
munity. In conclusion, it represented a compromise by the Commission and
a minimum line of action.

The outcome of the April Council meeting was wholly negative. It began
with speeches from Rey and Martino, who introduced the avis. Both
emphasised that any arrangement with the applicants had to be linked to
membership. While the five supported this view, the French remained as
intransigent as ever. Dominating the meeting as chair, Couve de Murville
claimed that the proposals went far beyond the kind of arrangement envis-
aged in the de Gaulle-Kiesinger talks of 15 February. He argued that, if
the avis was accepted, it would have the effect of opening pre-membership
negotiations.>! France was totally opposed to any link, even if shorn of all
automaticity, between an interim arrangement and eventual membership.
There could be no question of setting any arrangement ‘in the perspective
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of membership’, the controversial phrase that appeared a number of times
in the Commission’s report.’? France was also unwilling to concede any-
thing more than limited tariff cuts — by limited the French are understood
to have meant cuts of the order of 10 to 12 per cent — supplemented by
undertakings that Britain would buy agricultural produce from the Com-
munity. It was also opposed to the Commission’s proposals for contact
procedures and consultations. Contact procedures would be useless if they
were confined to exchanges of information, and would be unacceptable if
they constituted an intrusion into Community affairs. In the technological
field, France was not prepared to concede more than concrete cooperation
on specific projects; that is, no more than what it was already doing with
the British in projects such as Concorde. The avis presented the French gov-
ernment with another opportunity to outline its opposition to enlargement.
This time Couve directed his annoyance at the Commission. Arguably, the
French might have expected the Commission to adopt a similar line to the
one being put forward by Couve. After all, the French Foreign Minister was
advocating a very loose arrangement that would in no way impinge on
the work of the Community. Therefore, he was in many ways acting as an
unlikely guardian of the EEC. However, what Paris failed to appreciate was
that opinion in the Commission had moved from opposition to enlargement
towards an open acceptance of new members.

In the face of the inflexible position adopted by the French, the Council,
in an effort to keep the issue alive, instructed COREPER to continue discus-
sions based on the debate that had taken place and the Commission’s report.
In the minutes of the Council meeting, the six could only record their dis-
agreement on the question of an interim arrangement pending discussion
on the membership question. The meeting was notable for the absence of
the Italian and German Foreign Ministers. It seems that Brandt, along with
Karl Schiller and Rolf Lahr, no doubt in the interests of Franco-German har-
mony, had preferred not to be present, and the German delegation was led
instead by Georg Duckwitz, German State Secretary. Was it possible to expect
the permanent representatives to be able to find a solution that had eluded
the Council and the Commission? Some in the Commission did not think
so. Martino told the Irish ambassador that the Committee would have to
come up with new plans and move away from proposals already on the
Council table that linked cooperation with membership if the solution was
to be acceptable to the French.** He believed that COREPER would provide
no new solution to the impasse in the Council. Axel Herbst, Director-General
of External Relations in the Commission, was equally pessimistic.>* After all,
the Committee was in effect the Council operating at a lower level, and
it was perhaps too optimistic to hope that the inflexible attitude adopted
in the Council by the French could disappear in the Committee’s delib-
erations. The Commission’s avis, described as ‘prudent mais raisonnable’,
attempted to make a positive move towards enlargement.> According to
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Martino, the Commission did not contemplate immediate results from its
memorandum - in the sense of the applicant countries becoming mem-
bers of the Community at an early date — but a general forward movement
would have been achieved if their ‘opinion’ had been accepted.*® The Italian
Commissioner, in conversation with Morrissey, added that it was eventually
the intention of the Commission that the arrangements proposed by them
should be in the nature of a preparation for full membership, and that the
necessary legislative and other steps could be taken in the interval before
membership became acceptable. The Commission’s avis was always going to
face problems in the Council due to the rigid position adopted by the French
government. However, it was not just the French position that caused con-
cerns for the Commission; British policy was designed to isolate the French
among their EEC partners, and this led to further divisions in the Council.
By April 1968, it was difficult to see how the Community would be able to
move beyond this crisis when proposals by each of the Community actors
had been rejected. The Commission’s report failed to unite the six.

Britain did not welcome the Commission’s avis, and secretly hoped that
the five would reject the document. One could easily criticise the British
attitude of ‘all or nothing’, which in the early stages of its relations with the
Community seemed to exclude any formal link with the six that would be
less than membership. However, at the beginning of 1968, there were signs
of a slightly more flexible attitude, in that acceptance of an interim arrange-
ment with the Community that would carry with it a guarantee of eventual
membership was not ruled out. A crucial question was how such a guaran-
tee would be framed, but this was of academic importance so long as the
French refused to be a party to any commitment that linked an ‘arrange-
ment’ with membership. Indeed, the British archival material suggests that
officials in London would have been glad if the idea of an interim commer-
cial agreement was dropped, preferring instead to concentrate on interim
arrangements along the lines envisaged in the Benelux proposals.>” The sit-
uation remained unchanged in May. Both the Irish and British governments
probed members of COREPER to discover how they would approach the
enlargement question. Boegner simply reiterated France’s basic objections
to many of the existing plans during a meeting with the Irish ambassador in
Brussels.>® There were three principal difficulties. The first was the issue that
the agreements should be within the context of membership, a key feature
of the Commission’s plan. The second concerned the proposal for consulta-
tions with the applicant countries. France saw no reason for them. The third
difficulty related to proposals for development on technology, but France
did not support suggestions for a conference to embrace the applicant coun-
tries on this topic. Equally, Boegner saw no reason why separate contacts
could not be made between the Community and other countries, not nec-
essarily confined to the applicants. He quoted as examples of such contacts
and cooperation the Concorde and Jaguar projects.
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Officials in Whitehall wanted to know from the British mission in Brussels
when ‘the crunch’ would come on Community enlargement. The Foreign
Office instructed Fredrick Jackson, one of its officials in Brussels, to con-
tact Rey and members of COREPER to find out what they had planned for
after the summer recess. Jackson'’s report to London read like a comedy of
errors. ‘All see dark days ahead’, was how Jackson opened his report.>® From
his informal talks with Community officials, all seemed to think that, if
anything, French opposition to enlargement was being expressed ‘more bla-
tantly’ than earlier in the year, but, unfortunately for the four applicants,
this did not translate into ‘increased utility on the part of the Five’.® In fact,
it was having the opposite effect. Jackson concluded that the five were not
united, nor, as a Luxembourg source pointed out, were they ‘credible’.! The
Germans believed that the mood would deteriorate further in the autumn
of 1968, while the Italians were uncertain which ideas they would press
in the Council to lift the deadlock. The Dutch, among Britain’s staunch-
est allies in the Community, informed Jackson that they would carry on
with their ‘guerrilla’ warfare, but The Hague was under no illusion as to the
effectiveness, as a means of pressure on the French, of holding up Com-
munity action on such matters as company law and patents.®? Similarly,
the British believed that the five would not use the renegotiation of the
Yaoundé Accord (association agreement with former overseas territories) as
a stick to beat the French. The five generally held the view that it would not
be practical politics to attempt ‘to punish the Africans in order to punish
the French’.® On the question of agricultural finance, none of the British
contacts in COREPER were willing to consider that this question and British
membership could or should be linked together so closely that unless the
Community were enlarged there could not be an agricultural settlement.
Moreover, the five were unwilling to run the risk of a new battle with the
French over this issue. The end of December 1969 marked not just the end
of the transition period but also the time when the CAP’s finance regula-
tions, agreed with such difficulty in 1965, were due to expire.®* One of the
main concerns of the French government was that the deadline would pass
and no new agreement would be reached because of the impasse in Brussels.
However, while some in Whitehall might have hoped that the renegotiation
of the CAP financing could be used as a tool to get the French to address
the enlargement question, none of the five were prepared to risk disintegra-
tion of the Community over the question of its enlargement, which they
believed would be the result if the issue was linked to the finance question.
Indeed, all were concerned, and this included the Dutch, that in agricul-
tural finance there was an important national interest, not only financial
but political; hence the deliberate reluctance of the five to use this issue as a
lever to shift the French even a little closer towards enlargement. While the
five were cautious in their approach to future Community decisions, Jackson
advised the Foreign Office that it was in Britain’s interests for the agricultural
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finance question to be linked with Britain’s membership of the Community.
Jackson'’s thinking was clear: if the Community pressed ahead and agreed a
formula for financing the CAP without taking into account British interests,
then Britain’s present policy would suffer a severe blow. The budgetary issue
itself was of vital importance to Britain’s whole approach. After all, one of
the key hopes behind the 1967 application had been that Britain might be
inside the Community in time for the renegotiation of the financial regu-
lation. If it were not, there was a very high danger that it would find itself
footing a huge bill - and one that some, including Wilson, might not have
been ready to pay.

Despite the difficulty in securing a special trade arrangement from the
Community, policy-makers in Dublin nevertheless kept the policy alive.
One could argue that Ireland (with, perhaps, Denmark and Germany) was
alone in attempting to boost trade with the six during a period of increas-
ing political uncertainty both within the Community and between the EEC
and the applicant countries. It was in this climate that Dublin increasingly
tried to forge a trade deal with the Commission and the six during the lat-
ter half of 1968. At a meeting with the German Foreign Office on 4 July
1968, Eamonn Kennedy, Ireland’s ambassador to West Germany, stressed
the continual decline in Irish cattle and beef exports to the German mar-
ket as well as the discriminatory nature of German trade with non-applicant
countries.®® In one of the most heated exchanges between the German and
Irish sides over the issue of trade, Kennedy put significant pressure on the
German delegation for some commitments on the export question. Graf von
Hardenberg, a German official, told the Irish delegation that Denmark had
already made an approach to the Commission in Brussels for a 1968 off-the-
grass season concession. Germany had not taken any action in support of
this application, and their view was that it would fail. Kennedy took little
comfort from this and asked whether Dublin could assume that, if Germany
made an approach to the Commission on behalf of Denmark, a similar
approach would be made on behalf of Ireland. Von Hardenberg replied that
this would only be possible if Ireland’s application had an equal prospect of
success, adding that the linking of the applications would result in failure
for both of them, while if the applications were kept separate ‘at least one of
them might succeed’.®® Kennedy pointed out that in 1967 the Danish con-
cession had been granted well before the Irish request to the Council had
been made. What policy-makers in Dublin wanted was for Denmark and
Ireland to be placed on an equal footing and for the two requests to be han-
dled together. The Irish delegation continued to insist on proportionately
equal treatment, and von Hardenberg agreed to contact Hermann Hocherl,
German Agriculture Minister, for further instructions. On his return, von
Hardenberg informed the Irish side that it was not Hocherl’s intention to
raise in Brussels the off-the-grass season concession for either Denmark
or Ireland, but that his [the Minister’s] attitude could change. Later that
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evening, at a reception at the US Embassy in Bonn, Hocherl approached
Kennedy and protested in ‘heated terms at the pressure his Ministry and he
himself was receiving from the Irish delegation on the cattle question’.®’
He told the Irish ambassador that such ‘tactics’ would erode the good-
will his ministry felt for the Irish case. However, just two weeks later, on
12 July, the Germans raised the Danish question at the Council meeting,
but made no mention of Ireland’s demands for an increase in its exports to
the German market.® The Commission argued against the German inter-
vention. Mansholt told the Germans that the autonomous step that they
were preparing to take would be in violation of Community provisions,
and that a legal basis for these measures would have to be found.® The
matter was then referred by the Council to the special agriculture commit-
tee for a meeting on 17 July. In the interim, Irish officials discovered from
Ekkehard Pabsch, German agricultural attaché in Brussels, that a completely
new line was being adopted towards the German proposal for Denmark,
relying on Article 33 of Regulation 805/68 (which dealt with transitional
measures in the single market stage).”” Meanwhile, Helmut von Verschuer
of the Commission gave Morrissey the impression that the Commission
had no intention of permitting the 1967 German-Danish agreement to be
renewed.”! The special agriculture committee meeting concluded that Reg-
ulation 805/68 could be used as a pretext to renew the trade concession.
Under this Regulation, if the Danish concession was agreed, the Germans
would be authorised to take intervention measures on third country cattle in
the off-the-grass season of 1968. The purpose would be to supply the Berlin
strategic stock, and the country of origin would be left to the choice of the
Germans. However, it was by no means certain that the concessions would
go through; the Italians were strongly opposed, though not because Ireland
might be excluded. The matter was discussed again at the Council meeting
on 22 July, when they referred to the Commission ‘problems arising from
the import to Germany of cattle from Denmark’.”?> Treland was mentioned
twice at the Council meeting, in two different contexts, once to the effect
that the procedure being adopted should not be taken as a precedent for
other third countries (Ireland and Yugoslavia); however, the Italians empha-
sised that this decision would create difficulties for Ireland and Yugoslavia.
Nevertheless, Mansholt capitulated and agreed to the Danish concession for
1968.73

While this episode highlighted that, to a certain degree, normal, mun-
dane Community business was progressing despite the dark cloud hanging
over the enlargement question, it also revealed how powerless Ireland was
to influence either the Council or the Commission, and the limited influ-
ence of the Commission to prevent a bilateral trade deal that fell outside
the scope of the acquis. Denmark’s close relations with Germany played a
significant role in forcing this deal through the Council. Not only was Com-
munity membership blocked by France, but Germany’s lack of empathy for
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Ireland’s farmers meant that exports to the Community would not change
for the remainder of 1968. Arguably, the Commission could only be blamed
for its consistent line that one exception did not justify another.

While Dublin was fighting its corner against the Germans and the Com-
mission over trade, Britain was seeking closer relations with Rey and his
colleagues. Policy-makers in London believed that its defunct application
could benefit from closer consultations on a number of subjects that were
then being discussed by the Commission.”* James Marjoribanks met Guido
Colonna, Italian Commissioner, in mid-May 1968 to discuss closer contacts.
Colonna favoured a limited but essentially practical approach by selecting
particular subjects that would provide useful material for discussion, in the
course of which Britain would be able, if not to reverse decisions already
taken, at least to help eliminate future points of difference.” The Com-
missioner outlined a number of issues for cooperation, including industrial
standards and patents, and the harmonisation of customs legislation. While
Marjoribanks welcomed Colonna’s support, he nevertheless believed it ‘most
unlikely that the Commission as a whole would issue a declaration that they
are now establishing particularly close contacts with the applicant states’.”®
He was acutely aware that

we are merely dealing with one friendly member of the Commission who
is himself anxious to avoid any dramatic gestures and rather envisages
a simple multiplication or intensification of the contacts that we have
when Commission experts visit London and vice-versa.”’

The most Colonna’s proposal would lead to was a completely informal
extension of the type of consultation that London already had in coal,
steel, and nuclear energy. Yet, it reflected the Commission’s desire to bring
Britain closer to the Community. Rather than confronting the French head-
on, the Commission would instead resort to piecemeal individual initiatives
by single Commissioners in single policy areas. Marjoribanks'’s refusal to take
Colonna'’s offer seriously was further evidence of Britain’s failure to accept
anything other than an offer that would lead to the opening of enlargement
negotiations. Two months later, Christopher Soames, Britain’s ambassador
to France, held further meetings with the Rey Commission. Rey and Deniau
talked freely on questions of defence and finance as well as on the Commu-
nity’s economic and agricultural policies. It was obvious that the question
of Britain’s application was certainly at the centre of Community thinking,
although Rey drew attention to the successful meeting of the EEC Minis-
ters of Transport on 18 July to demonstrate the continuing development of
the Community despite the crisis over enlargement. On the subject of the
British bid, Rey spoke with ‘his customary (and unconvincing) optimism’.”®
He believed that, as a result of the social unrest that engulfed French in the
summer of 1968, Paris would no longer be able to use the same arguments
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with their EEC partners as heretofore.”” Against this, Barre stressed that it was
part of de Gaulle’s vision that Britain should one day be part of Europe. The
French Commissioner did not exclude the possibility, when questioned, that
the General might decide that the admission of Britain should be the culmi-
nation of his Europe policy.** Barre made two points with some emphasis:
first, the British application in 1967 had been ill-timed because the Com-
munity was not ready; and, second, Britain should ‘not close our minds to
an “arrangement” ’.8! Despite Barre’s comments, Rey dismissed the sugges-
tion of an ‘arrangement’ as having been superseded by events. It was clear
that, while Barre was in favour of the French offer of an ‘arrangement’, Rey
believed that the deadlock in the Council, as well as Britain’s rejection of the
offer, meant that it was no longer a possibility. Barre’s and Rey’s conflicting
views revealed that at the most senior level in the Commission there was
also disagreement on how best to deal with the four applicants. Rey’s opti-
mistic prediction at the beginning of the year that the Community would
find a solution to the enlargement question proved unfounded. Indeed, the
various discussions on the issue between the Community actors and the
applicants revealed that significant tensions were close to the surface.

The year of Euro-optimism, 1969

Despite the impasse in the Council on the enlargement question, the
Community’s other developments were not held back. Quite the contrary.
On 1 July 1968 the customs union, one of the first aims of the Treaty of
Rome, was established, 18 months ahead of the schedule laid down in the
Treaty, which saw customs duties disappear within the Common Market.
On the same date, the separate customs tariffs of the six gave way to a sin-
gle tariff, the external customs tariff of the Community. In addition to this,
the first tariff reductions negotiated in Geneva a year earlier as part of the
Kennedy Round of GATT talks were also implemented.?? All of this involved
the implementation of earlier decisions. These much needed internal Com-
munity developments, Ludlow acknowledges, helped ‘to sustain the spirits
of those involved in the integration process. The European liner [...] con-
tinued to plough forward, even though its propeller had all but stopped
turning’.®® Nevertheless, by September, the enlargement crisis was taking
its toll on the Commission. At a Council meeting on 27 September, where
Brandt put forward another German proposal aimed at ending the dead-
lock, Rey sharply criticised the six for failing to reach agreement on the
position of the four applicants.®* He argued that enlargement and the inter-
nal development of the Community could work simultaneously. Rey said he
regretted that the Council had not adopted the 1967 avis on enlargement.
Even though he spoke openly about the paralysis in the Community, he
did not present any solutions to the Council, but impressed upon the six
the need to find a common agreement. Despite adopting a stronger tone at
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the September meeting than he had done the previous April, on both occa-
sions Rey called for greater efforts by the six at reconciling their differences.
However, on both occasions his calls went largely unheeded.

Members of the Commission sounded a note of dejection at the end of
December. Mansholt was quoted as saying that the idea of a supranational
authority was dead, and that the Commission was ‘growing into a mere
secretariat for the Six’.%> Commissioner Hellwig viewed European integra-
tion as being served up a la carte; whatever was not convenient for one
or other member state was rejected.®® However, Rey remained, perhaps
unsurprisingly, a little more optimistic at the end of 1968. He thought the
occasional crisis in the Community was inevitable, and hoped that by Easter
of 1969 the French would change their policy towards the British once trade
issues had been resolved.®” Rey’s boundless optimism - not shared by his
colleagues, the Council, or the applicants — proved misguided throughout
1968. Yet, he remained confident that a solution would be found in 1969.
It was unclear what this confidence was based on. Indeed, in many ways it
was guesswork. The year 1968 had not been a good year for the Commission.
The numerous calls on the Council to break the deadlock over the enlarge-
ment question had been ignored. At the same time, there were signs among
Rey’s colleagues that the Commission had to do a great deal more to avert
the Community from a prolonged crisis.

Unexpectedly, the year 1969 became the year of Euro-optimism with the
sudden resignation of Charles de Gaulle in April.3® The subsequent elec-
tion of Georges Pompidou as de Gaulle’s successor instilled a new sense
of optimism that France was ready to deal with the enlargement question.
At the Council meeting on 22 July, Maurice Schumann, new French Foreign
Minister, set out France’s policy on enlargement.®* He said that he had fre-
quently been told that France held the key to the development of Europe.
If this were so, he said, it was now the time to explain France’s position.
Paris saw three problems affecting the development of the EEC; the com-
pletion, reinforcement, and enlargement of the Community. Referring to
the latter, he made clear that the single condition that France imposed was
that there should be no weakening of the Community. There were no objec-
tions per se to enlargement, but it was vital that the six agree on a formula
to bring this about. At their first meeting with Schumann in September
1969, British officials recorded that ‘he was clearly out to be friendly and
forthcoming’.?® Despite Schumann’s warm disposition, he made it clear that,
before a date could be fixed for the opening of negotiations, the six would
have to study whether enlargement was compatible with the strengthen-
ing and development of the Community. The French government would
approach the enlargement question constructively and expected that ‘there
would be a positive reply’.”! In conclusion, Schumann reiterated that the
Pompidou government was in favour of Britain’s membership. It was clear
that France had to secure an agricultural deal with the six before enlargement
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negotiations could begin. The Commission was well aware of this obstacle.
Rey knew that the French required a definite agricultural settlement as a pre-
condition to enlargement. This had more to do with a French fear of British
intransigence over the CAP once they became members; De Gaulle had made
a similar link between enlargement and CAP in 1967.°> Therefore, Gaullist
policy had not completely died when its chief protagonist resigned from the
presidency.

Rey reassured the British that, whatever agricultural agreement the six
decided upon later in 1969, such a settlement would be subject to modifica-
tion when negotiations took place with the candidates. Mansholt believed
that Britain’s difficulty in the agricultural field was a balance of payments
one; the heavy cost of the CAP had been created by the six through set-
ting prices too high. The unanimity rule had played a large part in this. He
adopted a slightly a pro-British view of the CAP, and advised British officials
that when enlargement negotiations did begin they should make it clear to
the six that the present CAP would have to change in some respects. Rey
agreed, adding that it was unacceptable for Britain to accept the high prices
for butter and the butter mountain. The British, he believed, could not be
expected to pay for the problems created by the six. It is unclear from their
discussions on the CAP whether Mansholt and Rey were using the British
application as a vehicle to modify and influence certain aspects of that pol-
icy that the Commission did not favour. This attitude certainly added a new
dimension to the Commission’s position on the enlargement question, and
showed just how far it had come since the 1961-1963 negotiations. The
two senior members of the Commission were effectively implying that they
would favour some modification of the Community’s flagship policy.

The timing of the negotiations was also a vital consideration for the
Commission. Rey expected a decision on opening negotiations to be taken
before the end of 1969. First, he wanted a consensus to emerge in the
Council, and agreement on a package deal comprising enlargement and
agricultural finance. This position was closely related to the French posi-
tion; enlargement was possible, but only after the internal development of
the Community was guaranteed. Rey and Mansholt believed it was better to
find agreement within the Council first before negotiations commenced.”?
Finally, Rey referred to the issue of political unity. He advised the British For-
eign Secretary that discussions about political unity should not enter into
the enlargement negotiations. The package deal between the six and the
applicants would become unstable if the issue arose during the negotiations.
It was important for them to ensure that the British did not introduce any
issues into the negotiations that would lead to major difficulties between
them and the six. The Commission was also highlighting its knowledge
of the issues in an effort to impress upon London that it was a vital con-
tact in any negotiations on enlargement. This was a thread running right
through the period covered by this book; the Commission’s attempts to find
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and maximise its influence in the enlargement debate, a new policy field
to extend its remit. The Commission, of course, was also conscious of the
previous attempts by the member states at political union. The enlargement
negotiations would be difficult enough without adding another issue that
had the potential to damage the success of the talks.

The summit of Euro-optimism

At the Council meeting in July 1969, the Commission was asked to update its
1967 ‘Opinion’ on enlargement. The Council’s request was another oppor-
tunity for the Commission to take centre stage in one of the most important
issues affecting the Community. During the months that followed, the Com-
mission clearly realised there was potential, through its avis, to put in place
a plan for the enlargement talks that would ultimately follow. In Britain,
newspapers were debating the possible cost of membership, fuelled in no
small part by a Whitehall review of its likely budgetary contribution.’* The
enlargement question dominated discussions between the Commission and
the permanent representatives at meetings of COREPER prior to the com-
pletion of the avis. On 18 September, COREPER agreed to ‘un échange de
vues approfondi sur les problemes que souléve I’adhésion des pays candidats’ once
the Commission’s avis was prepared.” An ‘inventaire-catalogue’ of the prob-
lems associated with enlargement was expected, while at the same meeting
Boegner used the word ‘mutation’ to describe the likely changes in the
Community as a result of enlargement.”® His colleagues from Germany,
Luxembourg, and Italy were at odds with his assessment, arguing instead
that enlargement was ‘une occasion pour la renforcer’.’” They stressed that
it would only be through negotiations with the applicants that the Com-
munity could judge whether the problems posed by membership could be
solved.

The Commission arrived at a number of important conclusions in its
updated avis. There was unanimous support for negotiations opening imme-
diately with each of the four applicants (including Norway), while it firmly
rejected the idea of a Community of seven, to include the six and Britain.”®
It accepted that further development of the Community, evolving from
being merely a customs union towards becoming an economic union,
was necessary. Enlargement could not prevent this process. The report
advised the four countries to consider their applications in the context of
development, and therefore be prepared to accept not only the Treaty of
Rome and the decisions taken since the Treaty came into force, the acquis
communautaire, but also the general guidelines for future policies agreed by
the six or in preparation in the Community. While the four applicant gov-
ernments understood the Commission’s absolute attachment to the acquis, it
remained to be seen whether they would sign up to policies that had not yet
been formulated or agreed by the Community, although it had also been
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implicit in 1961-1963 that the candidates for membership would accept
the January 1962 CAP deal. The Commission also examined the economic
implications for an enlarged Community. In light of the relatively greater
importance of the British application, the Commission’s observations on
agriculture and economic and monetary problems had a particularly British
focus. The avis stressed that negotiations could not call into question the
essentials of the CAP, while the new members could adapt the agricultural
policy during the transitional period. The Commission insisted that Britain
had to accept the principle of ‘financial solidarity’ between all Community
members. On the economic and monetary issues, the Commission could
be accused of doing a compete U-turn regarding its analysis of the British
economy. Two years after sterling was devalued, the 1969 avis was much
more positive. There was no repeat of the controversial views that sterling
should cease to be a reserve currency before Britain was allowed into the
EEC. The Commission was ‘polite and friendly about Britain’s balance of
payments outlook’.”” It is hard to pinpoint reasons behind the Commis-
sion’s change of attitude on the economic issue. Arguably, the economic and
monetary measures adopted by Roy Jenkins, Chancellor of the Exchequer,
during the previous two years, and his attempts to stabilise the currency, cer-
tainly helped. The Commission’s office in London had throughout 1968 and
1969 sent detailed reports to Brussels on the economic improvements made
under Jenkins. Georges Berthoin, deputy head of the Commission mission
in London, even reported to Rey in the aftermath of Jenkins's first budget
in April 1968: ‘Beaucoup de commentateurs politiques croient sinon esperent voir
M. Jenkins a la téte du Gouvernement dans six mois’.'® In addition, this change
in the Commission’s outlook partly reflected the altered politics of the Com-
munity and of the Commission. It was generally felt, after all, that the critical
economic and monetary section of the 1967 avis had been used as an outlet
for Barre’s more sceptical views towards enlargement.

Perhaps the only new element to emerge for the Commission’s report
was the suggestion about the negotiating procedure. The Commission wrote
that, before negotiations opened, the Council should discuss the 1969 and
1967 ‘Opinions’ in order to lay down the broad lines of the Community’s
negotiating position. The negotiations would be confined to important
problems involving political, economic, and social issues. Matters of sec-
ondary importance would be discussed after the applicants joined. The latter
suggestion was another reversal of the position adopted by the Hallstein
Commission during the 1961-1963 negotiations, which were extremely
technical. This new position was closer to what Jean Monnet and Max
Kohnstamm had argued throughout the first enlargement talks, and again
in 1967; Britain should sign the Treaties of Rome, and deal with matters
of secondary importance after it joined. The negotiating procedure was
of prime importance to the Commission, as it presented the Commission
with an opportunity to influence the outcome of the talks. Moreover, if the
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Commission succeeded in securing a prominent role for itself during the first
enlargement round, a precedent would be created for the second and sub-
sequent rounds. Rey and his colleagues favoured a two-phase approach to
the negotiations, contrary to the model used during the 1961-1963 negoti-
ations. In the first phase, the Commission would act on behalf of the six, as
it had throughout the Kennedy Round of GATT negotiations, under a spe-
cific mandate that would cover all problems relating to the existing common
policies of the Community or those being developed. Once this phase was
completed, and the Commission’s report accepted, then a negotiation on
institutional questions, and on strengthening the Community, would begin,
with the Council taking the lead. Of course, whether the six would give the
Commission this mandate, and whether the applicants would see Rey and
Martino, Commissioner responsible for external relations, as credible nego-
tiating partners, was ‘dubious to say the least’.!®® The plan proposed by the
Commission showed that it had come a long way from the 1961-1963 nego-
tiations. The institution did not wish to be perceived as wrenching control
of the negotiations from the six by acting as the Community’s voice, as it
had sought to do in 1961, a position that was then rejected outright by the
Council. This time however, the Commission attempted to divide the areas
of responsibility with the six, with the Commission dealing with the policy
areas while the Council negotiated on the institutional issues.

There was a predictably mixed reaction in COREPER to the avis when it
was formally discussed on 9 October. Boegner believed that there were still
more pressing questions that remained unanswered, such as the institutional
changes to the Community in the post-enlargement period, as well as the
industrial and agricultural complexities inherent in widening the EEC and
the position of non-candidate countries.'” The thaw may have begun on
the enlargement question, but long-serving officials, such as Boegner, would
not make this process any easier. While also concerned with the institu-
tional changes that would result from enlargement, the consensus was ‘La
Belgique partage la conclusion a laquelle la Commission est arrivée: il faut ouvrir
les négociations dans les meilleurs délais’ > The Dutch issued a very short state-
ment that outlined their support for the avis, and sided with the Belgian
position. Bonn preferred a model similar to the negotiations of 1961-1963,
in which the Council chaired the meetings and the Commission acted as a
source of advice to the Council when required.!* It was clear that, on both
the issue of enlargement as a policy and the procedure to negotiate it, a
number of prejudices remained within the Community.

A great deal of activity took place in COREPER during November on the
enlargement question, regarding which the French placed great emphasis on
continued internal Community development. At a meeting of Council on
10 November 1969, the six had concluded ‘les grandes lignes’ on which the
December meeting of the heads of state and government at The Hague would
be based.!® Adaptation of the Community’s financial regulations, transition
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periods for agriculture and industry, problems relating to the Common-
wealth, adaptation of the EEC institutions for the post-enlargement period,
and the procedure for the negotiations were the five main items that con-
cerned the Council. Even though the Commission’s avis was not openly
critical of the British economy or the position of sterling, the Council
nevertheless believed:

Il est nécessaire d’avoir une discussion approfondie avec le Royaume-Uni au
sujet de sa balance de paiements; du remboursement des dettes anglaises au
cours des prochaines années; des balances Sterling et notamment des accords de
Bdle.0¢

What is important about the pre-summit discussions on enlargement was
the way in which COREPER was actively examining the potential prob-
lems likely to arise during negotiations with the four.!” While the Council’s
negotiating position largely reflected the points raised in the Commission'’s
avis, the Commission’s input during these meetings was often limited. The
differences in opinion were not so great.

Though Pompidou had suggested earlier in the year that the leaders of the
six should meet to discuss the issues affecting the Community, it was the
Dutch government that made the arrangements for the summit. In October,
Joseph Luns, Dutch Foreign Minister, issued Rey with an invitation to
the conference.'® Therefore, Rey alone would represent the Commission.
There was a certain amount of surprise in the Commission at the nature
of the invitation. It was expected that the College of Commissioners would
be represented, along with the six governments. However, the invitation
highlighted where power rested in the Community. It also showed that the
six were determined to play a leading role in the policy-making process on
issues in which each member state had a vital interest. For the Commission,
it reflected the demise of its stature within the Community’s institutional
framework. It seemed to the outside observer that the six and COREPER were
taking a firm lead on the issue, and other related issues, while the invitation
to the Commission appeared as a mere token gesture.

As Dinan makes clear, the meeting at The Hague on 1-2 December 1969
‘promised to be an epochal event in the history of the EC’.'% There was a
widespread belief in the Community that new momentum was needed to
take the Community forward and avoid a major paralysis. The summit had
the effect of injecting renewed enthusiasm for the integration project and
generated considerable public interest. For the four applicants, enlargement
was the principal issue on which they wished the six to reach agreement.!”
Indeed, as Alan Milward points out, Whitehall’s views on the summit were
dominated by the hope that the six would set a date for the eventual mar-
riage between the Community and Britain.!"! The first day of the two-day
summit consisted of opening speeches by the heads of government. Rey was
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not present in the Council chamber during the first day but was allowed
to speak on the second and final day of the meeting. Most commenta-
tors agreed that Brandt, Germany’s new Chancellor, stole the show, while
Pompidou’s speech failed to inspire.''? The conference discussed key Com-
munity issues on the first day, such as enlargement and financial regulation,
issues in which the Commission had more than a passing interest.!'* On the
second day, Rey made clear his annoyance over the way in which the Com-
mission had been relegated to all but a footnote in the two-day discussions,
but overall he ‘seemed to have little impact on the course of discussions at
The Hague’.!* His speech covered many of the issues raised in the avis. He
referred to the problems that had to be resolved before the end of the year or
thereafter, including the financial settlement, own resources, strengthening
of the European Parliament, EURATOM, and the Barre Plan for monetary
integration.!’® On the balance between enlargement and completion, Rey
stressed that, if the Community did everything at once, completion would
be three years ahead of enlargement, because negotiations, the ratification
period, and the formal entry of the candidates would take two or three
years. In the interval, he believed the Community could make substantial
progress in the agricultural structure, monetary and energy fields, and the
social fund, so that the Community would be ‘well structured’ when the
candidates became members.!'® The speech was uneventful, overshadowed
perhaps by the more serious political bargaining between the national lead-
ers. Indeed, Rey’s speech and his presence at the summit failed to engage
fully with the six, though this was hardly the fault of the Commission. The
member states had decided in advance of the meeting that he would play
only a minor role. Events of the previous 12 months had shown that, if the
deadlock in the Council was to be shifted, agreement had to come from the
six. The Commission'’s avis in April did nothing to influence the six beyond
the enlargement crisis. There was little Rey could do but watch, and perhaps
complain as the leaders of the six forged a way ahead.

The applicants were pleased with the outcome of the summit. A British
memorandum claimed that the summit ‘marks no more or no less than the
first small breach in the dyke of French obstruction to both the development
and enlargement of the Community’.!"” First and foremost was the ‘per-
sonality, position and performance’ of Brandt, who ‘has done well for us,
for the Community and (hopefully) for himself’.!"® Second was the weak-
ened position of France following the May 1968 protests, the resignation
of de Gaulle, and the devaluation of the franc in August 1969. British offi-
cials concluded that Pompidou ‘cannot get away with playing a strong hand
with weak cards as General de Gaulle could’.!'” Third was the ‘crucial posi-
tion’ of the Community at the summit that weakened the French position.
Gaullist obstructionism and sabotage of both the development and enlarge-
ment of the Community had ‘exhausted the communal goodwill necessary
to finance continued French obstruction’.!?® In addition, the memorandum
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acknowledged that the stagnation of the Community and the obstruction of
de Gaulle had left Britain with:

a ten year syndrome of being ‘unwanted’ by a Community whose prob-
lems have in recent years been more in the public eye than its achieve-
ments. The image of a not very good club with a high subscription and
expensive meals still persists.'?!

Dublin largely agreed with the British assessment and, in the days immedi-
ately after the summit, pushed for a simultaneous start to negotiations.'??

The outcome of the summit presented the Commission with significant
challenges for the months ahead. Enlargement was almost a certainty, yet
the negotiating position of the Community and the negotiating procedure
were far from clear. These were at least two key areas where the Commission
could play a key role. One of the big shifts in the Commission’s thinking on
the negotiating framework was its desire to avoid getting the talks caught up
in overly technical issues. While guarding the acquis and the Treaty of Rome
was foremost in the minds of those who drafted the Commission’s policy on
enlargement, it was also an important consideration in the Commission that
the negotiations would reach a successful conclusion. However, despite the
Commission’s closer alignment with the positions of the five, Rey and his
colleagues found themselves sidelined by the six. Arguably, the five believed
that the Commission’s partial exclusion from the deliberations of the six
was a small price to pay if it meant that France would move more quickly on
the enlargement issue. It was clear, especially from The Hague meeting, that
the Commission had to take some remedial action to prevent the member
states and COREPER from taking the lead in the enlargement negotiations
and other important areas of Community activity.



6

La Bataille des Chiffres

The Hague summit of December 1969 paved the way for the six to begin the
historic process of Community enlargement. It was believed that negotia-
tions with the applicant governments would commence towards the middle
of 1970. History was in the making. Chapter 6 examines the Commission’s
role during the accession negotiations between London and the Commu-
nity. It explores the negotiating positions and the procedure adopted by the
six in advance of the talks. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to analyse
the Commission’s position on, and influence over, each item on the nego-
tiating table and the outcomes. However, from an analysis of the archival
material, it is clear that the Commission played a role with varying degrees
of influence and success in most of the issues discussed between the sides,
such as dairy exports from New Zealand, Commonwealth sugar, and eco-
nomic and monetary problems. Instead, Chapter 6 isolates one of the major
negotiating issues that affected Britain more than the other applicants —
its contribution to the Community budget — and attempts to extract the
Commission’s role and influence during the discussions that followed.

Setting the scene

The Commission, in close cooperation with COREPER, spent the first half
of 1970 preparing briefs in advance of the enlargement talks. By February,
COREPER had prepared position papers on the transition period for indus-
try and agriculture, and institutional problems such as voting rights, and had
invited the Commission to prepare further reviews on these issues.! By the
end of the month, both the Commission and COREPER had reached a num-
ber of conclusions on how they would approach the question of transition
periods. They agreed on the need for parallelism for agriculture and industry
in the negotiations with the four applicants.? They also concluded an agree-
ment on the need for the accession treaties to enter into force on the same
date. Despite the fact that the Commission and COREPER were working on
separate negotiating briefs on the same issues, the conclusions drawn were
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relatively similar. These early discussions were used not only to set the foun-
dations of the Community’s negotiating position but also to establish clear
lines of influence among the institutional actors. Even before the thorny
question of who would negotiate for the Community was resolved, it was
clear that the permanent representatives would play a significant role in
the policy-making process during the enlargement talks. At its meeting on
4 February, COREPER twice ‘invited’ the Commission to prepare reports on
the transition period for the applicants.? The one issue of prime importance
to the Commission was its role at the forthcoming conference. The 1969 avis
presented the Council with one option, namely, splitting control of the talks
between the Commission and the Council. There was little support for this
idea among the six. In January 1970, the Belgian government put forward its
own proposal, suggesting that the Commission would deal with the negoti-
ations at the deputy and official level on behalf of the Community. This, in
effect, would have handed complete control of the negotiations over to Rey
and his colleagues. However, the other five delegations ruled that it was not
‘opportun de commencer par la discussion de cette question’.* Instead, after much
debate, the six decided to begin their analysis of the enlargement question
with an examination of the transition period with the involvement of both
the Commission and COREPER. The role of the Commission was temporarily
put to one side.

Between January and July 1970, the problem of who would lead the nego-
tiations made occasional appearances on the agenda of Council meetings,
where there was some reluctance on the part of the six to accept the Com-
mission’s proposals. Paul-Henri Spaak suggested ‘une personalité indépendante’
should be appointed to lead the negotiations.’ The former Belgian foreign
minister was clearly thinking back to the role that he himself had played
in the course of the Treaty of Rome negotiations. It was unclear whether
Spaak was thinking that Rey would fill this role. Rey, however, dismissed
the idea outright. He was implicitly hostile to giving a mandate to an inde-
pendent personality.® Arguably, the Commission might have feared that the
creation of a ‘new Spaak committee’ carried with it the implication that this
would create a completely new Community without respecting the acquis.
Certainly, the idea of Rey taking a lead role in the negotiations had merit.’”
He had vast experience in the workings of the Community, having been a
member of the Commission since 1958. Added to this, he was credited with
the successful conclusion to the Kennedy Round of GATT negotiations in
1967, during which the Commission had negotiated on behalf of the Com-
munity in Geneva. However, the Rey Commission’s term of office expired
at the end of June, and there was serious doubt about whether its mandate
would be renewed.

During a visit to London in early 1970, Maurice Schumann, French foreign
minister, seemed in favour of giving the Commission the role of principal
negotiator.® That same month, Rey told Jean Monnet that the Commission
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would not be excluded from the negotiations and that Barre, Mansholt,
and other Commissioners expected to play a lead role.” Rey went so far as
to suggest that the Commission’s term of office be extended beyond June
1970 until after the negotiations ended.'® This was not such a bad idea,
and one that was supported by the Belgians, Dutch, and Italians." Indeed,
during his visit to London in early February, Brandt was reported to have
broadly supported the idea of having ‘La Commission jouer un grand role
dans les négociations’.’ The alternative was to change the Commission as
scheduled, in mid-1970, with the possible risk of disruption to the negoti-
ations. This risk, of course, would be negligible if the Commission’s role at
the enlargement conference was limited. Rey’s optimism was based largely
on his good relations with people like Pompidou, Schumann, and Brandt.
But, if the French had decided to offer their support to the Commission,
it would have been in the belief that the Brussels institution would be a
solid defender of the acquis, less likely to make unnecessary concessions to
the British than some of the member states, rather than because of Rey’s
personal relationship with Pompidou.

Opposition to the Commission came from three corners, the Italians, the
Germans, and especially the Dutch, who did not wish to see the Commission
in such a prominent role. Added to this, Britain was ‘strongly opposed’ to the
Commission’s ideas.'* London’s main objection rested on its belief that the
six would have the final say on entry, and not the Commission. As Con
O’Neill points out: ‘In negotiating with the Commission we should have
been negotiating at one remove from the real source of authority and deci-
sion in the Community’.* Whitehall’s view were made ‘unmistakably clear’
to the six."s London ‘did not want to talk to the monkey if they could deal
with the organ grinders themselves’.’® The British hoped that, by negotiating
directly with the member states, they would secure a better deal. Indeed, the
Dutch and the Italians might also have been worried that the Commission
would be too tough, and thereby postpone or even endanger an enlargement
to which they attached such hopes.

By spring 1970, it was clear that the increasingly influential COREPER was
keen to play a more active role in the negotiations. In addition, whatever
personal hopes Rey had of playing a role in the negotiations suffered a major
setback in April when the six decided against replacing Guido Colonna,
Italian Commissioner, who announced his resignation. This was seen as
a sign that Rey’s mandate would not be renewed for the duration of the
enlargement talks.'” Moreover, at the Council meeting in Luxembourg on
20 April, the six effectively sidelined the Commission’s negotiating plans,
adopting instead a position whereby the member states would negotiate
with the four applicants as one entity, namely, the Community. The Coun-
cil agreed at a meeting on 11-12 May that the six would work out the
common position on all the problems. This position would be set out and
defended either by the President of the Council or, in accordance with
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a Council decision, by the Commission. Moreover, most of the Council
believed that the meetings should be chaired by Council representatives at
all levels of negotiations, ministers, ambassadors, and experts. These Coun-
cil decisions were completely unsatisfactory to the Commission. It would
have preferred that at ambassadorial level (permanent representatives) the
EEC's spokesman should be a Commission representative. The Commission’s
criticisms of the Council’s formula were based on a number of issues. First,
this procedure which the Commission preferred was similar to that followed
in the negotiations relating to the Yaoundé II Convention, while there was
no similarity between these negotiations and the ones that were about to
commence. Arguably, the Council’s procedure weakened the Community’s
position, since the applicants would have permanent negotiators and the
Community ‘rotating’ negotiators. However, there was no restriction on the
role of the Commission in the internal discussions among the six, and duzr-
ing the 1961-1963 negotiations most of the main decisions were taken in
this setting; there was ample scope to influence the agenda.

With the exception of Belgium, the Commission found no support in
the Council for an increased role in the negotiations. The member states
did not share the Commission’s apprehension that the procedure adopted
would lead to a failure of the negotiations similar to the 1963 breakdown,
which the Commission contended was a result of the negotiating proce-
dure adopted in 1961.'® A letter from Rey to the Council at the end of May,
arguing in favour of a greater role for the Commission, failed to shift the
majority opinion.' There seemed to be a flaw in Rey’s argument. Why had
the Commission agreed to the rotation of chairmen at ministerial level yet
found it indefensible at deputy level? The Community had reached a suffi-
ciently homogeneous stage for rotating chairmanships on the Community
side to present no disadvantages. Indeed, given the politicised nature of the
enlargement debate during the previous decade, the procedure presented by
the Commission did not reflect these political sensitivities. Its formula, based
on the 1969 avis, would have deprived the permanent representatives of any
real role in the negotiations because they would have found it difficult to
agree to attend the negotiations and meetings of the four applicants envis-
aged by the Commission simply as observers. Moreover, the Commission’s
formula would rule out any negotiations (at least with regard to the com-
mon policies) at ministerial level. It would, in fact, restrict the Council’s role
to that of taking note of the results of the negotiations conducted by the
Commission that it could accept or reject. The Commission would thus be
the Community’s real negotiator. However, the GATT precedent might sug-
gest that the Commission’s position was not so black and white. In Geneva,
for example, the Commission had spoken for the six, but it had done so
in a fashion that was tightly controlled by the member states and Article
111 Committee.?® A similar hybrid system could have been devised had the
Council believed it to be advantageous to do so.
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In June, COREPER had developed an outline of how the negotiations
would proceed. They would take place at ministerial level, at senior
level, and at working group level. The role of the Commission was also
agreed by the six. It was decided: ‘En vue d’arréter les positions communes
des Communautés Européennes, la Commission des Communautés Européennes
est invitée a faire des propositions sur tous les problemes par la négociation
d’adhésion’ *' The Community’s communiqué issued after the Council meet-
ing on 9 June concluded the following: (a) the Council would decide
upon the common standpoint of the EEC in all problems raised by the
negotiations; (b) the Council would invite the Commission to make pro-
posals regarding the problems raised; (c) the relevant discussions of the
Council would be prepared by the permanent representatives; (d) all meet-
ings between the applicants and the Community would be chaired by the
President-in-office of the Council; and finally (e) the Council gave the Com-
mission the task of seeking, in liaison with the applicant countries, solutions
to specific problems raised during the negotiations and reporting back to the
Council.?? On paper at least, the Council was giving the permanent repre-
sentatives far greater influence in the negotiations than the Commission.
However, these arrangements gave the Commission much more official sanc-
tion for its role than had been the case in 1961-1963, when it had ostensibly
been no more than an ‘observer’ in a conference dominated by the member
states. In the Council and COREPER, by contrast, the Commission’s role and
utility were well established. Not until negotiations opened would it become
clear whether the Commission’s role would be faithful to the letter of the
Council’s communiqué or whether the Commission would play the unoffi-
cial role of deal-maker. So far as London was concerned, it was more than
happy to see the Council and COREPER take the lead.?® Of course, London
did not wholly trust the Commission to make the right judgement on issues
affecting its membership bid. Ensuring the member states had the key role
would: (a) give London the greatest possible chance of deriving benefit from
its efforts ever since 1967 to ‘woo’ the ‘friendly Five’; and (b) ensure that even
the sceptical French became caught up in the logic of negotiating advance,
rather than being able to stand back, saying little, until they broke cover and
emitted a further veto.*

1 July 1970 marked the end of the Rey Commission’s term of office. The
new Commission would be reduced from 14 to 9 members, and, by common
agreement of the six, the new Commission President would be an Italian.
Enlargement was one of the main issues that plagued Rey’s term of office.
After the 1967 French veto, he was unable to unify the six around an agreed
position that would have the effect of moving the Community forward and
accommodating the four applicants. He was not as successful as his prede-
cessor had been in turning a crisis into an opportunity. Instead, the crisis
persisted and overshadowed Community business from December 1967 to
December 1969. Even though he spent his last months in office attempting
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to secure a role for the Commission at the enlargement conference, his
efforts largely failed. Here, perhaps, the comparison between Hallstein and
Rey is most evident. Both Presidents fought for a greater influence in the
Community’s negotiating position only for the Council to exert its political
muscle and ordain a different set of proposals. Rey was certainly hampered
on the enlargement question by the multiple positions adopted by the six.
As Dinan notes, Rey was much more attuned than Hallstein to national sen-
sitivities and interests.”> A good part of the Rey presidency had been spent
pursuing a policy of ‘wait and see’, especially after the second French ‘No’.
This had the effect of sidelining the Commission. Perhaps as a sign of how
weak the Commission had become since Hallstein’s departure in 1967, there
was some difficulty in finding Rey’s successor at a crucial period prior to
the enlargement talks. The problem was that no prominent Italian wanted
to go to Brussels, although this was hardly new.?® Rome eventually decided
on Franco Maria Malfatti, a former Under-secretary of State at the Foreign
Ministry. Malfatti would have little time for on-the-job training, despite his
relative inexperience, as the enlargement talks had commenced days earlier
on 30 June. In addition, he also found a memorandum on his desk from
Emile Noél, Secretary General of the Commission, which painted a rather
gloomy picture of the state of relations between the Commission and the
Council.” In a sweeping analysis of the problems facing the new Commis-
sion, Noél emphasised that, as a result of the ‘empty chair’ crisis and the
previous Commission’s relative inability to recover lost ground because of
the events of 1965, the Commission risked becoming an institution dealing
solely with technical issues. He was rightly concerned at the ever-increasing
role of COREPER and the six in policy-making, stating:

toute l'action de la commission et de ses services est observée avec attention,
vigilance — et plus ou moins d’indulgence — par les délégations permanentes
des Etats membres. Les rapports de travail, les rapports nationaux comme les
relations personnelles font que rien n’échappe des intentions, des hésitations
comme des divisions de la Commission.”

At most, the Commission was able to showcase its knowledge of the acquis,
and it possessed a technical advantage over the six, but Noél argued that this
was not enough; the Commission had to exert its influence in other policy
areas. One such area was external relations and, in particular, the enlarge-
ment negotiations. Despite the lack of a defined role for the Commission in
the negotiations, the Secretary General remained optimistic. He emphasised:

la procédure de négociation avec le Royaume-Uni, méme si elle ne satisfait
pas la Commission, donne a celle-ci des possibilités d’action non négligeables.
Beaucoup dépendra de la maniere dont la commission abordera le dossier, et
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des rapports qu’elle établira a son sujet avec le Representants Permanents et les
gouvernements.?

The note also suggested that the Commission’s negotiating stance should
closely resemble the 1967 and 1969 opinions. The accession negotiations
would be crucial to the Commission if it were to regain much of its lost
prestige and influence within the Community’s institutional framework. Its
in-depth knowledge of the acquis was one tool that could be employed to
increase the Commission’s importance to the other negotiating actors.

The Malfatti Commission announced its negotiating ‘task-force’ on
15 July.*® There had been wild speculation about who would lead the Com-
mission at deputy and ministerial level at the negotiations. Those mentioned
included Malfatti, and Commissioners Deniau, Ralf Dahrendorf, and Albert
Borschette. Of these, it was recognised that Malfatti did not have the nec-
essary experience to deal with such a complex negotiation, unlike Hallstein
a decade earlier. Although there is no archival evidence outlining the rea-
sons behind the Commission President’s decision on the negotiating team,
arguably Noél’s paper might have helped make the decision easier. What
the Commission needed was someone with a knowledge of this type of
negotiating procedure. Borschette would have been a strong contender for
the position. Before his appointment to the Commission, he had been
Luxembourg’s permanent representative to the Common Market and would
have had a good working relationship with COREPER. However, as Noél’s
note made clear, the negotiations offered the Commission an opportunity
to regain its footing in Brussels. The appointment of a former member of
COREPER might not have furthered the Commission’s long-term position,
and it did not help that Borschette had recently proposed that the Council
act as the spokesperson for the Community.3! Arguably, the personal views
of the External Relations Commissioner might also have been the reason
why he was sidelined as a possible chief negotiator. Dahrendorf had his own
ideas on Community enlargement, and Britain’s place in Europe. He wanted
Britain in Europe, but admitted: ‘I had already come to the conclusion that
there was a worrying discrepancy between the needs of Europe and the real-
ity of the European Communities’.** For the German Commissioner, this
meant that there was also a discrepancy between ‘the political intentions of
the British government and the economic realities of the EEC’, and Barre and
Deniau were both conscious of these.** More worryingly, Dahrendorf could
not be described as a Euro-enthusiast.>* Was this likely to make it harder or
easier for the British to join? Or would the impact be limited to curtailing the
Commission’s role in the talks even more than might otherwise have been
the case? A united Commission would certainly have advantages in advanc-
ing its role in the negotiations. It would go a long way towards increasing
its lost influence in a number of areas, and help to neutralise the impact of
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COREPER. However, the lack of a solidly pro-enlargement Commission also
had its benefits. Commissioners would be less likely to grant greater conces-
sions to Britain or the other applicants, or compromise on the acquis. Indeed,
the Hallstein Commission comprised members, including the President him-
self, who were not completely in favour of enlargement so soon after the
creation of the EEC, and insisted during the 1961-1963 enlargement con-
ference on nothing less than a complete acceptance by the applicants of
the existing and future policies of the Community. Moreover, Commission-
ers, such as Barre and Dahrendorf, could play the role of devil’s advocate at
meetings of the Council and the Commission against the pro-enlargement
positions. While these scepticisms might not preclude Britain and the other
applicants from joining the EEC, it would mean that the negotiations would
be based firmly around a complete acceptance and protection of the acquis.

In the end, it was Deniau, French Commissioner for Development Aid,
who was appointed by Malfatti to head the Commission’s working party
for the negotiations.* Even though Ludlow has described Deniau as a ‘rela-
tively light-weight and junior’ member of the Commission, there were some
merits to his selection.’® A Commissioner since 1967, and a senior Com-
mission official in the External Relations Directorate since the early 1960s
during the first round of enlargement talks, Deniau had a detailed knowl-
edge of the acquis, and he understood how political games were played
between the Community institutions and between the applicants and the
six. Any lingering distrust of the British would only help reinforce his deter-
mination to protect the corpus of pre-existing Community rules during the
enlargement talks. Of course, it is highly probable that Noél would have
intervened with Malfatti if he had believed Deniau was not best suited
to furthering the Commission’s position at the conference table. Indeed,
the Commission’s negotiating team, of which Deniau had been a member,
was praised for ‘rapidly showing itself to be both knowledgeable about the
subject matter and politically adept’.” O’Neill, upon hearing of Deniau’s
appointment, assumed that the Commissioner’s ‘task must be mainly that
of co-ordinator’.*® The British hoped that the ministers of the six involved
in the negotiations would draw on their own national services for any addi-
tional studies ‘that have to be made as it would only complicate matters
if the Commission were to be too heavily involved’.** Indeed, the For-
eign Office was forced to deny as ‘complete nonsense’ reports that Britain
would not deal with Commission functionaries during the negotiations.*
It was further evidence that the British government did not wish to see the
Commission play a leading role in the enlargement talks.

At Deniau’s suggestion, Edmund Wellenstein, Director-General for Exter-
nal Trade at the Commission since 1967, was placed in charge at official
level with a number of assistants, including Manfred Caspari, Roland de
Kergorlay, and Renato Ruggiero.*' Wellenstein was close to Deniau - the two
had worked together in the early years of the Rey Commission in External
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Trade - and this no doubt explained why Helmut Sigrist, the Director-
General for External Relations in the Commission, was overlooked for the
position.*? In addition, Wellenstein played an active role in the Commis-
sion’s discussions on enlargement, and in formulating its position on the
various issues under discussion. At numerous meetings of the College of
Commissioners, it was Wellenstein who briefed them on developments
between the Community and the British and other applicants. Perhaps more
importantly, he was the Commission’s chief representative at the COREPER
meetings, where the Community’s negotiating position was often formu-
lated in advance of Council meetings and meetings of the enlargement
conference. Deniau’s deputy would then report back to the Commission.
Ruggiero’s selection was an odd one, since it seemed unlikely that Malfatti’s
chef de cabinet would be able to dedicate much time to the detailed negotia-
tions. However, upon a closer examination of the appointment it was clear
that the Commission President wished to keep a close eye on the negotia-
tions. One of the traditional roles of cabinets within the Commission was to
keep abreast of what was going on elsewhere in the Commission, and make
certain that ‘their man’ was well informed during collegiate debate.*
During the 1961-1963 enlargement negotiations, all the Commissioners
insisted on making their voices heard on most topics, but this changed dur-
ing the 1970-1973 negotiations. It was Deniau alone who spoke for the
Commission. There are few references in the archival papers to Malfatti’s
role in the negotiations. However, before the first meeting with Britain
in July 1970, Malfatti, perhaps sensing differences of opinion among the
Commissioners on certain negotiating issues, stressed that throughout the
negotiations the Commission had to act in a collegial fashion.* Even though
it has been noted that Mansholt kept his distance from the day-to-day nego-
tiations, preferring instead ‘to become a tactician’, the archival evidence
suggests that he was active in COREPER and Council discussions of many
of the agricultural issues on the negotiating table.*> Barre, the other French
Commissioner with responsibility for economic and monetary matters, was
directly involved in the negotiations, and this led to some friction between
himself and Deniau. It was widely known that Deniau favoured Britain’s
membership, while Barre was, at best, ‘no enthusiastic partisan’.*® However,
perhaps not surprisingly, Wellenstein refuted claims that Barre had a hid-
den agenda to sabotage the enlargement process. Acknowledging that Barre
was critical, severe, and not in favour of some of the concessions Britain
received, Wellenstein insists that ‘he was never destructive’.*’ Barre would
have known that he was too weak to seriously block Britain’s path — and,
hence, to incur too much resentment from a future member state would
have been highly unwise for a Commissioner with political ambitions. Fur-
thermore, he would have been aware that Paris was no longer dead-set
against enlargement. Taking risks against enlargement in Brussels would,
therefore, not necessarily have curried much favour in Paris. Indeed, had
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the talks with Britain collapsed, Barre might have run the risk of becoming
a convenient scapegoat. Relations between Barre and Deniau were tense —
the latter thought of Barre as obstructive, and a boring professor, while the
former viewed Deniau as a superficial diplomat.*® Both Commissioners had
their own agendas, and were clearly conscious of the need to maintain good
relations with Pompidou. Indeed, one could argue that both men used the
enlargement talks to jockey for position in Paris. It is questionable whether
these relations were at the expense of the Commission’s overall influence in
the negotiations.

Opening negotiations

On 30 June 1970, in the dying days of the Rey Commission, negotiations
between the Community and the four applicants opened at a special ‘family
portrait’ meeting in Luxembourg, chaired by Pierre Harmel, Belgian foreign
minister.* The British negotiating brief was already widely known. It was
based largely on George Brown's statement to the Council of the WEU
on 4 July 1967.%° His statement had been short and to the point: London
sought to reduce to a minimum the area of negotiations, to keep the talks
as short as possible. It accepted all three treaties, their aims and objectives,
and promised to implement them in full. Brown’s statement dealt with spe-
cial problems such as the annual agricultural review, milk, pig meat, and
eggs.’! He referred to the CAP and the financing of this policy, the problem
of British hill farmers, sugar, and New Zealand’s export market.*? In com-
plete contrast to the 1961-1963 negotiations, the Commonwealth issue did
not loom so large by 1970. In the decade that followed the first appli-
cation, Commonwealth countries had found alternative markets for their
exports and were not as reliant on Britain. The one major exception was New
Zealand, and its chief export commodity, namely, sugar, which preoccupied
much of the Community’s time. Brown had also accepted the obligations of
the Treaty of Rome, ‘the regulations, directives and other decisions already
taken under it’.>® This was quite an undertaking on the part of the British
government, but one that had to be made if its application were to stand
any chance of success. Its opening statement in 1961 had merely com-
mitted the British to accepting the Treaties of Rome, not the entire acquis
communautaire. With hindsight, though, this turned out to be a major tacti-
cal blunder, since it gave some basis to the French (and Hallstein’s) claim that
British entry would empty the existing Community of much of its content.

Harmel set out the Community’s position on the issues likely to arise dur-
ing the talks, a position that had taken over six months to formulate.>* The
overall position of the six revolved around the The Hague Council de facto:
acheévement, approfondissement, élargissement. He acknowledged that the three
themes were not linked in such a way that any one was a precondition
for the others.>®> He made it quite clear to the four applicants that, even
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though negotiations were taking place with the Community, the internal
development of the EEC would continue, and, therefore, the applicants were
expected to accept the acquis that extended to all the Community would
agree right up to the signing of the Accession Treaty. This was a position close
to that advocated by the Commission during the 1961-1963 negotiations
and in its 1967 and 1969 opinions.

The Community’s opening position was more cautionary than detailed, a
position that was agreed in advance among the Council, Commission, and
COREPER.*® Prior to the opening of negotiations, the Commission was in
close contact with the Council’s secretariat in an attempt to ensure that the
Commission played a part in the opening day of the talks.’” These discus-
sions were also to avoid the impression that there were ‘difficultés internes de
la Communauté en ce qui concerne le role de la Commission dans la négociation’ >
The six attempted to do a number of things in advance of the talks. First,
they publicly espoused a frequent Commission line, that the acquis was
not up for renegotiation. Indeed, the Commission wrote to the Council,
highlighting the need for all parties of the negotiations to remember the
ideas that inspired the EEC, and to take these forward into the enlarged
Community.** The British and the three other applicants had to accept all
Community rules before the negotiations commenced and any rules agreed
by the six during the course of the enlargement talks. At first glance, this
seemed like a relatively simple request, but that was until the Commission
introduced proposals for a common fisheries policy soon after the negotia-
tions started. Second, the six made clear that the conference would deal at
some point with Britain’s economic and monetary problems. Added to this,
they gave no firm guarantee to the British about the position of the Com-
monwealth countries after Britain acceded. This was going to be another
issue for the negotiations. Harmel’s statement ‘reflected the Community’s
view that speed was less important than thorough deliberation and the fact
that the Community was not prepared to cut any corners or run any risks
for the sake of a group of demandeurs’.®° From the outset of the enlargement
conference, it was clear that Britain would ‘shoot first’ before the Com-
munity acted.®® Indeed, the Commission believed that: ‘C’est, en effet, la
délégation britannique qui devrait préciser les questions sur lesquelles elle estime
que des problemes particuliers se posent pour la Grande-Bretagne et les deman-
des qu’elle présente en conséquence’.** In his short address to the conference as
out-going Commission President, Rey highlighted a ‘certain nervousness’ in
public opinion in one or two of the applicant countries, although the Irish
delegation believed he was referring to Britain and Norway.** At the opening
meeting, the Community delegation ‘invited’ the Commission to carry out a
number of studies based on information supplied by the British government.
The Community made it clear that the Commission was merely a servant of
the six, and not of the conference as a whole, while its reports on various
issues would be submitted to the Council.
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The British position

Whitehall, and especially people like Geoffrey Rippon, minister in charge
of the British negotiations at ministerial level, Burke Trend, Cabinet Secre-
tary, and O’Neill, were acutely conscious of the need to find agreement with
the Community on as many issues as possible without lengthy bargaining.®
They were too familiar with the problems that had plagued the 1961-1963
negotiations, especially the delays over minor issues. In preparing negotiat-
ing tactics for the year ahead, the Foreign Office argued that, by the end of
the ministerial meeting on 8 December 1970, Britain would table opening
positions on all important issues, including the contentious issue of Com-
munity financing but excluding a discussion on Britain’s economic prospects
and economic and monetary harmonisation, on which talks would start in
early 1971.% Whitehall’s October 1970 review of the negotiations did not
specifically refer to its relations with the Commission. Indeed, the British
archival material suggests that officials spent a greater amount of time dur-
ing the period prior to the negotiations meeting senior members of the
Pompidou government at ministerial and official levels.®® The French were
clearly of greater political importance to the outcome of the British applica-
tion, and London accordingly formulated a policy around winning over the
French. The British were prioritising relations with Paris. While there was no
British policy of excluding France’s EEC partners or the Commission, which,
of course, was not possible given the latter’s role at the technical level of
the negotiations, Whitehall sought the quickest route to membership, and
this was through the Council, not through detailed negotiations with the
Commission.

By the end of June, the Council had decided the format for the talks.®’
In the deputies’ meetings during the negotiations, O’Neill spoke for the
British side on general statements and conducted the proceedings for
London, but, crucially, for the Community side only the Council President
spoke.®® This was a rule rigidly enforced by the chair of the negotiations.
Unlike during the 1961-1963 negotiations, the Commission did not have
the right to speak, and did so only on the invitation of the chair, which
occurred ‘probably not more than half a dozen times in the course of all
our formal meetings’.** In fact, the Council President only called on the
Commission for factual contributions or ‘when the President was stumped
on a matter of procedure or the interpretation of Community texts’.”” The
procedure adopted in 1970 did not only discriminate against the Commis-
sion’s capacity to speak; the member states were also not allowed to interrupt
during the formal negotiations.

As the archival evidence confirms, there was no real negotiation at the
formal session of the Council. Both the ministerial and deputy levels of
negotiations meetings lasted an ‘embarrassingly’ short time, with one meet-
ing in November 1970 lasting a mere 23 minutes.”! Yet, these meetings had
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two purposes. The first was to make and support statements or proposals,
while the second was to record the formal agreements ‘once these had been
reached through the elaborate variety of methods pursued outside the formal
Conference’.”” Not all problems were dealt with at the ministerial meetings,
and only 13 were held throughout the entire negotiations between Britain
and the Community. Far more frequent were the meetings at the deputy
level — between permanent representatives of the six and the applicants — in
which a great deal of the decision-making took place. The role of COREPER
went far beyond simply organising meetings for their ministers. They were
an integral part of the conference, and conducted negotiations on behalf of
the member states on mandates that their ministers did not have to approve
in advance.” Given that there were 38 meetings at this level over the course
of the 18 months of negotiations, it was clear that these had a crucial bear-
ing on the outcome of the negotiations with London. The Commission,
of course, played a role during the internal deliberations of the six, espe-
cially during COREPER meetings, in which the negotiating position of the
Community was established in advance of each ministerial meeting, or in
response to a proposal from the British delegation. This is, hence, the key to
understanding the Commission’s influence over the negotiations.

Setting the agenda

The first six months of the negotiations were uneventful. The first meet-
ing between the Community and Britain, held on 20-21 July in Brussels,
ended with an agreement on procedural questions, with the British accept-
ing all that had been agreed to date. Perhaps more importantly, the meeting
witnessed the Commission’s first success in dictating the direction of the
negotiations despite its position at the enlargement talks. At this meeting,
Britain accepted the Treaties establishing the Community, and quashed any
doubts that Britain would not accept the CAP. London agreed with the prin-
ciples of the CAP ‘in an enlarged Community’.”* Yet, London was interested
in an annual review of agriculture in the Common Market covering the
relationship between production and consumption, a proposal that came
directly from the 1961-1963 negotiations. The Commonwealth also formed
part of Britain’s negotiating agenda, just as it had in the first round of
enlargement talks in 1961-1963. The most pressing Commonwealth issues
included the export of sugar to the British market, New Zealand lamb, butter,
and cheese, and provision for the Commonwealth developing countries. The
British proposed that seven fact-finding groups be established, with officials
from Britain and the Community. These groups would spend two months
putting together the background material for the various problems, such
as CAP, the Commonwealth, sugar and the EEC, the application of the CET,
and official translations of Community law. The idea met with a frosty recep-
tion from the French, and the Commission. After five hours of deliberations,
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Mansholt argued that the idea was unworkable so far as agriculture was
concerned. To him the whole discussion on the cost of EEC membership
was distasteful.” France believed that these working groups would under-
mine the common negotiating position of the six. In the end, the rejection
of the proposal was a victory of sorts for the Commission. The Council’s
counter-proposal asked the Commission to analyse the data supplied by
the British dealing with the key Commonwealth issues, and those domes-
tic British issues outlined in London’s opening statement. In addition, the
Commission was asked to liaise with the British in order to draw up a list
of problems arising from Britain’s acceptance of the ECSC. This procedure
certainly presented the Commission with another opportunity to claw back
some of the influence it had lost at the outset of the negotiations to the
Council and COREPER. One of the benefits of the first meeting was that key
issues were raised from the outset and procedures were quickly implemented.
What was also revealing from this meeting was the lack of an overall strat-
egy on the part of the six. The Community had taken a number of decisions
prior to the opening meeting, but its negotiating stance was formulated as
and when the British made a proposal, and this accounted for one of the
main delays during the talks. After London presented something new at the
talks, the Community representatives would withdraw from the conference,
and deliberate for hours in search for a common position. This was very
much as it had been in 1961-1963.

In advance of the second ministerial meeting between London and the
Community, the Council requested that the Commission and COREPER
jointly prepare material on the economic, financial, and monetary problems
associated with British membership.’® This was an acknowledgement by the
Council that the committee of permanent representatives could not act as
the sole source of advice and information for the Council. It also suggested a
significant degree of mistrust towards the Commission on the part of some
member states.”’

La bataille des chiffres

In November 1970, the Commission presented to the Council its vue
d’ensemble of the main points of the negotiations. It aimed to present ‘une
solution globale aux problemes de la période de transition’.”® The paper was never
formally presented to the Conference, even though the four applicants suc-
ceeding in acquiring a copy. British reaction to the Commission’s paper,
unlike that of Denmark, Ireland, or Norway, was wholly negative, especially
regarding the section dealing with proposals for Community finance.”” How-
ever, it became an important document. Britain’s first, and perhaps only,
unreasonable demand during the negotiations related to one of the more
tricky questions: Britain’s financial contribution to the Community budget,
a ‘negotiable issue par excellence’.®° Labour attempted to deal with Britain’s
financial contribution in its White Paper of 1970 before it was ousted from
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office in the June elections that saw the pro-European Heath and the Conser-
vatives victorious.?! Britain’s White Paper did not go unnoticed in Brussels;
Commission officials were extremely critical. In conversation with an Irish
diplomat, Roland de Kergorlay (head of Directorate B — External Relations
with the European countries) felt it was the result of an imprudent bow-
ing to pressure from the rank and file of the Labour Party, and the paper’s
calculations were ‘ludicrous’.®? This attitude would not be confined to just
one Commission official, and, as the chapter shows, many Commissioners
would disagree with the British line on financing the Community’s budget.

In their opening statement to the Community, the British made a lengthy
reference to the finance issue, stressing: “We have to work together to find a
solution to this basic problem which will be fair and sound for the enlarged
Community and for all its members’.%> On 22 July, the British tabled their
first paper on their financial contribution, although a formal position would
not be presented until December. From this paper, divergences emerged
between the Commission and the six on the one hand and Britain on the
other. According to the British delegation, the paper, ‘the Financial Arrange-
ments in an Enlarged Community’, contained ‘the best and most realistic
estimates which the British government have been able to make’.?* Within a
week, the paper was leaked and discussed openly in the press. It was impos-
sible to keep policy positions secret in the negotiating conference. Once a
position paper was presented by either side on a particular topic, it invari-
ably found its way into the hands of Agence Europe, the national press, or
officials from the other applicant countries. This problem had also dogged
the 1961-1963 negotiations, with the British placing most of the blame at
the door of the Commission, claiming that it leaked like a sieve.

At the request of the Council, the Commission responded to the British
paper in October. If that paper was filled with facts and figures relating to
Britain’s financial contributions up to 1978, the Commission’s response,
prepared by Barre, was the opposite. The Commission claimed it was point-
less to engage in detailed discussions on hypothetical figures for 1978.%°
Moreover, despite providing no financial estimates, the Commission chal-
lenged most of the assumptions made by the British, especially relating to
Whitehall’s Gross National Product (GNP) forecasts.®® London had underes-
timated the likely growth of intra-Community trade, and therefore over-
estimated the amount of Britain’s customs duties. In addition, Britain’s
calculations on agriculture were particularly problematic for the Commis-
sion. London claimed that the Community’s agricultural expenditure would
increase, not decrease, with the addition of new members by 1978. Their
October 1970 assessment, which was revised downwards by 15 per cent
a year later, adopted a figure of 45,000 million units of account as the
likely total of the Community’s budget by 1978.” The Commission viewed
the future trading prospects of the EEC somewhat differently, and this led
to a significant divergence in views between the British paper and the
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Community’s reply. The Commission believed that the pattern of Commu-
nity expenditure would change during the course of the 1970s, and that
agriculture spending in 1970 would fall significantly in future years. In one
of its more pointed criticisms of the British paper, the Commission made
clear: ‘Calculations more or less favourable towards one party or another
lose their significance when seen in the perspective of the dynamic effects
which the United Kingdom’s accession must have’.?® The British, of course,
disagreed. London was extremely doubtful whether the amount going to the
CAP would drop as predicted by the Commission.

The Commission’s paper was presented to the British through the Com-
munity at the deputies’ meeting on 4 November. The six expressed their
general approval of the Commission’s efforts. The Commission’s first major
paper to the Council was a relative success, even though the British felt that
‘it was hardly a dispassionate analysis’ of the budgetary question.® Indeed,
to understand the Commission’s position in many of its policy papers pre-
sented to the Council, it is important to reassess the political role that the
Commission was attempting to play. Barre and Deniau were to the fore
in dealings with the Council and Britain. Having learned lessons from the
1965 Community crisis, it was inevitable that the Commission would play
a cautious role in sensitive policy areas. It was unlikely that the Commis-
sion would risk diverging too radically from French interests, and getting
the British to pay a large slice of the Community budget was in France’s
interest. It was also, of course, in the Commission’s interest, as it would be
responsible for spending the Community budget. Therefore, the Commis-
sion’s response to the British paper was cautious, while at the same time it
helped to move the debate over Community finance to another level. This
was a difficult task. Deniau, in charge of the Commission’s working group
on enlargement, was broadly in favour of British membership. At the out-
set of the negotiations, the Commission adopted a dual role: protecting the
Community’s acquis without making unwelcome compromises while also
ensuring that the negotiations did not stall.

However, it was not always possible to maintain this balance. The British,
for example, found the Commission’s vue d’ensemble ‘extremely harsh and
unwelcoming’, a paper that would form the basis for many of the Commu-
nity’s positions in the months ahead, especially in relation to reconciling
problems thrown up by the Commonwealth.”® Interestingly, the Commis-
sion’s most important paper was never formally presented to the British
negotiators, but, as with all Community material, even the confidential
documents, the paper made its way into British hands within days of its
completion. The rules of the game, according to O’Neill, prevented the
British side from ever formally referring to the vue d’ensemble ‘save by phrases
such as ideas which we believe to be current within the Community’.*!
The British side found only one of the Commission’s points to be of any
use: the acknowledgement that the financial contributions of the six would
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drop because of Britain’s membership. As one negotiator later recalled: ‘This
was the only occasion that the Community ever acknowledged this sim-
ple arithmetical fact’.”> Less appealing to Whitehall was the Commission’s
vague notion that the finance question could be linked to Community vot-
ing rights. This meant that, if one country did not pay its share of the budget,
it would not have equal voting power in the Council. London may have been
irked by this, but was far more aggrieved by the Commission’s recommen-
dations on how the Community’s budget would be financed, and Britain's
contribution, during the five-year transitional period after membership.

The Commission put forward two scenarios for the finance question. First,
the Commission wanted Britain to pay 21.5 per cent of the total Community
budget in 1973, and the same percentage during the five-year transitional
period. In the second scenario, the vue d’ensemble added that Britain could
pay, in 1973, 10-15 per cent of the Community budget, rising to 20-25
per cent in 1977.% Needless to say, the British side viewed these figures ‘as
extremely prejudicial and entirely unjustified’.** The Commission favoured
the first option, and, naturally, the French saw benefits in supporting it when
compared with the second.’® Indeed, O’Neill believed that, of all the propos-
als put forward by the Commission during the negotiations, its November
paper ‘fell far below its normal standard of helpfulness throughout the
negotiations’.”®* The Commission’s position on Community financing had
the desired effect of pressurising the British to increase their initial offer. In a
note to the Community in late December 1970, London reacted angrily to
the Commission proposal, no doubt fearing that it would be accepted by the
six if objections were not made quickly. The British stated: ‘Against the back-
ground of the sort of ideas which the United Kingdom Delegation believe to
have been expressed by the Commission, the United Kingdom Delegation
has considered making proposals which would be equally extreme’.*” Justi-
fying the British low opening figure of 3 per cent, Whitehall officials stressed:
‘the United Kingdom wants to integrate into the Community system with
the minimum disturbance to all concerned and wished for its part to con-
duct the negotiations without recourse to extreme bargaining positions’.”®
In the months that followed the November paper, the French used the Com-
mission’s figure of 21.5 per cent as their preferred starting point for Britain’s
opening contribution.

The Commission’s vue d’ensemble forced the hand of the British to address
the issue in a more communautaire manner. It is difficult to assess whether
this is what the Commission intended. During a House of Commons speech
on 25 November, Geoffrey Rippon appealed to the six not to adopt any par-
ticular stance on the finance question based on any one report, and argued:
‘I very much hope that the Community will await the proposals which we
intend to put forward on this point in the near future before themselves
endorsing or adopting any position as their own’.” By mid-December 1970,
the British presented new proposals. Rippon argued that the British base
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should be in the range of 13-15 per cent, applicable from the fifth year
of Community membership. During the transitional period, Britain would
build up to this figure in ‘equal annual steps starting from a notional zero
per cent in the year before accession’.!® Typically, the British did not put
these proposals forward as a bargaining tool, but instead ‘as a reasonable
point on which to conclude’ the negotiations on the budgetary question.!*!
The new British proposal was ‘received with disbelief by almost every cor-
ner within the EC’.'%* At his press conference in January 1971, Pompidou
responded, saying:

We have often had the occasion to say that France wanted, and believed
in, Britain’s entry into the Common Market. That is still my position,
but of course it depends in the first place on the British. One must admit
that the British have three qualities amongst others: humour, tenacity
and realism. I have the feeling that we are still slightly in the humorous
stage.1®

The French maintained that the Commission’s figure of 21.5 per cent
(Britain’s contribution to the Community budget) was a better estimate
of what the British should pay, and this argument was carried through to
the spring of 1971. At the Council meeting on 2 February, and again in
mid-March, Jean-Pierre Brunet, Director of Economic Affairs at the Quai
d’Orsay, argued that ‘la proposition britannique n’était pas une solution accept-
able au probleme d’une période de transition’.'** Malfatti and Deniau agreed.
Indeed, Malfatti believed that the British proposals ‘n’est pas de nature a
garantir la transition harmonieuse recherchée vers l'application normale du sys-
teme communautaire’.’® Despite the fact that the five believed that 5-10
per cent was an adequate starting point for Britain’s contribution, the French
would not budge until Britain increased its offer above its 3 per cent start-
ing figure. Neither did the Commission think that the percentages suggested
by the five were adequate. The one point that the six and the Commission
agreed upon was that the 3 per cent offer was not enough. However, it would
be increasingly difficult for the Commission to alter its original position if
faced with a deadlock between the Community and Britain. The Commis-
sion’s November vue d’ensemble had caused ‘la bataille des chiffres’ on the
budgetary question.

Deniau believed that a final solution was possible, but felt the British
would not compromise so long as ‘I’hypothése extréme pese sue les délibérations
au sein des “Six”.”'% In a further sign of its increasing role in the negotia-
tions, the Council informed the British delegation on 2 February that the
Commission would continue to seek a solution to the finance question.'”’
The first months of 1971 saw a number of high-profile visits to London by
members of the Malfatti Commission.!?® The talks revealed a deep level of
mistrust towards the Commission. For example, Deniau visited London in
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early January to discuss, among other things, Community finance and New
Zealand with Rippon. Whitehall’s briefs for this meeting highlighted one
general but significant point: ‘We must remember that everything we say
to Deniau will go back to Paris,” and, if Georges Berthoin (of the Commis-
sion’s office in London) arrived with Deniau, ‘it will go straight to Courcel
as well’.!” There was no hiding the fact that some officials in Whitehall
believed that all Frenchmen attached to the Commission, and involved with
the enlargement negotiations, were French operatives.!® Although an exag-
geration, this was not a claim entirely without foundation. However, these
British prejudices served to show that officials in London were not willing to
look beyond issues like French influence in the Commission for the greater
good of securing British membership. The role of the Commission during
the 1970-1972 talks was, of course, to act as a source of technical advice for
the Council, but Malfatti’s visit to London on 3 March 1971 was more akin
to private political talks. As Mariélla Smids argues, a technical role seems to
have been a tactical choice by the Commission, given the nature and com-
plexity of the acquis.''' Rippon took ‘advantage of the present private talks
to make what were perhaps the most important political points’.!'> Before
addressing the long list of issues Rippon wanted discussed, Malfatti reiter-
ated that the Commission believed in Community enlargement, and would
do all in its power to bring it about. He wanted to see faster progress in the
negotiations, something London was also anxious to achieve. It is unclear
why Malfatti felt the need to reassure Britain of the Commission’s position
on enlargement. Perhaps it reflected his response to the suspicious mood
with which the Commission’s representatives were greeted. Arguably, it was
to convince London that, despite the perceived hard line adopted by Barre
on Community financing, the Commission was wholly in favour of Britain
entering the EEC. Moreover, Malfatti was keen to prove to Britain that the
Commission was a trusted ally in Brussels. However, it also had much to do
with the Commission’s 21.5 per cent proposal, because this had led to the
impasse over the Community budget. Malfatti acknowledged that the Com-
munity financing issue was in danger of becoming a sort of sporting event.
If this happened, the discussion on Community financing would result in all
sides taking excessively rigid positions. He made it clear that the British offer
had no supporters among the six, and hoped that there was some flexibil-
ity on Whitehall’s part. Rippon wanted the Commission to understand that
the British proposal on Community finance had been put forward in good
faith and ‘represented what we thought to be a fair arrangement’.'”® Cru-
cially, Rippon added: ‘this was not to say that they were not negotiable’.'!*
Because of the deadlock over the Community finance issue, Rippon posed an
important question to Malfatti: if a resolution could not be found, was it not
an opportunity for the Commission to act as an honest broker, and suggest
ideas that could bridge the gap? Indeed, this was a scenario that best suited
the Commission. With deadlock between the six and the British over the
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Community’s budget, it was an opportune moment for the Commission to
intervene. The positions of the various negotiating actors were well known
by February 1971, and the Commission perfectly understood that France was
the main obstacle in the Community to a resolution of the finance question.
The problem for the Commission was to ensure that any solution reflected
France’s policy of extracting a high price from Britain.

Malfatti had a more difficult encounter with Heath, who also impressed
upon the Commission President the need to find a speedier solution to
the main outstanding problems. Heath noted that the enlargement nego-
tiations had been going on for the past ten years and that this was far too
long to keep people (the British public) interested.> When challenged for
an explanation as to why the British financial proposals were inadequate
to the Commission and the six, Malfatti claimed that the British attitude
was wrong. London tended to look too much at the burden of individual
countries. Britain had to consider the solidarity of the Community, and the
financial system that was made up of three elements of levies, tariffs, and
Value Added Tax (VAT). Quoting Rippon’s earlier promise that, if Britain’s
proposals resulted in burdens for others, Whitehall would be prepared to
look at them again, Malfatti believed that this was a limited approach, but
certainly not the correct one. Moreover, Britain’s original 3 per cent would
not cover its costs, taking into account the social fund, the fund for research
and development, the guidance part of the agriculture fund, and restitutions
arising, for example, from Danish agricultural export to Britain.''® Heath
clearly understood this, but argued that Britain had given an undertaking to
accept the ressources propres in full as the final stage. It appeared that London
was adopting a negative attitude in relation to the costs of membership,
and was more concerned with what Britain would get back from its contri-
bution. Malfatti advised Heath not to take such a policy position into the
negotiations, given the widespread rejection of London’s finance propos-
als by the six. A juste retour was not what the Community was about, even
though one could argue that France and the Netherlands gained more from
the Community than they gave back, if one used the same mindset, which
underpinned juste retour. When pushed to give the Commission’s opinion
on what was a suitable opening negotiating budgetary contribution, the
Commission President repeated that Britain was following the wrong pol-
icy of putting financial affairs before the more important issue of gaining
membership.'"” The search should be for principles and methods, and one
of these principles was ‘progressivity’. He categorically denied that the six
and the Commission were pursuing a policy of ‘making Britain pay’. Even
though Heath was more pro-European than his predecessor, it was clear that
he was adopting a tough negotiating position towards the Community on
the financing issue. His position in many ways reflected the one adopted by
the Commission. The budgetary question represented the hard bargaining
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stance adopted by all sides at the enlargement talks. It remained to be seen
which of the actors would back down first.

The Foreign Office realised that their argument in support of their ini-
tial finance offer was flawed, and there was little sign that Malfatti accepted
the substance of their position during his visit. They concluded: ‘Recent
evidence suggests that he [Malfatti] is as hard as anyone in rejecting our
proposals as “absurd”, and inclines to support the French view that the Com-
munity should sit tight till we review them’."'® Malfatti’s visit left the British
in no doubt that its 3 per cent was not acceptable to the Community; if
progress was to be made in the negotiations, a more substantial offer was
required from London. Moreover, it was clear that the Commission was not
willing to support enlargement at any cost to the Community’s welfare. This
was another sign of how the Commission placed the acquis at the top of its
agenda, just as it had during the 1961-1963 negotiations and in its 1967
and 1969 opinions. Moreover, it was clear that Malfatti found it difficult to
back down from the Commission’s original position on the finance ques-
tion. It remained unclear whether the Commission would bridge the wide
gap between its figure and Britain’s 3 per cent.

One of the central conflicts in the Commission’s relations with Britain was
that of a divided loyalty. From the first meeting between the six and Britain
in mid-1970, the Commission clearly adopted a pro-French line on the pol-
icy positions it presented to the Council. It was more than a coincidence
that their policy positions overlapped. Barre was driving the Commission'’s
economic and monetary policies, but critics would also argue that he was
de Gaulle’s and later Pompidou’s man in Brussels, and more easily influ-
enced than the other members of the Commission. However, the same
critique could be applied to Deniau. Of the six member states, Deniau was far
more concerned with the views and positions expressed by France, and the
archival material confirms this.'” As a result, the Commission’s policy posi-
tion regarding the most suitable budgetary contributions from the applicants
reflected largely, though not exclusively, the ideas emanating from either the
Quai d’Orsay or the Elysée in Paris.

The Commission’s interest in the budget was two-fold. On the one hand,
there was the Commission’s own interest in ensuring that the financial needs
of the Community were met going forward. This was especially important
with regard to financing of the CAP. A second major consideration for the
Commission was more political than economic. These considerations were
more likely to have centred on possible French antagonisms rather than any
fear of the British. The British archival material would suggest that the Com-
mission paid significant attention to soundings from Paris than from the
five, London, or the capitals of the other applicants. After all, two of the
key Commissioners dealing with the enlargement negotiations were well-
connected Frenchmen, who were perhaps closer to the views expressed by
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officials from Paris than from the capitals of the five or the four applicants.
However, the last thing that the Commission wished to see was the reopen-
ing of the hard-fought 1969 deal on the financing of the CAP. This would
have added further complications to the already difficult negotiations on
Britain’s budgetary contribution. It was, therefore, better from the Commis-
sion’s perspective to side with the influential French view on this question.
This raises a further question: was the Commission’s enlargement policy
based exclusively on French national interests in the period after The Hague
Council meeting? The Commission’s 1970 vue d’ensemble put forward a
suitably large figure that suited the French but also reflected internal think-
ing in the Commission. Yet, it highlighted the increasing influence of the
Commission in putting forward policy proposals that were well received
by the Council, thereby adding value to the Commission’s role in the
negotiations.

For their part, the British, unsurprisingly, wanted the Commission to
adopt a more neutral attitude to the negotiations. However, as O’Neill would
later acknowledge, the Commission could not place the needs of poten-
tial future members on the same footing as the needs of actual member
states. Protecting the key aspects of the acquis was not a priority for London,
although it held some reservations over the CAP. Rather, London wanted the
Commission to put the interests of the Community as a whole first rather
than the vested interests of Gaullist farmers, the bedrock of Pompidou’s
support.'? However, the Commission had to consider its own interests, and
foremost among these was harmony in the existing Community.

Throughout the spring of 1971, both the Community and Britain argued
in support of their own positions over how much Britain should pay to
become effectively a member of the Community.'”! London continued to
claim that each of the member states would make significant savings because
of Britain’s contribution, a claim rejected by the Dutch.!?? At the ministerial
meeting of the conference on 16 March, no progress was recorded on the
finance question, but the British succeeded in forcing the Community to
accept that the ball was now in its court, and that London would wait for a
response. The lack of progress was in part due to the Commission’s advice
to the Council, which argued against a discussion of percentages until the
Commission continued to examine the issues.'?* Discussions on the finance
question in the Commission throughout March were of a general nature,
with Deniau rather than Barre outlining the positions of the member states
and the implications that the various percentages would have on the Com-
munity going forward.'** There was very little movement in the Commission
or among the permanent representatives on the budget question towards the
end of that month and throughout most of April. The Commission, instead,
appeared to adopt a ‘wait and see’ policy. Rather than presenting new figures
to the six, the Commission was working on the assumption that Britain
would change its attitude to the budgetary question.
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The situation began to change towards the middle of March, when it was
secretly agreed that France and Britain would hold a bilateral meeting to dis-
cuss the outstanding issues on the negotiating table. This change of mood
was reflected in a new finance proposal presented to COREPER at the end
of April, not from the Commission but from France. The French proposal
had the desired effect of moving the discussions on the finance question to
a new and more productive level. There was no indication that the Com-
mission was aware of the new attitude from the French delegation. Indeed,
at a meeting of the Commission during the two previous weeks, the French
had presented their new finance formula, but there was no suggestion of
an imminent move by the Quai d’Orsay.'>® The French had decided to keep
the Commission and its EEC partners in the dark. Indeed, plans for the
Heath-Pompidou summit were perhaps the best-kept secret of the entire
negotiations.

On 5 May, at a meeting of COREPER, France formally put forward its new
finance proposal. What the French government presented was not a set a
figures but a framework to calculate how much each country would pay
towards the Community budget based on the GNP of each member state.!?¢
The five and the four applicants were more enthusiastic about the French
proposal than the Commission.'” In a note written afterwards to Deniau,
Wellenstein stated: ‘La proposition frangaise a la mérite d’une extréme simplicité
qui est obtenu en ne raisonnant pas sur les trois composantes des ressources propres
isolément, mais sur ses composantes dans leur ensemble’.*® The five accepted the
French plan at a Council meeting on 10 May, and presented to the British
negotiators three days later. The British government agreed that if, at the
ministerial meeting of the Conference on 11-12 May, the Community

put forward proposals pointing to a gradual increase in our contributions
to the budget from less than 10 per cent in the first year of membership
to a level of up to 20 per cent in the fifth year, the Chancellor of the
Duchy of Lancaster should indicate that we would regard these as a basis
for negotiation.'?’

Rippon welcomed the French proposal, but wanted the Community to give
Britain a definite value in percentage terms for each year until the end of
the transitional period. The scene was, therefore, set for the final instal-
ment of what was the most complex issue of the negotiations. Much of
the final scene was played out not in Brussels but in Paris, during a meet-
ing between the British and French leaders, a week after the French proposal
had been made.

The background to the Heath-Pompidou meeting has been plotted by
other scholars dealing with Franco-British relations during the period of the
negotiations.’*® What matters here is the impact that this ‘bilateral secrecy’
had on the position of the Commission and the outcome of the British
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budgetary question. The meeting was held in Paris on 20 May. While the
summit meeting between the two leaders was not intended to conclude
a final settlement for the enlargement talks, understandings were reached
over a number of the key issues, including Community financing. France
accepted a first year contribution from the British of less than 10 per cent,
but this represented a significant blow to the Commission’s vue d’ensemble.
What was tentatively agreed in Paris was a reduction of Barre and Deniau’s
21.5 per cent, a figure that the French had originally been in favour of accept-
ing. It would be inaccurate to claim that the Anglo-French summit resulted
in bringing closure to the budgetary question. On the contrary, because
France did not attach any percentages to its framework proposal, there was
still ample scope for the Commission to influence the outcome of this issue.
Therefore, the June meetings between Britain and the Community would
prove decisive.

The French framework proposal linked the contribution of each applicant
to its GNP had it been a member of the Community in 1970. The Com-
munity’s statistical office did much of the work in putting figures together.
The calculations showed that Britain would have had 19.02 per cent of
the enlarged Community GNP in 1970. This was 2 per cent less than the
figure in the Commission’s vue d’ensemble. At Deniau’s suggestion, the 0.02
per cent was dropped, and this remaining figure would represent the British
budgetary contribution in 1977."3! There were still disagreements between
the member states over the base starting point for the first year of mem-
bership. These disagreements presented an opportunity for the Commission
to intervene with its own proposals. The British refused to pay anything
more than 9 per cent for 1973, the first year of membership. Indeed, the
6.5 per cent offer that Heath had made to Pompidou a month earlier in Paris
was the guide figure for the British delegation, but, under orders from Heath,
the British delegation could not go above 9 per cent. Arguably, a single-digit
figure would be easier to sell to an increasingly sceptical British public than
a double-digit one, so that Heath could avoid the accusations of paying a
high price for membership.

The Commission discussed the budget question again on 7 June. Earlier
that day, the Council had asked it to prepare percentages based on the
negotiating stance of both the British and Community delegations. Deniau
argued that Britain had to pay between 8 and 9 per cent in 1973 in order
to adequately cover its share of the Community’s budget. In the closing
hours of 22 June, the Community presented the British delegation with
precise proposals on the Community budget and New Zealand dairy prod-
ucts. France claimed that the Community’s position was not negotiable
unless Britain wanted to reopen the agreements already reached on New
Zealand. The Community figures accorded with Deniau’s assessment of what
Britain had to pay towards financing the Community. It was finally agreed
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that Britain’s contribution would be 8.64 per cent in 1973, rising to 18.92
per cent by 1977.132 A telegram from Heath to Rippon in the early hours
of 23 June authorised the British delegation to accept nothing more than
9 per cent for 1973. It had to be in single digits. La bataille des chiffres was
effectively over.

The Commission played a significant role in the debate between Britain
and the Community over how much Britain should pay for member-
ship. O’Neill and Kitzinger’s accounts of the negotiations on the budgetary
issue claim that the Heath-Pompidou meeting resolved the issue. This is
not wholly accurate. This bilateral diplomacy had its advantages. It resulted
in a new proposal on finance, but without the specifics. This is where the
Commission played a key role — adding flesh to the bones of the French
plan. The result did not differ significantly from the percentages outlined in
the Commission'’s vue d’ensemble, and could certainly not be considered as
a climb-down by the Commission. While the budgetary issue highlighted
the important role that the Commission had carved out for itself in the
negotiations, it also revealed significant weaknesses in its negotiating posi-
tion and the limits of its influence. Deadlock over Britain’s paltry 3 per cent
offer in December 1970 presented Deniau with an opportunity to draw up
new proposals that did not compromise its position or lose the support of
the member states. It remains to be seen why the Commission did not sug-
gest, as the French did in early May, linking the GNP of each country with
the amount they should pay towards the Community’s budget. The British
opening figure was too small, but it had the effect of antagonising the Com-
mission and staunch supporters of the British application elsewhere in the
Community. What is certain, however, is that it was not in the Commission’s
interests to accept the original British proposal. Too ready an acceptance of
the British case (or even just of some of the principles upon which it was
based, notably that of juste retour) would seriously undermine the whole
automaticity of Community financing. It was this automaticity which was
the attraction of the system from the Commission’s point of view, since it
meant that it would receive monies as a right, rather than this having to
be decided by the member states through political bargaining. The Commis-
sion thus had arguably even more reason than France to be wedded to the
status quo.

Financing of the Community’s budget in the post-accession period
revealed just how politicised the negotiations had become. There was much
at stake, not just for Heath and Pompidou but also for the Commis-
sion, because any agreement could potentially influence future enlargement
negotiations. An analysis of the budgetary question showed how the Com-
mission, despite its official role at the negotiating table, was able to influence
the agenda and provide valuable input at crucial moments just before agree-
ment was reached. The financial breakthrough, of course, is not the whole
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story of the Commission’s influence in the negotiations that led to Britain’s
membership. The Commission was heavily involved in negotiations with
the British on the CFP, exports of sugar into the Community, sterling,
agricultural prices, and transitional measures. However, once the British bud-
getary question had been resolved, the Community and London were able
to conclude agreements on other significant issues associated with financ-
ing, such as the question of New Zealand dairy products that the French had
intentionally linked to the finance question.



/

Challenging the Acquis

Due to Ireland’s relative size and pro-European and Community outlook,
membership negotiations with the Community should have been a straight-
forward affair. There were no colonial interests to be considered other than
Ireland’s close economic relationship with Britain. Ireland was not a mem-
ber of the Commonwealth or EFTA. There was no longer any discussion in
the Community about allowing neutral countries into the EEC, due largely
to the fact that Ireland’s application was not considered in the same light
as those of Austria and Switzerland. Domestically, there was no serious
political or social opposition to membership (unlike in Britain, Denmark,
and Norway) and, therefore, the Community did not have to sidestep any
sensitive issues.! Indeed, of the four applicants, Ireland was perhaps the
staunchest advocate for membership, and, as the previous chapters have
argued, its position on achieving entry remained steadfast throughout the
1960s. Chapter 7 deals with the Commission’s relations with Ireland during
Dublin’s second, and successful, attempt at Community membership, from
1970 to 1973. While it is beyond the scope of the chapter to adequately
explore all the issues that dominated the enlargement talks, it examines one
key area where the Commission’s negotiating influence was most effective.
It devotes particular attention to the CFP, introduced to the Council, and
then to the applicants, just as negotiations commenced in June 1970. The
chapter examines the background to the CFP, and the role that the Commis-
sion played in bringing it to the enlargement talks. Was the introduction of
the CFP merely a question of the Commission refusing to apply the brakes
to the internal development of the Community or an example of the Com-
mission speeding up the introduction of a particular policy so as to get it
through the Council before the applicants joined? In addition, the chapter
analyses the position of the Irish negotiators towards the CFP, and the prob-
lems that emerged once the CFP negotiations began. Central to the chapter
is an analysis of the Commission’s role and influence as it tried to protect the
acquis from unwelcome advances by Dublin (and other applicants) while at
the same time ensuring that the negotiations would be successful.

159
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Ireland’s negotiating preferences

Ireland’s ‘Mr Europe’ during the period of the enlargement negotiations
was Patrick Hillery, Minister for External Affairs, who was assisted by many
of those who had worked on Ireland’s first application for membership in
1961. The negotiating team had no prior experience of negotiating with the
Community as a whole. During the 1961-1963 membership bid, negotia-
tions between Ireland and the Community had not opened. Even though
the 1960s had witnessed the Irish government’s repeated attempts to extract
trade concessions from the Commission and the six, the 1970-1972 nego-
tiations were the first time that Ireland had sat down with more than one
Community actor. However, after ten years of close relations with the cap-
itals of the member states and the Commission, Irish policy-makers were
more than au fait with the workings of the Community institutions and the
Community system. It remained to be seen whether this knowledge would
be used to its benefit in negotiations over key topics, such as agriculture and
fisheries.

In the months immediately after The Hague Summit, Dublin busied itself
preparing a detailed negotiating brief in anticipation of the opening of
enlargement negotiations. Hillery and other members of the cabinet went
on a tour of the capitals of the six and met the Commission. The gov-
ernment sought to convey the message that Ireland was willing to secure
full membership of the Community, and to accept the acquis as well as the
political implications vaguely associated with membership. One point that
Hillery highlighted during his tour was the need for the simultaneous open-
ing and ending of negotiations and accession for Ireland and Britain. He also
stressed the importance of consultations on matters of common interest to
all the applicants as they arose during the negotiations.? Irish officials in
Brussels ensured that the Commission was made aware of these two con-
cerns prior to the negotiations.* The Commission was also conscious of the
need to keep the three applicants informed of developments between the
Community and Britain because of the economic and, to a lesser extent,
the political relations between all four countries. In a note to the Council
two weeks after the negotiations started, the Commission wrote: ‘Il est néces-
saire d’éviter tout risque d’information divergente’.* With reference to issues that
all the applicants had in common, the Commission noted: ‘La commission
souligne par ailleurs qu’il faudra assez vite arriver a des réunions multilatérales
avec tous les pays candidats, notamment pour examiner les problemes relatifs aux
politiques communes’.> Dublin, perhaps rightly, feared that Britain would not
keep its fellow applicants informed of matters of mutual interest, a con-
cern shared by the other applicants and Britain’s EFTA partners.® It was
clear to policy-makers in Dublin how vital it was for the Commission to
keep Ireland updated vis-a-vis the negotiations with London when issues of
mutual concern arose.
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The Irish Foreign Ministry saw benefits as well as drawbacks attached to
having the Commission play a prominent role in the enlargement talks.
There were a number of issues, such as the continuation of export tax reliefs,
to which Ireland hoped the Community as a whole would adopt a more
tolerant attitude in the framework of the common policies than the Com-
mission, as guardian of the treaties, would be expected to do. However,
there was no guarantee that, by negotiating separately with the six, Ireland
would be able to secure better treatment. The most important objective of
policy-makers in Dublin during the negotiations ‘was the protection during
the transitional period of our interests in the British market, particularly as
regards agriculture’.” To achieve this primary objective, close cooperation
between Dublin and London, but also between the Community and the
other applicant states, was necessary. Moreover, just as the British had con-
cluded, policy-makers in Dublin were also of the opinion that the advantages
of negotiating with the Commission ‘are largely to be marginal’.® Yet, they
would not adopt a policy for or against any of the Community institutional
actors taking the lead in the negotiations. Ireland, therefore, approached
the enlargement talks with high hopes for its agricultural sector but with
mixed ideas about which Community actor would be sympathetic, open-
minded, and flexible towards Ireland’s application. One thing was clear.
Dublin was very conscious that it would have to deal extensively with the
Commission, and would hence require the establishment of a business-like
relationship. Ireland’s delegation to the enlargement conference would have
to liaise with all sides in order to achieve their objectives.

Between January and June 1970, not only did Irish government ministers
visit the capitals of the six, the Commission, and the applicant countries,
but the government also published a White Paper on membership that was
generally well received in the Community, and completed its negotiating
position on a wide range of issues.’ Irish officials in Brussels were well aware
of the importance that the Commission placed on complete acceptance of
the acquis. Irish diplomats were better placed than policy-makers in Dublin
to understand the manner in which these types of negotiations worked, and
what was expected of each applicant. They were, after all, in close contact
with Community officials and the diplomatic corps in Brussels and there-
fore would have come into contact with the latest political manoeuvrings
regarding the enlargement questions and other issues relating to member-
ship. In December 1969, Sedn Kennan, Ireland’s ambassador to the EEC,
offered Dublin the following advice:

(i) avoiding disclosure of information which would prejudice our nego-
tiation position (ii) avoiding disclosure of confidential information, such
as conversations with Commissioners (iii) avoiding publication of eval-
uations or judgements of a sensitive nature, ‘our attitude as regards
New Zealand butter and lamb’ (iv) bearing in mind that whatever was
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published would in all probability be studied in Brussels, projecting the
image of a country ready and able to accept all the obligations (political
as well as economic) of full membership, to play a constructive part in the
further development of the Communities and not ‘concerned exclusively
or mainly with the economic payoff particularly in agriculture’, and (v) to
a very limited extent ‘factual accuracy’.!”

Kennan was concerned that too much emphasis was placed on the benefits
that Ireland’s farmers would receive from membership of the CAP after acces-
sion. While the economic benefits were the principal motivation behind
the Irish application, it was far more important to show the Community
that Ireland was also interested in the political, and economic and mone-
tary union, aspects of membership. He stressed: “We do not wish to create
the impression in the Community that the agricultural payoff is the chief
motive for our application. We also have to bear in mind the sensitive issue
of agricultural surpluses within the EEC’.!! The Irish government certainly
did not want to attract too much unwelcome attention towards its principal
exports, such as butter. After all, by the end of the 1960s, the Commu-
nity had surpluses in many of the dairy commodities that Ireland wished
to export. Ireland’s membership would only add to the Community’s but-
ter mountain. Irish officials were also clearly conscious of the character of
the negotiations, in which nothing remained a secret for very long. While
the Commission would provide a useful source of information and technical
expertise on the common policies, policy-makers in Dublin and Irish diplo-
mats in Brussels realised that it was highly probable that any information
they presented to the Commission would end up in London or the capitals
of the member states. Diplomats thought it wise not to publish any statistics
before first meeting with the Community, because to do so might reflect neg-
atively on the application. Arguably, the Irish had learned lessons from the
British, who had published a White Paper on membership before the talks
started that included an estimation of how much London would have to pay
for entry into the Common Market. There was, therefore, the belief within
policy-making circles in Ireland that it was better to await the opening of
negotiations rather than prejudge the Community’s negotiating position.
Having accepted the acquis at the opening meeting between the Com-
munity and the four applicants on 30 June 1970, the real negotiations
for Ireland commenced in September. Prior to the first ministerial meeting
with Dublin, there was very little discussion in the Commission about the
Irish application. A questionnaire prepared by the secretariat of the Council
had been sent to the Irish, Danish, and Norwegian governments requesting
information on a wide range of economic issues.'? Therefore, at the first min-
isterial session between the Community and Ireland on 21 September 1970
under the chairmanship of Walter Scheel, German Foreign Minister, Hillery
simply presented his country’s case for membership, and outlined the main
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issues that Ireland wished to negotiate.'® It was clear to the Community that
Ireland’s candidacy posed none of the more challenging problems associ-
ated with Britain’s membership. Most, if not all, of the problems related to
finding technical solutions. There were at least eight key issues that Dublin
brought to the negotiating table in Brussels. These included the transition
period, customs union, CAP, fisheries, trade relations with Britain, Ireland’s
contribution to the Community budget, economic and monetary union,
and various other relatively minor issues. Hillery supported the Commis-
sion’s position on the transition period, especially the parallelism between
the achievement of the free movement of industrial goods and the com-
mon market for agricultural products. The government also supported the
Commission’s view that the transition period would be the same for the
four applicants."* While Ireland had been a supporter of the CAP since
the policy was first mooted in the late 1950s, it paid special attention to
the British negotiations on this issue for fear that London would nego-
tiate special arrangements for third countries, such as New Zealand, that
might affect Ireland’s export trade to Britain. Unlike Britain, Ireland had
accepted the Community’s finance system from the outset. Arguably, this
was a minor issue, since Ireland’s contribution to the Community’s budget
would be small in comparison to the gains it was likely to make from the
CAP and other funds. Nor would the amount that Ireland would have to pay
cause political problems for Lynch’s government or result in adverse public
opinion.

However, it was not plain sailing for Ireland’s negotiators. The introduc-
tion by the Commission of a near completed CFP on the same day that the
four applicants met with the Community in June 1970 added a new and
largely unexpected challenge to the enlargement negotiations. Before the
chapter examines the CFP negotiations, it is worthwhile dealing with the
background to this policy in order to assess how it became one of the defin-
ing issues during the talks in the Commission’s relations with Ireland and a
serious challenge to the acquis.

The community’s fisheries policy

Most of the main agricultural products in the Community were subject to
a common policy by mid-1968 under the CAP. Fish and fish products had
not been included, despite coming within the Treaty of Rome definition of
agricultural products. The Treaty was silent on what type of policy should
regulate the Community’s fishing industry; there was wide scope for inter-
pretation. In many ways, the origins of the CFP could be linked to the
problems that had confronted the French fishing industry during the early
part of the 1960s. By 1962, that industry found itself increasingly threatened
by the competition of cheaper foreign fish imports from member and non-
member states. Fish trade was also being liberalised within the framework
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of the GATT and the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Develop-
ment (OECD). As a result, imports into France rose significantly, from 95,000
tons in 1957 to 242,000 tons in 1962." It was at this point that the French
government lobbied the Community for a common fisheries policy to help
its fishing industry cope with the extra competition.

The Commission proved rather receptive to the French position, despite
lukewarm responses from the five, who were worried about the costs associ-
ated with another new policy. It was perhaps no surprise that the Hallstein
Commission became a supporter of a new common policy covering the fish-
ing industry. As the CAP had shown, common policies had the effect of
bringing the six closer together, but, crucially for the Commission, common
policies deepened the integration process and gave the Commission a greater
role in influencing the policy-making process. With a green light from Paris,
the Commission set about drawing up a common policy to regulate fish-
ing in the Community. By 1966, the Fisheries Division of the Commission'’s
Directorate for Agriculture put together a package of proposals that were
later modified and sent to the Council in 1968. As Mark Wise points out,
the slow progress of the CFP marked a lack of enthusiasm in all the mem-
ber states, except France.'® The 1968 fisheries proposals covered three main
areas: (i) the common organisation of the fishery market; (ii) a common
structural policy that included using EEC funds, and establishing common
rules governing the granting of state aids; and (iii) equal conditions of access
to fishing grounds. The Commission had adopted a broad interpretation
of the Treaty of Rome provisions for the fishing industry. In many ways,
the CFP proposals closely resembled those of the CAP. While the new pol-
icy did not represent any new and fresh thinking from the Commission,
it nevertheless represented a significant step forward for the Community’s
agriculture sector. Moreover, it placed the Commission in the driving seat of
the policy-making process, therefore fulfilling one of its key functions under
the Treaty of Rome as the initiator of policies. It was the third aspect of the
Comumission’s proposals that caused the greatest problem at the enlargement
negotiations. The Community’s fishermen, the Commission argued, had to
have ‘equal access to and use of fishing grounds in maritime waters coming
under the sovereignty or within the jurisdiction of member states’.!” These
access proposals were an integral part of the Commission’s structural policy,
designed to eliminate national discriminations and equalise conditions of
competition. Moreover, the blueprint for a fisheries policy also showed how
conscious the Commission was of the various national interests of the mem-
ber states. The Germans and the Dutch, for example, insisted on equal access
to the fishing waters of the other member states, while France wanted the
policy to include provisions whereby its fishermen could use Community
funds to upgrade fishing fleets. Though the Commission’s proposals made
reference to overfishing and conservation, a serious concern for, or analysis
of, conserving fishing stocks did not feature prominently.
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Between 1968 and June 1970, agreement on the CFP was difficult to
achieve in the Council because of the divergent interests of the six. The
European Parliament was broadly in favour of the Commission’s package
on fisheries. Indeed, debates in the Parliament in 1968 concluded that any
regional exceptions to the equal access provision had to be an exception,
and not widespread: views which would later find their way into the Com-
mission’s negotiating position at the enlargement talks.'® Despite France’s
reluctance to accept the equal access provision, which was largely a nego-
tiating ploy to achieve other objectives, French members of the European
Parliament raised no similar concerns. Rather, their focus was on the mazr-
ket support mechanisms, external trade, and structural aids, with little or no
concern for conservation issues. The hard bargaining between the six and
the Commission on the CFP from 1968 to 1970 is touched upon elsewhere.*
However, the internal discussions in the Council revealed how the six and
the Commission were determined to find some type of solution to the many
conflicting interests of the Community actors.”” The Commission had made
a number of compromises in order to resolve the conflict among the six,
especially the French, German, and Dutch governments, over the issue of
using Community funds to pay for the new policy.

On 30 June 1970, the Community had reached a less than perfect
agreement on the CFP.?! Agreement was only possible after Mansholt had
presented the six with a new set of proposals aimed solely at bringing clo-
sure to the CFP before the enlargement negotiations started that same day.
By linking the issue of equal access to fishing waters and the CFP structural
fund, the Commission was at once able to reconcile French and German
objections to the original Commission plan for the fishing industry.?* Added
to this, the Commission and the French insisted that the CFP be adopted in
time to become part of the acquis to be accepted by the applicants for Com-
munity membership. Arguably, therefore, it was not a ‘manifest error’, as
some have noted, on the part of the Commission that saw the CFP intro-
duced immediately prior to the opening of the enlargement talks, but a
decision that had the support of the six.?® This was a strategic decision by
the Commission, and the six clearly understood the importance of timing
for agreeing to the Commission’s proposals. The Community also decided
that the final market, trade, and structural regulations of the CFP had to be
formally adopted by the Council before 1 November 1970.2* It was perhaps
no coincidence that the fisheries negotiations with the four applicants were
not scheduled to start until early 1971. The Council meeting at the end of
October 1970 put the final CFP agreement together. The policy would be
implemented on 1 February 1971, which meant that all aspects of the pol-
icy would enter into Community law before the policy was discussed with
the four. In addition, the Council decided that any future revisions of the
policy could only be made by the foreign ministers of the six, who were also
responsible for the enlargement negotiations, and not by the Community’s
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agriculture ministers. This was another example of how the Community
attempted to link the CFP to the acquis before the applicants had an oppor-
tunity to object to the policy while it was in the process of development and
therefore more easily modified. Moreover, it showed how important politi-
cally the CFP was to the member states. Wresting control of the policy from
the Community’s agriculture ministers revealed how vital it was that the
main provisions of the CFP remained in place. Arguably, the foreign minis-
ters of the Community did not trust either Mansholt or the EEC agriculture
ministers, who might be more prone to compromise and negotiate away
hard-won ground by default. Indeed, it is also questionable whether this
struggle was part of a general attempt by the foreign ministers to rein in spe-
cialist Councils in the later 1960s to prevent them from gaining too much
decision-making power. However, agreement of the CFP was, of course, a sig-
nificant achievement for the out-going Rey Commission, and was the first
feather in Malfatti’s cap as Rey’s successor. It remained to be seen how the
CFP would hold up against the four applicants, each of whom would have a
significant interest in the Community’s newest common policy, given that
in an enlarged Common Market they would account for 60 per cent of the
fishing waters.

Challenging the CFP

At the opening meeting with the Community on 30 June, Hillery briefly
mentioned the CFP.?> While acknowledging that acceptance of the CAP
posed few problems for Ireland, Hillery highlighted one issue in particular
‘au sujet de la péche’.?® Briefing material on Ireland’s negotiating procedure
prior to the opening of negotiations had made only fleeting references to the
Community’s attempts at putting together a fisheries policy. The British, for
example, had acknowledged that when the negotiations opened the prob-
lem of fisheries did not exist but ‘we saw it coming’.?’” The introduction of
the CFP to the negotiations forced Dublin to reassess its position. However,
since the fisheries negotiations would not start until after the policy came
into force on 1 February 1971, there was ample time for the applicants to
position themselves and study the implications that the CFP would have
on their national fishing industries, but little time to alter the terms of the
policy.

The Irish government had concluded a month before the opening meet-
ing with the EEC that, if proposals for a CFP were adopted by the six before
Ireland became a member, or if the matter were raised during the nego-
tiations, ‘we should endeavour to maintain our existing exclusive fishery
rights’.?® This position was a direct and early challenge to the CFP’s equal
access provision, an issue central to Irish concerns as well as fears of over-
fishing. At the first ministerial meeting in September 1970, Hillery stressed
that the question of access to fishing grounds was a major issue because the
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Irish fishing industry was based on inshore fishing; Ireland had no deep-sea
fishing fleet, unlike the other applicants and some of the six. Dublin feared
that better-equipped fishing fleets from the other member states would
deplete Ireland’s rich fishing stocks. Hillery received a swift reply from the
Community delegation under the German presidency. It stated:

it assumes, as a general principle, that the Applicant States accept the
Treaties and all decisions of every kind taken from the entry into force of
the Treaties until the end of the negotiations, and that the rule which
must govern the negotiations is that the solution of any problems of
adjustment which may arise must be sought in the establishment of
transitional measures and not by amendments of the existing rules.?

Furthermore, the Community reminded the Irish delegation that the Coun-
cil had agreed to implement the CFP before 1 November 1970. Technically,
of course, the CFP had not come into force when Ireland held its first
meeting with the Community, nor would it form part of the acquis until
1 February 1971. In theory, therefore, the Irish government was entitled to
raise objections to the policy. In practice, however, the Community delega-
tion made it clear that any difficulties faced by the applicants could only
be solved with transitional measures. Given the difficulty surrounding the
adoption of the policy within the Council, it was logical that the Commu-
nity delegation wanted to protect the existing provisions of the hard-fought
policy. While there would be advantages for Ireland in the measures pro-
posed by the Commission for market organisation, and in the provisions
for Community financial aid for improving fishing fleets and facilities for
research, common access to fishery waters would create ‘grave difficulties
for Irish fishermen’.*® Hillery raised this issue at all the ministerial meetings
with the Community from September 1970 to the end of the enlargement
talks in January 1972. The fisheries question for Ireland was about competi-
tion, overfishing and the potential death of the industry. Even though Irish
fishermen would, under the Commission’s proposals, have equal access to
fish in the territorial seas of the other Community members, in practice it
would have been of little benefit to Ireland. This was, of course, another
example of the precarious state of certain sections of the industrial sector
in Ireland that were about to face the cut and thrust of Community com-
petition. This was an issue about which the Irish Department of Agriculture
and Fisheries appeared extremely protectionist, arguing at cabinet level how
over 5000 Irish jobs were indirectly endangered as a result of the Commis-
sion’s plans.®! The Irish delegation, of course, never called into question the
CAP, or the overly generous prices paid to the Community’s farmers for sur-
pluses. From an analysis of Ireland’s position, it was clear that policy-makers
in Dublin would fight any proposals that adversely affected issues of national
importance. Ireland was quickly learning the rules of the negotiating game.
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In September 1970, the Council requested the Commission to carry out
‘the necessary technical contacts with the Irish delegation’ that included dis-
cussions on the CFP.*? The Commission had remained largely silent on the
fisheries issue since the negotiations opened. Instead, during bilateral meet-
ings with the applicants in the last six months of that year, statement after
statement was presented that outlined the applicants’ position relating to
their fishing industries. In November 1970, the Commission’s vue d’ensemble
made no reference to the CFP when it was presented to the Council. The
exclusion of this issue was perhaps an indication from within the Com-
mission that the CFP would not become a major obstacle to a successful
conclusion of the enlargement talks, unlike the British budgetary question
or agreement regarding adequate transition measures. While the Commu-
nity delegation had set out its negotiating position, which was in line with
the Commission’s thinking on the policy, the latter adopted a more defen-
sive attitude in response to statements by the applicants and articles that
appeared in the newspapers. One of the roles of the Commission was, after
all, to defend the acquis.

Speaking in Dublin in October 1970, Sicco Mansholt, Commissioner
largely responsible for the CFP, denied that it was as inflexible as suggested
by its critics and believed that the likely outcome of the negotiations on fish-
eries would be a five-year transitional period during which access to waters
within the three-mile limit would be restored to local populations depending
essentially on coastal fishing, and one or more of the member states of the
enlarged Community could propose an extension of this period.** He dis-
missed outright fears that the policy would lead to overfishing, and argued
that small industries had nothing to fear from competition. The onus was on
the applicants to modify their policy positions in order to meet the neces-
sary requirements for membership. As the Commission frequently repeated
throughout the course of the enlargement talks, with echoes from the 1961-
1963 negotiations, the acquis could not be altered to suit the needs of the
applicants. Any alterations would be met by using reasonable transitional
measures until such time as the applicants came in line with the acquis.
In Ireland’s case, as Mansholt pointed out, its fishing industry had to adapt to
survive, and, while the Commission would help in this adaptation process,
the CFP would become a reality based on the Commission’s proposals.

The same month, the Irish delegation submitted a memorandum to the
Community setting out the government’s views on the question of com-
mon access to fishing waters. In it, the government emphasised many of
the points that it had raised in previous discussions with the Community.?*
In addition, Irish officials held technical discussions with the Commission
to clarify the scope and content of the basic regulations for the fisheries pol-
icy. These meetings did not result in any decisions being taken, but were
mainly used by Irish officials to gain a better understanding of the CFP
and to outline their problems with the policy. A prominent feature of the
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preliminary CFP discussions between Ireland and the Community during
the last four months of 1970 was the continuity in the Community posi-
tion; the Irish delegation met with stiff opposition from the Commission.
At the deputies’ meetings on 20 October and 27 November, and at the min-
isterial meeting on 15 December 1970, Dublin continued its protests. In an
attempt to placate the Irish negotiating team, the Council again suggested
in November that the Commission could liaise with Dublin to ‘obtain all the
clarifications’ regarding the scope and content of the fishing regulations.*®
The Community clearly believed that contacts with the Commission would
be enough to ‘allay Irish concern’.?¢ If, however, talks with the Commission
failed to adequately address Irish concerns, the Community stated: ‘the lat-
ter [Ireland] could inform the Community delegation about them as soon as
the common fisheries policy entered into force, whereupon the Community
delegation would be willing to discuss them’.?” The Community delegation
attempted to play a rather clever game. The Council had instructed the Com-
mission to talk with the Irish side but not to entertain Ireland’s problems.
Arguably, these technical talks were merely delaying tactics in order to keep
the real negotiations away from the enlargement talks until the CFP became
part of the acquis. The fact that the Community mentioned the possibility
that talks with the Commission would not suffice was evidence that the EEC
fully understood the level of potential difficulties ahead for the CFP. Ireland
was conscious of the need to act before the February deadline. However, the
Community refused to entertain any calls from Dublin for the renegotiation
of the CFP. From the September 1970 ministerial meeting until the end of
the year, the Community delegation repeated the same line, namely, that
the applicant countries ‘acceptent les Traités et les dispositions de toute nature
intervenues depuis entrée en vigueur des Traités jusqu’a la fin des négociations’.>®
Waving the acquis at the Irish delegation was not enough to silence Dublin
on the issue. The Commission only made fleeting mention to the CFP within
the framework of the enlargement talks during the second half of 1970.
In assessing Ireland’s objections to the CFP, from the Commission’s perspec-
tive, it was clear that any change to a particular aspect of the acquis would
have had wider implications not just for the applicants negotiating mem-
bership but also for the six. Any modification in the policy would have to
be agreed by the six, and, given the Community’s history of disagreement,
especially over the common policies, it was unlikely that the Commission
would entertain making Ireland a special case, even though special status
had been conceded to Norway in its enlargement negotiations. The Commis-
sion’s public silence on the CFP, with the exception of Mansholt’s comments,
was not wholly surprising, because at the ministerial meetings it did not
have the right to speak. However, there was little need for the Commission
to get directly involved in the enlargement discussions of the CFP at such
an early stage of the talks. The Community, under the German presidency
for the second half of 1970, had done an adequate job of defending the CFP.
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Moreover, the German government was a supporter of the very provision
that Ireland had objected to, namely, equal access to the fishing waters of
member states.

By early spring 1971, objections to the CFP grew louder, not just from the
Irish negotiating camp. By February, the fisheries policy had become part of
the acquis. At a number of informal meetings between the Commission and
Hillery, it was clear that the Brussels executive would continue to adopt a
defensive position towards the CFP. While accepting that Ireland would have
initial problems with adapting to the policy, Deniau stressed that Brittany
was one of many regions in the Common Market that had similar prob-
lems to Ireland.** Referring to the provision in the CFP for concessions, he
believed that it could be possible to grant a concession covering the whole of
Ireland, or, more probably, covering certain areas. However, the French Com-
missioner pointed out that such concessions, even if they could be granted,
were limited to a period of five years, and to fishing areas within a three-
mile limit from the coastline. Given the French scepticism towards the equal
access provision, this was a good example of a Commissioner not acting as
a proxy for national interests. Hillery pointed out the awkward fact that the
four applicant countries would account for 60 per cent of the fisheries in the
area that would constitute the enlarged Community. This created a new situ-
ation, one that the Commission must have been conscious of when drafting
the policy, but Deniau was adamant that the principle of non-discrimination
applied in relation to common access, a typical response from the Commis-
sion. A far greater concern for Brussels was protecting the acquis, rather than
bending the rules to accommodate the multitude of national interests of the
four candidate countries.

At the Community’s third ministerial meeting with Ireland on 3 March
1971, the CFP made a formal appearance on the agenda. Dublin made it
clear that meetings with the Commission since the last ministerial meeting
in December, while productive, had not succeeded in dispelling its fears over
the CFP. Accepting that most aspects of the policy were fully acceptable to
Dublin, Hillery stressed that the equal access provision was still a major issue
for the Irish government; no amount of Commission discussion would alter
this fact.* Indeed, meetings with the Commission had the opposite effect,
because the Commission confirmed that the equal access provision would
allow ‘virtually unlimited access to exclusive fishery waters’.*! Hillery reiter-
ated with added force that Ireland could not accept the Community’s CFP
proposals as they stood. Even the Community’s derogation mechanism built
into the policy was ‘limited both in scope and in duration, and recourse to
it alone would not meet the special problems of the Irish fishing industry’.*?
In an apparent attempt to undermine the Community’s policy, and to point
out that Ireland was not alone in objecting to some aspects of the CFP,
Hillery asserted:
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We understand that other applicant countries also have expressed their
anxiety about the provision for common access to fishery waters and,
indeed, the inclusion in the relevant regulation of provision for a deroga-
tion from the obligations to allow free access indicates that the matter
is one which may present problems for some of the present member
states also.*

With a promise to pursue the issue at future meetings during the negotia-
tions, Hillery ended his statement with the now rather familiar pleading to
the Community to rethink parts of the policy. The Community ‘took note
of this statement and proposed to study it’.** The March statement by the
Irish government was telling insofar as it took the negotiations, at least for
Dublin, to a new level of bargaining. By mentioning indirectly the problems
that the other applicants were experiencing with the CFP, Hillery attempted
to project Ireland’s concerns onto a wider screen and beyond national self-
interests. The policy adopted under the German presidency of organising
technical meetings between Irish and Commission officials had failed.

At a meeting with the Commission’s Agricultural Directorate the follow-
ing month, Dublin asked: If Norway received special treatment from the
Community, would Ireland get the same? This was a new tactic adopted by
the Irish negotiators. Policy-makers in Dublin had known since the previous
September that Norway was seeking special status for its fishing industry.
A demand by Ireland for similar treatment was in many ways a questionable
negotiating ploy that quickly became part of its formal negotiating strategy
in Brussels. Norway, of course, had much more to lose and, unlike Ireland,
it was unlikely to gain significantly from the CFP. Ireland’s position evolved
from concerns over the equal access provision to include the question of
equal treatment among the applicants. Irish negotiators decided to raise
their demands even higher by adopting the main strand of Norway’s nego-
tiating strategy. As a result, the Commission now had to face demands from
another applicant for equal treatment. Over the following months, Hillery
and his team pressed the Commission to grant the same terms to all the
applicants. Manfred Caspari, a senior member of the Commission’s negoti-
ating team, believed that this was highly improbable. Norway, he said, had
‘much bigger’ problems than had Ireland, and he pointed out that the Com-
munity had already agreed to give special recognition to Norway’s interests
in the fisheries question.* When it was pointed out to Caspari that the fish-
eries issue was a ‘big public opinion issue in Ireland’ and that open access
‘would result in the complete spoliation of the fishing stocks in a very short
time’, he repeated that Ireland would get a five-year period for the three-
mile zone, and could ‘enforce conservation measures which would have to
be non-discriminatory’.*® The Commission hoped that suitable transition
measures, and a review of the conservation clauses in the CFP, would be
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enough to end the discussions on the policy, at least with the Irish, British,
and Danish governments. However, the Commission underestimated the
growing level of opposition to the CFP from the applicants.

While the Heath-Pompidou summit meeting in May 1971 had a signif-
icant impact on a number of key negotiating issues, it had little or no
impact on the problems associated with the CFP. Indeed, of all the issues dis-
cussed in Paris in May 1971, the fishery question was one on which Britain
reserved its position.’ The first significant move on the CFP negotiations
came from Ireland. Hillery made another statement to the Community del-
egation on 7 June, when he again drew attention to ‘the serious problems
which would arise for Ireland from the application unchanged of the pro-
vision in the fisheries regulations for common access to fishery waters of
the member States’.*® Stressing that Ireland had ‘approached the problem
in a Community spirit’, he argued that the policy was not suitable for an
enlarged Community of ten members.* He also protested at the lack of a
Community response to the many statements that Ireland had made on the
issue since the negotiations started a year earlier. He demanded ‘some indi-
cation from you [the Community] that you recognise that serious problems
exist, and that it is necessary to find some solution for them’.’° Silence from
the Commission and the Community delegation on the problems associated
with the policy resulted in increased activism from Ireland and the other
delegations.®!

A number of factors help explain the Commission’s relative silence on
the subject.®? It had received no mandate from the Council to examine
the problems raised by the applicants. The only agreement on the CFP
negotiations was the approval by the Community to grant special status to
Norway in September 1970. Moreover, the Commission had been concerned
with more important issues since the beginning of the enlargement negoti-
ations, including Britain’s budgetary contribution, sterling, and economic
and monetary union. Furthermore, the situation was constantly changing,
as Commission officials acknowledged in early June in a brief prepared
for Malfatti’s visit to Ireland. The Norwegian, British, and Irish negotiating
teams had each submitted initiatives and proposals to the Community that
in some way challenged the basic provisions of the CFP. This was, according
to the Commission, the main reason why ‘la Communauté n’a pas pris position
aux demandes des différents pays’.>* The Commission was, of course, conscious
of the problems that the CFP was causing within the framework of the nego-
tiations, even though this was not acknowledged during meetings with the
candidate countries. Privately, the Commission accepted that the CFP was
the main obstacle in the path of Ireland’s accession, stating: ‘Les problemes
rencontrés par I'lIrlande dans 1'éventualité d’une adhésion a la Communauté,
tiennent sur ce sujet aux conséquences pour leurs pécheries de I'application de
ces principes fondamentaux’.>* Before the Commission responded to these
problems, on 7 June Hillery presented new proposals aimed at finding a
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solution. The new ‘constructive’ proposals were not completely original.*®
The London Fisheries Convention of 1964, which had been concluded after
protracted discussions, provided the minimum conditions necessary for the
safeguarding of the interests of Ireland’s inshore fishermen.*® That Conven-
tion, Ireland suggested, should be maintained during the transitional period
and, before the end of this period, the entire situation would be reviewed
by the enlarged Community. Effectively, the proposal aimed at maintain-
ing the status quo in Europe’s fishing industry. The proposal alone carried
little weight until the British delegation later showed a real interest in the
possibility of maintaining the status quo. Added to this, the following day,
the British delegation asked the Community to put forward its own propos-
als indicating how the fisheries problem could be resolved. The British were
anxious to find agreement on CFP-related issues before the summer recess.
Maurice Schumann, French Foreign Minister, agreed to this, and the Com-
mission, in cooperation with COREPER, went to work with a mandate to
find equitable solutions to the problems affecting the four applicants.
Between June and July 1971, the Commission and COREPER examined the
problems raised by the applications. The Commission had to ensure that the
fine balance achieved on the CFP negotiations in the Council the previous
October would be maintained. However, it also had to deal with the concerns
of the four applicants. The Commission’s first tour d’horizon sought to protect
the acquis while it also attempted to move the fishery negotiations to a new
level of agreement. Most of the work on the Commission’s proposals was car-
ried out by its task-force, which was headed by Deniau and Mansholt. There
was very little internal discussion among the Commissioners on Deniau and
Mansholt’s package of proposals.’” At the outset, the Commission argued
that its new compromise proposals would have to respect the principles and
objectives of the existing CFP.® Moreover, the access provisions would have
to apply to the existing and new member states. However, the Commission'’s
compromises were significant when compared with the original policy pro-
visions. A transition period of ten years was proposed before the equal access
provision would be introduced; this was an extension of five years under the
existing proposals. At the end of this ten-year transition period, the Com-
mission would report to the Council on the social and economic situation
in the Community’s fishing regions and on the state of fish stocks. The tran-
sition period would be divided into two stages: the first five years would
see the member states maintain an exclusive six-mile national fishing zone,
and during the second five-year period the member states could continue
to enforce the six-mile zone for local fishermen provided they depended
essentially on inshore fishing. This six-mile zone was double the original pro-
posal that had been bitterly rejected by the four applicants. The Commission
also introduced a special exception regime for certain limited geographical
zones that lacked alternative resources and employment. Britain, Norway,
and Denmark benefitted from this, but the Commission did not include
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any regions of Ireland in this exception regime. In these special regions, a
12-mile exclusive fishing limit would apply for five years. During the second
five-year transition period, Council would decide whether these exceptions
would be extended. The Commission was unwilling to budge on the equal
access provision apart from extending the transition period. It would have
made very little difference to the overall compromise plan if Deniau and
Mansholt had included some regions of the Irish coastline to placate Dublin.
When the Commission’s proposals informally reached the applicants, they
were immediately rejected by the Irish delegation, although they received a
mixed response from the Danish government; they also came in for severe
criticism from COREPER.* On 18 June, the Irish embassies in the capitals of
the six informed the governments of the member states that Ireland would
not accept the Commission’s compromise proposals, even though these pro-
posals had not reached the negotiating table or been agreed by the Council.
Ireland believed, perhaps unreasonably, that it qualified for the same terms
as the other applicants.®® Instead, the Irish government continued to chal-
lenge the CFP and moved to widen the support base for its ‘status quo’
proposal.

The Commission’s proposals had in some ways strengthened the hand
of the Irish negotiators. The rejection of the Commission’s compromise
solutions, not only by the four applicants but also by the six, presented
policy-makers in Dublin with an opportunity to make its ‘status quo’ plan
more appealing. Moreover, the failure of the British delegation to achieve
an increase in the six-mile limit proposed by the Commission from five
years to ten, with a review thereafter, pushed Britain closer to the Irish
corner. Norwegian intransigence further helped Ireland’s position and weak-
ened the Commission’s line. Norway refused a British offer to hold bilateral
meetings with the other applicants, and rejected the idea of attending a
multilateral meeting in July between the Community delegation and the
applicants. As Hillary Allen makes clear, the Irish proposal did not fit the
Norwegian negotiating position.®' Norway could not postpone the policy, as
suggested by Dublin, because entering the EEC depended on ‘finding a satis-
factory solution beforehand’.®® By the end of June, policy-makers in London
had concluded that ‘we ought to move to adopt the status quo proposal
put forward by the Irish’.> At a meeting between the Irish, British, and
Danes in Brussels on 30 June, it was decided that maintaining the status
quo was now the chief objective, which, in effect, meant rejecting the CFP
outright, at least for the foreseeable future.®* Deniau and Mansholt contin-
ued to defend their new package of measures. During a meeting with Hillery
on 5 July, Deniau accepted that there were difficulties in reaching ‘une posi-
tion commune’.% Yet, the Commission was not prepared to either accept the
objections of the applicants or rethink the CFP any further. The Commission
continued to hold this stance, and Mansholt defended it in the Council in
July before the enlargement conference adjourned for its summer recess.®
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The period from October 1971 to January 1972 saw the most ‘intense,
intricate and continuous’ discussions take place on the fisheries question for
the four applicants.”’” The Commission and Ireland tried to outmanoeuvre
each another in their respective attempts to find an agreed solution to the
CFP. By October, Dublin had built a strategy around convincing the Com-
mission to accept the status quo, and shelving the CFP until after the four
had joined the Community. Unsurprisingly, the proposal did not find any
supporters in the Commission. On the contrary, Wellenstein complained
to Deniau in early October about the attitude adopted by the Irish delega-
tion. In a note to Deniau based on a discussion on the CFP with Kennan,
Wellenstein stated wearily: ‘De la facon habituelle irlandaise, M. Kennan a
déclaré qu’une telle réponse n’etait pas acceptable pour son Ministre’.® Three
weeks later, Wellenstein gave a curt rejection to the Irish proposal during
another intense meeting with the ambassador. The ‘status quo’ proposal
was absolutely dead. ‘It is a non-starter,” Kennan wrote to his colleagues
in Dublin after Wellenstein repeated the Commission’s objections.® In a
good example of Commission directness vis-a-vis the applicants, the Com-
mission argued that there was no certainty that a new fisheries policy would
be successfully negotiated after enlargement within any reasonable time.”®
Wellenstein pointed out that it had taken the Commission and the six 12
years to produce their policy. This was not the sort of approach one would
have expected from a mere ‘honest broker’. It was clear that the Commis-
sion wanted the focus to remain fixed on the CFP compromise solutions
presented by the Commission rather than seeing the applicants and the six
tempted by a plan that would place one of the Community’s common poli-
cies in cold storage indefinitely. Wellenstein’s intervention came at a critical
moment, before the House of Commons in London voted on Britain’s acces-
sion, and when plans were being tentatively drawn up by the Commission
for the signing ceremony of the accession treaties. In addition, Wellenstein
announced that, after the Commons debate in late October, the Commis-
sion would present new proposals, although substantially the same as those
worked out by Mansholt and Deniau the previous June, and which had been
rejected by all negotiating parties. Kennan rejected Wellenstein’s arguments
and, more importantly, his suggestion that the Commission would send the
same CFP proposals back to the enlargement conference. The Commission,
it seemed, was determined to get the right answer from the applicants. Sim-
ply saying ‘No’, as the Irish had done in June, was not an option for going
forward. His comments forced policy-makers in Dublin to rethink the ‘status
quo’ strategy from two perspectives. At first, it was suggested by senior mem-
bers of the Irish negotiating team that Ireland would maintain its opposition
to the CFP, and continue to push its alternative plan at the ministerial meet-
ing on 9 November ‘despite the pressure from the Commission’.”! Dublin
believed that there was still a chance that the status quo ‘will de facto
turn out to be the eventual solution’.”? To achieve this result, Ireland had
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to outline clearly what the status quo would mean, not just for the four
applicants but also for the six. In other words, the Irish delegation had to
‘answer their objections to our proposals’.”? The Irish also agreed that if
the British accepted the Commission’s compromise solutions ‘it would of
course weaken our position in favour of the status quo and would be very
difficult for us to avoid getting into a negotiation on regions to get a quasi-
permanent derogation up to 12 miles’.”* A final strategic move would be to
appeal directly to the applicants, and Britain in particular. London’s stance
on fisheries most closely resembled Ireland’s position. While Kennan sug-
gested approaching his opposite numbers from the Norwegian and Danish
Mission in Brussels, he realised that ‘in both their cases the prospects for
mutual co-operation are obviously less in view of their opposition to the sta-
tus quo’.” The strength of the Commission’s and Ireland’s policy positions
towards the CFP depended largely on the support of others. The Commis-
sion relied heavily on the support of the six, and especially France, if its
compromise solutions were to have any chance of success. Ireland’s ‘status
quo’ option was a threat to the Commission only when this gained Britain’s
support and therefore became a serious plan for consideration. It seemed cer-
tain that the future of the CFP would be determined by whichever supporter
of the two plans gave way first.

Deniau remained confident that agreement appeared possible despite the
obvious conflicts among the enlargement actors over how best to deal
with the CFP.”® To find a common solution a dix, the Commission instead
focused on the six and argued that the ‘status quo’ proposal would not
solve the Community’s fishing problems.”” This strategy met with some suc-
cess among the member states, although some members, such as Belgium,
favoured rather looser provisions.”® At a COREPER meeting in September, the
French delegation insisted that any agreement on the CFP had to consider
three ‘intéréts légitimes’.”” These included the protection of fishery reserves,
protection for populations dependent on fishing, and, crucially for France,
that general access for these groups would not be interrupted after the CFP
was introduced. As Wise notes, France had the most to lose if the frag-
ile equilibrium of national interests underpinning the original CFP was
shattered.®® The Commission had, therefore, secured the backing of France.
The British delegation had avoided any discussion on the CFP negotiations
when the enlargement talks resumed after the summer recess. Whitehall
wanted to keep the remaining CFP meetings off the agenda until after the
Commons had voted on Community membership. However, without recall-
ing the complexity of the British position on the CFP, towards the end of
the summer Whitehall’s stance on the Irish plan began to change. This was
partly due to some gentle prodding from the Commission that indicated
‘the way out might be notional 6-mile limits for all, with extensions to 12
miles for special areas’.’! This was more than the Commission had been
willing to concede the previous June. Nevertheless, by early November the



Challenging the Acquis 177

British cabinet recommended that the ‘right course was to press ahead with
our proposal for maintaining the status quo pending the negotiation of a
new policy by the enlarged Community’.8> While the British broadly sup-
ported the ‘status quo’ plan, they continued, as did Ireland, to consider the
proposals that the Commission submitted through the Community. The
Commission modified its June CFP proposals and presented the Council
with an altered version prior to the ministerial meetings with the appli-
cants in early November. The morning session of the ministerial meeting
on 9 November saw further gains for the British on the special exceptional
regime of 12-mile limits, but the Commission did not apply this to any part
of the Irish coastline. This position was in keeping with Wellenstein’s com-
ments to Kennan two weeks earlier, when he argued that no part of the Irish
coastline merited inclusion in this regime. Later in the day, statements by the
Irish and Norwegian delegations were extremely critical of the latest Com-
mission proposals. British lobbying of the Commission paid dividends when
the two-stage transition period was scrapped and replaced instead with a sin-
gle ten-year period, and the Commission also produced a new review clause.
The more concessions that Britain received from the Community, the less
Rippon supported the ‘status quo’ plan. Throughout November, and early
December, Britain had won most of what it sought from the Community,
and was ready to sign the Accession Treaty. The loss of British support was
a major setback for the Irish negotiators, and a victory in kind for the Com-
mission. With the ‘status quo’ proposal holding the support of only one of
the ten enlargement actors, the Irish delegation was forced to adopt the sec-
ond part of its October strategy, namely, to accept the policy and attempt to
negotiate exemptions for large sections of the Irish coastline. This was the
‘fall-back position’ when ‘the status quo proposal has no longer any chance
of success’.®

The meeting on 9 November between Ireland and the Community proved
acrimonious. Justifying the Commission’s decision not to grant Ireland
12-mile limits, the Community harked back to Harmel’s opening statement
to the enlargement conference in June 1970. It was, according to the Com-
munity, ‘on this basis and respecting these principles that we have tried
to take account of the Applicant States’ requirements’.?* The Community
implied that the applicants had agreed to the principles underlining the
enlargement negotiations and acceptance of the acquis. Hillery, stressing
that Ireland accepted the acquis, reminded the Community: ‘I think when
the fisheries regulation came in, the day after or so, I did say that this was
not suitable to a Community of Ten’.% Despite the positions adopted by
both the Irish and Community delegations, it was clear to all sides that an
agreement had to be reached. The Italians, therefore, suggested that a spe-
cial, unscheduled ministerial meeting would take place on 29 November,
the aim of which was to bring an end to the fisheries saga. In the interim
period, the Commission would liaise with the four applicants in order
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to iron out any remaining problems before the meeting at the end of
November.

Much of the Commission’s attention now focused on Norway’s objections
to the CFP, while it was also conscious of the demands from Ireland and the
other applicants. The Commission had decided on 24 November after dis-
cussions with the applicants, and based on advice from Deniau, to push the
Council to hold the Community line of the existing CFP compromise solu-
tions, especially the concessions and transition period.*® The Commission
had improved on its proposals from 9 November, but there was only one
advance on the 12-mile limit. Ireland secured a special exception regime for
its north-west coast. At the ministerial meeting on 29 November, the Com-
munity delegation presented a paper containing Community proposals on
the fisheries question, but when the meeting resumed the following day the
Community presented a modified version of the proposals.®” In these pro-
posals, the only area of Ireland designated for the special 12-mile regime
was the north-west coast. As Hillery pointed out on both days of the meet-
ing, any criteria that could be used for the selection of the north-west coast
could apply ‘with equal justification to other areas of the Irish coast’.®®
Dublin rejected the Community’s proposal, and argued instead that other
areas of the Irish coast had to be designated as qualifying for the special
12-mile limit.* Ideally, of course, policy-makers in Dublin, along with their
Norwegian counterparts, wished to see this limit extended around the entire
coastline. It was unclear whether it was the Commission that had voluntarily
sought to appease the applicants or whether this greater generosity reflected
Council pressure. A powerful display from Rippon before the Community
negotiators on 29 November certainly put the CFP negotiations into per-
spective, perhaps for the first time since the enlargement talks had begun.
The head of the British delegation declared his astonishment that such a
historic event as British membership of the Community could be held up by
a relatively minor problem. Echoing comments made frequently by Hillery,
though never with the same ferocity, Rippon had no hesitation in asserting
that the CFP could not be regarded as part of the real acquis communautaire
because everyone was aware that it had been rushed to partial conclusion
just before enlargement negotiations had begun.*® This intervention had the
desired effect; the Community delegation requested the Commission to pre-
pare new compromise solutions. The minutes of the Commission’s meetings
between November and the end of December shed little light on the atti-
tude of the Commissioners to the continued objections from the applicants.
Deniau and Wellenstein, rather than Mansholt, briefed the Commission on
the state of the CFP negotiations. Comments made by Deniau in a Commis-
sion meeting on 1 December suggested that Rippon’s comments, coupled
with pressure from the French delegation and the impending signing of the
Accession Treaties sometime in the first two weeks of January, forced the
Commission to stretch further in its proposals than it otherwise would have
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liked. The French Commissioner outlined new initiatives: ‘Qu’il jugera appro-
priées dans le Conseil et dans la Conférence, en tenant compte des délibérations
intervenues antérieurement dans la Commission, en vue de favoriser une solu-
tion du probleme’.°*! There was evident pressure on the Commission to take
the debate out of the realms of ‘legal’ intricacies into what the Community
politicians oddly called the ‘political’ and ‘economic’ spheres.”” The origi-
nal CFP had set no real provisions for conservation of fishing stocks, which
was a major concern of the Irish and Norwegian governments. The Irish
delegation considered it essential that provisions were made for continu-
ing arrangements along the lines of those envisaged for the initial period
so ‘as to protect Irish national interests in the fisheries sector’.”® Dublin put
together a provision designed to resolve this anomaly. Before 31 December
1982, Ireland wanted the Commission to present to the Council a report on
the economic and social conditions of the coastal areas of the member states,
with particular reference to the state of development of the inshore fishing
industry and the state of fish stocks. This suggestion found its way into the
Commission’s new proposals presented to the Council on 11 December. The
Commission had cast aside its reservations about granting Ireland further
concessions on the 12-mile limits. In the proposals presented to the enlarge-
ment conference on 11 December, Ireland made significant gains on the
12-mile limits.”* The Community also announced that, from the sixth year
after the entry into force of the Accession Treaty, the Commission would
present the Council with a review of the fishing conditions, ensuring pro-
tection of the seabed and preservation of the biological resources of the
sea.” It was an important victory for Dublin. The conservation issue only
gained prominence during the enlargement talks when it was forced upon
the Commission by the four applicants. Indeed, the clear lack of conserva-
tion measures in the original CFP adds to the argument presented in this
chapter that the CFP was a policy designed by the six, for the six, on the eve
of Community enlargement. By the first week of January 1972, final agree-
ment was reached on the fisheries question.?® With this, Ireland succeeded in
getting a far better deal from the Community, and the Commission’s newest
common policy remained largely intact.

The fisheries question was by far the most complex issue that dominated
the Commission’s relations with Ireland during the negotiations. Not only
had the Commission to assess the needs of three other applicants, as well
as those of the six, but Deniau’s working group also had to ensure that
any agreement with Ireland did not set an unwelcome precedent for future
rounds of enlargement. The CFP negotiations showed how much influence
the Commission had been able to claw back from the original role it had
been assigned by the six prior to the start of the enlargement conference. The
Commission held a central position in presenting numerous compromise
solutions that aimed at reconciling the conflicting interests of the mem-
ber states and the four applicants. The CFP negotiations proved that, even
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though the Commission’s influence was not strong enough to determine
whether the applicants joined the Community, its negotiating position cer-
tainly shaped the final agreement. While the results of the CFP negotiations
might not have been wholly ideal for either the Commission or the Irish gov-
ernment, they did represent a notable achievement for both sides. Of course,
the same could not be said for Norway, which subsequently rejected Com-
munity membership partially as a result of the deal reached on the fisheries
policy.”” However, unlike the British budgetary question, securing a deal
between Ireland and the Community on that policy did not hamper negotia-
tions on other issues. On the contrary. While the Community’s regional and
structural policies were not subject to negotiation, any problems that Ireland
raised with the Commission’s negotiating team regarding these aspects of
the acquis were dealt with and concluded during intense periods of the CFP
talks. In addition to this, while the Commission favoured limited transition
periods to allow the new members to adopt the acquis, it agreed to extend the
transition limits for safeguard measures for the Irish motor vehicle industry
based on counter-proposals from Dublin.?® Once the CFP had been finalised,
Ireland had concluded its negotiations with the Community and, along with
the other applicants, signed the Treaty of Accession on 22 January 1972.%



Conclusions

Enlarging the European Union has presented a detailed analysis of how the
policies of the European Commission tried, with varying degrees of suc-
cess, to influence the outcome of the first enlargement of the present-day
European Union. Of all the enlargement rounds since 1973, the first was
perhaps the most politicised. The enlargement question presented the Com-
mission with an opportunity to absorb more influence over the policy
direction of the EEC during the 1960s and early 1970s. It had already
achieved early successes developing the customs union, and the Commu-
nity’s flagship CAP, and had built up an unrivalled knowledge of the acquis
communautaire. These policy successes largely reflected the political and eco-
nomic interests of the six member states, though they also pointed to the
ambitions of the early Commissioners in implementing the Rome Treaties.
Enlargement, though, was a different policy issue, and one that quickly
became highly political in nature; it was a policy field that had wider impli-
cations for the Community, not just internally, but further afield. From the
beginning to the end of the 1960s, enlargement was about power and influ-
ence. The United States had encouraged Britain to apply for membership in
1961, to break what it perceived as a growing and dangerous French hege-
mony in Western Europe. Inside the Community, the Dutch were also keen
to see Britain as a member to curb French influence. Yet, France hit back,
and for a decade shaped the Community around its national interests while
keeping Britain and other countries outside and ignoring the wishes of its
EEC partners.

The Commission was not able to compete in these power games. On the
first occasion when it tried to do so, in 1965, it was quickly defeated
when France boycotted Community business for six months and Hallstein
ultimately lost his job. Instead, the Commission sought other ways to
increase its utility. The CAP and the customs union were extremely useful
instruments that made the Brussels executive increasingly important to the
member states. Yet, the Commission’s overriding ambition was to further the
integration process and promote the Community’s supranational character.
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It was, therefore, necessary to involve itself in all new policy initiatives,
including the enlargement process. The challenge facing the Commission
from 1961 onwards was to find a role in negotiations and use its policies and
ideas to influence the policy-making process, especially within the Council
and COREPER.

Did the possession of expert knowledge enhance the Commission'’s over-
all influence in the first enlargement? Knowledge, as opposed to real power
exercised by the Council, built up since the mid- to late 1950s both at the
Treaty of Rome negotiations and immediately after the creation of the EEC,
gave the Commission an advantage over the six and COREPER in a range of
policy fields. Enlargement presented the member states and the Commission
with a new dilemma. Hallstein understood the vital importance of ensuring
that the Commission was represented if the political decision was taken to
proceed with enlargement; to be sidelined would have created a dangerous
precedent for future rounds of accession talks. The decision on whether or
not to open enlargement talks was not one Hallstein or his immediate suc-
cessors could make (although later Commissions, in the 1990s and 2000s,
have had a greater role in the decision-making process on this subject).
Hallstein, Rey, and Malfatti were conscious of ensuring that the Commis-
sion’s voice was heard, but quickly discovered that translating its expertise of
Community legislation into influence before and during the 1961-1963 and
1970-1972 talks was an arduous task. Luckily, enlargement touched upon all
existing parts of the acquis, and there was no institution better versed in the
corpus of Community legislation than the Commission. So, while a role for
the Commission was grudgingly required by the six, a necessity even, what
mattered more was how it would be able to influence outcomes once at the
negotiating table with the member states.

The politics of enlargement considerably helped the Commission. There
was a certain amount of disunity and mistrust between the six and, of course,
between the four and the Community. There was ample scope for the Com-
mission to capitalise on this discord to promote itself as something more
than a simple bridge-builder between the views and policy positions of the
member states and the applicants. There was potential to gain influence and
to influence outcomes, especially during negotiations. Yet, it was taken aback
by the hostility from some of the six towards its attempts to carve out a role
for itself during those talks. Arguably, the Commission wrongly assumed
that, since it was playing a key role in other policy areas, this would nat-
urally ‘spill-over’ into the enlargement field. This book has made it clear
why the Commission did not command a leading role in the first enlarge-
ment process (in contrast to the role it would play during the subsequent
rounds of expansion during the 1980s, 1990s, and 2000s). Yet, it has shown
that the six also did not have a complete monopoly over the timing and
content of the accession agreements, although they certainly controlled the
final decision on whether to allow the candidates to join.
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The Commission was not against other countries joining the Community
per se. By 1959, the Commission had made it clear that membership was
possible, through Articles 237 and 238 of the Treaty of Rome. Despite this, it
was unprepared for the intensive negotiations that would follow the arrival
of the British, Danish, and Irish applications in mid-1961, and Norway’s
months later. Neither the Commission nor the six had developed a doc-
trine on membership that would have set out the Community’s position
on the terms of entry. It did not help that the founding treaties were largely
silent on the negotiating procedures to follow, although this clearly strength-
ened the hand of the Council at the Commission’s expense. There were no
pre-accession criteria set down as part of the acquis (unlike for subsequent
enlargements in the 1990s and 2000s), and this added to the general sense
of confusion over the handling of the negotiations. It also weakened the
Commission. The applications arrived at a time when the Community not
only had not developed a policy towards membership but was also grappling
with issues related to political and defence integration. The British and Irish
applications exposed these policy gaps, which resulted in conflicting signals
inside and outside the negotiations.

The lack of a clear policy approach to the enlargement question in 1961
did not necessarily mean that the Commission was at an immediate dis-
advantage. Initially, it met with opposition from some member states over
procedure, and, at ministerial meetings during the talks, the Council dom-
inated and COREPER grabbed an opportunity to increase its own influence
in the policy field. Yet, within the Council and at lower levels of the nego-
tiations, the Commission was able to influence and advise the six on the
acquis by presenting policy positions to broker deals with the British and
protect deals already sealed between the six. As was its job, the Commis-
sion ensured that item-by-item discussions with the British in 1961-1963
were thorough to the point of causing the talks to grind to a near halt.
This thoroughness meant that the acquis would be staunchly defended, and
unwelcome precedents would be avoided in advance of negotiations with
the other applicants or for future enlargements. It also meant that the Com-
mission’s input would be spread over a wider range of negotiating issues.
The Commission was able to use its knowledge to influence problems inher-
ent in London’s negotiating briefs, and to direct the Council away from
any agreements that would affect Community policy. What the Commis-
sion could not do, and where its influence was limited, was conclude the
negotiations. The final decision on whether or not to open the Commu-
nity’s doors to Britain and the other applicants was the Council’s alone,
and each member state held the all-important veto. Despite many not-so-
veiled protests from Mansholt and others after de Gaulle’s press conference
in January 1963, the Commission was powerless to reverse the decision
(a decision not completely unwelcomed by Hallstein and others), and had
to accept the General’s will; the Commission’s influence only stretched so
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far. The 1963 crisis was used by Hallstein as a vehicle to unite the six,
and to further accelerate the integration process. The Commission was cen-
tral to the acceleration plan. Britain’s non-entry was not a cause worth
fighting over. Enlargement was a policy doomed to succeed, eventually.
In the interim, the Commission would maintain its goodwill with France to
develop the CAP, the customs union, and other policy initiatives. By doing
so, the Commission indirectly increased and strengthened its knowledge of
the acquis, and therefore its influence would be more keenly felt when the
next negotiations commenced.

By 1967, majority opinion in the Commission believed that the time had
come to bring other countries into the Community, not because of any
economic necessity but largely to dilute French influence within the EEC.
The Brussels executive approached the applications with an open mind and
with an eye on the 1961-1963 round and the problems to avoid. In its
1967 avis, the Commission raised no new objections to allowing the four
to enter. Apart from flagging the existing economic problems in Britain, the
Commission had moved firmly into the pro-enlargement camp. It was again
powerless, as were the five, to prevent de Gaulle from torpedoing the British
application in November 1967 in the aftermath of sterling devaluation.
Yet, the evolution in thinking within the Commission on the enlargement
question is important. If enlargement was a policy doomed to succeed, the
Commission had to be on the right side of history. France was becoming
increasingly isolated on the issue and its policy of obstruction was unlikely
to hold indefinitely. Falling into line with majority opinion in support of
the policy was no guarantee that the Commission would, when the time
came, see its hand strengthened within the Community. A mixture of weak
leadership after the ‘empty chair’ crisis and even weaker policies served to
highlight the Commission’s difficulty in influencing the six.

The period after the second French veto further exposed weaknesses in
the Commission’s ability to steer the process of enlargement and the volatile
political debate surrounding the subject. Throughout 1968 and 1969, it was
unable to translate its mastery of the acquis and its experience as a power bro-
ker and negotiator, which it had acquired over the course of the early 1960s,
into a plan that would bring together the views of the six on the enlargement
question. Arguably, the divisions in the Council presented the Commission
with an opportunity to claw back lost influence and to show that it was
much more than a technical adviser to the member states on matters of
economic policy; this was a hard-fought battle. Though the Commission
acted as the sole voice for the Community at the GATT talks in Geneva
during the mid-1960s, it would be unwise to make too strong a compari-
son between that role and the Commission’s position on the enlargement
question. The Council gave specific instructions to the Commission’s nego-
tiating team in Geneva, and kept a close watch on what the Commission
was doing. Second, the GATT talks were never as divisive an issue for the six



Conclusions 185

as enlargement had become from the early 1960s. As well as lacking the legal
instruments to move the enlargement process forward, Rey, after he became
President, was not a risk-taker. He had witnessed the way that Hallstein had
been forced out by de Gaulle in the fall-out from the 1965 ‘empty chair’ cri-
sis. A confrontation with the French President was something Rey wanted
to avoid; the likely outcome of such a confrontation would have impacted
negatively on the Commission. Instead, the Commission worked with the
six and COREPER, as well as providing advice to the applicants on how to
approach the increasingly thorny issue of enlargement.

De Gaulle’s resignation in 1969 was a game-changer for the enlargement
question, but it did automatically mean an enhanced role for the Brussels
executive. Even before the summit meeting of Community leaders at The
Hague in December of that year, it was widely believed that Pompidou,
the General’s successor, would not veto the entry of Britain and the other
three applicants. The main roadblock to membership had been lifted. Yet, de
Gaulle’s departure did not necessarily mean more influence and power for
the Commission. The Hague Council gathering was dominated by the six
and the Franco-German engine. Though overall policy direction was being
decided in Paris and Bonn, the Commission could still play an important
role in its implementation. This was despite the Commission’s treaty-given
power as the sole initiator of policy. The grand vision came from the Council,
not from its executive arm.

By 1970, the Commission was firmly in the pro-enlargement camp, and
its views on the subject were far more constant than during the 1961-1963
negotiations. Perhaps it was the realisation that the political will was present
in the Community for enlargement to occur in the aftermath of de Gaulle’s
resignation, and the subsequent summit of the six. The goalposts had cer-
tainly shifted. No longer were Commissioners and their officials talking
about failure, although they were openly discussing how difficult the negoti-
ations would be. Instead, the Commission was focused on how it could best
influence the outcome of a negotiation that was doomed to succeed. When
internal agreement proved difficult to achieve among the six on developing
a Community position or between the six and the applicants, the Commis-
sion’s knowledge of the inner workings of the Community and its corpus
of legislation proved invaluable. Its experience as a negotiator and power
broker paid dividends for the Community, especially during the fraught
discussions on the fisheries policy with the four applicants. Despite the Com-
mission’s evolving attitude to the enlargement question, it approached the
multiple negotiations imbued with a communautaire outlook and a keen eye
on furthering its own ambitions. Gaining as prominent a role as possible was
in the Commission’s strategic interests; failure to do so would have compro-
mised its ability to lead future enlargement rounds. It was clear to everyone
that the British, Irish, Danish, and Norwegian applications would not be
the last ones to arrive in Brussels. Its influence would continue to increase
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with the right leadership and a mix of policy initiatives that appealed to the
member states’ national instincts.

Enlargement of the Community meant changes to its character in many
different ways, including the introduction of new working languages, an
altered administrative structure in an enlarged Commission, and a new
power dynamic in the Council with Britain as a member. These were some
of the overriding concerns for the Commission during the period exam-
ined by this book. The Commission had no monopoly over when or if a
country could join the Community. Nevertheless, the types of deals struck
between the applicants and the six were largely down to the Commission'’s
policies and influence at decisive moments as well as its unique knowledge
of the acquis. This is where its influence was most clearly visible. During the
subsequent rounds of enlargement, especially after the Nordic expansion in
the mid-1990s, the Commission played an even greater role in the policy
process, thanks largely to a more developed pre-enlargement policy having
been elaborated in advance of the big expansion into Central and Eastern
Europe in the mid-2000s. This book has aimed to add a new dimension to
the existing literature on the history of the EU’s first and most politically
charged enlargement. It has set the foundation for further analysis of the
Comumission’s policies and influence in the enlargement question after 1973.
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